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Yartin Gottiried Welss tichael Redwits

Frisdrich Wilhelm Ruppert Wilhaln Welter

Josef Jarolin Rudolf Heinrich Suttrop

Franz Xaver Trenkle Wilhelm Tempel

Bagellertd Valmitlu Hludsinmyer Hupgo Alfred Erwin Laustarer

Josel Scuss Fritz M.X. Secher
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iWilhaln Wagner Sylvester Filleboeck

Ju‘nw?ﬁ Hiek Vinzens Schosttl

Drs Wilkeln Witbeler Johann Viktor kirsch
Johann Baptist Bichalsdorfer Buil Erwin lahl

E:to Foerschner :ilhr Adolf Langleist
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Trans Boettzar Otto Schulz

Peter Botz Friedrich Wetzel

Anton Endres

Simon Kiern

TO: Goumandiug Censral, Third United States Army and Eastern Military
District, APC 103, United States Army.




Poter Betz, Anton Endres, Simon Klern, IMichael Redwitz, Wilhelm Wolter,
Rudolf Heinrich Suttrop, Wilhelm Tempel, Hugo Alfred Ermrin Lausterer,
Fritz £.K. Becner, Alfred Kramer, Sylvester Fillsboeck, Vinsens Scheottl, |
Albin Gretsch, Johann Viktor Kirsch, Hans Aumeier, Hmil Brwin Jahl, Welber
Adolf Lanpleist, Johann Schoepp, Arno Ii ; Hans Bayer, Frits Desgelaf, |
otto Moll, Otto Schulz, and Friedrich Ve zel, Acting 1n purdnance or @
common design to cammit the acts herelnalter alleged, and as members of

the staff of Dachau Concentration Camp and camps subsidiary thereto, did,
a%, or in the vicinity of DACHAU and TANDSBERG, Germany, between about

1 January 1942 and about 29 April 1945, willfully, deliherately and
wpangfully annmirigs, aid, abat and participate in the subjectlon af
civilian natienals of nations then at war with the then German Reich to
cruelties and mistreatment, including killings, bsatings, tortures,
starvation, abuses and indignities, the exact names and mumbers of such
civilian nationals being unknown but aggregating many thersandd o were
then and there ln the custody »f the German Reich in exercise of
ballipgerent contrsl.

SECOND CHAROR: Vieclation of the Laws and Usages Jf War,

Particulars: In that Martin Gottfried Welss, Frisarich Wilheln
Ruppert, Josef Jarolin, Franz Xaver Trenkls, Bngelbert Valentin Hisdermeyer
Juasf Jeusos, Leonbard Ancolm Blohberger, Wilhalm Wagner, Jnhann Mok,

Dr. Fritz Hintermayer, Dr. Wilhelm Witteler, Johaun Daptist #chalsdorfar,
Otto Foerschner, Dr. Mans Kurt Eisele, Dr, Klaus Karl Sehillirg, Christal
Ludwig Knoll, Dr. Fridolin Karl Pulr, Franz Boettger, Peter Bets, Anton
Endres, Simon Kiern, Michael Redwitz, Wilhelm Welter, Rudolf Helnrich
Suttrop, Wilhelm Tempel, Hugo Alfred Erwin Lausterer, Frits b. K. Bacher,
Mfred Kramer, Sylvester Filleboeck, Vinzens Schoettl, Alkin Gretach,
Johann Viktor Kirsch, Hans Aumeier, Hmil Eywin Mahl, Walter Adolf
Langleist, Johann Schoepp, Arno Lippmann, Hans Bayer, Frits Degelow,
Otto Moll, Otto Schuly and Friedrich Wetzel, acting in pursuance of &
common design to commit the acts hereinafter alleged, and as members

of the staff of Dachau Concentration Camp, did, at or in the wviecinity of
DACHAU, Oermany, betwsen about 1 January 19LZ and about 29 April 1945,
willfully, delibsrately and wrongfully encourage, aid, abet and partici-
pate in the subjection of members of the armed forces of nations chen

at war with the then German Relch, who were then and there surrendered
and unarmed prisoners of war in the custody of the then (lerman Reich,

to erualiies and mistreatment, includine killings, beatings, tortures,
starvation, abuses and indignities, the exact namss and numbers of

such prisoners of war being unlmown but aggregating many hundreds.
IT. THE FINDINGS AMD SENTENCES.

Ranh acorunsad waa found pod 14y af all sharpgas and ﬁﬂrtic\.ﬂ.ﬂfs and

sach accused, with the sxception of Johann Schoepp, Albin Oretsch, Pester

Betz and Hugo Alfred Erwin Laustever, was sentenced to death by hanging

at sucn time and place as higher authority may direct, Pater Dets was '

sentenced to life imprisonment commencing forthwith at such place

as may be designated by competent military anthority. Johann Schoepp,

Albin Oreboch and Hups Alfred Brwin Tausterer were seéntenced tn fmprison.

ment for a term of ten ysars, commencing 13 December 1945, at such place

as may be designated by competent military authority. '
ifl

III. EVIDENCE FOR THE COURT3 J

Upon preliminary examinatlon by bhs courv sach asgused sthted that
he was a German national, with the exception of Johann Schioepp Who was & |

Rumandan and Dr. Fridolin Karl Puhr, an Austrian, Each accused also @"
1 _l
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stated that he was & mamber of t.ie German army sometime between January 1,
1942 and April 29, 1945, with the e caption of Johann Kick, Dr. Klaus
Karl Schilling, Christof Ludwi; ¥nell, and Emil Erwin liahl.

The court did pol Lnberrujste any of the ucoused on thes charges and

particulars.
Tv. EVIDENCE FOR FROSECUTION:

A:. The Common Desipgn at Dachau.

on 29 April 154% the American forces entered the Dabhau Concen-
tration Camp at Dachau, Germany (R 69). Adjoining ths camp on a railroad
siding was a freipht train consisting of about 38 cara (R 56, 60, 70).
One or two bodies were lying in.a few cars (R 56). About 30 of the box
pars had 10 to ?0 corpses strewn about (R 56), Tha bodies were thinly
clsd (H 508)., dome had thelr pants down as 1L ey lead bad Jdysentery and
others arpsared as if they had utilized some corpses as pillows (R 199).
The bodiss ware sxtremely emaciated (R 57). The muscles had wastad (R 57).
The fat had disappearsd and the sidn was leathery (R 57). The conditions
which existed may best be seen in the photographs which were taksn at
the time (Pros. Bx. 2, 3, L, 5, 6). It had been a Jewish transport which
NAd been ALtRpANg 16F UAVAPAL QEYS tO 1leave Dachsu Lul Lsvause uf
the rail tie-up due to air attacks had not been able to depart (R 161,
162, 750, 510). These psople had rome to Dachau a short time bsfore (R 162).

Within the camp was a prison compound (R 73). It was surroundad
by & moat and a wire fence (Bros Ex 13, ﬁ Within the compound were
wwison bBlocks (R Th). Each bleck was capable ol Accomodating Irom 300 to
LF}U prisoners (R 7L, L13, 1L%). In 1942 the blocks had been completely
filled (R 148). As time elapsed, more and more paople were placed in the
blocks so that in 1943 and 9Ll ovar 1,000 prisoners were housed in each
block and in 1945 as maay as 2,000 prisoners were housed in a single
block (R N12, 149). For example, 1200 to 1250 peocple were housed from
Hovember 1942 until January 1943 in block 25 so that 300 to 35U persons
had to share 120 bads in each room (R 389). One to five persons died
ench day in this olock but no doctor ever visited it (R 309). Each block
consisted of four rooms with one latrine (R 148, 76). The latrine had
12 stools of which only 10 cmldbtuudhrthpﬁlmm (R 76, 149, Pros
ua}.  With tha increase in the number of people. the conditions became

' worse (R 149). Dachau coild accomodate about 0,000 persons

(n 1‘? In August 1.91;!1 the Mta on was sbout 22,000 (R L12).
By the J.attw part of 194l and EEE about 5:},000 r!ont had
bean sent into it (R 177). On 22 April 19L5 thare were 5, 13 prisoners

in Dachau and its sub-camps of whom 15063 ware Poles, 12,363 Russians
2399 Italdanw, 1842 Coeashe, BAEA ﬂm:a 927,87 af abnar m‘H mﬂiﬁa;

and 673 Wussian priscners of war (Pros Bx 50 and 59), In 1942 the blocks
had been kept rather olean, but in 1913 and 19LL, as the emphasis on
werk increassd, thers was "no possibility to clesan rooms® (R 1L9). The
Americans noticad that the pecple in the camp were similar to corpses
mmwwm « Thair physical condition was very poor

rdly to extreme starvation and malnutrition which they had andured
)« Although it was M cold at the time, the prisoners
_very scantily (R 75, 149)., Bach prisoner wore an insignia indi-
@gmm Runim, Polish, etc, (R 75, 269, 509, Pros Bx 10).
ipnl. Andicated the typs of prisoner, political, criminal, immd-
i=s0cial, battle searcher or homosexual (R 50?, 508, Pros Bx 55).

'lit!ﬁnbhpﬂnaumoundﬂaramsbwﬂur,llmw
ng mm composed of a passageway with a series of cells on each

o




side (Pros Bx 15, 79). A typlecal cell is depicted in & photo (Pros
Bx 14). Adjeining the bunker was a bath room or shower room (R 79, Pros

Br 17, 1%, Although in 16,2 the prisoners wers abls to take one bath
soy tack, by the time of lilsration the priscnars were not able to have
ona bath per month (R 1LY).

|
Outside the prison compoutis but within wae camp tho Americans dis- "3
coyrrad two crematoriuns (R A1, Pros B¢ 1%). The old crematorium had
only two furnaces (R 3, 12", Pros %: 21). The new crenatorium had been |
smdlt in 190k Ly Polish prisate (R 129). I% had two furnaces with five
oveng (R 12 , Pros Ex Z¢, ¢3). ‘Ihera Wag a large nall Ior podlas, @
paousgeway, 4 rocm with the furnaces, a preparation room, n gas chamber, ;
anpthar halluay and the disinfectant chambor (R 129). The pas chamber F
had a sign over its entrancs which read "Shower Bath", although in fact 'T
thers were no bath facilities (R 129, Pros Bx 127). The Apericans lis-
soverad a large plle of clotuing outside the grematorium (R 57, Pros Bx 20). |
In thn twe halls were found largs piles of dead bodies, all oI wnicn were
emaciated and thin (R 22, Pros Bx Zl, 25, 26, 27). The stench was so strong
that Colonel David Chavez, a war crimes investigator of the Seventh li.S.
Amy, co 1d not view the bodies for any length of time (R £3).

liear tha crematorluns wers discovered a kennel and a rifle range (R B,
Proz Bx 29, 28). The rifle range had a blood scaled area (M ©L, Pros kx 28).,

— el

In Fay 1945, the Americans sot up two hospitals in the camp, one of

vhich wan the 110%th Evacuation lospital under the supervision of Colonel
Lawrence C. Ball (I 8L, 55. 58). Prem 2 lay 1945 to A Juns 1945 each
hoopital treated about 20,00 patients (R 58), There ware two ragular
hospitals at Dachau, an inner comp hospital, which in 1942 had consistad
of 7 or b blecks, and an 58 hospital (R 53, 313-314),. During Lhe sanme
period the 88 hospitul had about 1,000 patients and the inner camp
hospitul =bout L4500 (R 50). 411 these facilities were capable of handling
about half of those individuals who nceded hospitalization (R 59). After
liberation the death rate averaged about 100 per day until the alddle of
tay (R 58). From 9 lay 19L5 to 9 June 1945, thera were 15907 deaths in

the hospital (R 59). Typhus acceunted for approxdmately 340 deaths (R 63).
Fhe principle causes of death were typhis, dysentery, and malnutrition (R 59).
The bulk of the deaths vere caused by factors which had been aequired

bufmg aprdl, 1947 (R 60). There wore not su. ‘lelent madical supplies
{n AR).

The regular prisoners hospital vas extremely overcrowded (R 57, 61, 4
85)s Tho warda had triple decker beds and beds had been placed together
so that three people could sleep in the placa of two (R 57, 05, Pros Bx |
30, 31). A1 available space was utilized, The epidemic and tuberculosis
divleione ~ere the moct orewded ':R 1L7). In 191 enly ana parean elant il
in a bed (% 1Lf). By 1943 the condition was overcrowded and b 194 and
1945, the patients wers "totally placed tomsther®, (R 148). Three mer. slep!
in one bed which was enly 00 centimeters wide (% 147). The Americans d
covered that few inmates had blankets although most had sheets (R 57),
The majority of the patients suffered from typhus, dysentery, phlegmon,
bubmrvulusis aml eryaipelas (R 57, G1)s Tiere had Leen a cunstant and
continuous epidemic of dysentery throughout the years (R 153, 155, 176)
for which there had been no treatment (R 156)and a typhoid epidemic from
January, 1943, to April, 1943 which had been caused by the water (R
A typhus epidemic had started in December, 19l after the arrival
llungarian transport (R 62, 153, 191, L08). No control measures
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390, m Haaswmpzmdw fethor, op of
» One room in the 'wgm had 250 p&bjﬂ& (% 234). At

|y death rate was batwn and 50 it this rew until it
. It was estimated that 7000 died in January andiebruary

Rk mericins found 2,000 to 3,000 typhus cnges in all the
nuuam (RB2), Tna crisoners Wers FANGPALLY louse indogued (i 62).

. Thare ware a wugh nedical mmﬁ]iu in thn hespital althogh various

e supplies were ot avallable (% 05). This won pertieularly true ith

' respact to vitamins iich wape manufacturei#s Dachau (R 66-67). Although

i the madical supplins had bheen poor contdnuously slnes 1942, the con-
[t dition had hean alleviated scmevhot during the years by am%:{inu (R 172,
173). After liberatlion medical supplies vore found in &

and the so-called Dutch Hall and inm 2 laboratory (i 209). Thera fmarn
enough supplies to care for all the patients for nore than A days (R 210),
fonn of those nedicines had heon made available to the prison hospital
prior to that time (It 210),

: gl !!; 1.?1:2 Dr. Tlaha, a Cuoch inmate, vag iy only plysician mrgma

© WAt the responsibility of carine for 1000 patients (R 171, 172). Later
thern wape two or thren doctors and twenty prisonsr dostors ihe had to
take care of the entire saup when it had a population of abgit 30,000 pecule
(R 169)s tpon liberalion forty-oi-ht physicians o had been prisoners

umrn discovered (T 213),

In the hospital there vus & Wﬁh Gmm! W
maticlogies vore made (
m there E: :

™
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Tﬁl‘;l & | ﬁﬂtd-’“s’
| iI n make Juch
| il . Tatoond skin

- ! akin hnd hean tutoned prior td

mml 5 weoustation with the demands of 55 men '% U)e e nractics
bfrwﬂhgdﬂmﬂummdmﬁaymﬁhzm Yo llo fiermans co d

bo usad for tids purpese (R ). Rissians vara urpanull:r wtilisad (B 246).
Some of the haads wars st a0f, hatled, the Rafh part wamased, hlesshed

in peroxide and put topgather acain (I },61}. Tha heads wore thiv sant to

85 mhooll, or glven to 98 doctors or 58 men (R 161).
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ﬂurhin oxperiments were conducted in the hospital fw tha me
during the ysars 1942 and 1503 (R 132, 13h and 1), The

exparimants aonadated in losking up tvonty-five af 'H:a

ball-like aparatus and then n:.m" and. 1w the

Ea 132}. 'Ehl.s auﬂ.‘bﬂd. -.l.n hwﬂmg.e; oi' th
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of cleaning the block, were also responsibile to
En &ﬁgg This organization was in existence from 19k2
oly (1 103). There was also a labor office which had been
s on until 1043 and which was headed by an 88
). Ha was vespansihle te the Tagerksmuandant (P 0L} .
ommandofuehrer or arbeitsdisn er was the commander of the
working place and he was also an 85 man (R 101, 102, 561). e vas
responzible for complling statistios which were sent to higher head-
quarters, He alse received orders te appoint work details for various
firms in Dachau and surpounding aress (R 293-29L). The Arbsitsdienstfushrer
‘had bo carry cut the widess miluli e reuvulved, such ss pelecting the inmates
for certain work details (R 29L). At first camp guards consisted only
of tha 3 men, but in 19l seme army peraonnel vas used (R 102). Their
funot-lons were guard duty and execution of ﬁaﬁl-pﬁ.inlr{'mmms (R T10).
Rach worle detail had a capo, a prisener, who acted as alson betvesn the
prisonera and the muards (R 561, §70). The cupos wern nilectod by the
labar sorvice lsader or labor leadars (R 573). There was a political |
department in the camp which was adninistratively responsible to the
cap sounander (R 103, 573), It was hero that the lists for the Lnvalid
transports, deacribed infra, were prepared (R 222), The department
was cumected with the Gestapo in Lunich and ordars were received dlmetly
from uhers (R 571). The departmant wos ret heuded ‘g sn 28 man, bub an
officer of tha Gustapo (R 573). The political department had ar office
of wital statistics where records of death were raintained, a roglstration
section where information cards on sach prisoner wara filad, and a
secret section which worked on all sncret cases (R 563). The medical
departmeént, was headed by the chisf physician who was not only in charge
af the caup lusplial, but #150 SEMLITATion and food in the camp (2 103).
Requants for inmates to be used in experiments were charneled throngh
the camp physician to the commandant who had the powar to disaprove the -
requent (R 86l, 571). The reanest wan passed on to the labor service leader
(R 561, A copy went to the Schutrhaftlagerfushyer (R 56L). The adjutant
fandled the mail distribution of the raguaste (7 TER) . The admind— 4
st o lepesimant was concerned with the ldbehen, food storage, = "
ﬂxhw}'aw.nm'_cloﬂ"{f-ﬂl!a laundry, accounting, and parsonal efiects room (R 560). =
o ecabral buildin: department was responsible for the constmuotien ard
fwadshing of the camp (R 561). A chart of the organizational schamn at
fechnu os admivted iuto evidense (Bros Bx 06), i -

|

- ALl conoentration camps vere under the supervision of Oradienbers,
uear Berlin (R 571). Thus the Reich Security Office vaa interssted in
i statun g prisonars and vas prisarily oomected vith the poldtioal
e exdinacy day of & prisoner es it existed ab.













was beaten, but that T had to respect people vihe wers professional crimi-
nals, and who had a better position in this dirty camp, only bacause they
ware ﬂri!lﬂ.nﬂ-lﬂ and Germans..." (Il LLOl)o

B. The Common Design at the Kaufering Branch Camps of Dachaus

The Kaufering system which vas under Dachau consisted of 11
camps (R 3.9, 58L). They had their own organization and death certificates
of people in those camps were recorded by them and do not appear ln
Prcosoubion'a Madbito 47 te T4 (R 3L2)s EBoginning in January 1945, only
death notices of Cermans ware recorded [R 350).

Captain Barnett, amember of War Crimes Investipation Team 6023,

Seventh US Army, investipated these campa on 30 Apri 11945 (R 579). Kauf-

No. |4 was located about two miles south of the village of Kaufering
(K 580)e It wasz a barbed wire enclosmre with puard towers at each
corner (R 570, Pros Bx 621 and o0). The fence had apparently been
electrified (R 500). There was one entrance in the front where a sign
stated that the area was off limits bacause of typhus (R S80, Prea Bx 61).
The camp had been burned and 260 bodles were still lyins arcund (R 5fD,
Pros Bx A1). Tha hodias wmra slin and hanas and had hwminas and Aobe
(R 500). Ma-y had been unrecognizably burned (R 5°0). The hodies were
collectad in ona place and a pit dug for thelr internment (R 501,
Pros Bx 63, 6L, 65, 66 and ;). Local citizens were employed for this
work (R 582, Pros Exs 701, 79 and 67). S8ome bodies which had to be
dragged out of burnad-out huts wers frozen stiff (R 582, pros ax 69).

Two burial pits were found east of the camp (R 582), These were opened
and bodies stacked five high in lines of 30 were found (R 503, Pros Ex 70).
The bodiez vers tied together and the legs and the arms intertwined to con-
seive space (R 503). The manner in which this was accomplished may best

be seen from the photographs made at the time (Pros Ex 71 and 72). Each
Pt had 2000 to 2500 dead bodies (R 583).

The huts in the camp were mersly a narrow channel dug into the
(R 584, Pros Ex 68, 72)s A set of stairs led down into the hut

R 584). There was a central trench with banks or shelves on sach .
nida whinh eaywved ap the plespins places fer the prisencra (I S0Ly 588,
590, Proa Ex 83). A wooden floor coversd with excelsior on the ripght
and left sides was below the level of the ground (R 588, 589, pros Ex 73)
The inmates slept on the level of the ground (R 5£9). The roofs wers
coversd with dirt (R 590), Thers was a double window on each end and
one entry (R 590)., The hut was about 17 meters lmgaiﬂ 590)s There was
1 meter ana (U centimeters on each side of the central trench where the
priscners slespt (R 590). The block eldest had 1/5 of the hut for himself
(R 590). As many as 62 prisoners occupled one hut (R 591). The can
had about 70 huts, 60 of which were occupied by the prisoners (1 587,
Dr. Fried, a Czech inmate who had ceme to Kauferine No. L in October 19kl
and was there until liberation in April 19LS, stated that upen hie aredval
there were 500 men and 2] woman priscners in the camp (R 569), The
number of male inmates increased to 3000 (R 588)., A1l the inmates were
Jews (R 507). They came from /ungary, France, Oresce, Garmany and othsp
nations (R 593). Bach prisoner had one blanket but no linens or pillows
(R 592). Pursuant to orders the immates slapt on thelr shoes, The
penalty for failure to do so or fur luss of Lhe shoes was deatn (R 592).
There wers only four latrines in the entire camp (R 592)., Ons was paserved
for the officidls and one for the 20 women, so that the 300 inmates had
only two (R 592). The latrines overflowed with filth (R 592). Bacause
of some disease, the prisoners visited the latrine a munber of times at
night (R 592). ‘his nacessitated putting on theip ahoes, walking in the
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The evacuation of the camp began or 25 April 19L5S (R 611). Three
hundred who could walk left at noon iR 612), A train in the evening
transported sight hundred (R 612). A second train left on April 27 with

slght hundred more and a third train with eight hundred departed about

A am. an Apeil 27, frnr hera hafore tha arrival af tha Amardinane (R A19-
613). On leaving an S8 man remarked, "Look there—sea the fire——this

is camp Number three, and just the same way wa will bilm camp mumber
four®, (R 621)-

Maptain Barnett found that Kaufering Number 1 looked similar to
Mumbesr L but it appeared t¢ have boon ths main ocamp (R 500) s Keuforing
Number 2 was empty. Kaufering Number 3 was similar to Number 1. It used
the sams burial pits as Mumber L, (R 585). Kaufering Humber 7 was a labor
and recuperation camp for Jews (R 505, 722). Kaufering Numbar [ was
empty (R 565). lNumber 9 which was near the Landsberg airfield had bean
occupiad by Russian priscners of war, It had been blown up with the
airfiold (R 505)s Oampe 1; 3 4y 7 and 11 wesw the permauent wpanlsabluua

(R 585).

Tn July, 19LL, Kaufering Camp Mumber 1 had not been completed (R 660),
It, too, had earth huts which were trenches dug in the ground and covered
with a roof (R 669), There were one window md no beds (R 669). The
Limates slepl un Ll surface of the grouna (R ody),., The ditch in the
center was about 3/l of a meter deep (R 669). The huts were 10 to 12
meters long md 3 1/2 meters wide (R 669). At times as many as 120
inmates slept in one hut (R 669). They each had one blanket (R 670).
Some huts had heating facilities (K 671). The prisoners had no under-
clothing, the prescribed priscners! outer parments. and heavy uncomfor-
table wooden shoas (R 670, 73L4). Their underwsar, large coats and Mather
shoes were taken from them upon arrival at the camp (R 670).

Kaufering Mumber 1 was lmown as a work camp (R 670). Most inmates,

about 1200 of various naticnalities such as Lithmanian, Pole, and Hungarian,
worked at the Moll construction M rm whare they mived, carried and stomped

cement, (R 670, 697). Work had started here in June 19, A)l labor
was supplied from Camp Number 1 until the camp was quarantined because of
typhoid (R 690). One work detail was at Ott Wied's where wood and iron

were unloaded (R 651). Others were in Otto )'i1lman's kitchen and the
prisonars' kitchen (R 651). The prisoners ware awakensd at L3130 a.m.

(L O70). AIver recelving scme bdack water in the kitchen, they stood

on the formation ground for an hour or hour and a half no matter what

the weather (R 670)., They did not have warm clothing and some had to go

to work in their pajamasz (R 670). It took about an hour to reacn the

place of worlt (R 67T1)s They worked for about 12 hours during which

time they received some watery asvp (R A71, 703, 707). Yhen the priconere
first came to the Mgll detail they were physically quite well, but soon

they became very i1l because of their poor clothing (R 690). Their

woodan shoes were worn cut and hey used cement bags around their feet (R 699)-
A civilian engineer, Stroh, who worked for the lioll firm, had written to
hle superior and protested about thn conditions of the workers (R 709).
AL wrk the 55 puards who performed puard duty maltreated them (R 671, 710

I
699). On the average from 3 to 6 persons died mach day on the job (R 571-3'?2 '
73L). The basic causes of deathwre malnutrition, gensral weakness,
phlegmonia md erdsipelhs (R 672, 73L)., Of the 1800 prisoners in camp

in July 19Lii, only 600 survived (R 73L). Some sick priscners continusd
to come to work bacause thay feared otherwisve thoy would be aeabl bo

ancther camp (R 705). At the Moll detail a first aid availabls
for them (R 705). gl omr y

D



in the camp and at the begimning it had
ry 1945 there were over 300 in the

tent
By Janu
Until NHovember 174} there was officially only
in attendancoe although ahut 25 risoners ware physicians

normlly accomodate 15 to 20 children

boys in the camp were gathered at the forma-
In the evening they were confined in a

tion ground (R 730, 737).
The hot was © to 6 sstare wide (7 700).

In July 1944, 131

ntration Carp systez

(dussenkammendos) in the Dachau Conce

As of 21 April 155, there were 85 brunch camps and outside
(Pros Ex 58).
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camp physician is in addition to the circumstances which I could not
sastar and which I think few others conld have mastered, based upon
xy inability to execute the office assigned o me.

*II. During my time of office the conventration camp of
Dachan eonsisted of about 20,000 inmates, before the larpe transports
came from the other evacunted camps in middle and western Cermany. Tt
was bullt and furnished for 10,000 inmates at the most. I faced this
overcrowaing perplexed and without baing able to o something about it,
and this more so, since every measure which might perhaps have besen taken
would have been useless anyhow, since a new difficulty would have probably
befallen me befere the successful temination., A= chief camp phyriclan
I was in command of all medical, sarmtary, and hyzienic installations in
the Concentration Camp Dachau. I was responaible for all sanitary,
medical, and hyglenic questions which concermad the immates and in pensral
I was in charge of the supervision of the immates in the medical, senitary
and myplenic fiald. The manitary installations in tha ¢ wore impossible,
Each barrack was occupled by LOO to 1500 people, although. wore built
for not more than 300. Tn each harrack there wers 6 wach basins and about
20 tollets according to my recollection. It is obvious that this number
was insufficlent. In addition the tallets in som¢ barracks could not bé
flushed, since there was no water and since the mater in the tollets
froze in the wintay because of lack of heating in many barracks. The
laundry of the inmates was changed officlally onoce a month according to .
my ¥nowledge, which made these bad sani gonditions completely cata-
ptrophic. MNeverthalsas T personally do not wish to guarantse that this

onstruction of
g B ey PR W"a et e B
convinced of the uselessness of additional resonstrances I did not under-
take anything more about the toilet conditiana, TIn commection with this
propossl for the improvement of the sanitary installstions T negotiated
with Hauptstumfushrer "C.p'r.) Watzel, but T did not find any special
help with him, although I presented the sarlousneas of the situation to
him,

"III. Ti11 shortly before the sccupation of the camp by
the Aperican troops the camp had entirely insufficient delousing spparatas,
Only durdng the last few weeks a short wave delousing station was estabe
Mummmnmmﬂmmammg Dyring the past period
the delousing was insufficient, It took about 24 hours for one hlock to

it as a case of abdominal typhus. Therefore I ordered the inmate doctor
who would undertake the autopsy and who was exerted beyond :is powers
by 8o much other work not to undertake the autopsy on thir first case.
0f course, I hoped without any reasan that this was ashdominal Gyphus and
not spotted fever, since I realised the entire extent of the catastrophe
in the emse of an suwbheoul of gpotied faver. Than when the typhus spread
like a raging fire on aceomt of the bad sanitary measures, the lacking




1ousing and the overcrowdsd living conditions as well as additions of
spotited patients from other camps, we started to inject the entire
eamp including the 55 groups with a vaccine., This vaccine was compara-
ﬁtﬁ% effective with the 39 troops that were not yet Imposed to the

Infection but. with the inmates, on the average Ineffective if not
directly mm Therarore arter a short time we gave up the lnocula=
tion. T was not informed whether the station surpgeon, S8 Standartenfushrer
Dr. Rossmann, had Well serum at his disposal. After I was convinced of the
uselessness of a request of this vaccine T aid not requisition 1t from him
nor from any other office. 'syreover T had the strict order from Dr.
Iolling to use “he vaseine which was in the camp, and no other,

"W. T recognize the report signed by me "Exhibit Hi" on the
firat pape concerning "marterly Neport regarding the sanitary services
in the Cancentration Casn Dachan to the Cnlef of the office D 3 in the
A9 Teonomics and Adninistration Head Office, office Oroup D, Oranienburg,
dated Dachau, 27 Yareh 10LE" as a report drafted and signed by me %o my
superlor office.

"TI. Thers were on the average 120 deaths a day for sbout
10 4ays during th orlsis of the spotted faver epidemic. During the rest
of the tire till the conquest of the camp Dychau by the American troopa
thavre ware on the avermme S0 to 00 deaths with constant ups and downs in
the faver epidemic. Tithout exapsermtion i1 ean be said that the

_chance of the spotted fever natients in the camp to remain alive was con-
ﬂﬂiﬂblr mﬂ than the chance of the spotted fever natlents at
Iberty, The following circumstances contributed to thiss

1. 'Twe lack of meu. At the tima of the larpest ooccu-
IF" r had =ore than 3 barracks at my disposal for

4d fever hationts, At times the number of spotted
proximately 2000. Of course, the lack of space

~soon a8 poasible, some too

ter. Onp the whole the 3 'uwuuh
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glve infarmstion regarding conditipns and happenings of spesial moddeal
nature prevailing in tha camp., T believe that he knows more about it
“han any other parson.

"IX. After my initial sttemphs tn get an enlarpoment of the J_
hospital were useless and without results I gave up appréachl  Dbergturme
bannfunhrer Mettar again for an enlargament of the hospital.

wr. Our stosk in medicine and drugs was insufficient and I
saw no meana to increase the mupply. At this point T would like to polnt
to ny repord in the above moptloned quarterly rapanrt,

"XI. T no lonpar remember the details of the rations. Fow-
ever, in my opinion thape wers Inmufficilent. I reject the complaints
directed to me by other doctors as well as the reproach thal many cases

of death by infectuous diseases and of the diynrse other ldnds of death
1 Wie cainy whidll ctcurred In the labor Wlook 2re based on malmutrd binn.

r, 1t is to be observed that this declaration does not rafer to
porsons in quarrantine who came in a nitiful condition from other camps
and at, first had to be fed up dgain in Dachau, I sannot explain to myself
haw so nany dysentery onses and other digestive sases oecurred in the
ather blocks.

WETT. T exasived without order of “ertartenfvehrer Lolling
or of any other muparior the Lrowtes selected by Dr. Schilling for
malaria exporimants for thelr health conditlon on the latter's request
in order to reliave Dr. Sehilling for the solentife experirental vork,
T do not balieve that I did so mors than mce, During my term of office
pe deally ceses ecourTed in bhe malasins Experimantd.

WEITT. In December 1944 or January 1045 the Heichslcher-
heltahavptant ordersd the hanplng of 2 pregnant Bpssian wonen, The
Carp commander Ybersturmbannfushror felter, however, pointing to thelr
pltdful opndition, demanded that I should ki1l the women by an injectlion eashk
insvead, ThHuapn T Jid nob koo oy sure whe dlicr My b ealicm Oiehasy Telten
had the right to change the mada of death as ordaved in the death sentonce
T injected the 2 wemen with evinamnatriuwnm sut of humanity, the rore =,
since I knew that 4t 1s the vsunl custom of eivilisad natlons nob to
exectite pra 4 women hefore delivery, ObersturaMiehrer Taopert and
Mta, nlso racharfichrer Fonparts were presant &t these 2 sxmeutlons,
I canhot FEmmmbpeT anmliulonnl inllvidudds wiw ety adght havs paréled
pated, Obersturmfuchrer Obio condncted this exscution.

WETV. Further T participated at 10 pdditional executdons
betwean Novembar 1944 and April 1945, About 7 ware hangings ahd con-
gernsd Muastans in my opinton, The hanpings wers always conducted by
Operstirnruenrer HQYpert and (eto. In acdaltion Meuplucheslfusties
Tichbergar, OHerscharfushrer Zangartas and Unterascharfoshrsr entachen
tnol part in tham, 3 axscutions were shootdngs. ALl told, 7 people were
hanged. Some 5 Ruasiana ware shot at, the 3 exscutions by shonbing.
Again Obprsturmfuehrer Muppert and Ctho as leaders and fauptscharfushrer
Eichberger, “herscharfuckrer Bengarts and Unterscharfushrer dentechen
ware pragsent Al the shooting, At each of thops executlonn oo oihed
neonle partisinated whose names I can no longer remember. T would 1dka
to emphasize that all thase exsoutions ware accamnlished on written

orfler of the Reichssicherheltshauptant and on tho execubion oxden of
Cavp Commander Obersturmhamnfushrar Yoiter, 1 mysalf undertook vhe
inqnest nesessary after the execution,’ (Pres Ex 914).

1. Dr. Wiiheln Wiitaler, e acoused Metelor wan hind doots




jepterber 19hk (% L02,123,139,179,393,308), Suring that sericd of time
B block 3, which had 350 cases, only once (1 492), There mas
no ! ‘darine the tine he was ohief doctor and there were not very

1y deaths Arring that period (% 102,403). Hintersayor was chief of

‘medical department at the time under Titteler (W L03). Titteler

ended some of the executions which occurred at the crema (1 132,333).
s morely sirned the death certifisate and loft (R 340,349). The lists
for prospective victins for the ralaris experisments were sent from
Wittelar's office to the labor office (X 285). ™hile Dr, Witteler was
ohie® dootor the slave maritet Tormations continued to be held (R 133).

A pro-trial affidavit executed by the accused Witteler on L November
19LE Befare Lieutenant Duth was admitted into evidence (R 795, Pros Bx 9h).
That statsment reads {n pertinent part and translation as follows:

"l. I was chief camp doctor of the Conoentration Camp Dachau
from 1 January to 20 lusunt 1944, In this OIPIG,J; was also in charge
of the hospital. Vwen I atarted my work there, ! found the so-called
mlaria station already there., I was inforwed that this malaria station
had been instituted by order of the Reichafushrer of the 38 and that

onera were to be made avallable for the experissnta conducted there.

=alaria station was conducted by Dr. Claus Earl Schilling. ¥rom
time to time the camp commander cleared nrisoners for experimental pur-
poses mnd notified the labor office, which in turn would inform me, On
my orders, one of my clerks then called up the block designated by the
labor affice, and the prisoners were then brought to the hoapital and
tumed ovar from the hospital te Dr, Schilling, T know that during the
months I was there deaths occured, due to prisoners dying of malaria
{taelf or of the dArugs used to combat that diseass. These prisoners were
then dissected in the pathological departmant wnder Ur. flaha's direction,
and the diagnosis was reported to Dr. Schilling as well an to me, It is
true that no death certificate issued during my stay gave malaria as the
cause of death, On requeet of Dr., Schilling every prisonar whose condi-
tion was hopeless was tranaferred into our department for internal disease,
and after his dsath adrsilatisn M PPimltian ar a heart defect were siven
&8s causes of death and written into the death certificate which was then

and my-

sabar that thess hanginge cooured in the ewwer af 10,
bor whather the subjects were civiliane or prisoners of war.

o deal mn:u the g Mrﬁr?hﬂm
rin, be performed presence of a doctor,

sent the dootors from the service." (Pros Ex 74A).
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A pre-trial affidavit executad before 1st Iieutenant John H, Bowser,
uwuwgum-r.wmmmmmhumwm
on 2 r 1945 was adnitted into evidence (R 832, Pros BEx 318). The
astatement reads in translation and pertinent part as follows:

My nome ia Johann Eleshelsdsrfor, T savwed as s sarpesant in the
first World War from 1914 to 1218 and was promoted later to the rank of
Heutenant. On 20 Jamuary 1945 I was 55 years old. !y address is
Nurnbery, OSemany, Suntersbuhl Strasse 5. Up to my 20th year of 1ife I
worked in the fsctory before I was inducted Into the German Army, I
served during the war 1914-191% with the Sth Pavarian Repiment as a
orivats and laft the arey as & Llsubtenant in the year 102k,

"In Hﬂ!ﬂnhn; ko I was onge nora drafted as a Mdeutenant in
the Heavy Truek and Training “ompany We. 13, d Co., Bamberg, and from
thmIantonlﬁinwﬂherl?hﬂhﬁt.mmthridniwgf
Paris, There I bmkcharpnfnhuwtmckg:hmﬂnhbﬂmmdhthe l
Prent Gatherins Point of the deesr Troup AL daye ister I laft for |
Essen, Ruhr from there, to take sare of the malntenance of vehicles. In
April 191 I was loaded on the train with the wehicles and we went to
Erakau, Poland. There I remained until the ' of the oparations |
int.hc Eaat, T lad this column until Avgust 1943. Then I becume sick |
and was sent to a hospital for 8 months, T had rheumatism. Then I went
to Peckondorl Osrmany, and wans transferred from there do Orendenburg .

_ ys Berlin, to the 55 as officer of the 55 Ouard Battalions, - |
From there I was sent to uluhmz. an Oberscharfuehrer who was

' 4 was on 15 July 194k, ‘hen I was

apprentica with the activities of the arisoner of war Camp Augstmrg-

Pferses. From there T waz am‘dhguhm;u&mm 1
took charge of the Zamp M. 7, whioch previously was oocunied by the Todt
Organtzation. This huﬂpmuﬂ {n September 19Lli. At that titme no Lrmates

were present at Samp Vo. B, In Octoher of the mame year I was ordered
to take charge of Cwep Yo. 7 and in January 1945 T was transferred to
Cams Mo. ha In Camp M. i there wore about 1,500 immates, until about

thrue woeks belure Ahe doericon forcen arrived, sbt whlch Lloe Lhe gunbes
fnoreased to 1,000 irmates, I would like to mention that I received the
order to leave Oranienburg and to report to Obersturwbann fuchrer “eiter
at Dachau, and he in tum gave ne the order to report to Ubhersturmfushrer :
Yolkmar at Augsturg. Uson orders of Oberstummbannfushror Weiter, I laft 1

Augsturg on the Sth or 6th of Avgust 1oLl and had to report at Kaufering .
to Haupboturmlusheer Tornber. 13 flost Job there sap o Lol Ghe

e:urdnutthsbuﬂdingnibﬂ. T did this shout up to the niddla of
when 1 was ordered to take tcharge of “amp No. B. However,
G-pﬂo.ﬁ-ﬁdﬂuthnwimm in 5
then of Carp 15, 7 where 1 resalned a= ﬂmmmﬂl
The M ghest nrimmno-pm.‘fm ) 2,000 when T took
gharge of 1t in e 1Y OULOIVINATES U% JON7 No. [ were the follow-
ing: !{m.:pta:cmrhchur Vetter in the capacity of Fapportfuehrar, Ober-
scharfushrer Lauftas the Supply non~nopmissioned officer for lnratas'
clothing, and Obarscharfushrer Steinbuchel as non-cormissioned officer
in charge of food, Otharwlise no one alre wna mubordinate to ne. During
the time T had charpe of Camp 7 = suceriors =ere: Yaumtsturcfuchrsr
Forstar, Sturmbannfuehrer langlaist ani Stmmbanniuphrer Aumelor, Uncder
me, HauptacharfMehrer Uztter in hls cajecity as damortfushrer me in
charge of the work details of all Jewlsh incatos in Sa=n 7. 4% tHe
beginning of Uctober 194h we had the first death, dus %5 rushroom g
ing; the nrizoners had been moritding in the forost and di not know
danger from these mushrooms, That they had been ~oisoned. l‘gw
T tnow haoaunae they were hrought into oampy that evenlng mmnmm. and
this fact was gonflzmed by the inmate doctor, whose nave I do not knows
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A " 20 Asefl 19LS Dr, Blanke came into Camp No. L and pave me
the order ta help hin load up the slok on the train, I declined to help
iy and declared thIIt. sa Par he wan respanalhle Por this and T wanted 1t

ta stay that way. hmﬁ*.mmirndamhilb;?hhﬂuﬂmm
| theare pic’ed up nll horsedram carriages and took the aick In these to

e railroad station. A11 I 444 wan to furnish the puards because I did
not mnt @y of the immates %o escape. On the day when the Agerican
troopa arrived T 1ef4 o home at 6130 in the morming and rode o =y
Ulerala in the Mrontion af Staffarsharg. Then J entered the woods T
noticed so™e arising from the camp. Taking a closer logk, I could notice
Vat £ wsa Nr. Manke who had set fire to the ear hwts. After that time
T maver sasv X, Planke araln.® (Pros Bx 1131)

R & W&“ Poerschner was probably a Sturmbasnfue ver
894 wan b Tanfeming Narn Yeehor 1 Jurlng tho last tws or thres months
of 1tz extstence in 19L% (2 657,60F), The socused ™erschner mistreated
£5% arisoners who worked on & stone carrying detall (R 657,690). ‘hen the
{ ¢ Tosrschner discovered that the capo for the women did not work, he
3 1 the wonen on the dotall by not pemitting them to recelve any
4a7 and fareing thee to stand at attentlon from six until two
T fres b S0 al= tho wemen wers forced %o cart otonea,
ot have any streagth left and began to carry fewer stones
rachne W that, he beat two of them, a

L a prisoner on the headwith a stome (R670-691).
#a the hoaplitel an! was never soen agalu
ng Foarschner beat one irmate with an iron

dly that the man Aled.(R676). This incident




. MYy name is Smmmmmﬁﬂu Torschuer, m*nhiiﬂut
Peb. 1945 T wne ordered by Ybergruppenfushrer Pohl to tale over T eomps
{ fearmimrds O campa) near Landmberp. As I arrlved at Tandaberg t&m

rare abaut 10,000 prisoners, The health situation was bYad and the
mmtn*dn:-:mmm‘:t In the tims that I war oxip cormmander
about 1,000 nrisoners Jatmd El:lmp In the tame from 1 Twbr. 194Y
t411 the end of the war, when I wmg a camp commander there, nbout 2,000
srinoners diaﬁ. I om not guilty of thess nases of death, After Je
{nopaction 2® the camp Yo, 1, T imsndlately ascertained the bad state of
the ‘uimt.s. Trepdintady I mrocived 4Me impresaion that a persof, after:
some Li=e, would ruln hisz health with this kind of billets, I reported
thle tmoression the next day to the camp commander, Ubersturmbanniuenrer
Yeltor, nnd alsa to Obearsripnenfushrar Pohl, who wag present thare, I
requestod Ohewpruppenfushrer Pohl to relleve me from this pesitlon, Yut
gy Toquest mas refused,

"is T too't over the camn there was typhus fever among the nrisan-
ors. The greater part of the eanps were closed, Deside this, camp bo. U
was oeeupled wholly by slek prisoners, Unly the rhysielan was allmeed to
entar this cann., ‘ost of the deaths cccurred in thiz cwmp Yo. L. The
phy=ician told ne definitely thnt 1t wasn't dangerous and the danger
would be campletely eliminsted., The typhus fever, after gous tine
appammtly ddaninished in the sinale camns. The cases af death diminished
alao, the number of sick sereons, however, continued,

"n rmy opinion, the puilt im the fact that 21l people were ng-
comodated In such bad billets. “wen the carns ware bullt eanvenient
larracks had to be requednted from the 0.7, for the aseamndation of the
inraten, Hathing and desinfoction-rooms as well ms shoataler's shon,
taller's skop an dry cleaners for body linen an” working elsthes at any
rata had to be in order bafore the arrival of the immates. Tefore belng
quartered the campa had to he dratned, The shysleian ought o have had
at hin disposal a mumber of sick-heds, Tn the camp 2 damtist's station
supht to Enm boon installed when Yednp quartered. The camps Installed
b dhe D in dhn emwlwane AT Tandahare by no means wore to be ascoupied
1T the above-mentioned requests were not accomnlished before.

"The camps mare Willeted +Athout these rejquests comdlstely bSelng
ancomplished, and thim, on my opinten, 4s the reason for the hish Amount
of sick parsons and alse of the following ecases of death. After I had
tatton ovor 4he samp on the lat o7 Fahrnary 1948, T triad ta fmorove what-

evar was nossible.

"Tn the Camp Ma. 1 the hm; tallprts shop as well as the
shﬁemh%r'-s shop were improved and en during the time that I was
there, ‘“he 'dtchen was lmproved, lodgings improved as well as the
astrecbs end facb paths. Inpreversnts were nlen parfarmad In tha athsr
campa, Mmly camp ?-u. L (sick-camp) was stillbarred during =y ti=e,
Entrance wan forbldden, there so that I ramnot state improvements thire,

"In my written statemsnt to the O,T. I requested the improve-
ments which were nacessary in the sinpgle cams. A copy was sent to
Dachau and Perldn. In my later venowt to Dnehon T anlend Par the departure
of tha orisoners uwnatla o work,

"Standartenfuehrer Dolling, Thersturmbannfuehrer Fas, and the
camp commander of Tachan arrived at Landsherz some days later. After
my report in which I ensrgotically nsleed for help the departure of all
slvk Lnnates wers promiped o mes T4 would talts anly a shank tima, and
the sick inmates would be transferred %o a pgood sick-camp, expacial
pleked for them, The contrary haypened, other alck inmates were sent to
Landsberg by order of the camp-chief Cbersturmbamfushrer Telter, I




"1, From Pebruary 1945 until the capture of the camp ty th
United States fofices 1 acted as cawp doctor and director of the -urgical
department of the Concentration Cmmp Dachau. As such I held the rank of

an 8x Hamptstursfashrer. ,

"2. An Camp Doctor and director of the surglcal department my
superior was 59 Bturmbannfuehrer Fritz Hintearmaler, my colleagues the
modical officer of the station complement Puhr and the director of the

Welenic station Weber. [Hintermaler was in charge of all sanitary
hygianis and athay =adisal tnetalTatians snd 211 {nstallatinen that wers

charged with the health of the inmates and was responsible for the entire
haalth service and all sanitary measures, According to Sturmbannfuehrer
Hinternmaler's om statements, he did not hold the degree of Doctor of
Yadicine, Althougl. this was not unusual in wartime, 1t was extremely
unusual in the case of a amn of Dr. nterwaiar's age. In my opinion,

. e, Hintarsiar 414 nat noasese the sadical, sdminiatrative ar =i1itary
capacity which would have bheen necessary to fi1ll his position. He also
lacked the necessary ability to work, initiative, and good will

"3. When I started m duties in the camp in February 1945 and

Ur. Hintermaler tock me on a tour of the camp, he told me that a typhus
spldemis was godng on. Tn kir apirisn tha spidesis was shhing althangh
according to his omn statements l.hutﬁtoﬁt)nmufdnthomud
dally and new infections were reported contimuously. For instance, two
of my imediste subordinates, an x-ray techniclan and another assiatant
“de after that time, although naturally the general

conditions and the sanitary arrangements of those who
ok mhhm favorsble than those the

‘broke out. Lack of space, saritary facilities medi
M unavaldable, The inmates, who wore in a
'mmmmfmmmunmem I
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-jnniu:eu‘bim mnd disinfection facilities naturally contributed thedr
snare. I should lilke to mention that a shortwave dilousing station
was installed after my arrival suring the last weeks, However, ay ‘
success this disinfaction ml ht have affected was destroyer, aima
ﬂ‘ﬁmﬂﬁt@ whish arrivad freshly in Lha camn wars 'lmmd'l-&"l'at;r Hatrite L
ted over all blocks of the camp and in a very negligent fashion without
going through the de-lonsing stabion first, so that mtvmlla' the
success of the previous de-lousing of the camp was destroyed. Regula-
tions required that all new arrivale should go through the delmsing
tion which, if my memory serves me right, was under the direction of
gcharfuchror Tuhrmann, This thing was imssgeible thouph since mly
a mall number of prisoners from each shipment was taken to the de-
lousing station while the others wrre simply thromn into the camp after
the time was up., I don't thinlk that Dr. intermaier and Fuhrmann
tolerated this from any bad will mt simnly beeause they -eould not
eontrol the larpe masses and could not get along on the time. T myself
Er.pﬂm coveral wora to ponteal the epldormde or oven to sheelr L% ta On,
intermaier. Hor instance, T propese to quarantine all those who had
heen infected in the camp Allach, which was partly empty at that time.
“opsover L oropose that the typhus infection should be decentralimed,
that thelr barracks should be separated and that they should be bedded
in two-layer bunke Instead of three-layer bunks. Nabturally this would
have dosrenged the denser of Lnfoctlon conelderably. However Dr.
Hintermaler was passive towards all oronmosals, just as in many other
oropasals which were aimed at improving conditions in camp, obvlously
he mas only interested in potting rid of the unpleasan® reprimnder as
soon a8 nossible, Mothing ever happenad afterwards, although T attempted

to axplain to him +Hs seriousness aof the situation, although this should
ot have Lwen nevessasy Lo dootlicr ducbors I ohould 1ike to add that Br,

tornniar could have done somethide 47 he had anly had the desire bo
tmprove things., TVor instance, when I inslsted on enlarging my department
I smucceeded in seeurlny & larper and mdre spacious ward and several single
bed-raons for my patients. The only serum that was given was the so-oalled
Heonvalescent serum" which is only of healing and not prophylactic value,
an fav as T i, Uherefore T odan sey 1o sweserlslpg What Wie oublisshe uf
gpidente could have been avolded by & bettsr, or even by a more intere-ted,
sanitary and hyplenle dirsction, and that after the outhrake of the
epidemlic 1t could have heen checked Wy proper control 4f only the moat
arbnitive medical nsasures which were in Or, Hintersaler's power, or econld
have baen in Dr. Mntermaierts power hind Yeen taken,

i, Aaahep :.aum‘: of denth was dysehtery and uther related
tntegtinal diseases, The wiailn reasan for these Jdlspases was insufficlent
food, I+ vas ane of the dutles of the eann doctars to inspect the LitcHen
afl the food Which was ssrved every day. Zvcept for the snaﬂial ddats,
which was very mod, the food was very ustmll;r qualitively and always
qUANLLTIVeLY 1nsuUrilelent To keep even & sedentary man healtiy. Ir- should
he noted that the inmates who recaiva:l the food naturally were all, or at
1leagt for the most part nngagad in & heavy tork, Arter every one 0«1‘ myr
inspections T made note of the irgulficlent quantity in the mess-bogk.
.l.ﬁeurdln[; to directives, the mes~~hool was read by the administrated
chiefa, Hauptaturmfushrer Wetzel and rsturnfushrer T1lliebosck, “ors=-
over 1 informed my superior, Tr. Hintemiaier of that a'r-n.':-a or artaira,
esenially in rogard to an additional issue of fat, and I alwiys met with
the sams lack of understanding and lack of in’wmst. Zven the fnod that
was sarved to the sisck who d1d not get special diets was absclutely in-
#ufficient to retur a sick man bo hoalth or even to maintain his state
of nutiritian, Eudcmﬂa‘pa res caugsed this lack in the diet of the sick
‘w0 be at Teast partially remedipd,

"8, Onoe T insnected the Camp whldorf by order of Or, Minter-
ory I found the sanitary ant medienl factlities insufficient, Asain
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I submitted cervain proposals to Dr. Hintermalsr and demanded the detedle
ing : a special camp doctor. The result was the same ae in the case of
my other demands, Howsver I was so excited mbout the conditions I had
:rmﬁ--_dwingw ingpection that I inspected the camp unofficially a
pecond tlme snd found the conditions the same, with the exception of an
oub-of-the-way wotdan barracks as a no-called diepensary. 1 g0 @0 angyy
about this conditions that I requested Obersturmbannfuenrer Martin Weise
to talke me along on an ingpootion and I pointed out the terrible conditiona
and the even more dangerous potentialities, We did gctually have a con-
ference with Ingineer Genaral Techersik after the two 0,T. Physiciane whom
wo met by mccident in the camp, explained that he was the only one who
could laprove things., However nothing did in fgot happen.

6., I wae compelled to participate in thres executions during
my tour of duby in the Concemtration Camp Dachan, The firet one, s shoot-
ing probably took place in March 1945, Then afterwards I was pressnt at

another execution, alwo in March or possibly in Xpril 1945, and ons hanging
which took place ln April 1545, Those who were shot were two Russlane, 1
don't know whather they were PW's or civiliasne, and ons Frenchman, T don't
know whether he wae PW or e¢lvilian, Those who ware hanged were two Poles
or Russiane, and sgein I did not know whether they were PW's or civilians.
In all cases the exscutions were direscted by Obersturmfushrer Ruppert and
Otto and Hauptecharfuehrer Bongarts and Eichberger did the mctual killing
in the case of fthe shootings., In the hanging the actual killing was dons
by an inmate, in my oplunion. After the hanging I elgned the certificatesof
execurion with Obergturmfuehrer Otto and Obersturmfushrer Euppert.

"7, To complete my statement T whould like to add that many cases
of death were recorded as “weakness of circulgtion’ pince they had died of
infections which were in themgelves minor, but to which they had no resis-
tance because of their state of malmutrition," (Pros Ex 1004).

16, Dr, Klgus Karl Schilling. A special experimental station had been
fet aelds in the hospital for the performance of malaria experiments under
the supervision of the mooused Dr. Schilline (R 191.157.482), Schilling
performed his research for the purpose of determining lmmunisation for and
treatment of malaria (R 192). Requests for prisonsrs were made by Schilling
(R 169,160), One wuch requast , vhich was aduitted into evidence, stated
that Poliuh priscners were requested (R 160, Pros Ex 38), A list of inmetes
was preparsd in the camp physician's office, the inmates belng of all
nationalities which wers represented in the camp. and was sent to the labor
office which made a oopy of the liet (R 284,285,287, Pros Ex 47,48,157).
Thers the 1ist wos confimmed Dy the schutzhaftlagerfuehrer who sometimes
nade a few changes in the list (R 285). These lists appeared about once
every month since about 1942 (R 285), None of the 1200 selectess ever
conssnted or volunteered (R 160-16L), Priests were often selected for thase
experiments (R 356, 353). An inmate. a prisat named Father Koah. ralated hia
experience in that connection (R 356)., He wae first m-rayed and then sent
to the malaris station (R 356-367,383,216), He was put into a little room
where he received a box with moequitoee which he had to hold 4n his hands
for about half an hour (R 368), That occurred every day for ons week
(R 358, 3583), Nvery afternoon another box of mosquitoes was put in between
hie lexn while hs was in bed (R 3B8.383). Tach morning a blood amanr was
taken from his ear and his temperature was measursd each day and night
(R 358,364). He was given quinine (R 358,364). In about 17 days he left
the hospitel (R 369,364). After being released from the hospital he had to
report back every sah:rdar (R 360,384). ¥ight months later he had sn
attack of malaria, which recurred precleely every three weeks for six
monthe (R 359.363.364. 365). Tha wymptone he falt warae high farar, ahilla
and pains in the joints (R 350). Xoeh did not yoluntesr for the upu'hntl
nor 414 the other prisoners, who were mowtly Poles and Ruseiamns, who undsr-
went thas treatment with him (R 558, 362),
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The prisonars were infected wilh walaria by the injectioms
mopqul toes themwelves or the injections of extracts of the mucous glanda
of the mosquitces (R 157), After baving contracted malaris the prisoners
were treated in different ways (R 157)., Some, as Pather Koch, were givea
quinine (R 358). Others were givem sec-salvarsan, pyramidon, an
A Grug numbersad 92016 and several cumblomtions uf these (R 157). Dome
people died as a result of these experiments (B 158), Sehi was
present when autopsies wers performed on some of those persons (R 168),
Whenever anyone died who had been injected with malaris, a report of that
death was made to the sccused Schilling and the chief doctor (R 158).
Bome of the viotimae died from the intoxication of neo-salvarsan and
pyrapidon, IOT many individusgls could not witheimod large dowe of these
drugs (R 159). From the autopay it could be determined that a patient
dled of neo-salvarsan since the reactioms were similar to arseaie (R 193-194)
In the begilnning of 1944 three deaths resulted from the use of pyranidon
(R 194). These people were brought directly from the malaris ward to the
autopsy room (R Iﬁ Two young Russian boys who were transferred from the
Malaria ward to the gensral medlcal WaArd 0160 wiinin a day sftver \hels
arrival because of overdoses of pyramidon (R 394-295,405), They had been
sent to the genersl ward ao that the official cause of death which would
be stated would not be malaria (B 405), Pyramidon has a toxiec influmce
on the blood corpuscles which causes them to disintegrate (R 195). Malaria
was the direct cause of 30 deaths and as & result of complications, 300 to
400 more died (R 195,197). People who bad dled Airectly Irom malarls had
come straight from the malaria ward while the 300 to 400 others had under-
gone the malaria experiment (R 204). These people who had been wubjected
to malarin may later have died of tuberculosis, pneumonia or dysentery
(R 196). Some of the patients whom Dr., Schilling used had had tuberou-
losis before undergoing the experiments (R 11). Yever type diseases bave
pdverse effects on tuberoulosis (R 211), An index of the malmria diseased
people was kept in the hospital office (R 198).

Schilling received various visitors such as Dr. Rabbit, who was
a Reich S8 physiciamn at Oranienberg (R 192),

A pre-trisl affidavit of the acoused Schilling executed in nis
own handwrlting on 30 Ogtober 1946 before 2nd Lisutenant Werner Conn wam
admitted into evidence (R 827, Pros Ex 122). Thims statement reads in
pertinent part and in traoslation ae followm

"My name iw Prof, Dr., Olaus Schilling. I have already worked

en troplcal diseases for 45 yours., I came to the experimental statiOnm 1n
Dachau in February 1942, I Jjudge that I innoculated detween 500 and 1,000
prisoners, Those were mostly lnnoculations for protection. These people,
however, were not volunteers. The inmates whom 1 gave protective lanocula~
tions were not examined by me but by the pressnt camp doctor. Before the
innoculation there was usually an observation of several days., The last
camp doctor was Dr. Hintermaler. As well as I can remember, 1ln three
years there were 49 patients who died outside the malaria station. The
patients wore always releassd by me as cured only after ons year,

"As remedy I used quinine, atabrine snd neosalvarsan. I know

for surs of & cases where I used pyramidon tablets to hold dowm the faver,
(Prox Bx 122).
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peopla (R 223). At a Christmas celsbration in 19L2 Knoll said,
fersan political prisoners were decent. All others in the
to hall® (& 526). Enoll then added, "ir. Hauptstursfushrer
r+ Bsels) I finished 97 Jews, 3 sore and then I shall
tima® (R S24). ¥nnll was also a black asltasts on

6, 200, 166). He beat people, espscially Czechs, on
banch (R 166, 307). These beatings wore unofficial and
because of

prisoners to the hospital he would often besat them and st the
he often struck the patisnts (B 306). At one tioe in 15Lk
intn hlank 1A whare ha hast & Pola with the lag of a chair
caused the Pole to collapse (R 22k, 247)

17, Dr. Fridolin Karl Pulr.

A pre trial affidavit of Dr. Fridolin Narl Puhr wiich had
prepared in ks own hand writing snd svseutsd befars Captain

John A. Harnett, investigating officer, on 30 October 1945 wes ad~
vitted into evidencer (R 846, pros ex 113). It reads in pertinent
part in translation as followsy
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"y name is FRIDOLIN PSR. 1 am 3] years old and am by
birth an Ausicians I o= o dostors I ontorod 4he AMlgessine &8 ia June
1937. I reported voluntarily at the end of 1237 to the Air Force,
but was inducted on 15 July 1940 into the orgmization of the Waffan
.

"] came to the Dachan Ooncentration Camp on 15 December 15LL
apd ledd Ulw jsck st et e of Heuptelw=fuslrer and toooy dochor
for the guarding units of the Concentration Camp. I was in gharge
of a small hospital unit with 21 beds, which was located outside of
the so-called Concentration Camp.

"I did not have anything to do with tha treatasnt of the
Woskitutes in the cwep Decsuse thuse www Jor U Cepuss T adedt that
I was prosent, at sxecutions wiich were performed here at Dachau. I
‘on remamber 5 or 6 executions where I had to be present, In two cases
‘the vigtins were ha and in the other cases thuy wore shot. With the
‘axosption of 3 88 men, the viotims werd all irmates. T can remester
Ahe first exocution st which I was present, which was perfommed on
‘CRristoas i/k. 100 VACUIR WaS an loaate anc was slwt lecause fm bed
oy in yonich, The exncution took place in the yard. I don't
5 ';;WMMmmum. Obersturef whrer OTT0 was

t a4t that time with Schutzhaftlagerfushrer RUPPERT. There were
‘other mon present, thoir names 1 can't remember. 1 now romamber
Nng tho corpso to the cremator; to be burnea i had
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wxamined the body and mada ous tie death cartliicate.
1

1 was frusmt &t two exzoutions in Jenusry, the first af mden
topk place at the beginning of Jamcary 1915 where tat {nmates, Lhat
nationnlities unloowy to me, were hansed in tha oremsterium, BOWG-
ARTE was the hangman and SUPPERT and OTTO were preseént, as in all
pravious oases. One of tae two inmatés was axecuted as a spy and T
don't know why the second one had to die. ALl bangiigs tusk plaoe
in the crematorium and the shootings in the yard of the cremetorium.
As usual T asked for the wxecutlon order which T salwsys had read be='
fors an axecution took place. #hen the deatl verdict appeared to s
too severe I would try to put in for an appeal to the Ad)ubant; whos
wis presant. 1ha gallows was located in tha cramstoriam rleht in
front of ths ovens. BONGARTZ killed these two inmates in & pood
way. Tha corpses were laft thare to e burnod,

wWThe naxt execution 1 renombor ocourred ab the and of January,
Thié was tha shooting of 8 man in the yard of the cromatorium. 1
can't remember why he was shot. The inmate was completely undrasssd,
had to kneel down in front of a pile of earth and theh BONGAATZ case
from behind with a pistol and shot the man in the neck. The Bap was
dead immediately. At that tlme RUPPERT and OTTO wars again prasent.

mMhe next execution took place in the middle of March. T cods
too late, and whan I arrived there the exsoution bad alrsady tiken
place. There were four naked bodies lying on the ground. Dhag
ware all shot the same way as the other ones, in the neck. ALl
the witnessss had already left at the time I arrived. I made out
the denth certificates. With certainty I assumed that the sroun which
usually included OTTO, RUPPERT, and BONGARTZ had perforued this ex-
ecution. I made out the death certificates for tha I victius.

nThe next execution took place in the middle of April, There
were 8 men shot. Thay were all naked and shot in the same way as
the previous onas. HRAAONIARTZ and another S8 man, hls nams arknoom to
me, psrformed this killing. I do remember that two of tham wers phot
for espionage. OITO was there as Adjutant to thoe Lager (omsunidant,
WEITER. The Schutzhaftlagerfushrer RUPPERT was alsg present. The
exsoution took place in the same area whore the othors had taken place.?
(Pros Ex Ho 1134)

16, Prans Hostiper.

Boettger was Rapportfushrer and labor lsader (R 235, 251,
339). When the work details would leave the ocamp he would stand at
the gata and check the 1ists (R 251). In 194 the accused Boet
affiniatad st tha puhlis svasutioan af a goung Ruesdan (B 1_')],, 1R )-
It was Boettger who kicked the stool out from undar the youngy fRuseian's
legs (R 12l, 578). His body remained hanging for about one half to
three quarters of an hour whils the working details marchod by durdng
the noon hours (R 12L=125)., It was Boettger who brought tha two
Hussisn women to the crematorium who were executsd by Hintermayer (R J39).
Daattgor had the regular Job of leeding the poople Lo the erepaboediu
to be shot or hanged (R 339). Thus, the 96 Russian officers who wore
exsoutad in September 1 warg lad to the place of execution b hin
(R 126, 181). The acoused Ruppert and [oettger were in dha::;lﬂﬂ 3,25
As they went toward the crematorium he pushed them and fold theu to
Quicken their pace (R 127). Aftor they arrived at the cresatorium
oingle shote wore hodrd ocvudng frow that dirocotion and the 26 Fumels
officers were found shot in the neck and the gold in thedir teeth |
bean taken (R 128). '

:I the prisoners in thl ‘nlﬂh house with m-gr-#-} 5,




ospital, (i 235, 236).

- of the individuals in charge of a transport

or ﬁ Amﬂ. 1945 (R 236). During the uarch he snot a

the head who was lying in the ditch beside the road becausa
paen from weakmessa (jt €36, ¢hu, 26L).

pre~trial dﬁHﬂt of Boattger's, prepared in his own hand-
vhich M*"hiu uxscuted befors Lisutenant Conn on 29 fetober
iuppleme ‘ihiﬁh was &lso in his omn hand writing and
: : “on 30 October 1948 were admittad inte
It reads in pertinent part and

guard 'ﬂm Mmﬁ Iﬂ___ y ﬂ pmonm, and [ was relassed the
frst of Yovember 1940, 4 bhat tioe PIORKOWSKL was Commandant of

the Consentration Camp of Dachau. Im“&hmmm bagk to Jaghau as
lnterssharfushrer in hay 1941, and worked as supply sergeant in the
Second Company. In Septomber ‘IEI;I.. I came to the post censorship
uffice at the Command Post. Thérae 1 was until October or Huvenbar
1943, and I was promoted in _ay 1542 to Scharfushrer, and in iay 1943,
tio Oberscharfushrar. mﬁpﬁﬁturmw REDWITZ trﬂﬂ; {Bﬂtl-uﬂ'ﬂ- 19113)1
gave mo the offieial order thet I should work as lapportfushrer in

the Schutshaftlager, At that time WEISS was egtill in command of
Dachau. 4 official office was in Department ¢#3 in the shoshouse.

The [lock Leaders under mé had Rlocks 2 to 30 and 19 to 29 under them.
The following Schutzhaftlagerfushirars vare at that tims my superiors:
1. Hauptsturmfuehrer REDSITZ: (L3-Lbk)s 2. Untersturmfushrer JUIG,
(Jar. to middls of 194l); 3. Obersturmfuehrer HUFPERT, (middle 19LL
to end); L. Obersturnfuehrer OAUPE (Mo dates). In Naovembar 1943,
WEITER became fommandant of Dachau, and in June 154k, I was promoted
to Hauptsgharfuehrer. My work as HRapportfushrer consisted of the fol-
lowing thingss 1. Control of work details; 2. Receive and turn

over transports; 3. Hold roll eall: L. Iesad pmsople to tha cramstoriam.

Al ordars for that were given tb ma by Department lo. 3. (REDWITZ,
JUNG, HUFPERT.) When 1 led the peojle to the crematorium; the list
was always brought by BICHBEROER from the Political lepartment

of the HQ. to the Schutzhaftlagerfushrer. EICHRERGER alwaye want along
to ths erematorium because he nad to got the list signed. The 1ist
was always signed by tha Sehutzhaftlaperfuahrer presant, the ddijutant.
Obersiurmfushrer 0170, and the dooltor. 1 saw the following people

sign the list: HUPPERT, JG, Bturmbannfuehrer HINTERMISER, Dr. EISKLE
(Haupteturnfuehrer) and the Adjutant, Dbersturmfushrer OTT0. Whan I
lpd thess peopls to the crasautorium, I kmew what would happen to them.
Yone of thasa people game oul of the erematorium alive.

n Besides the civil ifmmates, thers.wera also Hussian prisonsrs in
the oump. At one time, on L Heptember 194, about ninety Hussians
were shot. They were soldlers., Whan I saw these soldisrs the
first time, they wers already linsd up and the following 8S men were
present: Oumiandant WEITER, HUFPERT, XUHW, EICHREROHR, and (presum-
lw-.'i"} HOMEREYRR. The peopled were ther' lud ts the cremate=iom. I
want, Alopg with about the last 30 fussians and when I arrived at the
ersmatorium, I saw how thay were shot. The lussians had to undross
naked, and I saw the followins peopla give them shots in the neck:

1. Oberscharfushrer BONGARTZ; 2. Hauptecharfushrer KUHN, and Haupt-
soharfushrer BICHHEROER, Present at the shootding were RUPPERT, I,
‘and one of tho dootors. Thare wore also Gootape aganits from w-hrﬁ-l
there; Adjutant Otto was thers. Dr. HINTERIEYER or Dr. mm
there, or PUHR, BONGARTZ was exscutor and killed most of them.
WHITER was also present.

" in the transport to but we as
,,:Iwnkmwm M".%'a m
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following 58 men ware presant: 1. nz.mmm
in command; 3. Hauptman BATER; L. Untersturmfuetrer BORNUNG.®
(Pros Bx No. 1054)

1%. Peter Beix.

Bets was an 8S Hauptacharfushrer (R 290). From January to
March 193 he was Rapportfushrer (R 290).

lmml-rmm;dmmwmwtnm
own handwriting executed before Lisutenant Bowser on 1245

was admitted into evidence (R 834, pros ex 120). It reads in pertinent
part and translation as follows;

"ily name is PETER HETZ; I am 32 years old and I was
mm;‘gg;wu Hoi & in the town of mm in Bavaria.
Novembar I voluntarily sntared Allgomsine 88 dus
ezployment . 'mm.tmmmtutmmmrmmn
every mow and then and in its surrounding localities. T be I
performed was that of a carpsnter on the railway line. In August
1935, I reported voluntarily to the Doath's fiead S8 at Dachsu.
There I was assigned as an S5 man and worked myself up %o the rank
of Rottenfushrer until June 1935 and during the three years there
I performed my duties as a guard. In 1938 I was transfarred to the
Commandant's Office withdn the cancentration Cs=p Dachau. Then I
was smployed in the office of Umit No. 3. At tha beginning of the
war, the Death's Head Orgamizations wers incorporated into the
Waffen 88 of which I was & member since 2 Septembar 1919. At that
time I was Scharfushrer and worked myvself uw to Hauptacharfuehrer. I
received this rank on 1 February 1943,

iy duties in the office were to check the arrival and depart-
urss, as well as the death cases, and to report these to Oranienburg
in the vicinity of Berlin. I sent punishsent orders to Berlin for
appreval and T alan had tn send parduct raports of {rmetas ta the
designated Gestapo office and forward them to the leighSwourity
main office. My highast superiors in the office from 1938 to 1943
were Obersturmbannfuehrer PIORKOWSKI and respectively following hia
in short order, Hauptsturmfushrer CRUENEMALD, Hauptrturmfushrar SYLL,

Hauptsturmfushrer REDWITZ, and Obersturmfuetrer HOFFMANN. I received
an ardar fram HOFFUANN 4n Mavamber 10L1 ta halp plek ap abaut B0

Aussian partisans at the railway station in Dachau in order to _
transport these to the rifle range. At that time I was assigned for
guard duty. On the rifle range, I guarded the Russiane while I
witnessed the Russians being taken in groups of 5 and shot to death.
The second time I perflormod the same duties, and that time about

80 &n 100N Pnesian partisans weara shot. A pariad af 1k dagm alapaed
between the first and secend time. The execution squad, both times,
consisted of the following 88 men: Unterstumfusiwrar JAROLIN; (ber~
scharfushrer FROMMAPFEL, Scharfuehrer HIRNER, Oberscharfuehrer HIFP,
Hauptecharfushrer EIERN, Scharfusihrer STAEFL, Oberscharfushrer m.
Scharfushrer Max BOOCK, Untsrscharfushrer STRASSER, Hawptscharfuehrar
WOLFOANG SKUBS, Hauptsoharfushrer REUICLE.

'zmmmmmmpmwmm

in the summsr of 1942, because the inmates were accused of theft
and they denied it. Several tines, T accidentally had the opportunity
wmmmmmummqmmmwuﬁ
that the inmatss were beater up by 68 men. The lomates wore ris-




beat the prisopers who had reported to
g ! mmt (R 30L). ﬂthm was the respon-
t man, he not only failed to prevent Heiden from
Lng those excesses, but assistad nim (k JOUL). Thus, “uwies
Heiden in placing prisoners on the examination table where Endres
d inject the ceptic into the victim (R 30k, 30S). At other
Amss when Heiden killed soue of the patisnts by injections kndres would
‘#4d in the handling of the patient (R 305, 316, 320). Often Heiden and
‘Eadres would put & pstient in heavy wool blankets, and then subject

: him to & oold shower from 2 to 3 hours, as a rnnu of which \le

patient would die from high fever and freesing (B 30L).

¥

A pre trial statement of the accused Endres prepared in his
‘own handwriting on 30 October 1945 was admitted into svidence (R 829,
pros ex 123). It reads in pertinent part and translatiin as follows;

1"".' , W4 name is ANTON RENDAES, 88 Cberscharfushrer, 88 Totenkopf-
division, Dachau.

| Dachaus 7 Sept. 1939 = 28 Hov. 1939

| Dachaus Dec. 1940 - ey 1L9k2

" Lubling day 1942 -  June 1943

I Augsburg: Juna 1943 - Mov. 1943

% uirom 28 Movember 1939 wntil December 19L0 I was under medical
' treatment beacause of an autonobile aceident and was in Oranienburg.

# From November 1943 until September 19LL I was in custody pena-
dng inguiry in Dachau and jleimar because T had let immates out of the
camp. ms@mm%hlum mmtﬁumewmnh;s';’huaI
was until 30 April 1 I was in Dao from Septamber wntil
e 1939 for basic training. From Decerber 190 until May 19L2

the following duties in Dachaus
1 Juno 1951 I was first aidman under the troop physician,

..-'q:m:r.mum-ummmm

- m the same responsibility. Ify tasks
)Llows: to get the mail, to get medicine
mlmmlﬂnriumw 1 was
! Stnlaimm




in the post censor office whare hanhdmamm-mdmhw
t in

Block leader (R 290, 299). At one tima in 1942 a prisonsr, cither
Kuasian or a pole, who had just come to Dachau on & transport was
lying on the ground since he was very 11l (R 283). Kiern idlled the
kicking him in the head (R 263).
A pre trial affidavit of the accused Kiern which was prepared
in his Iunm-i and exacuted bafore utenant fowser on 30
Ootobar was adnmitted into evidence (R 836, pros ex 119). It

reads in pnrtinmt- t ana in translation ws follows;

My name is Simon Kiern. 1 am 32 years of age and resided until
my arrest on 30 April 1945 st Hebertahausen, Wurmuhle 3. I was indtoted
into tha erman jnu' on 1 Ootober 1932 and was dischargsed as a corparal
on 1 Merch 1936, Than I becams a civilian and remained one until 30
Jaauary 1937 and after that time I entered the organization of the
Walffen 85. I firet came to Dachau on 1 February 1937 and was employed
there as a Signal Corps man. I remained in Dachau from 1937 until 1939
to train 85 men as Signal Corpa wen and was thereafter sent to
Czechoslavaiia where I remained until the year 19L1. Then T returnad
to Dachau and was sctive with the Signal Corps umtil July 1941. Then
I was gommanded to the Concentration Camp where I was amployed &s
clark in tha office of Hauptsturmfuehrer Zill. My rank at that time
was Unterscharfustuer. My dutles in the office consisted of filling
out the file cards of inmates, as well as writing N.8.V. post cards
to the families and relatives of inmates. In November 1901 T was
ordered for the first time to participate in the execution of Muspien
prisoners, [ did not want to do that and told Zill so. I harsupon
he shouted at me and said that I had to execute his orders. Fifteen
Russian Partisans were shot to death that month. Thess executions
tock place at the rifle range. The next shootings I was ordarad to
particinate in took place in January 19:2. Thara weara tan avaeuntions
that month, in easoh of which 25 or more Russians were shot. I was
aotive in all three executions, taking part in the shooting. Unter-
sturmfuehrer Jarolin was in command of these exeoutions, The follow-
ing named men have participated in one or more executions,

Hauptanhar fuakrar Patar Pats
Scharfushrer Hertha
Scharfuehrer Angerer
Hauptscharfustrer Geisberpsr
Oberscharfushrer Mullsr
Hauptscharfushrer Wolfgang Seuse
Nnttanfushrer Philipp
Scharfushrer Stasfl
Oberscharfushrer Karl Kipfer
Oberscharfushrer Fndreas
Seharfushrer Preiss
Scharfushrer Max Boock
Saharfoshrer Josef Book

Scharfuahrer Schoppmeier

Furthermore I want to mention that at the
place 5 persons wuldh lhr.&t at onoe and




part in the actual shooting, but of the three I cannot say for sure,

B] remained as an office clerk until December 1942, and was
transferred shortly thersafter to the Lail Censor (ffice here in
Dachau where I was mcoused of stealing 10 cigarettes out of an al-
vaady opsued wuvelopge. Thersupon | was sentenced to serve & months in
After serving this punishment I was put on probation as soldier
‘the Welrmacht. After that time I was never again stationed at Dachau.
At the conclusion of this statement I would 1ike to mention that I did
not steal the 10 cigarettes and served the & months jail sentence

innocently." (Pros Ex No 119A).

Redwits, a Hauﬁt.aturmwtn'ar, was the First Schutshaftlager-
fushrer from the end of 1942 through 1543 (R 16L, 292, 385). He
succesdsed 2111 as First Schutzhaftlagerfushrer (R 170). Hedwits
instituted the practice of having the prisoners administar the public
beatings instead of the SS men (R 229). In August 1943 during a

public beating of 1l prisoners on the parade prounds Redwits was the
genior officer present (R 383). One morning he addressed the entire
camp and insulted all the priesta (R 293).

A pre-trial affidavit executed by the accused Hedwits before
Lieutenant Guth on 1 November 1945 was admitted into evidence (R 795,
pros ex 95). It reads in pertinent part and in translation as follows:

M) From 20 November 1942 until 6 March 19LL I was Security
Camp Leader of the Camp of Dachau. During the vears of 1939 until
1942 I was working from time to time as a postal censor in the concen-
tration camp of Mauthsusenm. During my work at Dachau I held the
rank of a Hauptsturmfushrar.

2) In my position as & camp security leader I was in charge of
all affairs concerning the clothing, cuartaring and trastmant nf tha
prisonars and of all the prisonera' welfare. I was responsible for
discipline, good order and cleanliness of the camp as well as for
the health of the prisopsrs. My only superior was (bersturmbannfushrer
Martin WEISS. On the same level with me were his adjutant SUTTROPP,
head of administration Heuptsturmfushrer KLADDENHOF (after April 1943
Sturmbamnfualrar ABNRTOH) and tha ssmesnder af the guard battalion
Haupteturmfushrer MELZER as well as LANGLEIST, and the head of the
political department, Untersturmfushrer and criminal secretary KICK,
the head of labor commitment Oberscharfushrer PFLAUM and the [irat
camp doctor Hauptsturmfushrer Dr. WOLTER. We all worked together and
our respsctive spheres of work overlapped in such a way that it is
impassihla tn make on esxact limltatdon of all righto and roopounsi-
bilities. There is hardly one question arising cut of or possibly

ting in connection with the lesdership of the camp in which
not all leaders dirsctly subordinate to Obersturmbannfushrer WEISS
wld have been interested. It is likewise difficult to make one

the leaders particularly responsible for a eertain condition
the as this oconditien, prabably, was creatod by the cooper—
ation

departments. My subordinates wers Obersturmfushrer Armo
llannd security camp leader, and Untersturmfuehrer Josef
Wﬂ third sscurity camp leader. In the early summer of 1943,
LiPPMANN was replaced by Sturmfushrer JUNG, and JAROLIN by Hauptschar-
fushrer TRENKLE, My first clerk up to March 1943 was Hauptscharfushrer
L and thoroaftoer | upuuhrfuiln'u' BICHBENOERs Everytling I sald
nqmﬂhiuw the staff of the camp commander of the
MATAL o trus with regard to the responsibility of
By staff in the camp. With the exception of brutalities of individ-
uals we are all mutual and in the same way responsibls for conditions

Epraiel
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- 4n the camp. It is impossible for me to hold anyons of




my subordinates, especially responsible for any particular condition.
hwmmwmrmu Mhhm

tion of every order that it is impossible to make responsible any-
ons of them in particular for a certain condition.

and that I am not abla ta gluea any

in a barrack constructed for

200 to 3OO0 mon. This naturally, greatly incressed the denger »f
infeation in the camp. I pointed this out to Obsrsturmbannfushrer WEISS.
Ha, however, did nothing about it.

§) The following disoiplinary punishments were used in the camp
1. Witharawal of rations,
B4 wrTost,

3- bllﬁnll-

The thrashing of prisoners has always teen directed by =e, or Cbar-
sturnbannfushrear WEISS, or Obersturmfuoehrer LIPPUAIN. Though the order
of the Hoonomic and Administration Main Office always prescribed
beatings with a stick the sc—called Ochmansiemer (ox-tail), that im

a long whip, has been used on order of Oberstursbannfushrer WiISS.

On sooe days a considerable nusber of prisoners were altogethar {logged.
1 can remesber one day when about 50 prisomare were beaten.

6) I cannot remember to have been presont at more than about
4U executlons., AlL Win G8&LH sanbences were leoued by Um Nelol
Security Main Office. The political department in oliarge of criminal
secrotary XICK then sant the death sentence of the Felch Security
Main Office to the security casp and Cherstursbarnifushrer WEISS
order of execution. This execution-order was signed by Cherstursbamn-
fustrer WEISS and fixed the tize and the place of execution. Without
this orger of execution, only on the death sentencs of the Medol
Security lain 0ffice, I wuuld not have carried out an execution.

All sxecutions which I can recollect have been carried out by !mnnc-
I cannot remsmber that more than one person at & time was hanged in

one day. I have seen the following persons present at ths axecutions
at which I took Ubersturnbannfuehrer WEISS, the Obersturmfushrer
LIPPMANN, BUT y Dr. KAHR, BAMDOK, HAUFISTURIUSHMIR WULTER,
Untersturmfushrer .:mr.m, Sturmbannfuehrer GEARICH, Hauptscharfuehrer
BETZ and after his replacement, Hauptscharfuehrer BICIBEROER, Haupt-
seharfushrer THENKLE, Obarscharfushrer DOETTCHER, the them Unterschar=
fushrer BONGA™™E, Unterscharfushrer HENSCHE!. When Obersturasbanafushrer
WEISS took part in an sxecution be also directed it., (Then he was

not present, Stursbamnfushrer GEHRICH or somelimes I and Sturmiuvenrer

exscution. I do not want to say that I have sean the above mentioned
present at sach of the LO executions. 1 have seen, however, every-
one out of these persons present At one or aone executions. I cafl
mtmﬂlmmmuuutmm however
lﬂfunuwmmmmmmqwﬁ:m 2
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jted and supervised the work of the prisoners. The doctors Dr.

e Wolter were present at the executions as doctors
! The Scharfuehrer EICHBEAGER and BETZ were am-
iloyed as. The nationalitiss of the prisonars ware [Hus=
sisns, Poles, Frenchmen, Belgians, Dutchmen, Serbians, and perhape
8till others which slipped from =y memOrY.

:

7) About in the year of 1943, Cbersturmbannfushrer WEISS ordered
ms to be reprasentative at an & xecution of two saboteurs in

8) A vusber of prisonsrs ware held ready for the malaria and
phlsgeons and for the sxperiments of Dr. RASCHER's. Cber-
stursbannfusbrer WEISS ordered we to turn over the prisoners to these
doctors for the experiments and then also fixed the number of pris-
onars to be tumed over for each expariment. The general order to
turn over prisoners was given to me by Obersturmbarnfueohrer WEISS
personally, lmmedistely after zy arrival at Dachau. The orders to
release cartain numbers of prisonsrs in the certain case then ar-
rived from time to time from Obersturmbarnfushrer WEISS. I belisve
that he gave me the gensral order personslly on my start of duty, and
then still several times told me when we had a conversation about
the clearance of prisonars for the axperimsents, that this was an
order of the Reichsfuehlrer. I mysell was always against these ex-
periments and in soms cases aven refused at all to turnover of pris-
oners or reduced the number of thosa to be turned over. The selec-
tion of the personalities of prisoners 1 left to the block clarih,.
The genaral ordsr given to m» by Cberstursbannfushrer WEISS on my
start of duty said that the priscners had to be picied wp out of the
group of those sscurity camp prisonars who worked in the SS manage-
ments. Since the emprisoned clargyman ware working in the plantage
which was a 88 management, also clergymen had to be claimed by the
block clerks for these experiments.® (Pros Bx No. %A)

21, Wilhsals Weltar.

Welter, a membar of the 85, was the labor leadsr and Arbsite-
disnstLuehrer ‘,R 526. ?95. 232, 253' h‘ﬂ}}- He was in ¢ of tha slave
sarket formations for several sonths toward the end of 1 and the
begimning of 154S (R 320, 150, 153, 200, 201). The prisconers feared

thass farsations sines it was asnaidarad a dangaraus mattar to ha an
them (R 151).

The prisoners were forced to undress no matter what time of the
yoar it was (R J12). Maay of the peopls who stood on these formations

died (R 152). Welter grouped and lined the pecple uwp (R 201). Welter
hant, hit, poshed and kdeked tham (7 1823).

g

In August 1942 Welter selected 12 inmates who were Belgians,
Ruossiane, Polas, Czechs and Germans for the cold water experimant
(2 k70, h‘n. L72). At the formation the irmates were placed in two
groups, thoss of 30 ywars of age and those under 30 {R L73). only
thess whoe were under 10 ypears of oge were selasectod (B L7L). NHine of those
disd a8 a result of these experimonts (R L71). Each day Welter would
?;iiuu%gwpnfluﬂ'uwmmu to the hospital for the sxperiment

Wolter not only selected the manpower for the slave market for-
mations, but alded i the sclootlom of the poople for the tranoporta
and wark details (R 318, 312, 220, 253; Kick assisted him in drawing
up the lists for the transports (R 253). The list would be read on the
AT ae a0 Welter looked on and after the wers put
together ha would then confirm the aoti n(sasi; Inlaﬂﬂal.t
leant one such transport was of the invalid variety (nasm.



+» Wolter and Bartor were present at the executions as dotore

i 8
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ployed as recorders. The nationalitlss of the prisoners were Rus-
‘slana, Poles, Frenchmsn, Belgians, Dutciman, Serbians, and perhaps

still others which slipped from =y memory.

1) About in the year of 13743, Obsrsturmbannfushrer WEISS ordered
™ o be his representative at an 2 xecution of two saboteurs in

8) A number of prisoners wers held for the salaria aad
PRisgeone experisents and for the experiments of Dr. RASCHER's. Ober-
stursbannluehrer WEISS ordered me to turn over the prisoners to these
doctors for the experiments and then also fixed the number of pris-
oners to be tumed over for each expariment. The peneral order to
turn over prisconsrs was given to me by Oberstursbannfushrer WEISS
perscnally, immedistely after sy arrival at Dschau. The orders to
relsass certain numbers of prisoners in the certain case then ar-
rived from time to time from Cbersturmbamnfuehrer WEISS. I believe
that he gave me the general order personally on my start of duty, and
than etill sesvaral times told me when we had a conversation about
the clearancs of prisonsrs for ths expsrimsnts, that this was an
order of the Reichsfusimer. I myself was always against these ex- 1
periments and in some casss aven refused at all to turnover of pris-
onare or reduced the number of thosa to be turned over. The saleo-
tion of the personalitles of prisoners I left to the block clerks.
The general order given to me by Obersturmbannfushrer WEISS on my
otart of duty said that the priscners had to be picked up out of the
grouwp of those security casp prisoners who worked in the 58 manace-
ments. Since the emprisoned clergymen were working in the plantage
which was & 85 management, also clergymen had to te claimed by the
block olerks for these experiments.® (Pros Bx No. 95A)

23. Wilhelm Welter.

Walter, a mesber of the SS, was the labor lsader and Arbeits-
dienstfushkrer (R 526, 295, 232, 253, L7Lk). Hewas inc of the slave
market formations for several months toward the and of and the
begiining of 1945 (R 320, 150, 153, 200, 201). The ars feared
mr:u;;?m-mnmmmm-m be on
tham b

?,.
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The prisonars were forced to undress no matter what time of the
yoar it was (R 312). Many of the pecple who stood on these formations
died (R 152). Welter grouped and lined the peopls up (R 201). Welter
beat, hit, pushed and idcked them (R 152).

In August 1942 Welter selectad 12 inmates who were Belglans,
Russians, Poles, Csechs and Oersans for the cold water experiment
(® k70, kT2, L72). At the formation the inmstes were placod in two
groups, thoss of 30 years of age and those under 30 (R L73). Only
those who were under 30 yeurs of age were salacted (R L7L). Nine of these
died a8 & rasult af thasa axperiments (R L71). Eaeh day Welter would
m‘gﬂpdmwumummmmmmm
R .

Wulter not only selected the manpower for the slave marikst for-
mations, but aided L1 the selection of the peopls for the transports
muum{nm.m.m,gﬂ. Edok moocisted him in drawing




to Welter was, on Welter's orders, brought to him (R 232).

his riding crop (R 232). As the Russian raised

tar beat him across his back ( 232).

This incident ocourred toward end of 1942 (R 237, 257). In
February 1942 Welter selscted four Jews to work on the crematory detail
(R 277y €78). Tt was common knowledge Lhail each group worked in the
detail about two months, then were disposed of, and succeeded by a new
group which was selected (R 279, 299). Welter often beat the prisansre,
who were of all nationalities, with his fists and kicked them with
his feet (R 527, 232).

A pro~trial affidavit of tle svvused Weller executed before
Lieutenant Outh on 30 Octobar 1945 was admitted into syidence (R 811,
pros ex 99), It reads in pertinent part and translation as followsi

"From 1 January 1938 until the end of 1939 I was a member of the
11th comp. lst bn. Inf. re t "Deathhead", from 1 January 19LO
wnbll abuul Mervlepprll 1940 of e 10Uh comp. 2nd On. Jnl. FOgiment
"Deathhsad® and thereafter in the Dachau concentration camp until
about July 1943. I returned to the military service in August-
September 1943 and served on the Easternirant until 17 January 19Lk.
On 17 Jan. 194l I received a heavy head wound with grenade splinter
wornd on tke left thigh. Then I was in various hoepitals such as
Lul:lln, Bad neusnanhr, and KNB1nbach.

“From 1 January 1944 until May 1945 I was ordersd to the Redch
Youth Command in Birgsau, then returned to the front, was separated
from my unit, returnsd home and surrendsred voluntarily to Amrican
officers in the city hall of the town of Dachau.

"y dutlies in the camp were: temporarily bmmandofuehrer in
various labor details such as commardo Frisdrichshafen, Haunstetten,
and in Dachau. My main duty was that of clerk in the department of
labour commitment. Head of the department was Obersturnf. STUMPF
his representative Obarscharf. PFLAUM.

"] was for some time Commandofusirer of the garage construction
commando consisting of about LOO to 500 people at the time. It im
not trus that on this occasion 1 have thrown a prisoner into the
latrine pit. I never have thrown any Prisoner nor any other person
into any latrines pit.

"It is known to me that prisoners were slapped when they had
stolen something or did something which was forbidden to them.
I have smen that Oberscharf. DOTTCHER slapped a prisoner saveral times.
I also heerd when Scharfuelrer BACH slapped a prisonar and I saw the
Capo beat prisoners.

W] believe that it was in the swmser of 1942 when T was enter-
ing the camp that Sturmbannfushrer WEISS requested me to get into
his car and to coms with him. The destination was unimown to me
and upon my guestion he replied; ®You will see." In Augsburg we
stopped before a bullding whichSturmbann{'ushrer WEISS entered.

After a while many people in civilian clothes and in uniform came out

and all got inte cars. Sturmbannfushrer WEISS also got into his car
in wideh I was sitting and followed the column. They stopped out=
side the city about a hundred meters from a small hedge or patch

of woods I stayed in Lhe car while WEISS and the othar pecple walked
inte the wood pateh. T ecould not find eut what actually happanad
then but I believe that after about chree quarters ol an hour WRISS
and several other people returned to the car and WEISS sald to mes
"Jo ovar there and have a look"; I there saw hung pesople, I camot
say how many they were, but 1 bolieve they were ] persons. I inme-
diately returnad to the car with which we returned home. WEISS did

— -




talk to ms wbout this incident. I do not know why ha went to
ugaburg nor why I had to come alomg. I do not think they were es-
oaped prisoners as all of those ware brought back to the camp.

Wvansports of invalids were composed upon salsction of the doc-
tara Hoyptatormfuskmsr WOLTER and Untavsturnfushrer BABOR, T camsmet

give any exact information about the number of transports nor the
number of persons in the transport, It is possible that there were
3 or i such transports, It is unknown to me where the transports
went to. It was sald that they went to Lins.

"1l ean vay tho fellowlhg about owpordmonts of blheo deotoro
RASCUHER and SCHILLING. I do not kmow many details. The prisoner who
daily worked in wy office told me that prisoners had voluntearsd
for ths ailr foroe expsriments of Dre RASCHER. Nobody could take
part in these experiments and fothing exact was krown about them.

The same applied to SCHILLING. I know that SCHILLING kept many
fiohso in a glacs container and aloc birds in omaller and larger

cages. (ne of the prisoners told me when I asked him that the
mosguitos did not bother him. There wers on puard and 2 or 3 pris-
oners almost daily working in vhe wicinity of the camp for Prof.
SOHITLING. They had to cover all creeks or moors with a substance

to chase the mosquitos. As far as [ know Dr. SCHILLING and RASCHER
selected the people for the eaperlments thosselveas

n] was ordered to Frisdrichshafen for soce time in order to bring
about more oleanliness in this comeando and to provide for washing
and toilet facilitiss and alsp for a kitehen for this commando.
The commando=-Fushrar repeatedly reported that the responsible hsad
of the Zeppelin-works, BCKENER, did not take care of the commando
in any way, did not provids billets nor for a kitohen. 1 found the
tollete in Friedrichshafen completaly overfilled and when alter
talldng to director ECKENER and despite his promise they were not
emptied T reported this to Sturmbannfuehrer WEISS in Dachau who ordersd
not to let this commando work until everything was brought inte order,
1 LOSTIUCTEO TNE WOrks REN4Agement t0 ODGALN uddltlonsgl potatoss and

fruits for the commando. I alsp got a kitchen for this commando.

"T know that Sturmbannfuelrer PIORKOWSKI with approval from Berlin
had prisoners build & so-called weakend-house for him. When this was

finished it was a complete house withez 1l furpiture. T also lmow
Lhiat he had many shoes and Loots made in the camp. Whether he sold
them motually is not known to me, but it was sald mbout him.

"Bister PIA was very well known in the camp. She also had a
permanent detail in her Wunich department. The prisoners wers used
in her garden and houss. Sister PIA was not very popular with the
largest part of the 85, she was even fearsd. 8ha had much influence
with the Barlin officials. When I say the largest part I do not mean
the lenders becausa she was oo good terms with them. Sister PIA
had many things made for her in the camp in the various shopa.

She simply ordered this, but I do not think that she ever paid for
its Bhe also had a car when other elvilianse did not have it anymore.
8he changed her driver very oftan hecause they could not stand her.

mOberscharfushrer HESSKE once gave a written rsport about a prisoner
who had stolen in the supply room. I transuitted this report to
Oberscharfushrer FFLAUM sccording to orders.

"It is possible that during my stay in the concentration camp I
slapped prisonsrs. I cannot say it exactly because it must have

Wﬁ rather rarely.

. *ﬂlﬂumhcbdmuundpﬂmmmhﬂarmmm
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2hi. Rudolf Heinrich 3uttrop.

A pre-trial affidavit of the accused Suttrop, prepared in
bis own hand writing and oxscuted before Lisutenant Conn on 30 October
1945 was admitted into svidence Mﬁ. pros ex 106). That statement
weads in Wwaselstion ana in pert part as follows)

"y name is SUDOL® SUTTROP, living at Dachau, Cermany, AM
Jelsterwald (7) No. 1l. I entered the Allgemeine 88 on 5 Septamber
1933, the Party in September 1937 and on the 2nd of November 1936,
the Waffen 85. On the 9th of Novembar 1943, T was promoted %o
Oberstwmiusirer A% the Commandanteur Staff (HQ) of the Concentration
Camp of Dachau.

*From the 15th of Jay 1942 untdl 15th of May 1944, I was adju-
tant in the Commandanteur Staff (HQ) of the Concentration Camp of
Dachau. For about five weeks I was adfutant undar the Camp Commandesr
80 Oleswturmbannruehrer ALFX PIOXOWSKI. Then until tha lst of No=-
vember 1543, under 58 Obverstursbannfustrer MARTIN WEISS and then until
15 May 15LL under 85 Obersturmbannfuehrer WEITER!

) 'Imat&:ﬁut:du%mnmw:um
From Soptember lay in Gros-Rosen

1% wmy i¥4Z until 15 ¥ay 1 um..;(:)mzswmahmm
6 March 19L5 in Orcss-Hosen. As guard I was first in Sachsen-
burg—1A, ssoond in Buchspwald near Wedmer. My duties as adjutant
in Dachau from tay 1942 untdl May 19LL were as follows;

(1) In charge of 235 non-cormmissionsd officers and men
or the Commandantew Staff (HQ).

(2) The orderly distribution of the incoming mail of
various departasnts for which T was responsible.

{3) To asniat ths Commandant with hle psper work.

The above three pointa are & trus reproduction of the duty regu-
lation for the concentration casps &s to the task of in adjutant.

"Orders and directives were lad on to the following departments,
I to VI, that is Bacret orders at sach occaricn tw Lhe depsrument
leader in charge against recelpt.

I — PERSONNEL DEPAPTMENT — Registration - Teletype.
Oberscharluehrer BLRULERT
Oberscharfoehrer MACHER
H,.,upf.rhil‘mml' ENDIT INOE®

Sub=Departuants
[a) Cort &5 Leaders—-
Untarsturafuehrer BAIER
Obarsturafushrer I, KCEPFE®.
(b) XPR Departmont (Mutor Fool)

II — POLI.ICAL DEPARTMENT

III = PROTECTIVE CIBTODY CAMP
Stusbancfostrer ZILL




Sl —

Bturmbannfuelwer GEHRIG
Hauptsturmfushrer WETZEL

¥ = MED DEPAKTMENT
%ﬁﬁ: Hauptsturmfuehrer Or, WOLTER

end of 19L2.
Bturmbamfuelirer Drs WITTELER
middle of 19L3.

(2) Troop Doctory Untersturmfuehrer Dr. BABOR, July
1ylkz unval pecemper 1wh3.
Sturmbannfushrer Dr. HINTERMEYER
Beptember (7) 19L3 until May 19LkL.

(3) Dentists 1 Haupteturmfushrer Dr. TOEBER, May 1942
until beginning 1943 (7) Hauptsturmfuehrar
LEGKERT 1903 (7)

EXPERIMENTAL STATIONS: (1) Malaria Station
Professor Dr. SCHILLING
(2) Station of Dr. RASCHER

(Luftwaffe)

VI — EDUCATIOHNAL DEPARTMENT
Tntersturmlushrer FIETH.

The above-mentioned adwinistration plan was a closed entity of the
89 ip Dachau and could not have basn effective nor worked without
the aasistance of tha personnel of the six departmemts for the pur-
pose for which it was built, that is, as was ordered by tha suparior
authorities.

"Each single one of the above-mentioned coworkers wzs a link in

the chain of emtity, without his assistant which was ordered by
tranafars or unmnﬁn the whole thing conld not have existed.

iTha above-mantionsd departmesnts with the mentloned personnel
existed and were effective in the time from May 1942 until May 19LL.
Above these departments was the Camp Commander. The Camp Kommandants
were P s May, Juna, J and Auwsust 19L2: WRISS from Se
tombar ~until 1 November 1 and WEITER from 1 November 1
until 15 May 15LL. As adjutant I was tho personal co-wprksr of the
Camp Commander and was responsible for Department I, and further for
the orderly keeping of the secrot daily journal and records. The
lists or teletypes about executions to be carried out, cams from the
THelchasicherheitshauotamt. (Main Reich Sacurdty OFfina) Rarlin ar
from Oroup D, Oranienburg, to we and after an entry was made in the
daily journal I gave them to tho Court S§ mm. BIER and later

fualirer was ras-

the execution, who
Raiahandsharhaitahaop-

At sach ut.tm b:-a witnesses, the
 exscutionsr in the time from May 1 m until May 19Lk. His
1t was 88 Unterscharfudhrer HENSCHEN, in that saws period of time.

My tima T have saan tws ta thres execution 1iste, which then
: i above were given to the (burt S§ Lesdar to be carried

out. To my la ® about 20 to LO persons were involved, and that,
several of them involved only Rusaians.

~ *The Camp Commander, as such, was in reality responsible for
hing that happened is the camp. Without his permiscion er
‘pothdng ever happened. It might be, howsver, that

Eby




certain leaders or nofn-comnissionsd leaders went above thelr juris-
digtion, The Fommandant WEISS came to md geveral timsy into the ofe
flge or called me up and sald that he would go into the camp for a
pusdbive actlons Those were tlien pearltles whichwere widered by

the official Sroup Y. So that no one would overstep his Jupisdiction,
the Hommandant had to be present at these punitive sotions.

(Prow bx Ne 1084)




>3 ‘} + Bomotimes these formations lasted long periods because
ordared thom who had shoes on and not abla to wark to give
‘the mes that were abls to work and did nct hawe shoea

« Tempel called that, "tesching you Gorman Socolalisa®

26, Mugo Alfred Erwin Lausterer.

_ laustarer had charse of administarin tl:- prisanara!
operty for nine months from 1912 to 1943 (R Y. One inmate
fied that he pever saw lausterer mistreat any of the prisoners
LB dm he had thyestansd them that unless they gave him their food
L suppling, ha would report them (R LO7, L96). llﬂ some %m did
| mnrr food packages to him which &lwy had racaived from home
i 7Y

[} pt-e-h-iu.l affidavit of the acoused lausterer, sxmouted
before Pirst Lisutenast Sphreimlondon, inwestigating officer, on
31 October 1945, was admittad into evidence (R Elni.'u. pros ax 111).
That statemsnt reads in partinent prrt and translation as follows:

"My nm  is HUOO LAUSTEHER. I wus born 2 January 1890 in Mats-
ingen, Kreis dsutlingen, Germany. My sddress 13 Mbtzingen, Linden-
p‘h‘hL T am 2 salssman by trada. 'Juimdthnasmlﬂm
29ul. Before that, I was a talepheme cperstor in the city hall, in

g, #ﬂ.rst mi.ga-nt- aftar I joined the 53 was in Dachau.
' pd there 10 Decemba= 1911 untdl Pahemary 1919, At
wus sent to ladolfxsll as a guard on a

uf;hmt 128 prismers from



Those who had food he best sevarely, There were aix or eight
prisonors whoin he beat at that time. I returned to Dachau agsin in
December 1942 because I was sick. I remained there in the hospital
until February 1943. From February until Gotober 1943 I worked

in Nashau in kha reom whare the priaomera' proparty was kept. Then

I went to Allach, near Dachau, whera I was placed in charsge of the
prisoners and the S5 men's canteen. There were several thousand
prisoners there and about 150 guards. The Camp Cormandar of Allach
was lst Lt. JAROLIN. He ia also a prisomar in Dschau now. T remained
in Allach until March 1944, G&8-Master Sergeant EEERIE was in Allach
whan T was thare. T saw him sbrike an old man becamse this priscner
sald he was sick. He hit the old man until the man fell down in

the anow. The old man lay in the snow for two or thres minuves

after he was struck. In Aneil 1940 T returnsd to Dachau and worked
there until May 19, as & guard in the canp amd also as & guard in
charge of demolition detaila that warked in Manich., This deta 1 dug
np imarpl adad hamha . T heard dhat anme ih..mn. mmra 1lad whila

digging up these bombs, but I never saw that happen. In May, 154k,

1 took a work detail of thirty prisoners and six guards to Munich to
clsan up the wreckage af the Lodenfrey Textils Factory. This work
lasted until October 19k, From Nowsmber LYl to Jenuary 1945 I was
acting Kommandofushrer in the camp at Feldafing, where the prisonars
ware building an undergraund faskawsy Par Mesmarashmitt. Tn Jamary
1945 1 returned again to Dachau, where I worked as a guard until April
22, 1945, During that time I also took out demolition details to
Mmnich, About 22 April 195, & wranspori of about L,70u Jewish
prisonera arrived in Dachau. They came from several places. I

was assigned tvo go along with this transport. The prisoners re-
mained in Dachan forr ahaut dthrsa dagm and dordng that Hma thay
stayed in the railroad cars in which they had come. There were
about 100 of them in each car. During these three days, they were
fed twice with bread, wargarine and sausage. This transport left
Dachau about 25 April or 26 April. I do not know the pames of the
transport lesders. They wers two policemen from Mumich. There were
about 100 B8 guards on the trendport. Among them were §9-Tsshniral
Sergeant RICHTER and 83-Corporal SCHEFP. SCHEFPP is now a prismer in
Dachau. He is in Barracks 26, 3rd Company. The transport went by
railroad from Dachau to Carmisch-Partenkirchen, and from there te
Seefald in Austria. We left on Thursday evening and arrived Satur-

day afterncon. During that time the prisoners received no water
and were given a lsaf of bwead for five mon and some Fausugs and

rargarine. Some of the prisomers died while the transport was in
Dachau and more died on the way Lo Seefeld, but 1 camot say er es-
timate how many died. From Seefeld the transport proceeded oh foob
towaris Flethal. I was 1sft behind as the only guard in charge of
about 65 prisoners who wre too sick and too weak to proceed any
further. Twe of those polooners died that night, sad the Buerger—
meister of Seefeld disposed of thsjr bodies., On Sunday night, the
remainder of the transport returned and the 63 prisonars who wore
left with w» joined them the fallowing day. On Monday, the whole
transport got on traino agaln and went towards Carmisch~Partenkirchen.
I did not go with tham. I went to the hospital at Seefeld becausa

I mue too tired bLe go amy furthor. That de 2ll I lnow dsut the beane—
port. While I wad in Dachau after January 1945, I saw Technics
Serpeant TRENKEL snd BOETCER strike priscners as they wers marched
out to wark, Just for the sport. These men would sometinmes stick
their feet in Cront of prisoners, and if the prisoners tripped, they
would strike them." (Pros Ex No. 111A).
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;ﬂmpﬂxm at Dachau, was a block eldasr
. His block at ons time contained the priests

‘wan a daily routine for Becher to mistreat them
m iﬁ He icked them (R 382).
@ plok ‘hthur Imh in ths stomach (R 351). At
‘ %Hﬂtﬁ,uﬁh,lﬂﬂktﬂhﬂﬂmhﬁn un-
1533* He mistreated Pather Kowilinski, a
h’ﬂi:rw-rsss ;u.n of are, by hitting him
and bleeding and

1942, that ia, from l’a:l.n Sunday wntu Easter Sunday, from & a.m.

Yo 7 p.mie with some time out for dinner (R 360)., He beat the pris-
oners during these drill periods (R 369)., As a result of the siren-
uoun exarciss and beatings, aight priests disd during that pariod

(R 360). When the priests had te walk punishment, he would push and
kick them with his feet (% 163, 369). ‘When Becher would beat the
prissts, an 83 man who was block leader was wresent (R 362). Decher
often threatsned to send the prissts on invalid transports and it

wig A matter of commen knowledps that such was a passport to ceath

(R 361). While Becher was in chargs of the priesta' blook, about LOO
prissts disd (R 368). He was tranaferred from the priests' to the
Ruseian bleck (R 163). Once, thare, he beat a younp Russian thorouphly
with a plece of wood (H 163) . At another time he smashed a Russian in
the face with his fist (R 33L).

28. Eramer, Alfred.

Tha actused Kramer soctesdad the acoussd Kirsch as command-
ing afficer of Kaufering Camp Number 1 (R 588, 685, 719, 74). One
day Kramer beat up and kicked a prisoner who d:Lad by the next day
(R 719, 720). At the time Kramer was commanding officer Russians,
Csechs and Albanians wera confined in the camp (R 720). Kramer mal-
treatad the priscters by beating and slapping them (R 674). when he
did beat a ar to the ground ha would then kick him in the abdomen
(R 67Tl, 675). Many had to be brought to the hospital as a result of
these buti.ugu and some died (R 475). His victims included I4thuan-
isns, Poles and Hungarians (R 675, 679). At one time when Kramer found
that two inmates had some excelaior which they had plamed to use for
plllows, he knooked them down, kicked and beat them s!t 688, 689).
decused Kramar saont women oub on {nvalid twanaparta (R AGLY. Ha
selected the sick and made thsm undress campletely (R 65L). If he
found that & prisonar had two shirts on he would beat them "terribly"
(R 654). Once Kramsr sent three pragnant women who were Lithuanians
out on an invalid transpart (R 654, 655). Five inmates, four of whom
were Hungarians and one a Lithuanian, were hanged because they had made
foot covaringa frmm a blankst (7 ASE). ¥ramer and Kirach weara tha eann
leaders at the time (R 656). A pre-trial statement of the scoused
Eramer written in his owmn handwting o 1 Novesber 1945 was admitted
into evidence (R 822, pros ex 102). It reads in pertinent part and in
translation as follows:
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UMy name is KRAMER ALDHED. I am L6 years of age and my home ia
in Wldenburg, Siesia. I joined the 38 voluntarily on 20 April
1733 On 1 Seplember 1739 I was dmafted to Buchenwald for my first
station, T was in Buchenwald until September 1941. In May 1740
I wes promoted To sergeant, and in sy 174l I was preomoton to stafl
Sorgeaat. In Sectember 1941 1 wus sent to Lublin and remainad
there wntil Augost 154, O day in July 1944, I was ordered to
take ower a transport of 4,000 prisonars aml to take it from War-
psw to Dachau. During that time I was in cliarge ol & sopany of
spprocimately 250 55 men who escortad the transport from Warsaw
TO lacnad. 1 Was AUTHOrlZad and Tesponsibls Tor The AMAngs or
thepe 250 men. Befare I and my men departed for Dachau, I knew
that we would be transferred to Dachau. The transport cmsisted of
LOO0 priscosrs and me and my men. The majority of the prisonera
woro Jgwa, also there were Frenchmen, Poles and Lithuanians among

tham. A5 transport commander, I was responsible for the fesding

and the woll-peing of tha prisoners. Tha trasport started on

foot on 28 July 1944, Camp Commander WILLY RUPHERT gave me no

food and mater to feed the prisonsrs on the transport. The prisoners
will ked for four days until they got to Kutne. The weather was ex-
cosdingly hot, and aince the prisoners had no water, they wera wery
thirety. I know myself that all were very thirsty, and many could
nol continus with the march. THosa whe wers do Uilrsbly and #ak be-
causs of ths lack of food aml water and could not continus were forced
Lo walk on by the guards with fists, kicks aml rifle butta. The day
march began at 5 o'elock in the worning and ended approximately 6
o'elock in the evening. On tha sscond day at noon-tims wa had a

long rest, but for that they had to march until 8 o'clock in the
gvening. On the sscond day we passad a river and I allowed the
jrisoners to get wmatar. The people were so happy to get water that
they ran into the river. 1 called to them not to go into the water,
but they did not 1listen to my words, so that T reached for my pistol
nod fired into the air three ar four times. At the same time, Tech-

nical Jergeant STEINER (STEINDL) gawe ons of the men of the fuuﬂ
the ardsr to fire at the prisonsrs with the machine gun. A4 large

numbar of prisoners were standing in the water, and the guard fired

n turst of approximately five or six rounds, killing two or thres
prisoners. These prisoners were turied in a grave at the banks of the
river, because it was a custom of the 55 to buy all dead in e

rave. On the third day, the priacners received no water either, and
Hinally wo reached the railr sta ion near Kutne. The large part

of thes prisoners were tired, thiraty and weak and had sore fest.

Fifty prisoners got so 111 an the way that they could not continue

to walk and had to be loaded on five horse carriages. I told the
guards not to beat the prisoners, but, nevertheless, they continued

to do go. I did nothing against that except make a report. Approx-
lmataly thirty or thirty-five men died because of under hment,
micknsss and beating on the march and all bodies were buried in one
grave. On 1 August 194, the prisonera were loaded in cattle cars,
sighty in sach var, to continue the trip to Dachau. The seriously

111 prismers who were on the horse carriage were loaded in the same
cars with the other prisoners, in spite of the fact that an smpty car
wans available which was to have been used as a sick car, but that car
was used only for dead who died on the trip. Thers wers no todlets for
the prisoners in the cars to relisve themsslves. In spite of that,
the train stopped twice a day for ten minutes so that the prisoners
could relieve themselwes. The first stop waa 7 o'clock in the morning,
and the second approximately 2 o'clock in the afterncon. On the trans-
porl, there were many seriously 111 which were not brought to the sick
car. We arrived at Dachau on & Aumust, approximately 3 o'elock in
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‘the morning, und T baliowe that the dead ooes were brought to the
erematory. The prisommrs who reached Dachau alive were brought to
the prison camp. On the pext day I wade a report to the Cmap
Commandsr, WETTER. WEITER mccused me that the prisoners had brought
with thes contuagious disesses, 1 remained here for duty for four
woaks, during wnich time ] had nolbing Lo do with e prlsonsrs.
On J September 174k, I was transferred Lo Landsberg to Casp I. I
was gpointed Caxp leader of labor Camp I and rntj.nld Camp Leader
until 12 November 17Lli. The commander of the camp at tha t tim wans
85-Majar IANGIEIST. I was in charge of 1,800 prisoners, the majority
of whico were Jows. To be hoobat, T do not like Jews. BSome of the
pudishment, torturas ani bDrutalitiss impossd on the 1,000 priswess
wore as follows: 1. beating with whipa, fists and sticks, of which
T suppose that some of tham resulted in denth cases; 2. Lmprisonment
in the standing cell eight to ten hours during the nignt, in several
ORHGS WO O TNPwe DIENLY, overy second Migus; Je unter=-nowashment,
contagious diseasss, bad living conditloss, and hard wark, which, in
gomé casas, led o dsath. | remember tnat in the end of Wovember
190 thare was the exmoution (hanging) of six Jewlsh prisonsrs; 1
do not know for what they were hanped. A wooden pole was erectad
especially far the purpose of hanging these Jowa. On order of the
camp commander of Dachau (WEISS) 41l prisoners wers ordered to attend
;thm Commander WEISS and other persms came over from
Dachau just to stiend the exsoution. A 3eTgeant or lechnival Sergeant
who d WEISS carried out the execution. There were many
other 8 m wio attended the execution whose names I do not know
any more. But I know for sure that 36-Major AUMETER, then Camp
OGommander of Casp lamsberg, and 58~lst Lt. SCHWARZFUBER, then Camp
im hl'*-ﬁi’ y I, were prosent, Immsdiately after the oxecution,
: I__j'__.}nﬂlhﬂ':m%ﬂlpﬂllﬂh’jonwhimhmm
\ r : On 3 May 1945 I was taken priacmer by
nd ard Hausham," {H‘mhlﬂlg;l).

' Mmmmsmrmmm
jers aw sald to have dlsd on acoount of



Regional Food Administration Office Munien, County B, and asked lor
2 non-cutting of ratiom. This was denisd on account of the sewers
food situation.

"Purchasing of food for additienal consumption in defiance of
orders, making myself liable for punishment:

1. At the Bayma-Storehouse, Dachau, I purchased, without
ration cards, larger amounts of field-beans and seed-peasn, restrletad
for seeding purposes, and suppliad them to the kitchen.

2. Tirm Evers & Kornemann, LEIPSIG, S000-7000 kg precocked
soups every month in defiance of prohibdtion by the FHeonomic Admin-
istration Mair Office,

3. Purchase of hones of oxen, calves and plgn, 3000-5000 kg
every week.

Lis On arder uf the Regional Food Administration Office (Ee-
onomic Association for milk and fat) only cheese with a fat con-
tent of 107 was permitied to be uwsed in concentration camps. On
my own responsibility 1 purchased 3000-5000 kg of cheese with a fat
cantant of 30-L0%¥, and evary month repsatad 0007000 ki.

5. On order o the Regiomal food Administration Office lmnich
13000 ewt of carrots were requisitioned and should have been deliveresd
in February and Mareh 1945. In cmesequence of the very severs food
situation I had 10000 cwt of carrcts cooked and delivered omly about
3000 ewt.

According to statement of Frad Inspector of the Waffen-88,
Prof Dr. SCHENK, the idtchen menagemsnt and the food wore of &
model type until the end of 15Lk. In my opinion the Econamic Ad-
ministration Maln Office and the Reich Food Adminiastration which
ordarad thass hig ration euts may be responsibla for the deaths of
those prisaisrs who disd of .alnutrition during the last days of
Dachau." (Pros Ex Mo 107A).

30. Vinsenz Schoattl.

Tn 10} Scoheattl was in npharge of details at Haulferdine Camo
Humber 3 (R 740). Once when Schoettl was in charge of a detail at the
water inatallation he asked those people who did not work what was
wrong (R 741). When they stated that they did nol hawe any sore
strength, he replied "I'11 sghow you how to work" (1 7). He then
imooked them down and started %o kick and beat them (R 7hl). Thege
viaddime mera talan ta bk hoapdkal and newnre saan apain [H 7*11)- The

victims were Polas (R 7u1).

In March 1945 the sccused Schoettl shot a Polish prismmer who
had gotten out of line because he wanted to get some water (R 726-727)s
He shot him in the cheek and than in the heart(R 726).

A pre-tria) sti ement written by the accused Schoettl in his own
handwriting on 1 November 1945 was admitted into evidence (R 822,
pros ex 103).- That statement reads in pertinent part snd translation
azs followsi

I came to Landeberg on tha 3 Fetmiary 1948, Whan the fom
was not present I was destined as second Commandmt. The name |



canp mm was Strumbannfuehrer Forschner. As second Commandant,
whenever the Commandant was absent, I became the canp commandant.
Once I saw, it was on Sunday, the woman of the Camp 1 standing the
&Im the Camy. The reason for this punishment was a beld

iven by one of the women to the Commandant. The wire where

woman had te stand was slectelfled. At Landsberg T hoard that
prisonars were hanged. Mmy prisowrs died from hunger, because the
food was o apletely insulficient and unfit to eat.

"Mhen the Americans cams 1 drove with Sturmbannfushrer Farschner
to Epfach and from this place we drove back to landabarg and litended
te g9 baok to tha vanp & oopond bimoy; bub wo dsove o 3 T minco and
wars woundad. We asked anothsr truck driver to bring us to Bpfach
which he did. Put 3 kilometers befors Epfach Sturmbannfushrer Forsoh-
per was mable to go on because of hils injuries. He romined sitting
at a meadow and asked me to gat 1 whicle. About 13 hours T wilked
until I caze fo & village. I could not leave this plaoe 4=:zedlitsly
bepane the Pightere wero over un. When 1 gok a ferwos-car I want
off and whan 1 came Lo ine place where I left Forachner, he was not
there any more. 'When [ asked one of the workers he told me that men
of the 0.T. had talen him with them. Then I went back to my com-
rades and we rode and the sams day wm rods to my homs. The next

moraing at 3 o'clock we drove with the biecyelss into the mountaing and
bhore wo leot eash obthor boosmuao bhore wors fighting btreopa. With
two comrades I went on, these comrades then weant home. I walked
around and then 1 went to the division Wiking near Weilheim and
remained at Zisgeep. From this place we came to Bad Albling and then
to Dachan ag PW. OCenparal incidents and living condificns for the
prisocners of landsberg-Lech were unhuman. The prisoners lived in
oarth huta the ventdlation of which was completely insuffieiont.
They also wers muddy and lousy, so that were all possibilities to
get sick., A1l this, in additlon to bhe bad food and the unhumtn
treating caussd the death o many prisonsrs.

"During I was Forschner's assistant T bsat about 5 ar & working
prioeoszes I boabt with e rldlug crop ever the baok of the priasviesas
I saw an order that prisonsrs who wers worlking badly should be beaten.
I heard from this order and did so. That 4s the reason why I beat
prisoners. Tha dead bediss werds pub inte one grave to several hun-
dreds and buried. As a second camp commandant I wis encharged of
the other oasps too." (Pros Mx Mo 103)

31' l]-bi-n mtﬂu}io

A pre-trial affidavit of the accused Uretsch prepared in his
own handwriting on 31 Octobsr 1945 and exacuted before Ideutenant
Lawrence was admitted into evidence (R 638, pros ex 117). That st e
uwoul reads luo @rbluenl parl and in Wamlalluog as folluwss

"1, My name is Albin Gretsch. I was a Unterscharfushrer, 3ld
Company, 58 Skull and Bones, Sturmbann, Dachsu.

"2. From 18 August 1544, I was a guerd at the Kaufburen Canp
whilch was o Ly=vasp uf e Davlhias Suncenbretlun Camp. From 5 Macch
1945, I was a guard at Dachau. ‘While I waa still belenging to Kauf-
beuren, I was a guard at Dachau fram 11 Novamber 194l until & Jamary
1945, On 26 April 1945, I marched with prisoners in the direction of
Bad Tolz, near Weaskirchen, 1 was taken & prisoner on 2 May 1945.
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"3« Except at Kaufbeuren and Dachau, I have not served in any |
other concentration cam.

"L At Kaufbeuren, conditions wera betitar than at Dachau. I
know that the prisonsrs' gquarters in thie camp were very marrow and that
they had buges The priocemera worked for twelve houra and were alwaya
hungry, but lass than in Dachau. The by-canp leadar was Untersturm-
fuphrer Wilhelm Backer; the Rapportfuslk=or was Unteracharfushrer
Schneider. There was only a prisemer dector but an 53 medic in camp.
The camp contained approxinmately ) to [jS0 prisoners of German,
Italian, and Polish nationality. There wore also Russians but no Jews.
Three CGerman political prisconera were OJapoa, but I forgob thcir namea.
Lost of the time, I wns a towsr guanl., At the factory, I guarded the
ndght shift only once. 7T never shot from the towsr, not even in August
whan two mon escaped. Four other priscners escaped in Saptaember; nome
of a1l aix was ever caught again. T think that all were Russians. I

do not recall any camwp punishments, not even cases of death. Once
lnvalids were ofat away and newsomers were broughts I remembor onso
twenty new men came.

"« I know that at Christmas typhoid sxisted in camp Dachaun
and that there were many victims. Of exscutions in camp, I personally
o not know anything., 1 saw the hearss with sometimes up to eight
opffine drawn by priconsra. In March, the bodloo wore oob bumned, bub .
buried. Once I asked & comrada of the turial detail how msny corpses
they buried. He sald they had dug a mass grave for 100 bodies, how-
ever; I, myself, never took part in such a burial.

"G, We of the Ird Company, marched away from Dachau, with three
marohing Blosko of LNU0 prismers cash, on Thursday, 96 Apedil 1724Y
at 2100 hours. The priscners had food for two daya. With interrup-
tiona, we marched until the next noon. We were five miard for 100
men, and up to 50 staysd back already befors Starnberg. I, mysell,
have not fired a single shot, But I know that especially younger
puiards made use of thelr rifles. T cannot name any guard who shot a
prioonors Durlng the noxt de s, we could werch eily st night bims on
account of the low flying phnes. We arrived at Wollratshausen on
Saturday, and remainad thars in camp until Monday. I bslieve that of
1500 prisoners with whom wo laft, approximately 1200 arrived thers.
In Camp Wolfratsnausen, I have seen app:'utim.lt-!l}' 15 dead. They died
perhiaps from exhaustion. On the march, I saw Sturmbanfuehrer Degelow .,
as Datbalicn Quuoander aud Hauptemuu (Saptelu) Bavnr as Guupaiy _
Commander. The prisoners wore st11l fed at Camp Wolfratshausen. Monday
night we marched until near Tolsz. From Tol:, we arrived near Waaskirchen
on Tuesday afternoon. Thene we ware takon orisonars by the Americans on
Widnaaday morning.

7e On the mareh I woo owaed witl a 70 cifle. Tieie wei'e alsu
guards with hand grenades apd machine pistols; also pelice dogs and
guards on bleycles. 'The younger guards have abused the prisoners who could
not march on wery badly. They chased the doga against them and drove
them to continue marching, I, my=elf, made account the guard who drowe
a dog against a defenseless priscner lying a littls aside of the road.
Tha name of thils guaid; whi was povlmpz 10 yesrs wldy s unumn bo oy
but an Cberacharfusliver of ths Dog Battalion protected nim. T do not
know whether the collaysed man got up once more, nor whether the hupe
German Shephard bit hin in the throst, nor do T know the name of the Dog
Trogps Oherscharfushrer. I also heard the man yelling. I left collapsed

prisongrs lying right and left of the rpad. When ths civilian popu-
latlou wlffered Lo plve Lhe prisonars bread aml water, several guamds

forbade that and teld the civilians, "Inese are oriminals." Then they
chaged the prisoners away with their gun butto. The worst were the
regular 55 men from the concentration camp, mostly noncommissionsd
officears.
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", Before the departure from Dachau, we wers ordared, “every
attempt Yo escape has to be prevented by arms; no prisoners stay back
unguariad®, but since many were too weak to walk the whole distance,
bhay were shot along the romd by some guards. T gould hear the
shooting, Tor instance, in the Wolfratahausen forest, but with my
own eysa, 1 have not seén How people were shot. Thara Werée Also guards
who beat the prisoners with sticks. The prisoners had bad shoes;

had wooden elogs, and sore feet so that they ceuld hardly walk.
Thay limped badly. MNames of puards who took part in the march were:

KEeller, Rottenfuehrer 53, now in ¥ornwesthain
POW Camp #3.

Boos, 'Stabsachariuehrer 548, tfrom Hadolfzell.

Knoche, lnteracharfuehrer 58, al present &t
POW Camp #3.

Helne, Unterscharfushrer SS.

Hauptmann Baisr with his mobteor bike.

HALT o the prisoners we hawe certainly Lost during tng maren, partly
through escapa, but most of them must hawve died. The responsibility
for this falls on Degelow, Dayer, and all officers presant." (Pros
Ex No 117A).

32, Johann Tiktnr Kirsch.

The acoused Kirsch was the commanding officer of Haulerifny
Camp Number 1 4in 194k and 1945 (R 731). He placed 100 children in a
small wooden hut which had no floor, where normally no more than 15
or 20 childran could be housed (X T31). He often beat prizonera
until they cellspsed (R 732). He utilized pieces of wood snd an iron
rod as his weapons (R 673, b52). One time he heit 4 man Lo deash
(& 718). Onee he beat an old man of 0 who had to e tdken to the
hospital (il €87). Xirach especially selected the old and sick pris-
oners for his victims (R ma?ﬁ”

Kirach would stand by and watch while his assistants beat the
inmates with thick pieces of wood (R 733). He beat the children and
threatened to kill their families if they tried to escape (7 737).
fe selacted fhose who left on the "echildren's action" which ws a
tranaport of children destined for Auschwits whers they wera Lo be
killed (R 736, 737, 738).

A pre-trial affidavit prepared in his own handwriting and executed
before Lisutenant Londen o 29 October 1945 was admitted into evidence
(R 842, pros ex 109). That statement reads in pertinent part and
tranalation as follows:

"I was deafted into the 35 in the summer of 19lli. Bafore that
I was 1n the Iandesachutzen. After T was drafted inte the 33 T
went to Auschwitz for training. I stayed in Auschwitz 3 weeks and
then went with a traneport of 500 prisoners to Kaufringen pear Lands=-
berg to the Lager No. 1. The Transporifuehrer was Hauptsturmfushrer
FORSTER. T lmow of only 1 prisoner who died on this transport. We
arrlved at Kaufringen in August 154L. I was then an Oberscharfuehrer
and had the task of constructing this camp. I was in charge of the
work detall. It took 1 1/2 to 2 montha to construct this camp. I
had 199 prisoners in the work detail and about 20 to 25 mards. Among
them was Oberscharfushrer Johann ATT.

"y superior, while we were building Lager No. 1 at Kaufringen
wer Haupteturmfushrer FORSTER who came from Auschwitz with me.
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was latar replaced by Hauptscharfushrer KRAMER, then later Obersturm-
fushrer SCHWARZHUEER replaced KRAMER.

"Mhen Kaufringen Lager No. 1 was completed we began work on Lager
¥o. 3. Iater these two numbera were interchansed and lLager YWo. 3 be-
came Lager No. 1. The laper No. 3 was complated by the end of De-
cember 1514, About the end of November cr in December 17U five mn
were brought into lager No. 1 where I was Arbelts-Einsatzfuehrer (in
charge of making up work details) and Rapportfushrer (taking roll
calls), and were hanged thera. They were hanged because they cut
up blankets ta wrap areand their feet - as T heard - sincs they had
probably bad shea. This was condamned as sabotage and they wers
hanged for it. Obersturmbamnfuehrer WEISS whose first name I do not
know, cama from Dachau to attend the execution. The hanging was
done by an 88 Hauptscharfushrer from Dachau whose name I do nol Jmow.
I myself discovered some perscns who cut up their blanksts, T did
not. hava thesa man hangad. T marely haat them across the back with
a stick and I beat them with my hards.

"1 myself administered the punishments in the camp and did not re-
port the priscners to higher authorities. I administered punishment
when prisaners did not comply with camp regulaticas such as when they
MAd nat gon tn tha lakrina, but nrinatad mtsida thair barracka. The
punishmental administered were beating with sticks ard with my
hands. Another sort of punishment consisted of my giving the pris-
orars stamding arrest. To do this I received corders, The prisoners
were in a cell that was not big enough for them to lie down. They
would have to remin in 1t all night, then on the next day they would
haw to gn tn wnrk again. Semetimes T made the prisamera stand for
several nights, btut not consecutively. Another punishmont I gave was
to reduce the food ration, but this did not help very well because
m{ stole from other prisoners so I would have %o punlnh them for

L]

fftha prisnnare wha woebad {a oy ek Aated 1 wecs oostliy Jawa af
various naticnalities - Lithuanians, Polss, Hungarians and Roumanians.

Nsturmbannfushrer AUMAYER had the over all supervision of all camps
in the vicinity of Kauferingsn.

NTn the hagirming af Jamary 19!*; T uwant ko Mahlderef Canp Ma. g ¥
I was commander of work detail, that worked outside of that campi
My superiors when I was there wers Sturmbamnfuehrer LANOINIST and S5
Hauptscharfuehrer EBERLEZ. T had betwsen 180 to 250 priszmers in the
work detail and about 18 puards working under me. Among them were
Cherscharfushrer SCHARYER, whose first name was Hans, T belisve, -
and Rettanfusheresr FRTESCH Tha guards wmra shangsd framqently.  Thay
were glven to me by the 35 troop after they were tralned,

W35 Cberscharfushrer HUBER, who is now a prisoner hers in Dachau,
wag in chapge of the guard at the main gate in Muhldor{ in Cawp 1.

I took HUHER's place at the end of March or beginning of April 1915,
for 2 wosly bosnuse Me was wounded im an giv waid. AFftarn that T wans
transferred to Dachau. :

"I left Dachau 29 April 1945 with a transport of several thousend
prisoners. I camnot say how many thers were because I was in the
rear. I do not know the names of the leaders or guards of that trans-
port exospt Oberscharfuchrer PONN. The prisoners of the transport
walked on foot. The transport went in the directiom of Bayrisch
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Zell. We wore on the road L or 5 days and finally left the priscners
near Tegernasea. 1 was captured near \lesbach. I cannot say how many
prisonera wers killed on that transport., I did not see any killed,
but ?;Bnrd that many were supposed to have been killed." (Pros Ex No
1094)

33. Emil Erwin Mahl.

¥ahl, & criminal prisoner, was a blockaslteste on the punish-
ment block and became the capo in charge of the warking detail at the
crematorium (R 325, 211, 224, 303). As capo at the crematorium he was
in charge of four inmates (R 3¢5). Mahl carried out the hangings of
the prisoners (8 325). In the summer of 154k it was Mahl who put the
noose of the rope around a young Russian's neck (R 20L, 225, 125-12l).
It was Bosttger who kiclked the stool ocut from under the victim's
leps (7 225, 161). ahl then grabbed the Nussian by the legs and
Eullad dovrrard (R 2262. It was probable that Mahl had orders to
alp hang the Mussian (R 204). Hoth the accused Posttger and Cber-
scharfuehrer Dongarbts, who was tha 85 man in charge of the crematory,
wera present (7 20k, 261). In the spring of 1945 Mahl helped exacute
game French of ficers who were forced to strip and kneel and were then
shot (R L26). 1In 194k 1% was Mahl who led the cart detail which
carried the bedies from the tranaport deseribed abowe in somvantion with
the accused Ruppert to the crematory (R 576-577). When Mahl was in-
Pormed that one of the prisopners was sitiing up in the cart he took a
wooden pole and killed the prisoner (R 576, 577). In October 194 two
Russians who had taksn ateckings were hanged by Maml (R 577, 578).
Thars were a number of 35 men present at the hanging, including the
accused Boettger (R 578). The five prisoners who wers hanged at
Eaufering Canp Mumber 1 becausa they had made oot coverings Ifrom a
blanket wera hanged by Mahl (R 655-656). Naference is made to the
discussion of this incldent under the paragrapha on the accused Kirsch
and Hramsr.

A pre-=trial affidavit which had been exscuted by the accused Mail
before Lisutenant Guth on 3 November 1945 was admitted into evidence

(R 792, pros ex 93). It reads in pertinent part and in translation
aa follows:

"1, TIn the year 1940 T wns remanded to the Concentration Canp
Daohau as a professional criminal. TIn 1943 I applisd for & position
in the crematory and received that pesition through the good of-
fices of a friend. In July 194} T was appointed capo.

N2, It was one of my duties to &ssist in the burning of corpsas
and tio supervise the transport of corpses to the cremtory, some-
times. In June 19Ul a shipmant was recejyed in Dachau from France.
The Pipst thing I knew abeut it was that™ mumber of corpses
which wera brought to the crematery on trucks amounted to 500.

These corpses were looking just like psople who have been suffccated
usually look. Their faces were dark blue amd they were a horrible
pieture. flauptscharfuehrar ZICHBRRGER and Hauptscharfuehrer BOETTCHER
supervised ny having the Lodies brought from the trucks to the cre-
matorvy. At that time BICHRERGER waa first clerk of the Schutshaft-
lager and BOETTCRER a Rapportfushrer. Eichberger and POETTCVER

kepl rapeating that this was » shipment of French Marquis who should
hawe heen brought to Dachau but who died on the train since the

train comrandant Haptscharfuehrer Alfred KRAEMER ordered the dvors
‘of the already overcrowded cars closed all the time and refused to
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give water to thesa ,eople. Every time when shipments arrived in
Dachau a detail of Russians was sent to the placs of arrival to load
the bodies of those who had died on the ahipment on trucks. That
delail of Russians wis standing ready on the place of arriw] when-
ever a shipmant arrived to load the bodies of tha dead on tricks and
to bring them into the crematary because it was considered guite
natural that some peopls would die on each shipment. Members of

that Rusaian work detail told me that they asw that Hauptacharfushrer
Alfred KPAEMER was commandant of that shipment. Hauptscharfushrer
AHARMER was a commandant of shipments quite fremquently and tham-

for the Russians saw him repsatedly and knew him.

"3. During my term of office I participated in about BOO-1,000
nangings. The people were executed and were reoruited from prac—
tioally all nations of Europe. Thsy were prisoners of war and ocivil-
fans and 1| am weble LO muxe any precise siatement about thelr per-
son 2t this time. My participation ermsisted of putting the noose
around the necks of the prisoners. 1 did that to pressrve my om

1ife. 1 saw the followlng persons prasent at those executions:

as The following were in charge of exmeutiens: The Cbersturm=
Tuahrer RUPFERT, SUTTROFP, OITO and KAMFE, amd the Untersturmfuohrer
JAROLIN, "JOSEF and JUNG.

b. Hauptscharfuenrer KICHEER(E{ was preseal &5 spurtor.

¢, Johann KICK brought those who had been sentenced to death
quite freqiently from the camp to the execution and attended the
execution afterwards. Onoe he read the death warrant.

d. The following NCO's participated in executions and di-
rected owr work and continuously kept rushing us. Haoh oms of those
I montioned had participated in soms executions, supervised my work
and kicked me a few timss to get me to work Mater: The Rauptschar-
fushrer TRENKLE, Wilhelm WAGMER, Frans BOETTGER, and Alfred KRAVER,
tha Oberscharfuhrer Josef SBEUSS, Johann KIRSCH and DONCARTZ, and
Unter schar fushrer HENSCHEL.

e. HEOMBOHEL alwaws dapresassd the lavar that openad tha trap
deor through which the condemned fall when the officer in sharge
ol the execution gave the sign.

f. The Pollowing S8 physiclans participated in executions,
examinad the hanged after the executioms and somstimes pgave us
orders during the exscution to hurry up, and similar urgings:
Sturambannfuehrer HINTERMATYER ., who participated in moat axmentions,
Dr. Widﬂuﬂ FH‘IR, I.m'.l ]Jt‘.. mﬂo

g+ ALl the above mentioned persons particlpated in one or nore
fxooutions and car~iead out the dutles nnd the acts I have accused
them of. Howevar, nol evervbody was present ai awery sxecutlon.

Hi. a. I can recall tha pwscution af thi Jawlsh wovsn Preitsd
KA*IN especially well. She had hesn sentenced to death because
o. niscepanation with a Oerman inmata in the oulcamp Kauferiug and
wap sxscuted In Dachay. The following were pressnt abt this execution:
The Obersturmfushrer KA'TE, and OIT0, Hauptscharfushrer "
SICHETROER and KUEN, and Oberscharfushreyr BONGARTZ and Unterschar-
fusliPe™ AONSOMEL as well as Sturmbannfuehrar E‘_m:@_. Tha accussd
wiz forced to undress completely in the gas chamber. 3he refused at
fipst to wulk into the presence of so many mon undressed, md Huupt-
soharfushrer KUFN and BORTTOER dragged her cut of the gas chambar. She
attenpted to cover her body with her hands, This brought on laughter
and rude Jokes by TUER, KUHN, and others who participated in tha
axecution,. among th o Bturrbarnfoshrar RINTERYRR. She smu
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then placed on the trap door and I put the noose arcund her head.

b« I can recall the exscution of a Polish woman in March
194S. Obersturmfushrer RUPPEAT wis in charge of it. doreover the
Hauptssharfushrer ETOMEERGER and BOETTOET and Sturmbannfuehrer HINTER-
MAYER participated in that exscution. The Polish woman was brought in
by the Gestapo and also executed by hanging., It ws again my duty to
put the noose around her neck.

c. Moreover I can recall that approximately on 2l April
1948 Dr. HINTERMAYER brousht 18 voune people who were ubﬂom‘.cl‘y
insans or in & highly nervous condition into the crematory an
killed them by injections. This was not counted as an execution,
and, therefors, Dr. HINTERMAYER was in charge of the whole procedure.
Oberscharfuehrer FUHRMANY and BONCARTZ attended that killing, Two
women who had to be brought in on stretchers were among those killed.
mmmtmm killed the ona by inserting the injection needle in

d. I can also recall the execution of two women by inject-
ing them at the beginning of this year. Obersturmfushrer RUPPERT
and OITO were in charge of that execution. Hauptacharfushrer EICH-
BER(ER was reparter. Both women were pregznant and killed by in-
Jections,

e. Tomards the end of 154k Dr. HIMTERVAYER killed L or &
other wonen (Polish or Rusaian women) by injecting 1“em. Oberschar-
fushrer BONGARTZ and FUHRMA'N were present. This was not sounted as
a regular execution since no one from the camp commandant or from
the Schutzhaftlager not even a reporter partioipated in it. These
women seemed quite healthy and I do not know why they were executed.

f. I should like to emphasisze that Dr. HINTERMAYER naver
failed to attend the execution of a woman or any execution which was
sonnidared aspacially intaresting. T have seen all the events de-
scribed by me in paragreph 4 with my own syes.

"5, a. I can recall the mass exscution of 95 Russian officers
and enlisted men in the late summer or early autumn of 194L. This
axecution was directed by Cbersturmfuehrer RUPPERT and OTTO. In
addition the Hauptscharfushrer EICHEERGER and BOETTGER, the Ober-
scharfushrer XIPPERSCHILD and BONGARTZ, and Unterscharfuehrer HENSCHEL

attended it as executioners. Sturmbannfushrer HINTERMAYER again par-
ticipated as doctor. After this exscution I noticed that several Russians
had not been killed but only wounded on account of the sloppy shoob-

ing, and I reported this to Oberscharfuehrer BONGARTZ. BONGARTZ

shat tham with hia piatnl aftareards.

b. In Jamuary or Februgry 1545 I attended the execution of
2 French women and L English women. They were driven to the shooting
gallary and shot there by Hauptscharfuehrer EICHBERGER and BOETTGER
and Oberscharfuehrer BONCGARTZ. These executions wers directed by
Mharsturafushrar RUPPERT and OPTO and Untersturmfushrer JUNO. Dr.
HINTEROMAYER attended it as physician." (Pros Ex No. 93A).

ﬂ- Waltar olf Ia ist.

langleist, a Hauptaturmfuehrer, was in charge of the guard
battalion at Daskan (R 291). At Faufaring Camp Yumber L langleiat
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mistrestod prisoners by baating them and throwing them inte the
pits Ea 633, 843, £35). These incidents cccurred in the fall of
190 (R 6358). Once he beat a prisonsr to desath with a piece of wood
(2 &h3, 6auB, 63L).

35. Johann Schoepp.

A pre~trial affidavit prepared by the accused Schoepp in
nis own handwriting ard executed before Captain B. Selke, Jr., lavesti-
gating offic.i, ca 1 Sovember 1945 was admitted into evidence (R 852,
pro:.ﬂul 110). That statement reads in pertinent part in tranalation
as ows3

"Bacause of the agreement between Rumania and Oermany in the year
1943, all persons from seventesn (17) to thirty five (35) years
of age wore take:s cut o7 the Rusanias Ammy and w*v mustered and
drasled for the Gorman Army. On 29 July 1943, I leii Fecumonstadt,
arrived at Vienna, servensd onoe more for those who were able o go
to the front and for those who were unable to go to the fromt. 1
was not able to go to the front and was supposed to go work in the
factory at Reichshoffen. Befoare we started from Vienna, there came
an order that we should go to Oranienburg. PFrom there we, 100 men,
were sont to the battalion at DACHAU, on 21 Augusv 1943, After
five (5) or six (5) days we mmosived our uniforms and were treined
for the period of tan (10) days. Because I had ailing feet I went
to the hospitd . After this, T was granted a furlough, on 2 October
1943. At DACYAU T 444 not have any conmection with the priscnsrs.
Wen I returned from furlough on 1 November I was sent to tha out-
caro FEIDAFING. where I re untdl 23 Apedl 1545, I was a
of a detail of thirty-two (32) priscners, they know me and can
tify on my behalf.

"On 23 April 1545 we wore brought from FELDAFING to DACHAU.
However, when w &rrived there, we were told that the camp was

suwposed to be clesared. We two, Muchen and Schopp, were made re-
sarve guards on the traraport which was to go to OTZTAL there where

aightean hundred (1,%00) to ninetesn hundred (1,900) prisoners that
started for Garmisch, on the 25th., Up to there I saw that the pris-
aners were rather crowded in the passenger cars. Froa there I wnt
on with Manchen and an Unterscharfushrer, only at night, with the trein
carrving clothing amd part of the provisions. When we arrived, a
comrade had stolan my portfolio from the wagon in which I had gone
up to Garmisch. Everyons can remsaber how I quarrelad with this
comrade when I arriwed in Seefeld, whereupon I found it again. Then
wa arrived the prisoners ware put-on a meadow and in 4 barn, because
we could not continue to OTZTAL as the front had approached. ILater
they wore brought back by train to SCHARNITZ. I do not imow the
name of the Transport Leader but can describe him. He was a Haupt-
acharfuehrer, his size was about ono hundred sixty-five (165) to one
hundred seventy (170) centimeters, he was slender, had a white

mastache and white hair., His age was about sixty-two (62) to seventy-
two (?Eg yoars; this was told to m by one of my comrades." (Pros
Er 1104). — ],
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3, Arne Lippman.
_ Idppmann wan & reprossntative of the accused Redwitz and
was ths second or third Verwaltungefuhrer (R 165). Iippmenn was

also the camp comminder of Esufering Camp Number 7 (R 722). Thare
ha mimtrantsad ths priassnsrs (R 728) Onee at & formation tha alelk
nnd healthy were seperated (R 722 - 723). A son tried to remaln
with his father and Iippmann pulled him loose and rendered him
unconsed ous by striking him wvith a stick (R 728). When Kaufering
Cump Number 7 was being dimsolved in April 1945, the people had been
gothered {n & mass formation on the parnde ground (R 72%). When some
af tha paspla want ta o naarhy gnrhags pit b find anmathing +o ask

Lippmann shot into the group and everyone scattered (R 723, 724).

A pre-trial affidavit of the accused Lippmann which had
besn written Y him and executed before Liesutenant Bowser on 4
November 1945, wan ¢dmitted into evidence (R 833, pros ex 108),

That stetement reads in pertinent part in tranelatlon as
follownt

"1 wan transferred back to Dachau in October 1942, and
ecoepted as & trainee tu beaome Schutzhaftlagerfuhrer under Sohutp-
. hafilagarfunrar PRANE HOTRMANE, HOWPPMANN wae tranefsrsed in Wovenmber
and MICHAZI REDWITZ replaced him, remaining all the time I was at
Daghau ganp, At the time I waa training as Sehutehaftlagerfuhrer
JOEEF JAROLIN, JOSIF SHUBS AND XAVIER TRENKIE Were training with me, "

WMARTIN WEISS was the Camp Conmander here at Dachau when I
woa heres the secend time, that is, from Ostober 1042, to July 10431

"] remember an inod{dent I witnessed in March 18943, when
15 prisgners were beaten in ths shower room bty Capos or Block Fldeat
NARTIN WOISS wae with me and ordered this punitive beating., The
prisoners were glven from B to 26 stroles on ths duttooks, ™

"] remember & hanging I witnessed in Jamary or February
1943, in the capacity of Schatshaftlagerfuhrer at the Arrest-Hompital,
Thiw man was & Polish prisonser, Dr. BOLDER & medle, & Germsn prisoner
and myself were thare, IR, BOLDER Pronounced this man dead, "

. "ln Beptenber 1043, I was trancferred to Laubenbooh where
1 remnined for one month. I then came back to Dachau where I wes
In tha hospital for three months., In January 1944, 1 was spsigned
a0 Dommander over the primcners who worked in the Prasgifix factory.
Iz August 1844 T was traneferred to the Kaufering camps, where I
roported to Haupteturmfuhrer FORSTER and he nesigned me to Camp 2
oo OQoup Qommeader, During the time I wao Jommondor of Qoup O I
sorved under the Commandsr of tha Ksufering Camps, who was & first
Eaup te turnfubrer TORSTIR, then came Sturnbannfuhrer LANGLEIST in
Oetober, who remsinsd for & short time and wap replaced bty Sturmbann-
fuhrer AUMEINR 4in Jasuary 1946, Sturmbannfuhrer FOAERSIHTER came and
took charge of the Xauferlng camps, In Jamiary 1946, 1 was tranaferred
o Qaup T 4a the Hewfering aree, whore I seplised Dauptomann WIOMILE-
DCERFER, me Comoander of the camp, The first week I wio at Qamp 7 I
witnesned the Obersoharfuhrer STRINBUICHEL beating some prisconers,
I prohibited to him any further beating of prisoners, Than STEIN-
BURCHEL told me he had sdministered nome beatings under the admini-
stration of Hauptwann BIOWMISDORRFTR, In Camp 2 there were on t
average about 1,800 priscners, In Qamp ¥ I bhad under me about 1,
to 1,500 prisoners, and every month had from 20 to 26 dsaths, which
rasulted from Fleckiieber (Spotted fever or Typhus)."




— - —

"Whaz I was in charge st Casp 7 Stursbennfulrer ANEIER :
tald . When I was at Camp 7 Sturmbannfubrer
FOERSCHTER {nspectod my camp twice, ons time he had the Dmohau
Oommnder, Obersturmtennfuhrer 'III!II with hia. I will further
of ths. u—!-uaa-ndnr of thess camps in the
Kmafering area the priscners wers underfed and usderclothed ¥

(Pros Bx ¥o 1084) .

7. Degelow, Pritw.

The sccused Deselow was a captain in the Wehrmscht (R 239,
240). He wes the lsader of as swacuation transport which left Dechau
on 26 April 1945 (B 205-240). Degelow ordered the guards in the
folloving migsiner; "I these swine < if they will not move mny faster,
Just bit them with the rifle butte® (R 238), Degelow picked up punu
of wood and temt the priscners an they marched along (R 235). W:ile
Degalow was sating in a tavera at Degrecdor! he told a doctor thare
that thers were no 111 priscnars in the transport although in fact
thers were zany (X 773). On 2 April 1545, when the transpoyt resched
Wolfratehaussn, a resldent of the town saw about a thousand wopen in
the group who were dressed in rags Snd were gpuarded by four 88 men and
later saw & growp of men who were being mistreated by the 838 (R 780,
P, M) Negalow wuns sesn ts strice a prisonar with a bottle (R 763,

%3 . .

A pro-trial affidavit prepared by the acoused Degelow in
his own band writing, executed befores Lisutenant Outh on 4 November
1948, wns adsitted into evidence (R BOP, Pros Bx No 96),

That statenant reads in pertinmt part in translation me

followe;

Sfhe march of & part ¢f the prisoners of DICRAU (Raesians,

Poles, Jows, Germans) which was Yegun on the evening of the 2th of
dpril, seuld be sonduocied smscarding fa tha ardara nf tha Tagarknmsan.
dant, 58 Obderstursbanafohrer WEITER, for the first two daye oanly, He,

hed read An orier Yy the ERICFSJUEEEER 88 in Deohem, ccord-
ing to vhich only the mentionsd pationmlities, Russiszs, Iﬂn Gersans,
and Jews, should be transported to a remote mountain wall in the
Tyrol. Preseat benide me wors the chiefe of section todl-
wrpslelter) af the Aquartass (Tammmndnior), .

Section 1, Adfutant 58 Oberstursfuhrer OTO.
Bection 2, Politioml Section,
Bsotion 83, Prison Compound 859 Obersturmfuhrer NUPPERT,

Seotion 4. AMainistration 33 “um VRTIEL,
Gtstien ¥, Banltatissn A6 fMétwrshannfuheas N0 HYNTERMTYER

Sectisz §. manmm-

"The transport consisted of approximately 11 000 prisoners,
who marched off on Toot in columne of about 1,500 men neparated by
{atsrvales of Malf an hour, Nefore marching off the priscners wers
glven provisdens for tuo dage. In Telmgafnrf whish shanld haws haan
reached in twe daye, provisions %o laat 20 000 men for two days had
toen deposited, BEash of thess sarching colums of 1,500 priscners
had & guard troep of about 100 who marched with them, The phlice in
Munioh had provided five trucks, te pick up priscnsrs who were unable
to march, The truake went along the PASSING — BTERNEERG route twioe
on the BTth of April. 0Os the 30%h of dpril, hewever, anly ona af tha
trucks sppearsd without gas, and 1t too dissppearesd again V

"On the firet day of the march they marched fo a omsp in
the woods, about five k= befors STARNEERG, length of merch about 23 Jm,




On the esecond day of the mar h, to 4 km south of WOLFRATHSHAUSRHN

again about 28 km. In the comp neer WIFRATHSHAUSEN T hed the marsh
ntopped on my own responsibility, aince the weathsr had hecome much
woras—rain, snow, And cold—and the physical condition of tha nriscners
war nfich that thousands would have remnined 1yimg if the maroh wers
contimied. The pridoners wers fed from the provisions cemp in Eoinge-
Gorf in that I had my battelion truck (LKW drive provisicns to the
coamp. Sinoe the provislons had besn noed up, I wanted to turn all

the presoners over to the American troops, In Eolvgallesf T recelved
the order from an S8 Frigadefuhrer Police President of Munich - name
unknown, to immedistely turn the Russimne and Poles over to tha
Amerioan troops, it to continue rinrching the Germane and Jewlsh nrinoners
in the directisn of Bayerisch-Zell, since more provimions were supposed
to be ready thare "

On the Z0th of April the German and Jewlsh prisoners(about
3,000) marched to m camp Yetwesn Konigedorf and Bad Tolz. lensth af
mHTCND ADOUT LD km, And on the following day, 31 April, throush Bad
Tole egaln 10 km, Fauptmann Schwartz from the KL Tlossentury reportsd
to me thet about 50 prisoners had dled from exhaustion and the cold
wasthar ®

*I have mude the above stntement without commnleion. T have
rara 1t through and npderatend 4t fully, I swear before fod that 1
have told the pire truth "

AT add the Tellowing to 14"

"The officers of the Headquarters (Kommandatur who hed te
care Yor the primoners, for example ths Legerkommandenut WEITER, the
Admindstrttive Leader 58 Hnupteturmfubrar WRTZEL, the camp phirsicipne,
the Adfutrat 8§ Obermturmfuhrer 0TT0, conoerned themselyes with
notidng after the marehdng avay . in spite of the fect thot 1twas thetr
duty, and drowe their vehicles full of provisiens, wine, liguor, and
ruch to the Tyrel, [If the of flcers of the Headourrters (Kommandetus)
hee concerned themaslves with the marah, and the dotens of tmucke(IW)
and cers (PKW) had besn mvallable, no people would have had to lofe
their 1lven." (Pros Mx No. S8A)

8. QOtto Moll,

The acoused Moll wis In charge of the Keufering Carp Nusber
1 detail which worked At the firm of Mahl (R 692, 696) . Whenthree of
the princners who were worklng on the datedl ghe dfy in March 1945
were preparing te cook some potAtoes Moll took ~ostick nnd beat twn
of the prisoners (R 693), FHe said to the third, "ou, you vemnng plg.
You were cooking potatosn too, 1'11 show you." (R 69%). He than
beat the third prisoner sc severely that the broke the aticl, ns a
result of which the prisoner spent twn wesks in the hospital (R €95,
644) . When two peusers~by stopped and saw how Moll had been beating
the prisoner he ran out and sedd, "You sheuld te ~1~d that the Jews
nre punished M (H 663) . In April 1945, on the tiah) workins deteil
Hell pushed & Risslen with o board and then teat him over ths hasd
with & rock until he fell to the ground (R 694, £05, 698), The
Rusaien wes then oarried away on a stretcher sut into the woods (R £85) .
At another tive in Februnry 1045, on the deteil Mell strusk ewoman with
& stick weny times (R 702, 705, 706). Moll sscompanied a traneport
whioh left Kaufering Camp Number 2 at the end of April 1646 (R 765.748)
‘Mhere were 2tout 150 priconars in the trensoort and Mell shat 8 af
them who had oollnpued because of exhmustion (R 766). Several of (hens
were Russiens snd Peles (R 768), i

_ A pre-trinl affidavit of the 8ccused Noll executed before
Onptain Bornce Hanwen, investighting officer, on 3 November 1946, wns
adul ited into evidence (R 851, Pros Ty 114)




That niatessnt rende in pertinent part Iin translotion
ne follawsy

1In Junusry-Tebruary 19405, while on the retreat, I win for
£lanl Tour wealks stotioned in the Teonomic Admindstrotion Mulnm DTfice
tn BIRLIN end pear EERLIN, Approrimately on 26 Februery 1048, T recolived
prdevas from the chief of the personnel pection of the Fconomie Admini-
pirstion leatn Office, Sturmbannfukrer FAHREBAUM, to report to the con-
mander of the KAUFERING Concentration Camp for further dutiee. 1
progeeded by train te KAUFERING, whera I arrived approximately on 28
W bruary 1945, 1 tmmedintely reported to Sturmbennfuhrer FOERSOHIER,
fhe paspective canp commender, Tar the following ten days I wan not
iven ony apecific dutles, I -ws $old, that ms eoon as prisonsrs would
tprive Trom AUGSPURG I would be transferred to Qamp KAUFERING 2 in
LAVDSEZRG nm LECH "

MMhrdng che next dave I inspsoted the camp KAUFFRING 2, and
found 14 unsuitable for reception of priconers, due to lack of billets
for sick people and untidiness of the prisoners Millets. The newly
azpointed Canp Commander Obersturmfuhrer SCHOETTL ordered me to correct
the deficlencies prevailing in Camp 2 and to improve camp conlitlone ™

#Mipan arrival of ths prisoners. espproximetely om 12 Mapreh 1945,
and &fter the camp had started itn norpal functions, I wes responsitle .
for the following f1elds of work in the camp:

1. Pilleting of Princners.

. Yesding of Priapners.

Sani tery Oonditions in the Qamp,

Tranefer of alck prisoners to the hospital in Qmap 4,
0lething of priscners.

Labor comml tment."

M o 03 23
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Wuring SCHORTTL'S abeence - s SCHORTIL often undertook
AfTintnl tripa — T wes aamp comusnder M

iihe administrative camp perscnnel further included & kitehesn
non-comminsioned of ficer, 88 Oberscharfuhrer RICHADLZER, administrative
officirle, 55 Oberscharfulwer JENSEN ond an Oterscharfuhrer in the
nedical section, whose name I forgot. The camp gurrd personnel wes
wyday Omptadn CASTHER. W .

"t wan anthorised to make small improvements in the camp on
my own, Wt reguired SQHOTTL!s perimission for larger improvements, such
as the construction of a hoopital berracks."

5 Nigha ®M1lata af the prisonsss in Camp KAUFERING 2 woe.
pooording to times, good, A1l priscners always slept under e roof.
Erch prinoner hed A mtraw ssck and thres hlankets, The siraw sacks
wers mounted on wooden pletforms, Food was good."

"The hospital barrecks contained thirty bede. The avervge
eils]l shotum 4w thia bareacks oonslated of ten to twelve pridonerns,
nostly beemuae of colds and furunculesis. During my activity in Qamp
EAUTERING 2, abuit twenty prisoners were transferred to the hompital
in Camp KAUFERING 4.0

nThe cemp hud a cupieity of sbout 1, 20C prisoners, and durlng
my atny thers had &8 navimum cssupancy of 450 mrisoners. The suard
peraonnel consiged of 50 men."

"The priscners work consimted of urmpmoking and transperting
wehine perts for the MESSERSCHMITT WORKS 4




T "huring ny motivity In KAUFERING 2, te my knowledge, there
wers 0o mistreatnents of any prisonerby any guard personnel, Ko
prisoney was Beaten, nor kicked nor in any other wiy mistreated by
guird personnel "

E. Mn absnbt 825 ar P26 April 1648 T 1ad al)l priannaras af
Camp HAUFTRING 2 who were in marching condition, on foot to DADHAU,
A1 priscners Arrived At the destination, and there wsre no shopting
nor mistreatmente durlng the march, The guerd perscnnel of this
transport constated of 55 perdonnel, of which 1 ean enly remember one
B8 Hnuptecbarfuhrar RINTUERER, "

#he prisonsr trunsport left KAUFERING 2 with sufficlent
provislons for twy days. 1 perscnally obtained additional provieions
fer tnlf & day from DACHAU, Tha prisconere arrived at DACHAU on 29 April.
I was fully responsi¥le for thls transport ™

& T 1aft DANHAD an &0 April 18948, with a farmantierm af 812
Ferdonnel, marching in the direction of Pyrol. The formation soon
digsolved, and I surrendersi to the Americarns on 3 or 4 May 1945, near
EAD TOLE.V

7. "o my knowledge 86 Olersturmbannfuhrer WEISS was commander

of a1l sutonmme undsr the furisdictisn of tha Qonasntratinn Aamp DATHAT

. I have seen MEIGS once during mn officinl visit in EAUFERING 2, towards
the and of Mayeh 19456, anth, #t thie ccctsion, sxchanged n fov words with
him, © A1) orders chout the pamp condust pame from Qbersturmbannfuhrer
WBISS., I heave never heard the neme of WEITER, 71 know Sturmbannfuhrer
FORESOMNEA through my sctivities and hrve talked to him repeatedly.”
(Prom Bx No 1144)

39, DQtio Behulg.

Schmlz, &n 88 Untersturnfuhrer, wes in chnrge of the DACHAD
inmntes who worked nt the Jerman Srmament Works in the town of DASHAU
(m 21%7) . Behunle, = aolek besparsd fndividua)l, hit the priacnss vith
hie fiste, beat them with a stick, =nd kicked them (R 260, 218). The
prisoners who worlksd on hls detall wers of various nationalities, mush
ns Poles, Ogechm, ond Ruselmns (R 220). Although the prisoners on this
detail hod been permitted to cook food while at the Armament Works, the
food having heen nent to them from heoma, Sohulw once threw the food

. WA ah whe aoanking an bhe atave nntn t.ha pround (R MA, AR, 26R. AAN,
264, 469). e toursd cold water on people who were nl.tting in the 1atrine
(R 4.!!6) He worked the members of hie detail long hours, at least 12,
prnd refused to releass the sick ones (R 455, 459, 456), His refusal to
velense 111 people resulied in some deaths (R 456) .

A practrinl affidavit prepirad By tha ssstined Salmle in hia
own handyriling nnd exscuted before Captain Nilee, investigating officer,
en 30 Ootober 1945, wun sdmitted {ntc evidence (r 854, Pros Ix ¥o 115),

That stutement rends in pertinent part in translation as
Tollywe:

© MIn Kay 1983, 1 foinod the Allgemeine 88 in Wittenberge...,
1 was W“Iiﬁ ‘Anto the Waffen S5 on 18 Jumuery 1942.0

r 0 *rom ;h Februsry 1943, until the end of the wor I worked for
the German Arpement Works in DACYAU, I wap ansigned me Batriebslelter,
My work nansiated of supnrvisning the progress af nur ardara and nf tha
technionl preparations. There were ntout 600 prisoners working in my
plant. They wers Poler, Csechs, Jremiimen end Germans. ! ssnetimes

= 1=



B

lort my temper and beat prisoners whom I caught loafing, siseping,
or stenling, or showing insubordination, Thie happened about 12 timas,
I used my hand mostly, tut used & board once "

"They fregqusntly made thelr own smoking periods in the latrines,
which practice was not etopped in spite of repeated admonitions. During
an inspection tour I poured m Pucket of rain water over them from & roof
window, I alwo hit the obviously lasy workers — this happenad about
4.5 tiwes, and only with my hand "

"The following S8 men worked as my foremen: Obersturmfuhrer
Joseph Deiner, Hauptscharfuhrer MAI®R Oberscharfuhrer KEGEL, Oberschar-
fuhrer LOTHAR STAUDFMAIER, Unterscharfulrer WALTER KOCH, OYerscharfuhrer
DRI®S, Reltenfuhrer WK, Rottenfuhrer FRIEDRICH, Unterscharfuhrer FUCHS,
Oberscharfuhrer OTT0 MERKIE, Untersgharfuhrer ELIER OSKAR, Oberschanr-
fuhrer KNLLER, DEINCR dnd MFPRELE complained %o me mabout scme primansrs
and tald me that they had beaten them "

"When I came to DACHAU 88 Cdersturadannfubrer MARTIN WEISS,
and later 95 Cbersturmdannfubrer WEITER, first name unknown, was casp
commander, I had no occcmmion to =nter the prison compound and therefore
do not kiow anything sbout the tortures and murders whloh wers perpetratsd
there. The cam comoander was responsidle for the eyecutions, since he,
in my opinion, caused the orders from Berlin to be carried oub, .

"tha supsrviscr of the crametory was 55 Odberscharfuhrer
POFEBARDT, WMy supoerior was S8 OYersturmfuhrer HANS ULRICH, vho was
Wericlelter and ns such wie responnible for the entire plant.®

This declaration was written bty me on J pages, in my own
handwriting, in DACHAU, GERMANY, on 30 October. 1945, at 2230 hours,
volunarily and without compuleion,® (Pros Ex No 115A)

40. Eriedrioh Wetgsl.

Wetzel, s Huupteturmfuhrer, or Vbersturmfuhrer, wae the
edainietrator and later the Verwaltungsfuhrer and as such wes responsidle
for the foed, clothing mnd lodging of the prisoners (R 292, 421). BRe
had gharge of the kitchen, laundry rnd mmply room (R 421, 486). Wetzel
inaugurnted the practice of not having the potatoes peeled nnd of
“amding hast leaves which hnd usunlly been fed te¢ the cattle to the .
prisoners, (R 422). He mistreated some of the priscners hy slepping
them =nd he often stole their valuables (R 4865)

A pre-trial affidavit prepared by the asccused Wetzel in hiw
own bandwritling and erecuted Gefore Lisutenant Conn was admitted into
avidavea (R 821, Pros Ix No 104).

That statement reads in pertinent part in translation as
follows;

"Myname {s YRIEDRICH JULIUS WETZEL, Rauptsturmfuhrer,
Aamuendnntenr, DACHAD, GERMANY, I waer in DAOHAD ae Adminlstration
Leader from August 1, 1944, until 28~-29 April 1048. DBefors that I
wks in the following Concentration Jazps, also as Adminietration
Lender;

NOUENGAM®, HAMBURG - 19 April 1943, to 31 July 1944,
WINDERHAGEN, FADERFORN ~ 15 Degember 1842 to 18 April 1843,

1 was responsible in DAOCHAU for the clothing, fool and
shelter of the troops ond inmates, I wns directly under Obersturm-
bannfuhrer WEITZE, When I arrived at DACHAU  the clothing wes already




Ansufficlent and there were not enough drawers, socke, shirts, shoes
and gloves, I requisitioned winter slothing but I 414 not receive

enongh mo that the clething for the insates wae insufficient for the
wvinter. The shoes had wopoden wsoles and canvas *ith lenther parte.®

MUntil the end of 1944 eor January 1945, the fond waa
sufficient to give the inmates the presoribed portions. Untll adout
December 1944 or January 1945, enough foold arrived in DACHAD to glve
the fnmntes eucugh to eat, However, the food was nat snomgh to get
those pecple beck on thelr feet who alresdy arrived in DACHAT balf-
otarved sod slok. Untll mbeut Jesnunsy 1048, the foed thrsugh the
general transportation situation and the nﬂl:r entarlished ratione,
vap nogt mf¥iaient any mors. The troops only received very 1ittle
more than the inmates. Although I wis in cbarze of the food mzd
after January 1945, did nnt get good food myself 1 mever put any-
thing aside for myself ate just like the trmu-ﬂnly the portion
praseribed for me, -.v'r-ln;thing e bra N

"¥rom Angust 1944 until April 15948, I wes responsible
in DAQHADN for the distritution of the foed. The peas and beans lu
the camp could rot be distrituted hecauass of the feod regulations
and had not been covered by requisitions. I also wanted to keep
thous in the cone that the reverves would brasl dewn conplately av
that on epldemic would occur, The peas and beans were sufficlent
for about eight days."

Mhen o transport left the camp Kommandant WEITER t0ld me
for how many days I should give them food, whigh I did, I was
responsible for 1k, M

"l mads the atove stotement without force, I read 1t and
corrected 1t end understand 1% fully, I swear solemnly that 1t ie
the pure truth,® (Pros Ex No 1044A)
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| v. EVIDENCE FOR T8 DEFRUSEr

1. Uartin Cottfried Weiss: Jefors Welss became canp consander
of Dachau, thore were many beatings, nothing to eat, and ttle time off
from work for the imates, but after he arrived, conditions improved (R 530).
Vailing of food pareels was parnittad, roon auty vas Wgcunblnuwed,
and beatinps stopped for a while (F 530). It wis presumad that this was
dons bocause of the inersased noed for manpover in the Amanent Industry
(P 530). The food becane bottor in that a 1ittle fat was put into
the soup and the portions of chanse and sausage were larger (R 531). ILater,
howaver, the fand hename woras,avaln (R 531). Before Weiss was cormandor,
the prisoners wart required to stand at the gate as o punishment, but
he discontinued tde and instead introduced the stand-butker (R 531).

Under Weiss, the punishment block remained in existence for a short
time and then was discontinued, and the practice of standing the
grisuneru in the square when anothar prisonsr escapad was abolished (R 532,
fl). Wolce abelished the prostise Af tha puniahmant hair ocut, widch
consisted in cutting a stripe from the front to the back of cnes™
head (R 532, B81)., e introduced motion pictures for the priscners
and permitted then to = in sports, a privilepge which had not been
permitted heretofore (R 533). The sports included soccer, hoxing and
wrestling (R 533). Under Welss, the convalescent blocks were intro-
duced for naw prisoners and beatings were disvonbloued (R 533, 22L). .

Martin Welss made thess improvements in urder to carry on ®a
total work service® and he distributed the priscners to the virious
factorasa in the area of Davaria (Il 535). e waz responsible for
sandine prisoners to work in factaries wich ware not adequately pro-
tected from air bombardment md was responsible for experiments and
executions, and for the invalid transports that went on 1a Dachau (R 535).
Conditions for the Ginrman priests changed for the batter under Welss,
but priests of other nationalities suffered severaly under him, although
he stopped the priests from performing heavy labor (R 93l, 935).

Weiss elacted to testify and mais the following unsworn state-
ments He was born J June 1905 at Kideoverveisen, Gemmany (R 053). His
civilian occupation was electrical engineer (R 853), He was in the
Allgemeine S8 from 1932 to 1933 and in 1933 had 10 veeks basic infantry
training at Dachau (R Bﬂjii He was in tho German r from 1933 untdl
Wis arrest on 9 May 1945 (R U56). Trom 1933 to 193 he had basn in the (P
administrative branch of the Bngineers gghss,_ 086). Vor & time in
19ﬁ3 he was camp enginesr in Dachau (R 80L). From 1930 to 11 Apdl
1940 he was Adjutant at the concentration camp at Dachau (R 859). fHis
comanding officer at this time vas Obersturmbannfushrer Lorits Webend
von Pleskepna (R 799). Tn 1940 he was transfarred fram there to Hamburg
to the Neuen Gamme (R 869). In 1940 and 1941 he spplied for combat duty
(r 88L). ¥Wis requests were denied becauss of the Reich Fushrer's
ordar that no leader or officar could voluntear for the front (R 884, d65).
On 1 September 1542 on order of the Reich Leadsr, limuler, he was trans-
ferred to Dachau as Camp Commander (R 859).

On 1 November 14: 3, Weiss was transferred from Dachau and on
L Novambar 1943 bacame comiander to the concentration camp of Lublin
(R P61). He remained there until 25 April 19Lk (R 861). On 1 May he
became chief of the of fiom for spacial services (R 861). He was supposea
to become chiaf of the prigonar of war set-up at this time, but was
tianed down by the Redch Muehrer, and thorofore had no of flolal duties
until 1 November 184k (R 061, 862). On 1 Movember 19LL Welus vas sent
as a special smissary to Muehldor{ whers, together with the Todt organization
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he had the taslon of bullding new camps, later Lo be used in the armament .jl
industyy (# 662).

fia was ordsrad t.u Dachay as canp comaandsr to alleviate bad
conditions there (R 602, £ 2). When he arrived his predecessor was on a
vucatlion, S0 JWelss ninsoll wis Iforced o beaconme acoustomed groadually to
tho cwmp (B %62), When he mrrived, there mi‘n betvean 6,000 and 7,000
yrisonsrs there (8 A59), ! took charpe of Dacha: and all its cams (R 167),
ilo learnnd that people wore belug bound to posts, that priconsrs had to
ytwd for dzya ah & timo vithont food, that for attemptling to escaps,
wredsoners hod to stasd on the forution prounds for 25 pr 30 hours,
that the order of the NMedloh Muehrer that prisoners wers uot to be
beatan was not obeyed, and thist peonle were rutniing arcund the camp with
Wil ey Bndeeutor (R 062), Thess halrauts sonsisted of 4 wide line,
thn sits of & pady o.t' glippyrs froa the hack of the hoad to the front
of the haad (R 76))s In order to alleviate these conditlons, Welss
irmadiately relisved Xopps and Seversly whio were cand alder md assistant
carp aldar (R A563). Thay had large pewers and Koppn was known as a
"haiter® (R 863),

The Schutahaltlessr fushrear assumed comand of the cayp whenaver
Weisy 1aft tho camp (2 760). Dupin- teiss' tour of duty as lagerfushrer,
Frans Hoffman, who had 9von Schutzha®tl ararfushras ot the start, was
transforrad upon Welse requant md replacad by Redwite (B 060). Weiss
: bacause loifman beat prisoners, paid no attontion

ordar of Makas, and bound prisoners to posts apainst the orders
of Jekus (R 660), Welss reported him to Serlin for punivhment md
h:mntxﬂ' %ﬁf Bﬁuj&. Violoy did tot salect Hoffman's suscesser, Nadwitn (2 761).

. men Weiss assusod comvanid, he found that food was ddatwituted

mpﬁnmlwwﬂngwthumnrm food orifce in Berlin (R 863).

AL MMmmﬂmmemmMmuuuu,

d rove tha sating conditiona by roquisitioning rood for
0. Tha requisitisng were prepared by

o £ of

urs, ad g m&&#d‘mﬂnium 10 %6L), ihen
Unins hnceme ﬁmm ke raceived orders from superler muthorities
ugt ta concarm ) mnwﬁmmﬂmﬂ-wm (® 86L).
Doator Wnlther was chief dootor; the malaria statlon was undsr the super-
vision of Doctor Sehilling; und the mwperimental gtation was wnder
Dochor Maschar (R 065).

Hrrider visited the experimental station on 10 November 1942

tf—' AéL). ‘iedes vas sallad by Mlmalss Gu cuuss by Lhin dApeTinental SLATION
(it 3}6'5). ia fourl Himder vory angry, and Hirmlar told Woiss ke was to

7ive no ordera to Doctor Paucher, begause Doctor Raschar sus not under
ids orders, but under t'e protection of the Feich Fuehrer (N B55), lo
rattur whst Dogtor Rascher wanted, Himmler explained to Welsu, Weiss
Must rat for dm, oven 1 it van sapnae oy sofven (R H48), Sewtain prico-
°rs of the carp vere prosent durlnp tids conversation, but Wedas doss
rnot o vhare they wra (R 745). A Doctor Cravits, Releh Physieian of
5h dlrectly under the Daich FuAlwer, told Weiss in April 1943 in the
Jresence of Doctor Sehllling thai in case Vedss sabotaged the ‘mxperimantas,
hoctor Seldllin: weuld report hin to the Paleh Pushrer for punishment
(n 0G5, "67). This mxporimental station was under nn&aﬂ or'ﬂm M
Fuelar unly, and delss had no control over Dector
wag conduotins malaria smperivents at Camp Dashau (R 067).




Weiss had to e the requisition of priscners
by Dootor Schilling (R 891, 896, Pros Bx 30). The )
alse appeared on the requisitian (R H96, Pros Ex 38)

procedure during 2 1 of the tine Lsiss was there (R 092). Requisitions
by Welss also had to be made for Doctor Rascher's prisoners who were
subjected to his experizmemts (K 6§72, Fros BX 125).
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Welss had no knowledpe that Dootor Schilling'a prisoners were
being innoculated with melaria (R 892, A93). He never saw a malaria
experinment (R 802),

Woiss did not know that at least 50 men were killed by one of
Doctor Raschar's sxperiments (1 0693). ke had witnessed a cold-water ex=
periment when Himmler was presant (R 893).

From 1 Seplenbsr 1942 until Novesber 1943 thare were oxecutions
at Camp Dachauy purousnt te orders of the Reinh Thahrar (R 858). These
wore transmitted to the Reich Security «%/'ac (R B67), and thence to the
lepal of ficer through the adjutant (R 860). These executions did not
involve prisoners 4n the Dachau camp, but psople who were brought in
by the police from other places (R 860). The Gestapo sent the prisoners
to Dachau for sxecutdon (R B859), but only on the ordsr of tha Maich
Landar (I G70)« A8 UmTp Gommarler, Welso had no autherity over these
executions, and erdwed no executions himself, These executions were
eflactad by hangingas (R 858), The execution papers passed over Welss'
dosk, or in his absence, Hedwits, because every axecution, upon orders,
had to bo reported to Berlin (R°868, (99). He never gttended a single
axacution (R 500). The political department had nothing to do with the
azecutiona (R 0M1).

Uhile Welss was at Dachau, denths resulted from gensral
oicknessen, ouch as tuberculoals, inflamation of the lunpm, pleurisy, heart
woakness, typhold of the gtorach, md body weaknoessey whieh patiayn. 2
cane to Dacheu with fees sthar e==ps (7 A71), Hangy peinnnara who arrived
ware dead upen arrival (B 671). Weiss had plotures taken of such a
transport, and sant sugh plotures topathsr with & complete raport t
tls supsrior suthorities (H'071). I!ls mlso made a report to Barlin with
rafarence Lo priscners gent thors in such bad conditlon that thay
wlghed anly M0, 90, or 100 pounds, snd maquested that other camp cormandars m
annd ouly such prisoners who oouldl outlast a tvansport (R A71). Vikile
Wolas vas tinsre, 7 or 10 trmuoportis cme in, with from 40O o 1,000 mriso-
ners with ensli transport, tho majority of whom were dead (R W!i.

Auiss had no control in the direction or munagement of tha J

AN (K 072)s une or twe invalia tTren=porss Ielt Jachaa L Ocloboxr; LoL4E '
(R 672, B73). Mo 1 arned this throush s physician, but as Commanding
Offiger he had nothines o do with then (B P77, 273). Mo other invalld
transports 1aft Dachay Tron Ootolar 1942 te  svanbor 1943 durine the
balansa of his admindetration (M 73). Thi. was becanse Wolss belisved

as he had atatac e Nerdlin that shey should not send transnorts of 111
people if ther lind to receive 111 people apain (R 073). O ders came fyon
Berlin vhat Welss ay Commanding Officer had to wetch over Bf<iclal florgings
Lecausa irregularities ware otcurring, such aza prisonsy recsiving LS
boalings when he was suppossd to receive onlys 15 beatings (R 073).

Walas speulfloally dealed that he ever weit do Augoburg 4o attend
an oxscution (R 27L). Me alsc specifically demiad that he insusurated the
*standing buniter® a2 a form of nwent, thers beiny noWtanding bunker®
under his adulnistration (B 074). Ho disclained krowledge of any expa '

L R SRS g gee—— .
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in nospltal, The cap wne dot ovapearowied thea
"B;' fio dld not liock tho hesdsear off mewly arrived

. It vas a regulation, however, that prisdmers verae

&E'—ff

£ mareh without hendsaar {f accopanied b s block leadsr, or when
within 15 paces of an of ficer vhan coming from work (R 275).

- The statement intreduced by tae prosecution that he was comanding
ntﬂ.urotﬂlqutwpn.%hhﬂﬂn‘wumnﬂmt{k%}.

Yeinm did not issus a spoeial ordar that nobody was to talk aboub
that oscurred in Daghau (i [75). ! waver, a stmding ordar
cama down that there was to be no talking about the DAT and other
armament works (I 075). He imows nothing of officers md puards being
required to sign o statement that they had nct talked about what went coa

(r 875).

Wedsn adnitted that he did take part in the beating of 15 priso-
ners referred to in the sccused Lippeannt's statement (R 876). e

that the beatincs *nye a punitive measure ordered by Serlin and
exarcised within the lismits of from 5 to 25 hits (n 876), Bach priscner
was interrozated (R £76). REaquest for permission %o inflict punisiment
WaASs sSent To Borlin, aml it v scted out afbar parsi. clen bad
been granted (R 899, 875). In case of an attespted nacape by a prisocner,
25 nite with a stick was administered imnediately, and than formal per-
miosion was requested (R B76). Sticks md not ox-tails wers used (R 900).
Welss attended beatings and counted the strokes (%L 900).

W,mnmthuMMum-d
(R 876). Orders came fros Berlin that the sorking hours
were to bo at least 11 (R 677). As ommmander of Dachau, he could not




After Waiss 1?11. Dachau, he m’:ﬁ: connectd u;nui‘ argy
¥ind with its outcamps (R « Heiss presance ons
of the Ksufering ca-pe in 194k by stating thst he had an order to
put up new camps in Kaufering md was presont only in connection with
Lliss busiusas (R B72). Hy had =eons inke e sanp with the sanp Ioadar
and sam Tive Buncarian Jews executed (R 879). He lsarnsd after the
exacution that thess people were hung for sabotags, and that the exe-
sution datall was sent from Dachau (R 679). Welsa had whatsoaver
to do with the hanging, elther officislly or unofficially (R Q).

A yphold epldemlc Lpuke cub ab Lhe canp while Woloos was
sormander (R 801, B82), Woiss took the follosing stepss He restricted
the camp imendiately (7 0662), Yo prisoner was allowed to leave and no
new transports were received (R 862)., 8 and the dimeased worn
imolated in @ separate block (R 882), ILatrine guards were placed to
see that ~:ch prisoner washed his hands in & disinfectant solution after
using the latrine (X 80¢/). K&en Stool Was wasned with & disinfectant
solution after use (P 882), It was forbiddan to drink water (R 082).
All latrine holes were huirrisdly smptied (R 882), ;
six or sipght weeis, and 100 to 150 disd, bu
infagted (4 832). There were 9,000
Innoculation serun was requisitioned, but unobtainabl

With refarence to the testimony of the prosscution that Welss
Jalled %o bulld wir raid bunkers, Weiss explained that Berlin refused him
tho material and statsd that a concentration camp had never been attacked

n EJ;'. While Weiss wan commandmnt no attacks wers made on the camp
2 BE3).

o
¥
2§
=68
8k
T
g
2
8

| Telss stated that Fillehosck was not =t Dachau vhen the 90
Russian prisoners of war wers exsouted on September 1944 (R 885). It was
kls opinion that it would have been impoasible for Filleboeck to take
part without the approval of his superior Watzel (R 095),

Weiss was told in April 1945 by Obersturntefushrer Weiter,
hls suneaasor as commandant, of the plan of the Reich Dafense Commissl oner,
Gaulsdter Crefanc of Yunich, to destrey upen of the anemy the
Dachas cap by sevoral squadrons of boobers (2 , B68). Witnesses
to this emversation were (Derfushrer Eistsr and Obersturmsbannfushrer
Jarolin (R 880). Wealas told wWoiter that such a thing was terrible, and
cilled his attention to the consequences which would arise (R 886), Finally,
Tleiss received a consultation with General Riberstein, who, according
%o the ordors of tha Qaich Fuehrer, had to take over the concentration
canps in case of an emergency (R (£6). Welss called his attention
ta tha aanssquanses wHich wanld arise feom sueh o hembng, snd Censrsl
Zeberstein proxised to circumvent the destruction of the cazp (R B86).
The borbardment of the camp was not carried cut (R 628),

Wnils Wolss was ut Dachau he was not aware, nor did he partici-
pave in & common desiyn or comspirasy to murdar, beat, maltreat, or othere
*izo parfor: indignities upon smy of the priscners in Ooncontration Qmmp
Dachav or its subsidiaries (R 8I7).

Daily mestings of the departmert heads were held at Dachau,
except ®in the last daya® shen reports were nade to Welss by vidual
leaders (R B87). Priaconers came to Dachau on order of the Reich Security
Holn Offdcs with sa syrest ropurt (R 000)s The prisuner first wmt &0
the Politlical Dopartment for identification, and a record was made in
the work office to the detnlls at wiich he wiuld ba assimed (R

.‘--




Cwedis was mﬂum,munﬂum&mtum
 He ﬁlﬁiﬂﬂ that ha knew 2,794 prisoners died while
3 193) to thirty disd from hangings whils he
'W'M shooting (R &93%; ‘?mn' or five priscnsrs died
mi‘['_gl twiring +n ooen Ia folk e mrmild oat aay hamr many

! ral body weaknasy {RPES?S} Thoae that did dis from body
 arrived there in very bed eondition (R 0695). Welis gould not

i 858 prisonsrs died from intostinal catharr or that 685 priscners
Pl_ummﬂa whils he was thove,or that 37k priconers dlad fyonm
&3 5?5). da antimatad those dying from typlus as between

Whan Welss was camardant, the averasi prisiner received thres-
Lourtha of 4 1iter of cofes when colfon 1tay sorved, and at loast one
Hber of soup for the noon day meal (R 896). For supper he received
‘goup and 500 grams of tread (K 097). After the uiddlo of 1913 the
‘prisoners were worilng 1l hours a day (R 097), but at no uime while
Welse was cmnp commandant did the prisonsrs work longer than 11 hours

& day (R 897).

Suttrop md Nedwl t told Welss that & transport had gome in
vhave the haifan nf pelusnars had boan astan (R 20, snd there wexo slgas

of cmnibalism (% 898), Visiss was not present when this transport
aryived (R 890), Ho did weo these prisemers after thay were lined up
in Cromt of the huth house for nbar_'mti.un (R 6501).

Otto Pease mid Heinriuh derper, Oarman cathelic mdests and

Lormer lLiwsslms ab Duclmw (R 90k, 917), explained that condltions av
‘tha carp nnder Walss ware mich batter than under tha commandant Plorkowsld
& y 917, 2h9). Herere Welzs, ther had to werk as laborers, but, after

o8 nn'i.ﬂd. ghoy wern datalled on Lightar vor: (R g0k, 917). Before
mnh truu—hmgingu and beatinrs wers a npatior of gourse snong tha prise-
nors and priestn (R 705). Aftor ieiss bectine commundant, both the beatines
and Lree-ha o stanped, althngi: later on some heatings were given, but
y priests (1L 905). Weiss, in the prosonce of Father Rupierper,
Lt ties to stop (R 218).

Wodes, the block porsounel weuld nete oub the iost
Por tha alishtest 1 vweapnTielty nﬂom the srisonnzs (R 905).
_ o mur=ins nf e corara over e blantats wiew not
# sare position to the ooutdoetor 2o roguirnd, barbmide

_ 'lm;ﬁintarnd (3 #06). Sush exmmmorstad mﬂm;;m_ ]
Ao de ;e dinmmtinmd wihatt attn hnnmn enﬂnﬂm 206),

inls m ww
wmm



At first
blocks 28 and 3O werc occupied by priests of other mationalitiss (B 50f).
Lator, all priests were confined in block 20 (R 700, 9C5). Undar Ualss,
services ware parmitted and dying priests received the last rites (R 7i¥). 4

1I somenodqy mscaped fron the detalls wiéh wordnd outields, %he |
antire camp was not punished as.before (R 920). Under Welss, however,
if some prisonar through his own fault sorrdtted an offanse such as '
stealing, the prisonars would have %o stand in forration uitil one of the
prisonsrs admitted the theft (R 521).

Hew internees used to be sevorely benten by tho 5% man upen
arrival 8 919). This practice was disoantimued when Weiss bacane
coemandant (R 910). An Aerican national was once beaten bocause of
this custem (R 711). He protested (% 511). Since protestations were
almost unknown, it wag that : be liquidated (R 911). Weins
told hi= that ha would not be beaten acain 50 long a3 his behavior was decen

the 55 man tad addnistered the

E

%
j

A1l unofficial beatings aud other indignitias were discentinued
3 in his office ard oo tim

) & big tranaport of Jews arrizad in
the camp, of perhaps from 2,000 to 1,000 peopls including childrea, Welss .
permitted thes to stay with their parents despite objections by others
sentimentality (R 91L).
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malaria experirents conduoted by Doctor
Behilling, the labber and cub Welss would pluk vul su many people for uhe u
expaTinants . was ssnt to tha labor service, and the
labor service would hand it to Welss for approval (R 71L). It was possibls
for eithe; Welss or the laber service to ohject to any particular prise-
ner, tut regardless of whether or not the corandamt or the libor

Weiss waa selected as inspectar of tho Mmfaring Casps (It 925),
Tids was in 1944 and 1945 (B915), Weisa went to Dachzu %o selsct personally
the Jewish inmates to be sent to tho.s carps (R 914),

Paul Schlisbs and Johamn Ceipger, both Oemmans md foruer miso-
ners at Dachau during Weiss' administration, declared that prior 4o
tine that Weiss became comandant & Dacham, conditions were very
(R 927, 920, 94l). The mqualization of food for all blecks wasn battay
under Welss, and he permitted extra rations to tim sick md new privileres
w special prisoners Liketaliing to other natisnalities and wedn- Lie

2. Wﬂ_@gﬁ: The accused Ruppert took the stand
and - N Wi orn statements He was 0 ynarao of apre, married

mnde
and had one child (R 1145, Yo Ho .as 4 member of the 85 ami fe=t
camn $o Dachau in Apreil 1933 (R 1115, 1157) He served in Dachau as an
55 man of the cuard troops (R 1146). lie was thers until Septesior 15,

of S
1952, He returmad to Dacha: on Aupust 6, 194k as First Schutabmftlaser-
re until 20 April 1945 (R 1146, 11k7).

Ms dotlen ware to detarmine and repert the @ourats abatus
af all prisoners in the entire camp and in the individual Mlocks nnd to oes
discipline was maintaised in the camp (R 1147). It was

g
¢
:




ring @ looking, and one was zuilty of murder and a sex crime
s An officer fron the Ons in Vurdeh read the nomes of the
Wiﬂh wers to be exacuted to the smp comander (B 1U7). This
am:ﬂﬂmm%&msim, handed the results to the Reich
Yoty Sscurity Orfles md sonductad the axmsution (R 114A). Suppert was
not &t Dachan whan the Huysian prisonsrs of war wore 1 ated (R 1155).
The Pussians were lad in sroups of 30 to the crematery (R 11L7), Huppert
did not bring them down to the crematory tut members of th-u puard did
fR11L'). He denied that ho rushed or pushed them on the way or that he
wes in charpa of the exasution (R 1152, 1157). The Gestapo official
atd Bunpert precedsd 9 flrst zroug of Nussla s 4o the Lfmw {0 1148).
Buppert was not sure of the doctor who wes present (R 11L0), e attandsd
53 a witness tiw exscution of the two Russian women in Jamuars 1945 who
wars axocuted in accordance with the orders of tho Relich }Main Security
Offica, havine bsan sent thera by tha Gestapo (2 1149), Those women
ware insoculatad by Doctor Hirtermayar (R 1140, 1150). In Pebruary
1955 Thren m and tiwee Bussian worikors wers sent to Uachmn for
axeciution by the statapolice of Munich, Another Gestapo official from
tunich conductad the m (R 1150). Between Au-ust 19kl and April
Iﬁim " ApD: » Li0 oxcoutiuns in Dachau bosides the

t ﬂt‘l ﬁ!wihg to Lalas skalen
mmm romanber kickine & ulmi.

Ln with a transport
Jm;q bmpmi:nm cleured up in an
f:iﬁh;}w (R 1153). e never




arrived in October or lovember and distributing thoem throught
blocks (R 1157). luppert stated that he put that transport in
and that they remainad there for one ymek (R 1157). These blo
an average of 12 or 1l hunired men (R 1157). Ruppert stated ti
executions he mttended at Allach wers pursuant to ordors (R 1159), As
1an the case with eoapact tn the aramtian at Taningen (R 1159). e

vore the orders of the camp cormander (R 1159).

As for prisonars in Dachau vho wore cxecuted, one looted a
an air raid and one comtdtted sabotgge in the armament industryr (0
Ruppert did not know who determined whether these people vars guil 1)
lle stated that the inberrogating affleor had the aubthority o dvbhs s ol
who was muilty (R 1160). *he interrogating officer wcvld then hand the
report to the camp comiander vho tranuierred it to the TMoich Becurlby
Office {R .1161-}!

3. Josef Jaroling The nccused Jarolin, hds rights having been
siplalosd Lo Lln, ook tho stand and oads the following UNsSwWorT Statsmomty
He 18 L2 years old, married and has no children (R 1205). [!le was a
profesaional soldier and had been one since 1923 (R 1205). He joined
the 83 in 1935 (R 1205). Iy was a guard in Berlin for one yoar and then
was transferred to the Saxenhausen Concentration Camp whare he vas a .

block leader and detall loader (R 1206), He came to Dachau on 1 September
1930 and was there until 1 March 1943 at which time he went to Allach -
as Canp Leadsr (R 1206).

Jarolin stated that in his statevent he mentioned thn sxecution
on the rifls range of 1500 or 1700 individuals and he admitted that he ‘
atood in Prent of the firing squad and pave the ordars (R 1206), Before
coming to Dachau he had twice requested that he be released (R 1206),
bacause (o did not enjoy Adoine duty in u concentration canp (R 1207).
fle ultinately became an Obersturnfushrer in the reserves of the 8S (R 1207).
e applied for duty with a combat unit under mach caip commander (R 1207).
While at Allach he was in charge of the en tire canp md was specifically
charged with the suparvision of the punishments that were given the
prisoners (R 1207). At Dachau he was compelled to mive out the punish
ments such as beatings (R 1207). Ho was Rapnort Leader in 1940,
Intorrepation Ioader in 1941 and Third Schutshaftlagerfushrer in 1012
ER 1207)« 1In 1942 lloffman and Redwitz were the Pirst Sehutshaftlarcrfuchrers.
R 1208) The smesnd positden vomained open until Stwrmdushror Lippmann

arrived (R 1208). s had been ¢ 1led pursuant to orders to nete
out the beatings themselves (R lgg?-

‘e tylng of prisoness to the pole was discontimied at Dachau
at the end of 1941 rn orders from Derlin (R 1200), He recalled two
instanees vhon ho rocelved widess Lu swnl prufesgional CPIMLNALS Lo o)
Doctor Rascher for air corps expariments (R 1208), That was in 1941 (R 1209),
The statement in hiu affidavit that these individuals were furnished 4n
April 15L2 vas not correct (H 1209). He received order: from .oiss
to carry out official bsatings on thr basis of punishment ordars (R 1209).
Ha adnitted that as Schutzhaftlagerfushrer he Woc:asionally heat priscises
win e hand and kicked them with my featn (R 1209). He dended that
ko over imowinply bost a clergyman (R 1210), He denied that he had
ever beats: Father Stvorik (R 1210). He denied that he sver beat a 60
Jear old Cgech Jow (R 1210),

He sta“~d that thn opematerdum wae cpmstrusted in 19L1 end

19L2, that 4o the new crematoriun (R 1211). Harevor, the old crematorium
wes in existence during his whole stay at Dachau (R izn}_ He additead



Dachaw (R 1211), H--ummtmmmunpu:rmmm
on (R 1212), Thers was a prison dootor &
mwlzrﬁx;!; At the tire he pave the arders w th respect axscution
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of the 1500-1 oners he was Rapport leadsr and Interrosation Leader |
(n 1212)5. InTS“uJyF:iiuguht and Septembor 1yLk3, ha vaw Third Schulzhaftlager— !
fushrer (R 1212). In 1942 he was uot present at any executions (® 1212).

The 1500 prisoners had been exscuted in July, August md Septeaber

1941 (R 1212). Jarolin claimed thet he had made &n error 13 his pre-

trisl statemsnt as to ths date (R 1213).

fle admitted that he had beaten prisopers at the bath house upon
ordors of Commandant Piorkowsiy and that ti:m nunber was about 150, alnost
all of whom wers proféssional oriminala (R 1213).

L. Prans Yaver Treniles Tho accused Trenkle elootad to testdfy and
mide Lhe Tolloeding unmonwm abatamanti  Ha was a widowar and had four children,
He joinsd the S5 in 1932 and eas to Dachau in 1933 (R 121k). He was not
at Dachau on 1 Jasmary 19h2, but first arrived after that date in June
1943 (B 121}, 1215). Ha was there until Hovesber 1953 at widch time he

had an accident and went to the hospitol wherohe staged until March
154k (R 1215). Ha was transferred to Bergen-Belsen and returned to
pachau on © danuary LgUS (R 1215)s o wuy smb o an unbelds doball
ot Luwingen (R 1215), At the beginning of .prll 19L5 he was sent to
an outeide datail in lunich and he vas thore untll the 29th of April

Ha denfed that he beat the witness Bolf in 19LL (R 1215).
If there had bpen public beatinis he had not dono them hinsell as ne
read the pundsfment orders (R 1216). He did not remenber the instace
rolnted by Father Stvarik in which 2 man visited hin and was kicked by
him (R 1216)., He stated that he mevely took people to the crematoriunm
pary £n the execution (R 1216), lHe stated that Colonel
st he Wit mloiussa i 154 aid 13LL was Lupcosible
becauss % was in the hospital (R 1215). In his pre-trial affidavit
] to shootings that took place in lunich
should have beo: amplified %o explalin that h» had recsdved orders from

plundered after air attacks wars to be nhot {mmadintaly and that at
firat ha had refused to obey the oral order until he was told that he
would be given a written ordsr If necassary (R 1217).

His pre-trial statement that the axecutions wers directed by

Weiso or Suttrop with Redwitz was incorrect (R 1217, Pros Bx 92). Since
that time he had thought eboul 1L wel now wed sure btk Lt was vwo other

persons; (bersturmfuehrer Jung and Untersturmfushrer Premen (2 1217,
1218), Trenkls admitted that he had read over hin pre-trial affidavit
and had made several corrections (R 1210, Pros Bx 92), He admitted
?‘!‘t‘m hud added the names of Suttrop and Lippmann in his own handwritdng

L

: ~ Santa Trenklo vho wias the daughter of the accused, often saw
pﬂmnhuhm (R 1219). She never saw her father mistreat any
of then and she did see himpive then sommthing to eat (R 1219, 1220).

sv1 The sccussd tHodormeyes alected to
il ‘unavorn atataments He was 3l years of
arrd (R 1253), lla jotned the 8 in 1933 and
Dachau on 2L Yay 1934, e Mt Dachay oa 1 February 1943 mnd went
e I tl 1253). After that,he had no commection whatever with )




Fron January 1942 to May 1942, he was employed in the crematorius

and from Kay 19U2 to February 1943 he wagh

was 8t the crematorium, Bongarts was in charge (R 125L). He stated that

he was not employed in the radio room or signal offices at any tima

g‘%zﬁh). lia ¢laimed that he was never the chief of the crematordum and
during his service &t e CremATOYIUM There were never any oio-

cutd s there or in the yard of the crematorium (R 125L). He adnitted

thet he "slapped priscncrs in the face every now and thex® (R 125L).

He ceased beating prisonsrs after 1 Januar; 1942 (R 1259). He denied

that he evar took part in any exscutions (R 1255), FHe admitted that

ha had brousht Fussians to the rifls range in Movembor, 1941, but was

not present at the exscution itself (R 125b).

Whils at the crematorium, liedermeyer's duties consisted
in helpdng to burn the bodiss (R 1256). Four 5SS men and four priscners
worked there (R 1256). They worked partly days and partly nighta (R 1256).
Tha four priscaners wers Jews and they were the smme four during his entire
stay at the crematorium (R 1267). liedermayer did not know tha the
detail was changed every eight weeks (R 1257). i, denled that while
working in the crematorium he administered beatings (R 1250). He admitted
that in his pre=trial statement he had said that, as block leader, whils
in chargs of building a garage in 1939 and 1940, he had struck priscners
andl Wiab as a Tlock leade: bm had been wvrdered to participate in offisdal .
flogpinsa, 'lUs pre-trial statemsnt had been executed before he had seen
the charges in the instmt case (R 1259, Pros Ex 101).

6, Joasf Seusay The accused, Beuss, elscted to testify md made
the following unsworn statemont: Ha was married and had five children
(% 1161). e entered the Allgemeine 35 in 193¢ and weant %o Dachau in
April 1933 (R 1161). He left Dachau Decesber 1, 1542 (R 1161). During
the time he was at Dachau he was the Rapportfushrer md before that, that
J(.u until Aupust 1942, he was the detail lsader in the Detail Radolfasell

R 1162).

Seuss stated that he nover kmew ahl until they both becane
priscners together (R 1162), In his pre-trdal affidavit, the statement
that liiedermayer was present st the execution of 35 Russian prisoners
of war was mersly an assumption on his part (R 1162, Pros Ex 116).
Purthemmare, he hud errcnecusly placsd the incident in 1542, wherens it R )
sctually cocurred in wae rall of iyh2 (R 1163). He explained that he
was on a detail at thm dungeon from 1938 until May 1, 1541 (R 1163). His
atatement in that affidavit concerning an invalid transport which left
in 1942 on which he was a member to the offsct that Wagnsr was also a
guard was not baaed on his ovn Jmowledge (R 1163, Pros Bx 116). Seuss
adeitted that he had read avar his pre-tedal statemant, hné that ha was
excited at the time (R 1165, Pros Bx. 116). He stated thst his statament
to Lieutenant Lawrence that the 35 Russian prisoners of war were executed
in Mgust 1942 was not true and that he merely believed Niedermoyer was
present, but was not sure (R 1165, Pros ex 116). Nisdermeysr possibly
was in charge of the crematorius in August 1942 (R 1165). It was an order
that some of the Flook Pushrers and Rapportfushrera had to teke part
in the shootings (R 1166).

ot

T« leonhard Ansslm Eichd t The accused Elchberger slacted to
testify and made the follewing unsworn statement: He was born in 1915,
was married and had one child (R 1035, 1036). He foined the 83 on 1 April
1235 and served in the regular ammy {rem 3 Hovesber 1937 until 17 June 1941
when he was relsased (R 1036). He was then drafted into the 33 (R 1036).
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Zon vas in Aumot 194k of the 90 Musuban !
at mornin: he vas ordared by Dorandmit wmiter

Anrs 1ho wears to b exscuted (X J037)e i abe
olow: and browsdt it to Yeiter, wio

! on 8 A reporter and 1 necsusary
anm (B 1 Hia o ansted thet he be relieved from that duty
inttan woplind, WAn owier (n au order® (1 1037), Sichberrer nro-
‘testad arain and finally Yelter save hin 4 written order amd at his

: - Tedter in the future alwmw cove him an edpross order (R 1.37).
mm;mmmuuhmwmmm. Yedtor yau his or
officer (R 1037). At the mmscution of the $0 Pussiamm in jusast

rillshosc' uas nol pressnt slthough Ruppert wsa (R 1030).

Blahberpor pertiolpnted in the execution of abart 150 to 2u0
mmmmmmumms,mgmm mber of wiich
mmnmmmmmmm wk3). e
" ' ot about 17 of 31l tho:e fndividuals sxecuted in wilel he,
9} o aduitted shooting “Weulans, Pelon @ 4 Gerpans
P hanied anyvody (R lulu). e mdutved veing
: mmmwwrmmm
var, be denied that he kicked the ba: oab
} hmm#mnnmr (% 1),




8. 'l he 1lm "RZneT i ACCLNED WH i o ,
made an uneworn statement. He is 41 years old (R 1066). He hed
an electricsl mechanic (% 1087). He joimed the 38
in Dachau im 18 September 1533 (K 1067). He left Usoheu
returned 30 November 1580 and left a sscond time in 1944
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Tn 1 16044, b want tn Allash and was there until M{: :
1074}, He was at Esufbeuren from August to October, 1544 (R 1087, 10
From January 1, 1542, o lw worked in Dachau as head of the 58 .
In August 1943 upon his own request hs was transferred to Section Number

3, here b received in Ogtober 1943, & detail whioh went to ﬁml

each day (R 1068). From 3 January 1944 on he remained with the
in Garsaring (R 10a8).

..

At the laundry it was his duty to see that the priscasr's clothes
wire brought to the cleaning room in time (2 1068). The was for
the prisoners and the 58 troops (K 1068). Wagner mdmitted that it waa
possible that hw had kicked two ocung Kussians in 1942 (R 1089). Be-
seuse of tha lsud naise at the lsusdry, Wagser had to give crders ia a
loud volce (X 1068). This 104 him to grest severity, and the
might have been o rested that he was brutal (K 1060), He admitted
slapping & worker named Dolohkowki who slipped on the smooth floor
in the laundry and fell (K 1070).

He pever refusad = 'd'gur any wish which ha anuld pﬂl!m’ £ .
fulfill (= 1069). As & matter of fact, he gave the prisoners an additional §
ploce of scap which even the 68 could not get (X 1080). le admitted e
that {t was possible that he had beaten the witness Hallow outaido the
laundry (R 1068).

Wognor denled aver taking Hossiana tn tha ahanting grounde
(R 1070). 1t was not his duty becsuse he belonged to the administra-
tion and not the Sohutzhaftlsgerfushrer (£ 1070). Wagner always ob-
tained additional provisions for the prisoners as Kaufbeuren as well
as at lLandsberg and Jermering (4 Lms.

1a Garmering where priscnors wers bullding « sartain sonstrustion,
Fagner saw to it that they received an additional liter of soup at moom
and {5 cold weather, an sdditional Iiter of tea (% 1070, 1071). Be
obtained milk for the prisoners at Eaufbeuren and landaberg and chesse
for those priscpers who had worked diligently end who had the oecessary
promiun coupons (R 1071). In Germering particularly the prisoners did
not have to suffer from hunger (8 10‘?3. :

fagner axplained that his pre~trial written statement was in- ;
correct in that he was at Allach from darch 1944 to Navember 1044 and notlidS
(R 1071, 1074): It was in the summer of 1944 that he saw two prisoners
hanged at Allach not in the summer of 1543 (M 1071). At that time it
wees Hagnor'es duty %e gether the prisemsros in the sampy sa the formation
grounds (R 1072). He did this on orders from Jarolin (R 1072). The
execution detall on the two prisoners who were to be executed came from
Dachau (R 1072). Durins the execution he roped off about 10 meters
behind the gallows with several guards (¥ 1072). Wagner had to stand
in froot of the prisoners, that is the assesbled priscners, and about
10 motera aws: from the guards (& 1072),. Ho could not etate that the
reason that he was standing there was to keep the other priscners
away from the gallows (* 1078).

Anna Earhart worked as a hestess i s oantesn from the latter
part of 1943 to the early part of 1944 (% 1074, 1076). Ghe had had
vunreraations with respsol bo Food for She prisonore with Wagner whils
he was Detail leader of the work Cemp at Gormering (R 1076). Bhe
her emplojyees cocked food for those prisorers oz his detail (R
Every hard laborer reoeived extra rations (3 1078). For
roceived bread, coffes or tes with milk; for dinner, soup, =

vegetables and twice s week baked cake; and for supper, soup, sausage
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or sargarine and perhaps a piece of bread (2 1076}, Furthermore,

in the winter, they slso received an additicnal bit of tea (% 1075).
Har employoes were 36 to 80 forelgners (% 1078). Xiss SBarkart was

n civilian (R 1077). The canteen was cperated by the Dornier World

(% 1077). The prisossrs received s ration of 300 to 360 grams of
viemd por dmy (B W07T). If Wwy peifvieed homvy woirk; they seceived
sn additional 200 to 250 grams (2 1078). In the morning they recelved
about 3/4 of one liter of coffer (R 1078). At dinner they received
about 3/4 of one liter of soup (R 1078). They received 70 to 80
grams of weat (K 1078). That {ncluded the hesvy labor sddition (R 1078).
They received 3/4 of one liter of vegetables’(R 1078). At supper they
rocelved 3/4 of ome liter of soup, TO to 00 grams of , and
approxizately the same amount of margerine (5 1078). The canteen fed
betwoon three and four thousand pecple (B 1078). All were prisocners
of Nachau (& 1072).

Mra. Anna Vagner, wife, sinos divoroed, of Wilhelm Wagner,
swAtEd ner hustand wan om [furlough from L7 Augusi 1%L Lo Oolule:r

1542 (R 165%).

8. Johann Eick: The scoused, Johann Eick, elected to testify
and made ollowing unsworn statement: He was married, had one
ohild and/84 wears of sge (£ 10656), He had been a police offieial
since 1921 (R JUES). From 18£1 To 1920, ho R8O Deon I1n the Jtate
Polioe; from 1928 to 1933, a traffic policeman in Munich; from 1938
to 1945, an official Gestapo Agent in Munioh (& 1085, 1099, 1112).

He onms to Jachau in Ma: 1537 and remmined there until August 1944

(R 1085, 1088). Frow Kay 1937 until darch 1936, he was an investigator
in the Political WVepartment and at that time was appointed chief of
thd depArTESNT (N LUBH). He Peturnsd TO MRODHBUMNALYL OnN 3U Jupuary
1946 and remsiped thers until 22 Azril 1945 (R 1085). While at Dachau,
he was under the immediate uﬁ:ﬂnlnﬁ of the ceamp commandant (X 1088),
Then he returned £o the sarn the second time in 1945, he was not the
chlef of the Politicel Uepartasnt, but had the duty of registering

the prisoners (% 1066).

As chief uf the Political Uepartmsnt he did not recelve direot
orders from the State Police at Munich, but from the camp o ormander
(R 1088, 1067). The state police would make its reguest to the omap
commander who fn turn would order Kick to sxecute the request (R 1087).
8o far as the state police office in lunich was ooncerned, d'sciplinary
And economic casés.were To bo Landled on Orders Irdm the Jtate Folice
in Kunich (R 1067). If FKiok had violuted any such orders, he would
have been punished by that office (R 1087). The chief of the State
Police did not give ordera to the onmp commander but coly made re-
Juosts since thay both had the sa=m rank (3 1087).

As polltionl lesder at Yachau, Eick was mesponsible ror the
registration of prisomers, malntenance of [iles, correspondence about
prisonora with other authoritiens and théeir familiea, and for the
relosse of priscners (¥ 10856). le had nothing to do with the billst,

supplies, or genoral trestzent of the priscmers (& 1088).

¥ick knew that sxesutions seourred at Dacheu and that they had
been ordered by the feich Sain cesurity (fflce of the 3% Heich lesder
himself (K 10686). Hont of the time the prisoners arrived with the
exeoution ordor (& 1066), or the order arrived shortly before the

pﬂlﬁnr 4t (% 1089). Thess prisonsrs were executed at the concen-

of the order of the Melioh Main Office or the

Ralch Leader (4 1069). Kick prepared the execution order fors for

‘the ocmmandant's signature (B 108%). The form consisted of an order

‘to the Sohutshaltlagerfushror to perform the execution (R 1009).

Oy gD 1 s
After the exesution, the form was returoed to Kick as o roport that
i exacution had scourred (A 1050). ds in Surn notified the Heloh




Main Security Uffice or deosrtsent which had sent the priscnmer thore
(R 1089). Thirty or forty orders of sxeoution passed over hia desk
betwoen Jasuary 1942 and August 1544 (8 1086). EHe admitted that a
request for an exscution cmco made by the investization officer would
be transmitted to the camp commmsoder who would epprove that request
(R 1068, WGT). Fiok edeittad that svery srecution request that was
initiated by Uschau was countersigmed by him (8 1112). Kick sdmittod
that thess exocutions were not sentances of & court but admimistrative
detarmimations of the highest police mgency of the Eeich (B 1112).
that the camp commmapder Weiss would initial such requests
with a "F* (B 1007).

sll his setivition ae politicsl chief, he waz never
ot an axocution (2 1090). Doctor Wittsler's statemsnt that Kiekwas at an
exscution must hawe been & mistake. (R1000) Kick pever requested an
exsoutiocn (R 1090). In svery cese he trisd to changs the positiom of the
aq:t_nbrlhn agreed in two or three instances (R 1091). But if
the roguwst was refused, Flek had se sntharits ta shangs the regoest
himself (X 1091). Kick could not provent the exscuticn of the Heioh
Security Office orders (R 1092). There wers no court sentances but
these wetters through administration chanmels (R 1002). Kick said,
"I bad to assume that they (the orders) were correet, because they came
frem the highest police sutherity of the Reich, which as far as I knew
was grastsd certain sutherity by the govermment itealf and thasa ardars
wore handed down beceause of such grave offensss, as it was stated that
to the laws of war they were punishable by the death "
(R 1008). Kick sever handled those maiters under Weiss (¥ 1008). Be
stated that the regulation with reapect tnmﬂmmw-ﬂ“
his statemont which he had previously smde in his pretrial affidsvit was
incorreet bocause since he pad writtes that, "Fe had more time to think
about it" (K 1088). He alsc admitted that he had talked it over with
Weiss and Suttron sinoe tho time he made the statement (% 1008).

The exscution decrees of the feich Main Security (ffice wers made
mthmhatthmnqrth-mmm-nﬂﬂ-m
camy (% 1301)}> The order of cavoution wsed Lo the enmp

Fobruar, mmm-mwthcunnhrnrlwrilml. The
mtnﬁmdthllinhldnhm:ﬂt Office was directly transferred
to the Schutshaftlsgsrfushrer (R 1102). !m,uum.rrmm

by Kick aftar he had been given that job by Weiter (R 1102). Kiok ad-

uﬂmm;pmadmnmnwmmm
- reqapet the camp commmader to havs an sEsewilen perferwed, that
the commander spproved that by fnitialling it (& 1108). However, Felse
did not do that and his statement was incorrect in that he had not
remembered all the dates (K 1102). FKick admitted that Lf be beliaved
lmunru!?nprhuﬂdtr?hmhﬂ
talkirs to aim (% 1104), and he adeitted that b did {(nf

uq-mhr to chauge his deslsivn s suabesr uf Sisee (¥ llﬂ}- e
mtmuunumm-pmnhmhmlnmu
the commander had disagreed with him with respect o ane mseution
(4 1108, 1108). Howewer, Kick adeitted making & cantrary statement
in his srittsn pretrial statement (2 1106).

Eick cumiusted the lulesrrogmtions of the prisccers wikhouk
sxarting an. (orce and their statsssnts were sent without alkterstion
to the redueating agency (R l088),

The assertion that prisponers that Kick had {mterrogated had
their fingsrnails and tosnails pulled sutl caused Kick to rewark,

who hml we sb wll bas Lo lsugh about this sccusation” (R 1083).
Elok categori denied that he evor best any person, especiallyat
h-hu{l‘-!ﬂll}. Lchl.-dththhd“rhﬂmqﬂﬁ-
ment during an interrogation and that all such interrogations were done
io the office of the Political Department which was outside of the cemp

— ’t -




Lr " - dnte! rogation reports were sont to the requesting suthority

thout o e (R D4 t{?‘“m'l” muﬁhtitm possible that
priscnsrs whon be had quasticied ware kaot apurt ms 1t wes the ouston
el Do i vt e bt e vt waghody
ﬁhﬁ ,nﬁlﬂ: ‘He denied that he had ever senl snybody
“‘W,m.' . m’-ﬂ i‘ﬂll o imatter wf Faut wlille he was whief of
the Polition) Department he never knew that it existed (K 1006). Wuring

the year 1944, hs had interrogatsd many Russians (R 1099). He did not
know of & commission which had beon sent to Pachau to find out how many
olergymen had disd (R 1085).

Wik respeul Lo Ube dlovalld Lrsospust 1leat, Hilek merely aub-
divided the 1ist that had already besn prepared by the physiocisns
(R 1051). He did not selest them (R 1084). He denied that he had been
& member of a commisslou which selected prisconers for invalid transporte
(R 1088). The paopls on these transports did not all actually go out
bacause goms died in the meantime, sove ware releaged, aud io some
oason, permlesiui was graubed t6 Gives Lhe neees wl sums Indlividusla
off the liat (B 1081). Kiok hsd no suthority to orces off anyone'n
name (R 1062).

He admitted that in 1845 he had been handed a list of 1000
names by Plorkowsky of people who were sick and who would be brought
v ma luvalld home (B 1300). lh_ slated Lhel e oculy loaroed Islog
that they were actually gassed (% 1107). Us denied stating to Lieutenant
Guth that Florkewaky had told him that this llst of sick people were to
be gassod (X 1108). He admitted that Piaorkowsky had told him to selact
100 to 120 names from the roster of 1000 so that these people would be
put on a shipment in the near Puturs (& 1109). Kick mdmitted that as
those pesople liad Leon shipped ovut thelr papers fodloated that they had
died in Daohau (i 1110). Klok stated that he received another list
from Camp Commander Welss with six or seven hundred names and that he
received that 1iat in 1942, although his statement to ldeutenant Uuth was
that he had received 1t 1n 1943 (R 1110). BHe denied thet Weiss ex-
plained to him that thess invalids would be brought to a camp or enother
luslalimblon o e gassed (4 1110). Elok mdmlttsd that he had mnuos m
statement to Lisutepant Guth that he had sucosedsd In saving some men
of the six or seven hundred by telling Piorkowsky and Weiss that these
men were not satisfactory (R 1111). Kick admitted that in faot he had
saved some men (H 1112). Kok explainnd that his statement of & November

was insorrect im that he had made certain errors with respect to the
dates (It 1110). lo reslized oow thst the reyuwst for exscubions

could enly have beon made in 1944 and furthermors that on the basis of
the death lists that second transports must have coocurred at or before
Ostober 1542 (R 1115).

Klok knew nothing of & tranaport in October 1948 (R 1116). He
BRlD TOAT N1B STATEMSOT WiTH I'G8pa0T TO BAMWITE De1Ng AT UaohAau under
Piorkowsky is not oorrect (R 1116), He admitted that he had stated in
his written statement that if the commandant had not liscened to his
protests be would then protest to the Gestapo but that sucha protest
would have been useless (R 1118).

Eick was errested on May 8, 1945 and was &% Daghau until 16

May (% 1119), During that time he was beaten all during the day and
night and had to stand at attention for hours, had to kneel down on
round or l?'-llrl cbjects, had to stand under & lamp and look into it
for hours (R 1118). He was beaten with whips, rille butts, platol
butts, hands end fists (R 1120). Thus when Lieutensnt Guth called
him in he feared that 1" ho refused to slgn the statement he would be
subjected to similar treatment (R 1120). Xick admitted that Guth did
not beat or threaten him in any way st any time (R 1120). Kick stated

that he had told Lioubenant Guth that the testimony did not agree with
‘his own tostimony (% 1121). A pretrisl statement executed by Kiok




in his own handwriting whieh had been sworn to befors Captain Alfred
L. Gaut, Joveatigator-Examiner, WCIT 6B28, on § Hovembesr 1540 was
admitted into evidenoce (R1114 Def Ex 17). It reads in translation
in pertinent part as follows:

"!-l‘-,r nams ls Jehann Jeerp XIOK, Rarn 24 November 1001 in Waldau.
Thin statement is in addition to two statements whioh I made earlier.
I wish to olarify my poeition which I held in the Concentration Camp
Ugohau, As chief of the politioal department of the Camp I was in
charge of the safekeeping of the records of the prisonsrs, with the
exception of the records of m few prominent prisonsrs which were kept
by & rejresoutative of the Coumand Pont; 58 VoboraturmPuohror (2nd L)
STIELER. I made a record of the personnel whichwas working for me
between 1 January 1642 until August 1844 on another piece of paper,
which was signed and maried exhibit 4 by me personally.

"Ihers wers 3 different clusses of priscmers in Dmochau: 1) penal
wunganios, II} roegular priscnorey s) promlnend pricsnero (o0 eallsd
Sonderhaftlinge).

"About the end of 1942 the penal company was dissolved. 1 do not
remember the exact date on whioh that happensd. The prisonmers in the
penal campany were 1) political prisoners who had been arrested for
the socund tlwe eud £} prisuners who had beceme liablo to puniochmant
in the ommp.

"At the same time there existed different cmmp punishmests, for
instanse 5-26 licks with stick, withholding of supplementary rations fer
1 to & weeks, standing ae punishment for about 2 or 8 hours, and pro-
hivltiva Crwm wilblogs Oluve abuub 1541 punltlve beablogs were por-
mitted only with the approval of the Gruppenfushrer (Brig.Gen.)

GLUCE or his representstive Obersturmbannfushrer (Lt.Col.) LIEBEHENSOHEL
later HOESS, later WEISS and were performad only after investigetlon

by the ommp doctor. The order whioh was signed by the above men-
tioned persons finnlly hed m note about the execution added and was

inporporated in the flles of the prisooer pumwersed, I du wob wank
to imply that no corporal punishment took place without the approval
of the above mentionsd persons, although I am not familiar with eny
sush cade.

"I should like to clarify how the records of the prisonars were
TECE1VED BROO KPpt. "nen B [ETSON WAE Wrreptsd yy Yhe Sestepu aud
was to be sent to the Concentration Camp, he stayed in the police
Rriaun. until the investigation of his violation had been completed.
ith every prisoner, a fils was brought in containing the order
confining him in protective custody or, in case of ¢riminal prisonsrs,

the Verbeugungshaftanordoung (order for imprisomment to prevent
TUrtner erimss), And AN @XGIACT Of The oriminel iovesLlgsailug es well

as a form which was divided into 3 parts each of which would be used

us certifioate of transfer for the Helchsicherheitshauptamt (Heicha-
2hief-Socurity-0ffice) and for the state police office that did the
turning over., To this file we attached a sheet comtaining personal
information about the prisonsr. Thase personal records were received
by prisonsrs spacially astailed for that job under the supervisiud

of 8§ Hauptscharfushrer (lst Sgt.) THULKE or of Rottenfushrer (Corporal)
SCHMIDT.

"ie kept three different files for the priscners. One was in
my office as I have mentionsd before, the second inm the labor distribu-
tion office (Arbeitseinsatz) and the third was kept Dy the prisoners
themselves, 5o that we could find out in which block the prisoner
wans billeted and on which labor dotail he wam working. The last twp
f1los contalned only the name, number, birthdate and profession of
the prisoner.




KICK, Jehanmn Chief of the Department Membera

HUTZLER Adam Criminal Jecretary, Interrogation of the
ERNST Wally Clerk Gestapo
GEIGENSCHEDER Nidolaus Hauptsscharfushrer lst Sgt. Hesord's OFfice
HLAPP Hauptsoharfushrer Lat Sgt. Record's Office
BEY Uplorsvhorfuehrer dgt. hevord's Offlce
URFELS Klaus Unterscharfuehrar Sgt. Offion
PREISS Unterscharfuehrer Sgt. Office
BLUM Oboracharfuehrer T-Sgt. 0ff'10e
THULKE Hauptscharfushrer lst Sgt. Beception Office
SOEMIDT Rottanfuehrer Corporal  Reception Offioce
HAFPL Karl Unterssharfushrer dgl. lmuord*'s UCflue

The above 10 men were members of the C ommand Group .
(Yaf Ex No. 17)

Max Kronfeldner, who waas in Dachau from Cobober 1637 to Juns
1943 knew the mocused Kick who was m politionl officer (K 1063, 1084).
Eronfeldnsr had been operated upon and requested Fick to have him re-
:uuad %R 1084). Becmuse of Kick's motions hs was relemsed in 1942
R 1084) .

Johann Kick was believed to be a 100 per ocent Nmzi, but "in
rormal Things, ne was Mot brutal to the priscners” (K wen). iWnenever
the special prisonars had visitors, they met them in Kick's room and
were permitted to stay about one hour and bring packages (£ 1003, 1004).

Kick stated that his pretrial statement had been dictated by
the interrogating officer, Lieutenant Guth (R 1117). He did mdmit that
he signad end swore to those statements as being the truth (M 1117).

10. DPootor Frit: Hintermayer: The acoused, Dootor Hinter-
mayer olected To teatily nnd made the following unsworn statement:
Ho was 34 years old, married and had four ohildren (R 1624). He
Joined the 53 in 1089, and wus with a combat unit until 1944 (R 1824).
He received a concussion of the brain on the fussian front, was
afflioted with 3t. Vitus Dance, nnd has suffered recurring attacks,
having had one during the trial (R 1824, 1626, 1626, 1667). He had
been beaten after mpprehension by the American suthorities (R 1627,
%sna). ]Ha has difficulties in thinking and constant headaches
R 1827).

Uooter Hintermaver ia not a registered dootor becauss he did
not finish his thesis (K 1627). He came to Dachau in March 1944 under
Dostor Witteler (R 1628). s was troop doetor several wesks and then
beomme second doctor to Witteler (R 1628). He succeedsd him ms head
dootor 4n Ootober 1044 (R 1620). When he arrived, the population of
Dachau knd 1ts by camps was 32,000 (R 1628). This increassd so that
%n lpri)l 1846 there were 66,000 primoners in Pachau and out-camps

R.1628).

Dootor Hintermayer did not believe he was qualified as a
dootor (R 1629). He reported this to his commander but there was
no substitute for him and he had to stay on (R 1630). The cump
phiyaician was responsitle for sanitation, and suparvision over the
dostors in the by ocamp (R 1830).

Whon he firet ocame, hygienio conditions at Dachau were im-
poasible and he complained to the commandant (R 1630, 1657). Wew
transports were arriving continuously (R 1631). Most new arrivals
were siok and many wers dead (R 1652). The camp was overorcwded and
on hin mﬁmﬂ he was told that Berlin had ordersd ths over-
orowding (i 1851). A typhotd epidemie broke out in November 1844
and lasted to December (R 1631 - 1632). He fought the epidemic by
quarantine. by disinfection and by immunization (R1832). The delousing




station was insufficient (R 1631). Typhold killea oniy very sew \a ,
In December 1944 a typhus epidemic started (K 1635, 1643). All the in-
mates and 55 men had been vacoinsted in the fall of 1944 (R 1646). The
vaoolne had a harmful effect because lnnoculation in the Incubation
periocd increassd the severity of the diseass (R 1847). Theare were

20,000 to 30,000 cases of which 10% died (R 1633). In January the
death rate was about 40 per day and about 4 55 men died in thav momth
(R 1844). The greatest number of cases at one time was approximately
1200 (R 1636). At first & slept in two beds, but later only ome
infeotious patient slept in emch bed (R 16356). The typhus had been
brought to the oamp by pew inmates on the transports {E 1635). There
was insufficient medicine and equipment and Ucotor Hintermayer constanmtly
demandsd drugs but did not get any (K 1684, 1638). The medical dumps st
Munioh mnd Uaohau and at the 85 hospital were not avallable since nse
of these sources had been atrictly prohibited (R 1634, 1646). Hintermayer
inoreased the nursery and disinfection perscnnel (R 1634). There were
about 120 deaths per day (R 1635). There was insufficient hospital
apaca and Hintermayer convertsd three to four barracks to alleviate the
situation (R 1636). He proposed the erection of a sick ommp, but this
was rejected because materials could not be obtained (R 1887, 1888).
A delousing station was brought to Dachau in January 1845 and was in
operation in January 1945 (R 1649). Hintermayer denied that it was
under his zupervision (R 1649), although he signed requisitions for
nanmanary suppling (R 1861). The spddemic was stlll ragl whan the
Americans cams (R 1636). Dr, Hintermayer denled that Dr. Blaha had
suggested that the camp be quarantined and denied that he told Dr.
Blaha that to do so would be to sabotage the war effort (R 1643),

In April 1945, there were 880 tuberculcsis patients (1 1637).
Houring conditions for themwere poor and no additional space was
available (R 1837, 1838).

In January 1945, the feich Security Uffice ordered the exscu-
tion of two pregnant Huspian women and Commandant Weiter ordered
Hintermayer to kill them by injeotions which he did with evipanatrium
in the arm{H 1840). Tha affant wan they went te slesp in about ten
minutes without mny pain, but the injection did not kill the women,
for he saw them later lying in the crematory with shots in their heada
(R 16%8). He did not shoot them (K 1640).

Doctor Hintermayer waa not present at the sxecution of the
00 Husslans in Raptambar 1044 it a Nector Sohmidt was (R 1640).
In April 1045 Dootor dintermayer transferred patients in the
peyohintric ward to Allach (R 1641). fHe did not kill these persons
or any other by injeotion (K 1641, 1642). He attended ten sxecutions
as a physician only to take care of the inquest (R 1842).

In March 1046, hyglenle supervision En-ud tn & hyglenie
laboratory under the control of a Or, Weber (R 1850).

11, Dootor Wilhelm Witteler: The scoused, Doctor Witteler,
eledted to testily and made the following unsworn atatement: [s was

36 years old, married, and had two children. He joined the Waffen 33
in 1998 (R 1206). Ho served mt the 55 hespital im Unehsu in 1838 (R 1207).

He wan transferred to a ocombat unit and gerved om the [ronts wntil 1
January 1944 when he came to Yachau as head physician (R 1208). Te
held that position until 20 August 1944 (¥ 1289, 1304).

Dootor Witteler was in charge of medical care, nyglenio
vonditions, [vwvd and disease provention of the prisonars of Dachau
and its subcamps. He had 26 prison dootors and 200 male nurses and
assistants (R 1260). Be restrioted the use of prison doctors solel; to
medical work (R 1290), There were 28,000 prisoners in Dachau and the
20 out-ommps (R 1280, 1265). Llater he estimated that there were
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_ sonars (7 1307). There wers -uﬂtmm-. latrines '
' Anmaton, but there were 18,000 prisonsrs (R 1291, 1307).
 WAtAT 4¥d meh, cun beoauss of lack of pressure (& 1291, 1809).
Thus ﬂ-t- was & danger of epidemios (X 1281). wum-r told the
hﬂm (% 1281). 4 new installstion was set up which inoreased
gure and rvlioved the diffioult)y (& 12:“} Wiittalar inoreased

'dn disinfeotion detail from 16 to 40 prisoners whose duty it was to
ohook the hyglenic conditiona in the cimp (R 1291)., There were mo
i-g!dlﬂnl while he was therw (& 1291, 1202). Thore wers 600 in a

block snd 400 beds and 10 to 12 latrioe stools (R 1310). Witteler
pratested about this condition (R 1510). The camp was overorowded

(8 1311). M= wrranged to conneat the hospital barracks by peasage-
ways and to install shownrs in thp hoepital (R 1283). He opemed wp
A #e elinle, inatallod heat and running water in the massage station
and hot water in the operation room (B 1283). Thore were 1500 to 1700
prisoper patients in the hoapitml and 80 to 80 deaths in the o
monthl, (R 1814, 1262, 1283). This number is exolusive of those who
diwd on transports and from eir reids i 1316). The deaths were uaused
by pneunonia, tuberculosis, old mge and internal diseases (R 1313).
kach patient had his own bed (R 129G), There were about 450 tubercular
cases (& 1312). Many prisoners suffered from mslnutrition, perticularly
pow iznates, but the first cases of death dus to starwvation ocourrad
at, Allach in the summer of 1944 (R 1318). There were 6 blocks in the
FROBRU HOSPATAL wnioh e vislted omece a woek (4 1¥16). During his tenure
at Unchsu five or six transports arrived (R 1204). These came ip Juns
and July 1944, Ome wao a French transport which had 498 dead out of
2,000 prisoners (K 1204). The 496 died of suffocation AR 1296). He
informed the commandant of this fact (R 1295). The conditions inths
‘g:gim were not orowded (4 1296). Witteler visited the outaide ommps

¥ o woeks.

Dootior Wittelor had never worked withDootor Sohilling (R 1300).
The maleria station was in operation when fitteler arrived at DUschau
(R 1308). He denjed that he wax informed that requosts for inmates for
the malaris iments wore approved (E 1305). He had nothing to do
With the 1 (& 1306).

nm Wittoler denled that skin which had been taken from the
@' was used to make handbegs (R 1511, 1312, 1324). Dootor
lﬁ!‘ dgd all death certificates which stated the causes of death
(B, 1337). donied ttnt: l.ny deaths ocourred at the hospital as »
reauit w Flﬂ?llll Qﬂ + There were 12 insane npg-
i I itteler olaimed they were m thﬂ and

® whon h ltﬂi (R 1321).

Ygotor Witteler had a wkull on his desk (R 1312), He cbtatned

opionl drlp-lrhint in Dachau (B1323). Doetor Witteler
in two executions, im that he had been ordered

Doctor Witteler was brought buck to Uachau for this trial on 4
1945 | '. ' 2; At that time, he was taken to ldeutenant Guth
rrogatec -%‘F 1207). Doctor Wittelsr was deprived of lnat%m
* Jong and waa lunterrogated by Lisutenant Outh until 14130
Puring his interrogation, lieutenant Guth turned
d at hil. would not let him 'l*.llk. ﬂuld,




12. Johann Bichelsdorfer.

The accused, Eichelsdorfer elected to testify and made the
following unaworn statement: He was 55 years old, had a wife and
three children. He was never a member of the 58 or Nazi Party
(R 235L)« Mo woeuw a meaber of the German arsy in Nowambhar 1040
and came to Dachau on 19 June 1544 (R 1352, 1353). He was sent to
& work casp at Augsbterg (R 1¥3). In August 154 he went to Kaufer-
ing. le took over Kaufering MNumber § in October, then Kaufering
hmber 7, and on 12 January 1945, Kaufering Number L (R 1353).

Caxzp Number L had 1429 inmates at that time {Hlﬁ?;. This orew
Lo OWYr 2900 by Qe ewd of Apeil 1047 (R 137, 1368).

Kaufering Number L was guarantined at the time and
Eichelsdorfer was not percitted to enter the camp (R 1354) . However,
he did enter the camp twice (R 1367). His only duty at the camp was

to post the guard (R 1354). He was commander of the 3) guards only,
not of the casp (R 1X1). Wen he took over, he had besn told, W¥au

have to give no onders. The casp is under Hauptsturmfuehrer Dector
Hlanke." (R 1362, 1368). Dr. Blanks was responsible for the camp

(R 1355, 1357). Mo prisoner wap permitted to leave the camp (R 1355).
Food and fuel were brought to the gates (It 1355). At a later date a
few who ware well were permitiad to go out to collect some
wood(R 1355, 1396). Mo never tock a detail out himeelf (R 1357).
Eichelsdorfer made a report to Dachau in which he described the con-
ditiona which prevailed at Camp Number L (R 1358, 1362). Richdsdorfer
also mads monthly sbout the camp (R 1365, 1349, Pros Ex 129).
In one report he statad there was sufficient food and that the
quarters were light, well aired and clean (1 1356). Eichelsdorfer
aXplained tnat thesw slelemente had Leen made %o him by the prisomer
physician (R 1366). Eichelsdorfer denied that he ever beat a prisoner

Eicheladarfer did not know the death rate at Kaufering at
any time (R 1359). He never admitted to amyone he know the death
average, and he did not knos Doctor Pried (R 1)50). BRichelsdarfer
did not know the true physical condition of prisoners in Ea

ufering
Number i at any time (R 1369). The food became warse and Eicheladarfer
reparted it to Dachau (i 1362).

Mrs. Nose Rufert stated she has knom EBichelsdorfer since
174l when he ms at Yaufering Camp Nusber 2, L, and 7 (R 1370). She
visited sach camp eight or ten times and never saw his mistreat any-
body (R 1371). When she asked questicns about him, the priscners
spoxa wmall of him (R L3/U). &he never ssw blw variy & rifie or o
stick (R 1371). BRichelsdorfer tried to improve the food for the
Jewish girls in his home (R 1372, 1373).

¥rs. Rufert never heard that Eichelsdorfer beat anyone to
death. 5She only saw Eichelsdorfer in his 1ittle home where he also
had his office (R 1373). BEichelsdorfer was never reported tc ler as
a bsater and once he bandaged a wan who had teen wounded (R 137L).

13. Otto Foerschnar:

The accused Foerschner made the following unsworn statement:
He was LY years old, married, and had taree cnildren (n 1300). fe had
bean 4 professional scldier since 1922 (R 1389). In 193 Foerschner
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m the Waffen 55 (R 1380). He saw combat duty in the East until

smber 1941 and was sent to the hospital from which he went to
Buchenwald where he remainsd from January 1742 to Septemer 1943
(R 1390). From thare he went to Nordhausen where he -t “ed until
Janvary 1745 when he want to Kaufering where nhe remei - “wiil 27
Aprid aFho (i 1390, L394). |

Foulgcnudse was @ camp sader of une Kaufering camps of which
thare were 7 1t first, and late= 9 (R 1391). Four of the camps
were closed becaise of typhus (R 1397). He received weekiy reports
from all she camps (R 1399). His hpadquarters were at Camp Number 1
(R 1391)+ Theus he punished the women by lobbting them stand a helf
day on the formation sround and by taking away their food for one
day (R 1391). This was prescribed by Commandant Weiter of Dachau
and Fosrschner himself was not auuhorised LO Luposs PUOLSMNHkLLE
(& 1372). No exacutions wore performed (R 1392), Foarschner knew
about Kaufering Number L as an isolation camp but he was not per-
fdbbed tu euber It (M 1P8)s Tic head no authority whatacever over
the camp (R 1395). He knew the death rats was 100 to 150 weekly
(R 1lp1) and it increased to over 200 (R 1402). Foerschner infarmed
the camp commandant of the type of barracks the sick at Camp Humbar
l; were housed in and requested they te transferred (R 1393). The
comrandant replied that it was purely a matter for the doctor (R 1393).
. Fowrschner senl a repurb sbuul the cemp‘s poor conditien te Berlin.
A3 a result a compission under Colonel Lollen of the Medical Depart-
ment was send down (R 1393), The commission came to landsberg and
Foergchnor showed the comnission the bed living conditions at Camps
1 and 2 and was promised that sick prisoners would be transferred
(R 1394, 1400). The opposite happened when more sick prisoners
?ﬁri;ﬂ) {n 1384, 1L02)« Wolbe' wdered evacuablen eon 24 ox 27 Aprild

Dr. Blanks was in charge of the evacuatlon at Kaufering Number
i (R 1395). At this time, Foerschner was insured by & mine and was
hospitalized (k 1395). He suffered & brain von~ussion and loss of his
right sye (R 1395)« Jeveral camps wore buined by the O.T. en the
night of 26-27 April (R 13€). When Canp Number 1 wes evacuated he
dd not hsar any shooting (R 1397).

Foarsohnsr denied that he killed an inmate by beating him with

. an iron plpe, that he ever beat any prisonors, and that he ever killed
Al 1MMATE DY hitting him, lun e teed with a stoue (R 106). ALY
campe were surrounded by barbed wire which were not electrified (R
1397). Fosrsciner knew Tempel who was Rappertfushrer at Camp Number
1 (R 1397). The acoused Schosttl was at Kaufering Camp Udek, about 5
kilometers from Number 1, all of March 1945 and he had speclal duty
training a company for front line duty (R 1399). Toerschner saw him
thare avery oay (R 1397).

Foerschner did not go along with the commission everywhere they
went and they only visited Ksufering Mumber 1 ard 2 (R 1400). Although
Poerschner knew conditions were terribla, he did not remedy them on
his own responsibility (R 1L01). The weekly death rate at Kaufering
Pumber 1 was bevwesn 100 and 150 and hlgher when he left (R 1101).
This increase was on account of the typhus epidemic (R 1L02). ,

14« Doctor Kurt Elsele

The acoused, Doctor Kisele, olected to testify and made
the following unsworn statemsnt: He mus 33 years old, warried, and
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the {a her of three children. He was drafted into the Waffen 535 in
1540 (R 1483, 148h). Doctor Eisele was a troop physician and in
1943 went to Buchenwald. e had front line duty in 15k on the
Tussian front (R 1BlL, 1485). He first came to Dachau at the end
of February 1945 and stayed there until the end, being in charge of
the Su~glcal Department in the prisvoers' huspllal whore Ducbor
Hintermayer was in charge (R lhg,:}:)- His patients suffered from
undernourishment and primarily chest infections (R 1186).

s and medicine were scar¢e and ncne could be gotten
(R 1L85). BEisele's only afforts to cbtain drugs were to go dally
TO ThO Prison Arugglat And ask for the necessary llewms (N L9, 1L72).
There was a typhus epidemic which Dr. Hintermayer told him was
ebbing, but there were many deaths (R 1L85, 5)« Poople ware in
bed in two's and threa's. le presumed the sanitary conditions were
ingufficient. Othermiae the typhus would not have aspread (R 1L87).
The samtary and hygienic conditions were not under his supsrivision.
The health of the prisuoners was Dr. Hinltermyer's vespunslbllity

(R 1487).

Dr. Cisele inspected 3 camps at Muhldorf and informed Hinter-
mayer of the conditiona (R 1480, 1492). He went a second time to
see il any improvements had been made. Since nothing had been done
ne complained to two Qrganlsellon Tudb physlolane and then to Oenesal
Tscherasik who later said, "Well, the war will be over in four weeks.M
( 1488). Doctor Eisele was ordered by the camp commandant to
attend executions to deterrine death (R 1489). He attendsad three
and had no authority to stop them (R 1LE%).

Dr. Eisels denied the statersnt of witness Selbold that he
attanded eight between October 154k and January 1945 because he was
not even at Dachau at that time ER 1489). He never attended execu-
tions prior to 20 February 15L5 (R 14%0).

At one of the “uhldorfl campa, langleist was the representative
of Uomranaant yeiter (M 1473). Uoctor Zisels wenl oo an luspeullun
tour with Weiss because he had a car (R L:%4). He performed mastoid
operations from which noboedy diad (R 149L).

15, Doctor Kurt flaus Schilling.

Tie Boocusnd Doctor sunlllilug slscled Lo Lesblfy aml usds
the following unswarn statement: la was 7l years old, married, had
one son, and was a physician. e had apecialized in troplcal diseases,
particularly malaria, sinee 1898 (R 1490, 1500). Dr. Schilling stud=-
ied under Professor Koch of Berlin, and graduated from Munich as a
vhysician in 1824 (R 1498). He did research work in Africa an
lmlaria, sleeping Sickness, and tsetse {1y dlseasws (R AT, 1u90).
Dr. 5chilling worked for the Tockefeller Foundation in Berlin, re-
celving a grant in 1911 for the study of various diseases and for a
trip to Rome (2 1459, 1500, Def ex 19). In December 1941 in Italy
Dr. Schilling ret Dr. Conti, ths Reich physician leader, who invited
him to see Himler (R 1500, 1501, 1508). Schilling went to Himmler
Who Zave nim the order Ior him to continue his.studlew «l Daclau
(7 1502). Schilling had selscted Dachau because it was near his
birthplace (it 1568-1569), The question of using oners for exper-
iments was not discussed (R 1502). In January 1942 Schilling went to
Dachau (R 1502). Schilling only accepted this commission at Dachau
because the Isague of Nations, of which he was a member, told him of
the importance of curing the geventean million known cages of malurla.
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il ﬁ Bohs "‘ai‘gfnhd,thmdrp{sgﬂmsuthm
' n Tertian® shich 1 not fatal (R 1503). The purpose Ior this
12 to find & vaccination asainat malaria and today there is no

nation a@inst mlarin excapt the cne discovered by Schilling

(R 1503). DOr, Bchilling used mosquitoss and blood transfusions to
ﬁuﬁﬂﬁ mtisnts and received patisnts almady infected (R 1303,
150LY. The patients were divided intoc groups amd were constantly
Watehed, ous group for the purpose of keeping up the strain and
snother for immnization purposes (R 1503, ). The latter were
injected repeatedly to step up thelr immnity (R 1506). Schilling
ro-infected about LOO to 500 patisnts and used quinine, atabrine, and
moo-salvarsan, and & ¢ §2515 which made the patients immune; to
prove this he had to test by infecting them again (R 1507).

Dr. Schillisg corld nat work with animals because they are not
recoptive Lo malaris and nen are used throughout the world-(R 1507).
He aspumed that Admiral Stipp and Mark Boyd, two malaria authorities,
used humsay in their exporiments (R 1508). Infectad ralaria has
haan vaad to cure paralvsis (R 1508).

. Only aboud feur or five of the patients refused to be immnized,
but they consented after Schilling explained the importmce of the
work (R 1509). 'The selactions of e patisnts were made as follows:
Berlin allowed him thirty patients a month and ha would requisition
them through the cmmp physician row the commandant who contacted the
laber leadar (R 1810), The latter selected healthy prisoners and

ing's asslstdanta chose the final names and sent them to Berlin,
where the sslection was approved (R 1509, 1510). These patients
wore carafuolly inspscted and could not be refused by Sehilling by arder
of Himmler (R 1511

msﬁ? S arkin mlﬁwmﬁumﬁﬁu

«» Ho used pyramidon to lower .

drug has a bad .zmﬁ:m blood ¢erpuscles (R 1513, 151L). He used
this drug only 4n 13 cusos and Pousmd that two grams were not harmful.
This was important so the body could react without fever (2 1515).
Molody Alad from oyrasdtdon (R 1515). Malaria has been used to curs

. syphilliis and nso-salvarsan can destroy parasites in a fever (R 1519).

Dr. Schilling never dealt with Dr. Hlalia on any autopsies invalving
neo-sslvarsan polsoning. Discharged patients were told to report back
Af they Mit sick (R 1514). Feriodic checks were made of them and any
patiant sma eacalund Yack (f thers were siena of relapse (R 1517).

If Sehilling wers asked to resurs his work, he would do so only on
volunteers (0 1518) .

Dr. Schilling was withdrawn as a witpess, at this point, but
resumed the stand later and testified as followar In death through
ven-salwvarsan a1l Argans are affeated (R 15368). ood cells may die,
tut nothing 1ike this happened in his cases (R 1534, 1037). It is
impossibls to determine death by mmlaria by a mere autopsy without &
microscope, sarsgially whore there may be other complications (R 1537).
Pyramidon is rarely the cause of death (R'1537).

Dur af tha 1M peaple infected by Dr. ﬂnhﬂﬂq&ﬂbh_. malaria, not
a single ane of then disad of uncomplicated malaria (R 1538).
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Welght of the patients during axperimenta lncvesased. Additional
food was given and pecple suflering frov contaglous diseise would be
isolated (R 1539). Dr. Schilling never stated the wrong cause of
death (R 15%).

Dr. Bohilliap mtuted e oouldn 'l swparinent on himsell keeause
he had had malaria in 1973 and men 1ike him cannot be reinfected in
most cases although malaria is a recurring disease (R 1511). If
there 1s chronic walaria, the Hearf muscles will suffer as in all
chronic diseases (3 1543). !alaria will incresse the watery sub-
gtance in tha blood and the brain will suffer under chronit malaria
(R 15LL) . Chronis malarlawlll wealen the bedy te malio Lt avsespiible
to other diseases and one may die of another disease while naving
maiaraa (n Loho) . Sehiliing had 53 gocvors heugdog him and examined
all patbnts personally and supervised Lhe records (R 1546). Schilling
recognised Prosacution's Dxhibit 131 which stated that 19 cases were
treated with pyramidon, thres of whom died (R 15L7). He declared
thoede patiswts wore sufforing Lrom tiphus and were romeved Prop the
ward (R 1547, 15L8). - :

Although there wus a typhus spidenic in November 19Lk and he
lnew that people were dying, he continued his experiments %m'
Everyorie who wng innoculated remained at the statisn (R 1550). One
pablent wao injueted Mires Limoa and later disd of byphus (N 1551).
He was given meo-salvarsan, atabrine, and guinine. Pyramidon doses
of three grams per day for [lve suvcessive days were given. Dr.

Blaha did not infarm Schilling of the deaths due to pyramidon poison=
ing. If Sehilling had been notified he would have stopped the expari-
ment. An Italisn naned Calveroni was infected with blood and might
have gotten typhus (R 15%6).

If & man is suffering frov malnutrition, & big dose of neo-
salvarsan is not advisable (T 155%), If 4L would save his 1ife,
Schilling would give it to him (R 1557). It depended on the physical
conditian of the man and of what he waa suffering; yet, Schilling
gave the drug to Father Wicki who wily meighed 50 ‘h.‘l.inﬂlén 1508 ,
tut Schilling says that Wicki was not a severe case (R 1559). Schill-
ing gave thres prans of neg-salvarsan in five days, which was the
largest dose he ever gave over that period of tims. He does not
rempmber giving drugs to sufferers of dysentery (R 1562).

Oehill did 1ot semenber opecific: caagsa whors He did neb we
caution (R 1566, 1567). He recslled the priest Stachowski who died,
but doesn't remember ha died from neo-salvarsan (R 1567, 1568).

Dr. Schilling wus not under the contrel of the SS (R 1568). He

heard runars shout beatings, but did not congern himself with "things
Lhiab were ity Dusliesa® (M 1598F)« A1l Lila rocoydo had been turmod

(R 1570). Sehilling denisd all accusations against him other than
what he admitted as part of his duty (R 1572, 1573). He declared

that his work was unfinished and that the court should do what it
could to hHelp him finish his experiments for the bensefit of science and
to rehabilitate himsalf (R ls?K

Mrs. Hubner, whe lmew Professor Schilling for thirty years stated
thd, she alten saw him in Italy and in Germany and has known him to be
of good reputation and of good veracity (R 1519, 1520, 1521). He told
her his only aim was to help cure malaria (R 1522). She beliewved his
{intentions at Dachau wers good (R 1523).
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Frau Durck, the wife of a university professor of anatomical l
pathology who wis interested in malaria research, knew Professor |
Schilling aince 152} (R 1529, 1526). Schilling was always regarded
in his field as a sericus scianHIt (R 1527). 5She lnew what he was
doing at Dachau but her hustand would not have done it (R 1527).

Dr. Fisenberger;, & lawyer for 52 years, lwmew Dr. Schilling for
30 years (R 1527). ile considersd Schilling highly respectable and
reliable, mnd said Schilling was seekin: to benefit science and would
never do anything wrong (R 1528).

Helnrieh Storr, 4 male nurss at Dechag, tsatliled 1t was Kriown
that Schilling worked on ordera Erom Himmlsr (R 1508, 1609). The
camp phyaieian's and Schilling's assistants examined tha patients
prior to experimentation (R 15809). Dr. Brachtal, an 3S doctor and
assistant to thillim; also parformed atabrine experiments (R 1610).
If a patient had a se from malaria, he was treated by Dr.
Schllling (0 1611, 1*"112? Others were glven quinine by some of the
hospital staff (% 1611, 1£12).

Max Kronenfelder worlked in the malaria station under Schilling
from February 1541 to June 1943 (R 1514). He knew about a Dr. Brachiael
Wio also made privats experimonts on malaria without the knowledge of
Dre Sehilling (R 1613) . Kronsnfeldsr took blood smears and perfonmed
minor detalls such as cleaning up (R 161€). Trachtal experimented
with patients who had tubarculosis, being helped by a man named
Adam (R 2617)+ Adam was often in the morgue with Dr. Blaha (R 1618).

Father Rupieper had bean subject to the malariz experiment in
August 1942 (% 921), Other priests who were also subjected were
Petar Bower, Oustav Spitsicl, Amon Burkhardt, Frits Keller and
Kasingher Gasirer AUkofsky (2 221).

16, Christof Ludwlg Knoll:

The aucused, Knoll, eleactad Lo LASULLY and ‘maje Tne Iollow-
ing unaworn statement: lfe was 50 years old, divorced, and had two
chiildren. He hed been a political prisoner at Dachau from Saptember
1933 until the end of the war (R 1587). He had teen arrestad for de-
livering a lettar for a Jewiah friend (R 15%3). Knell waa first used
as & tailor and became block eldest in 1341 (% 1U87).

Knoll admits alapping a few people ard did so to save them from
being punished worse (R 1580). He alapped btecause riles ware broken
a8 in the case of one man who threw slop at hin or another who didn't
get out of bed, or sore who would not report %o work (R 1588). He
was required to glap them (7 1586). He admitted using a rubber
nofe "wWhere 1t was needed" (K LLYT).

Kool remained block eldest until February 1741 (R 1589), He
never was capo in the gravel pit (0 1589). The stary that he knocked
dom a young Pole was invented because he was not even there (R 1590).
He was in the hospital then and during Christmas of 1942, as stated
birmmmmr. ne 14 not KL 27 Jews (R 1551),. He was nead capo
a ﬂa plantation th.th it was belog badlt (R 1571). At that time

Knoll reamenbered the incident in Christmas 1940 when he was ordered
collect mole skins so thal an 35 could make a fur coat for his wife
g 1592). Jews helped him dig for moles and one day he was asked how
1t was golng and he answered that he sbill needed thirteen te k111,
TeIOITINE O Tie Woles ant rot o the Jews (T 159Z).
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Knoll had clavge of a detall which was constructing the head-
quartars (R 1595). Because the work did not progress quickly encugh
he was beaten and kioked (R 1595). Ie rcfused to mct as capo and
worked under another capo and was sent to the punishment camp in
Nachtweilar. He explained that a capo was a prisonsr selscted by
the 83 who waa glven a spevlial Job and the courtdoes not resalize
what & capo had to go through and the punishments he waild have to
underge from the 53 If he disobeyed orders, as, for instance,
1;"?“{;9“’5’}”“’ receiving beatings with ristsmd kickings (R 1593,
1595, 1f .

Eoull eagdaliusd Lual Lie lomates wers t0ld BT TASLr I1rst
lecture: "You are in a concentration camp. A concentration camp
is no jail, is no penitentiary, and it certainly isn't a vacation
camp, Here, there is martial law. The smallest S5 man, no matter
how young and irresponsible he is, is your superior. And every
arder of such a man is to be obeyed." He iz aurprised that 3§ men
now lle abuubt eatloy pilouvcess (M 1%70) . Endll Guilles any oeEat-
ings by him after 1942 (R 1597). He had a thousand men in hia block
among whom were only Uews and Oermans (R 1598). He never beat any:

body in the tailor shop and his custamers were &ll Germans (R Yo

Weikof, a former irmate, stuted that the acoused Knoll was
kuown 6o & Langasn (R 1240). It was common Knevleage thAL ANOLL .
nad killed Jews ir Dechag (R 12049). "

My, Hirner wie & mimber -7 the S5 police at Dachau and kuew
Knoll (R 160L). 1In the summer of 1539 he came out to the plantation
and saw the mole skins and Knoll told him Haupsturmfiehrer 2111
vidmred Lilm W osehe & Jucket for nim (R 1604).

¥r, Keller, & political prisoner in Dachau from 1935 to 1939,
and knew Encll, not as a beatar but one who is "nuta" and who caught
moles and got cigarettes for them (R 1606). Keller was in concentra-
tion camps for ten ysars and stated if Llhe capo at the crematory
wuuld tiave refused LW hang somebody, ne would have been hanged him-—

sel? (N 1607).
17+ Doctor Fridolin Karl Pubr.

The accusad Dr. Puhr elected to testify and made the .
Culluwlryg ungwarn statement: 18 Was & 33 yesr old Austrian and un-

married. e had besn a member of the SA from 1933 to 1937, and a
member of the 85 from 1537 to 1540 (R 1473). Puhr wes a doctor and was
drafted into the Waffen 55 in Junme 1940 and ment to a Deaths-head
combat division (R 1473,1474). He was with combat troops until he

went to Dachau in Decemoer 1944, and in betwsen times he was a8 patient
Lia Musplial (orf NeArt Troudls Ior almost thirteen montha (7T LLVL) .
ife stayed in Dachau until 27 April 1545 where he acted as troop
physician and had nothing to do with the prisoners (R 1475). His
hospital was separated and his wark was restricted to 55 troops

(r 1475). Several tizes Puhr acted as an assistant at oparations

on major operations of prisoners (R 1475). !fo persen operated on by
hlm died and he often called in a prisoner's dootar to act as expert
in his own cases (R M476). He didn't know prisoners of war were at
pachau (& 1476).

Puhr was ordsred to attend executions by the Camp Commindant '
Wedter (R 1L76). Ho attended prisoner executions and two executions .
of 55 men (8 1474, 14/7). He could not refuse to attend, or hs would
have been executed himself (R 1477). His duty was to determine the
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death and certify the form (R 1L77). Fe could not have saved any
of these 1ives (R WE2). Pubr vever rmistreated prisonsrs since he
had nothing to do with them (R 1477).

He receiwved the Blood Order in 194 for bodily harm ($1478).
In Dachau he got saperioucs Ly worhliy on wperatluas (0 1479)« He
used the X-ray at the prisoners' hospital (R 1L79). Omce ina
while he sionad papers as a favorto othar doctors who were ocut of
town (R 1180)« The duty officer "had no duties at all. He just
received some ra which he had to sim® (R 1L479). It was a 24-
hour duty (R ].t?ga He recognized Prosecution's Exhibit 130 as a
duby rusbler fur Apell 1945 amd ugobed (s mawe was op AU (R 1L0Y).
He denied that he served as duty officer on the date specifiad
(R 1482), Howewnr, he #as on constant duty at the trocp hespital
and never at any other (R 1481).

18. Franz Bosttper:

The secused Boettger elocted to testify and mads the follow-
ing unswirn staterent: He was 57 years old, married, and had no
children, Mo Joined the Waffen SS in 1940 (R 1167, 117L). At
Dachau he held the rank of riflemsn and becams an unterhaupscharfushrer
R 1167). %e was in Dachau from May 1740 to Wovember 1940 and then

rom Jums 1900 wntdl Aprdl 1345 (R 1287). He was pressnt at the time
. the 90 Rusaians were executed in the cramatorium in Saptember 1944

(k Li66). The Russians were interrogated by Weiter and the Gestapo

ﬁﬂ‘ini.l.l from Munich (R 1148). They ware then bremght to the crema-

tory in three groups by guards. Ssuss had been ordered by Schutz-

haftlagerfushrer Ruppert to repart if everyons was present (R 1148).

Bostbger did not lake any of the group down to the crematorium

(R 1168). fle morely went tiere, reported everyone was present, and

returned, because he was on duty (R 1168). 'hen Bosttger arrived

at the nnq:tm-yth Pirat two Russian groups had alveady been shot

(R 1169) doctor was present but he did not know which one (R 1169).

h

) mmr'- pl.'ll*-ﬁrl,ll STatamant That
 wus in command was not correct (R 1171, Pros
t. he d'q t & Russian prisonsr on that
enied that he ever shot anyone anywhera
'minunmdamramiagat
(n 1172). The first destination
or six kKilomaters &way (1 LL7<).
ere driven in cars (R 1173). Boettger
o were taken sway in cars (R 1173).
; 1 order not Lo lesve any prisoners
tramport going ‘to Wolfratshausen (R 1175).
mthm feat were to Le collested at the adge of -
guard had to remain with them until the next section
I3 ‘;:ﬂ.‘h’#a"g' ]:'ﬂnli wan continued until the prisoners were
& ' (R 1175). Doettger did not know the
did not know where the risoners were
0 or 30 prisoners dead in Wolfrathaus-
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Bosttgar deniad that lle guwe any ordsrs to kick a chalr out
from under & Rusaisn who way belng hanged (T 1173). ‘bl usually
put the nooss around the prisonsra' nacks and Cberscharfushrer
Sangartz sade the rope Mast and kicked the chair over (M 1173).
That was the usual procedure (7 1173). 7#th respect to the mxscu-
tion in which Jongarta kicked <hae atool, Nosttger went there on
ordar of the Mrat Schutshaftlagerfuchrer in ordsr to se thal the
fniates fell out and wore present during the execution (R JAT7).
.:En Car a)u dosttger knew this =man had besn convicted of sabotage

Boattger denied ever recelving lood packages of the prisoners
or food from the prisconers' kitehen (B 1174). He adsitted that
e alapped soms prisoners in the face but he never beat & prisonar
or mistreatsd ome (R 1174). Boetiger also stated, I nover beat a
prisoner so that he needed medical treatment or so that he was wounded
ar hmiﬂ' t?: u?h]o

Boetiger admitted that he had attanded aboud 20 exscutions
(R 1177)« ‘ils participation consisted of laading the peraon to the
cromatorium as fap ort Isader in accordance wilk the commanding
officer's order (R 1177). Gostiger kuew when the people were
to the cremtorium that they would be shot or hanged (1 1178).

Franz Ueiger, a catholioc prisst, aho had been an inmate Lrom
Decenbar 1941 until Viberation at Dachau, testified that he started
to wark in the package detail in Jasuary 1943 (R 1199, 1200).
Boattger was in charge of thal detatl until December 1, 1743, when he
became Rwppert Leader (R 1200). As long as Hoettger was in ctiarge of
the paclape detail he treated the prisoners well (R 1200, 1203). He
was known as the "mafl unols" (X 1201). During the trensport of 26
?pril 1945, DostLtger told Geiger that he could lsawe the transport

R 1201).

Aftar Roattger laft the packace detail, the inmate ‘Gﬁnr haard
that Bosttger did not treat the prisonsrs rell sy more and that he
beat them (7 120L).

13. Peter Bats

The accusod bBets took the stand and made the fcllowing
unsworn statenent: Ue is married, hss one chdld and joined the S5
in 1933 to get amployment (R 1L30), He was one of a famlly of seven
childran, none of whon worked (Rt 1435). e wis at Dechau on 5 August
1935 to 7 Japary 194h (R 1438).

At firat, Datz was in the office of the Schutshaftlagerfushrer
then he worked on outside details and later as u sergeant-major, &na
on 7 Janwary 134l, he went to !Mttelbay and never returned to Dachau

(R 1L36).

Bats admits giving a statement on 30 October 1945, btefore he waa
aerved with charges, to the effect that he attended two executions in
Noverber 1541 an a guard (2 1436). He also admitted of
professional criminals who had atolen from other prisonsrs, but he never
slapped or mistreated anybody else (%t 1437). betz never attended any
executions other than the two menvioned (% 1L37). Mo was a member of
the Death's Head Unit until it becams part of the Waffen 88 (R 2L37)e

Bete's duties were Lo check, on behalf of the Schutshaftlagerfushrer
conduct reparts of prisoners in protective custody and the punishment
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reports which had to go to Gestapo offices (R 1438). There was a
regular investigatar in the office of the Schutchafltlager “ushrer
and he recommended punishiments and intarrogators adminiastered
boatings as punishment up until 1941 (T 1437). Pets rarely saw any
bestings after 1542 (R 1437, 1ULD), but admits sending the reports
forward to headguarters, although he nover made any recomnandations
personally (R 1440).

Otto Gehring was a (erman priseoner at Dachau from Cetober 1937
until Aprdl 1939 during which time he knew Bets (R 1L65). ie never
knew Betez to beat anybody and saw him often *hrow cigarettes and
bread to the prisoners lg 1455) . Batz personally gave bread and
cligarettes to him (R 1L65). Gehring now works #ith Dormer priswess
of Dachau and has talked with many about Bets and everyone sgs
that Bets was a fine man (R 1465).

20. Anton Endres.

The accused Endres took the stand and made the follewing
unsworn statements He is 36 years old, married, the father of three
children. He Joined the 35 7 Septambeér 1939 as a draftee and
served at Dachau all the time until the liberation (R 1467, 1448).

Endres was thrown out of the 53 20 Yay 1744 when he was
arrested for letting prisonsrs visit friends (R 1468). Re was put
under aprest in Noverber 1743 ant atayed there until September 15LL.
Endres was aotive in Dachau az a medic and worked in the Augsburg
detail up to that time (R 14%9). He never helped anyone give in-
Jections and newvar was pressnt and never beat prisonsrs nor put them
under showers (R 1471). He attended two exscutions prior tq Januar
1912 g5 a medic being part of the detall to help the doctor (R 1471).
e was never in charge (M 14T1). Other exeoutions took place on the
rifle rangs, each averaging thirty or forty men executed (R 1472).
lie never attended thmse executions (R 1&?2{.

£l. GSimon Kisrn.

The accused Kisrn wook the shand and mads the following
ungworn statexent: He wau 32 years of age, married, and had two
ehildren (R 1233), e had been & saddle maker, In 1932 ha jolned the
pagular army and remained untdl 1936 (R 1234). In 1937 he was drafted
into the 58 because he was a radioman and had been In the army (R 123L).
That was unusual becauss at that tire mon were not drafted into the
83 (R 1234). Hs was sent to Dachau and was a radioman there until
1739 (R 1235). He was than transferred to Czechoslovalda and in 1911
he returned to Dachau (R 1235). There he went to work at headguarters

a# a clerk until 3 Neverber 1942 (R 1235). At that time he was trans-
ferred Lo ths mail room for a short fire when he was arrested fop
allegadly stealing 10 cigarsttes from a letter (R 1235). He was in

the concentration carp at Dachau for six weeks, brought to the prison

at Mundich, and then to the Death Code Department (R 1235). After his
imprigorment at Dashau in December 1742, he never returned to Dachau

to werk. (R 1235). From Munich he was sent to the tive camp at
Danzig July 1943, and on 12 February 1945, he went to the fromt (R 1236).
On the war he escaped and returned to Dachau where he was arrested by
the 33 (R 1236). He vas relessed after one day and trampsd around
Ingolstalt and Kulmbeck unt’l the Americans arrived (R 1237).

Kiern was a scoial democrat from 1929 to 1932 and while a member
o the 85 had worked actively against it (R 1237). At Dachau he had
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attended three executions in the capacity of a clerk (R 1237, 1238).
Oberaturmfushrer 2111 had deranded that he bLs present (7 1230).

All three executions oceurred in 1941 (R 12368). [is pre-trial
affidavit erroneously stated that the executions occurred in January
17212, but he was sure that they ocourred in 1341 because Zi1) had
left at Christmas 1941 (R 1239, Pros Ex 115).

-

He admitted that he had given maxcy shots once at one execu-
tion (R 1239). Kiern denied that he at any time ever kicked or beat
a prisoner at Dachau (R 1239). Kiern stated that he hal told the
inwstigating officer at the time tha statement wah taken that Zill
had ordered him bo attend these executions (R 1240). Kiern admitted
that he hod mades the statements in his pre-trial affidavlt, had read
it and corrected 1t (R 12L0, Pros Bx 117). Hed@nied that be was
sver a block leadar (71 ths.

Josafl Urebergz who had come o Dachau as a prisocner in Decermber
1942 ==% Edern there in 1943 (2 12L3). Kiern checked thas world:
detalls (R 1215). Uneberg never saw Xiern mistreat anyone (R lgﬁs}.
Unzberg next saw Nlern in Bohemia in April 1944 in & punitive company
where they worked together (R 12LY). REiern escaped (T 1244). Kiern
had told Unebers repeatedly that he opposed the treatient of prisoners
in concentration camps (R 12LL). Kiern used dogs to guard the pris-
oners at Dachau in March ar Aprdl 1943 (R 12L5). When Ureberg met .
Kiern in 194} apgain he stated that he was zlad that he was out of
the 55 (R 1246).

5 Josef :mmrhm mg- ot mm zmhm 1:&3_-;;;1;11-11&:-...
o, now Kiarn from Aprdl 1940 until “arc '}o  Tilern
did not nistreat any of the prisoners during tht‘.tu H izu%f

Willy Herna who had served as a camp policeman and had been a
ranber of the S5 at Dachau stated that he had participated in ececu-
tions with Eiern twice in November 1941 (R 1250). Kiern was good and
that was his reputation with respect to the treatment of prisoners
(R 1251). Eisrn acted under orders (R 1251, 1252).

22, 1dchael Redwitz

The accused Redwits elected to testify and mada tha follow-
ing unaworn atatorent: He was LS years old, marrisd and had four .
children (R 1176, 1179). His ccoupation was that of a professional
goldisr (R 1179) and he had been a soldier since 1918 {Fl 1179). 1In
1938 he was trangferred into the 58 from the Wehwrmacht (R 1179). He came
to Dachay in November 1542 and was thers until © March'19LL (R 1179).
His job was that of First Schutshaftlagerfushrer and as such he was
in charge of tha diseiplina, order cleanliness of the camp (R 1179).
He was also in charge of the roll 1 each morning and night (R 1179).
Accoraing to 'ne iegulativas he WAS at every exscution in the capacity
of a witness (% 180). He also had to supervise the carrying out of
punisk=mnts (R 1180). He read the punishment to the prisonsr and saw
to it that the prismers carried out the prescribed punishment (R 1180).

Most of the pesople who were exscuted in the camp had baen sent
thers for execution by the Gestapo (R 1180). Whila %e was at Dachau
a sports arena was built for the prisoners (R 1161). Murthemore,
moving pletures were shomm to them (n 1151). These pictures were also
distributed to the by-camps of Dachau. (R 1181). Although in his
statnrant hn had anid that tha assvand Bate vma pesanni at the
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executions, he now claimed that he was not sure of thatl fact (R 1101).
lia donled that he had ever insulted priests as the witneuss” Breiding
had teatitiad (2 1182). e denisd that Yo ever permitted Trenkle

or Jarolin to beat irmatea and that if they were present at the
carrying out of a punishre~t thay wers there only in a supervisorr
capacity (= 1E2). Purbheruore, Uhw vaup comsudsr was gresenl <11
ths tice, that 45, at the official beatings (R 1182). However, 'ieiss
naver attanded an axscution {2 1185).

On T July 194L a number of A-erican airren had bean shot dom
during a raid on that day and had bean captured by Redwits (R 1183,
1WELY e e s be 1t Wiab Wiedle sulunds oece Ustsn cedss wl wond 3wt
they wmre protected from the eivilian populatien (R 118L). He finally
transferred thoe prisoners to an alr corna ldesutenant (R 1194).

Thile at Dachau, Nadwits attampted to attain front line duty
three tinea (2 1105). Mnally on D Ausust 1940, he was sent to the
Weatorn front where be was wounded (T 1185).

He stated that his pre-trial staterent made on 'lovesber L, 1945,
had been fictated by Lisutanant Juth {1 11089, Pros Ex 95). He denled
that he directed the executions in the absence of Jeiss (3 1189). He
claimed that hie had only been at the executions as a withess and that
thils romark had besa dictabeld Ly fdesutemsat Outh (% 1109). Medwilas
ad-itted that he had read over his staterent before he signed 1t, that
he made corrsctisnm in the staterwnt in %is own handwriting after he
had read it (T 1171). o stated that he waa threatened .by Linutanant
Guth while he was making His staterent (2 1191), Lisutenant Guth having
hold an mwnﬂ:.n Mg hand (7 1192). Ha adpitted that he had never
baca abrusk by Lisutenant Quth bul that be had been Rygealwnsd (R 1172).
Because of those threats and insults und the nistreatmenta which he had
endured after his arreat, hw had signed the stabement (R 1192).

fie admitted that he participated in about LO executlons at
Dachau (7 1172), and that he was ths Schutzhaftlagerfushrer at that
time (M 1123 e sbteted thal v pelsuvier vuudd lsuwve Ui cenp udess
he was under guard (2 1193).

Brnest, Spora sho nad been an inmate of Dachau from September 1542
until liberation had met Redwits in January 19LL (R 1195). He worked

in a aslaughter houss and once carried into camp some sausage =nd bucon
which waa found an hlo by !tuyrrt., aliv ook We fouvd wgd mede s abmnd
R

on tia ¥nees ocut in the cold 1195, 1196). Redwita came along and
agkad him what he was doirg and he explained thal he was going to the
hogpital 5 see a friend and was bringing ‘he sausage and bacen (R 1196).
About 20 minutes later Redwits retwmed with the sausage and bacon

and gawe 1t to him (7 1176). Redwitz said "Try never to do it spain!

(T 1196)+ Opore alov Lelpwl ueahe ropslcs vl Tedelis s luuw and
dedirita's wife would give thasa "o, coffee and bread (% 1157).

Redwitz was not a salist like his predecessars (X 936). He
liked to yoll and was lrequently drunik (R 236).

No bocame Pirat Ochutshaftlager fusliver wider Wlas (N 240). The
inmates ware perzitted to put on their own theatrical parformances
(R 241). Under Weins the priscners in the textile shop were permtiad
to coolk food thave (2 942).
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23. Wilhals Welter

The accused Welter alected to tastiiy and made the Tollowing
unsworn staterent: He was 32 wyears old, marriad and had {hree children
(3 1010). He worked in civilian 117 as a lockemith (R 1010), In
1930 hie Julued Wee 33 and vane Lo Daghau at the end of 1339 (R 10107 «
He was there until 1 September 1543 when as a result of his applioca-
tion he way sent to the Sastern Front (R 1010, 1011), He had applied
since the beginning of the war about every two months to be placed in
a Pighting unit (P 1011),

Me way Lk labor service lgader at DEonad andg 85 such, WeS unisr
the labor leader (R 1011). His dutiss consisted in giving each detail
wiich was to work in the morning and afternoon a slip wheroon the
strength of the detail and the name of t'e detail leadsr was noted
(% 1011). Each day he made out a working report which in¢luded infer-
mation about all the details which left the camp (R 1011). The report
syually wenolsted of 7 to 0 typewritien pages and was wged by the labor
lsader to GLll the [lrmy vhere the prisoners warked (7 1011).

Although there had been testimpny that he had hit prisoners o
the slave market formabion at the start of 1943, Welter stated that at
that time he was not In Dachau bub a soldier in Russia (R 1012). He
sdimltted that Wnile &% Luchau he haa put together large any small .
details (R 1012). He only knmew the strength of the detail when it
1t the cam at the gate when the numier was called out (R 1012).
dence at the time he would know 1f anyone was missing (R 1012).
Hundreds of details left in shiort succession and he could nevar atop
Lo lpok for sn individual man who was not present (R 1013). He denied
that ae ever nad any duties to perform together with Kick and denisd
that he ever hit a prisoner with a whip or any other object (R 1013).
He admitted that ne possibly did put together a detail of four Jews for
the erematorium a 1942 (R 1013).

Selegtions of prisoners for the hospilals in ~ mmection with
axparimant:, SUch as miidria, wers mads by the dootors (H 1013, "1015) .
The libor leader received that list and checked it with the riles of
the labor office, but "lter himself had nothing to do with this
selection and had never received my orders from the lsbor leader in
connaction therawith (T 1014). He denied that he had ever beaten any
new inmates which Had been brought to the camp and specifically beating .
€3 maw arrivals, desovibad by & progecution witness (W IULL). He da- ’
nied that he ever selscted prisoners for Dontor Rascher's experiments
101k . ALl prisoners whe were brought on a worldng detail were
introdiced to a dootor so that he could determins their worklng capacity
it Talter never brought peopls there because that was not his duty
(1 1915). Te admitted that he sometimes licked people and Mit them
with fis hand (R 10L1%h, 10d) ). 7IL 18 possible tist 1 slappsd & Tew
migoners in the face Af they did somethlng wrong" (R 1015).

Weller explained that in his pre-trilal affidavit he had erred in
rriting that Welss had sccompanied him to Aupsburg in 1242, but that it
was Redwity who had done that (R 1015)., However, he had never been
given the opportunity be correct this statement (R 1015), Melter also i
ghtated that he nas naver arrsated and had returnad to Dachau voluntar- -
i1y (2 10158). He was in the hespital from 17 Jamary 190l untdl 28 ‘
April 19LL (R 1014, Def Ex 16). In the labor office people were asked
for telr alifications and Yelter or someons else wauld plck out

non-employed for special details (R 1018), [ia did not know
whether or ncf ﬁ;n nenenploysd srisoners were used in the doctor's




L

experiments (R 1019). He did not know what had happored to the !
Jews who had been picked out to work at the srematorium (R 1019).
The priseoners who worked in the labor office were under Welter but |
all te 4id was to transmit orders to tram (R 2017). He did nct take

any interest in whether they did the work or not which they had been

ordared to co ‘i 101%, 1020).

Mrs. Welter testified that her husband reported voluntarily
to the front in September 1943 (R 1021).

Joham Wolf, a elvilian employes at Dachau from 1942 to 194k,
worked with the astiused WelTsr in vommction wllb prlsunes Jdutlss
(R 1008). He never saw Welter search or beat a prisomer or reporh
one (R 1009). The prisoners on Welter's detail always told him
Walter was all right (R 1009).

2li. Rudolf Henrich Suttrep.

The accused Suttrpp elected to testify and made the follow-
ing unsworn statement: He was 3l years old, married and had three
children. He joined the 55 on 5 September 1933 and came o Dachau on
15 May 17h2. (R 1022). He left Dachau on 15 May 19LL (R 1022). He
gerved as Adjutant under Plorkowsky, Weiss and Welter (R 1022).

When Suttrop came to Dachan he was an Untersturmfushrer and
when he laft he was an Obersturmfuehrer (R 1023). His duties wera to
check on the persownel of the sntire staf?, composed of 235 non-
commissioned officers and men (R 1023). He was in charge of the tele-

phone, signal office and moter pool (R 1023). e had charge of tha
mall -iutr:l.huum, pecret orders anl aided the comusidlag effloer 3o

his mper work. UjIn the absence of the commandant, the First Schuta-
haftlagerfushrer became the acting commanding officer (R SLS, 1023).
The commandant might request someone else from his own superior office
to take charge (R 102l). Suttrop never acted as commanding officer

(R 102L).

Suttrop had nothing to do with the prisomners with the axosption

of a few private matters when they would come into his office (R 95,
1024). It was not possible for him to issue any ordsra for sxecutions
ar punishments (R 1024) . The camp commander had ne authority to

axacute or ish people except for miner punishments (R 1025). Hew=
ever in 134 the regulation provided that thé commanding oriicer

‘c:tould ;n)squaut an execution and Weiss had left on 1 November 1543 '
R 1025} .

It was not within his power or province to prevent any exscu- |
tions (R 102%), He never attended any. He did supervise threa execu-
bions of 55 members (R 1025, 1031, 103Z).

Prismer execubions mere ordared by teletype or secret mall by
the Gestapo (R 1026, 1027). In most ceses the notice arrived before
thw prisoners did and the orders specified whether or not the man
ahould be hanged or shot (R 1027). The camp's rule provided that the
First Schutshaltlagerfuehrer or his representative, the Kirst Gamp:
Physician, and two witnesses be present at the execution in addition
46 the individual who was actually to earry it out (R 1027). The
camp physician had the duty of determining death and could not stop .
the exscution if he desired (R 1027).

Weiss did not take part in or direct any executions and the
regulaions did not so provide (R 1028). fThe orders for execution
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cars from the Reich Sscurity Win Office, and were always to B8
{mmediately (R 1028, 1029). The datail whioch weat out
for the execution was mde up the First Schutshaltlagerfushror

|

Suttrop did not ¥now whether or not there were any fMussian
Fs at the camp (2 1029, 1030). The Russian PR had bnen released
from an Army P onclosure and sent to work in Germeny (it 1030).
Upan leaving t-sir plaoe of wark thess former prisoners were put
}qt;u 133 ;tork detentlion camp and then sent te a conosptration camp

de was a ;osber of the Deaing Head 35 and was cotiwe for Swo
years in the Skull Division at the front (% 1033). The accused
Trenkle sss a Wappart Leader or represeatative of thie Schutshaft-
lagorfushrer. Suttriop denled that inwalid transports laft Dachau
in 1943 and 1944 (I 1034).

25, Gilhels Tempel.

i
:
:
:
3
4
B

ted by Doctor Fried of beating
with a whip, and using his hands and a rubber calle on prisoners

Tempel nevar beat Kussinscy's father so that he died later
(1 UA13). He was not present whan Berger's Lrother's son was
beaten and died, sinow he was ai Canp Nusber 1 und not Eawfering
Pusber L (R UAL). Tempel denied all other beatings described by
witness Sandownly and atated he did not shoot anyene an deseribed
by Doctor Kats (3 LL). Tempel used his hands and only beat
soners where justice reguired it, sc as o prevent s

B 1, 145). The stealing stopped (R 1415). Teapel declarsd
he did not introduce the go-called "superior systenm” which was re=
sponsibilit; fron prisoner Lo block elder Lo capo Lo camp-aldest
(2 U4 3). Under this systesm women in Kaufering Wusber L mere
beaten t% 1), Tewel culy carried  wiip Goopsionally but, sever
used it (0 )+ Tempel had a reputabien of golng arcund with a
stick bat Kastner did not see this (R 1351). Johann Kastner did
haar prisoners say that Tespel wai a tad san and beat mmny ef them

(R 1351).

Teapel joined the 55 on 2L May 17L0. He went to Lublin concen-
tration camp in October 1942, then to Auschwitz until 27 July 1944
and then to Dachau (R 141E). He remenbered a transpart of 150 to
200 wileh left Xaufaring Nurber 4 while he was labor loader there
(R 1129, 1L20). He recallx: the iransport which he accompanied as
a guard froz Warsaw in which only four out of 4,000 fell out (R 129,
mﬁiﬂw of his duties wms o make up the quotas for work details

=

«» It was aldo his dubty to cellsct prisoners for syacua
transporta of Kafering Musber 1, and to seo that the camp was clsared
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in April 1945 (R 1421). Foerschner gave tha order to form the
transport which waa divided into three parts, one sach for April
2l, 25 and 26 (R 1421). He employed capos and elders appointad
by the 33 to help him (R 1422).

Martin Lechner, a prisoner at Dachau, went to Kaufering Number
1 in November or Lecember 1oLy (R 1L2L). He stated that it was
inown thatl Tempel beat prisoners but he.did not sse that himself
ER 12L) . Tempel arranged for shows and music for the prisoners
R 142L). The death rate decroased when Tempel arrived (R 142L).
He never heard that Tempal shot anybedy or beat anvhoedy ta daath
nor that Foeraschner beat anyboedy (R 1L25). Ilechner was a ecapo
who worked under Tempel and saw him daily on the detail Moll
(R 1L25, 1426). He saw Tempel tako the shoes of sick prisoners
and give them to othera (R 1L27).

26. fugo Alfred Frwin lausterer.

The acoused Lausterer elected to testify and mede the
fallowing unsworn ataterent; He was married, had six children and
was Pifty five yeara of age (R 1122). As a civilian he represented
the Singer Sewing !Machine Company. He entered the SS on 10 December
1941 (7 1122). He left Dackau on 2€ Auril 194LS5.

He was & sentry and guarded the prisoners (R 1123). The
highest rank he achieved was Scharfushrer (2 1123). le denied sver
having threatened punishment to prisoners if they did not hand over
their food packages to him (R 1112“3_.3“ He denied gver mistreatin
prisonars (0 1123). In his ore-trial stabemant of 21 Otctober 19
he descrived a tranapert which laft Dachau about 26 April 19L5 and
which had remained at Dachan for two or three days (R 1123, 112U,
Pros tx 111). His 4ot in connection with thal transport was as
reserve sentry SR 1121;;' He did not guavrd the priscners during
thal transport (R 112L). Tlat Srauaport left Dachau in the evening
of 26 April 1545 and wert by rail teo "anich (2 112Lk). As a resarve
gentry be stayed in & separate car (R 112L). Tha transport arrived
in Seefeld on Saturday afternocen (R 1124). Everycne got off and food
was distributed (R 1125). Orders were then glven to march by foot
to the Erta jalley.

Tausterer then laft the transport went over to a groun of
65 prisoners who were in a pasture (R 1125). The prisoners stated
that they could not march and they wers i1l (R HEE} . He told them
that tHey could not stay there because they would dis’in that terribls
weather (R 1125). Ille searched for coffee and tea for these priscnars
and sewveral women in Seafeld helped him. They found an empty barrack

. thev pul the prisdnsrs and tea waa distributed amone thenm

'&'ﬂuzg). The text moming coffee and bread and at noon soup and
bread were brought to them (R 1125).

He want to the Americans in order to surrender these prisonsrs
but when he returned the barrack was empty (R 1126). !lp discoversd
that an Obe rer had come and led them toward the station
tomard Germisch (R 1126). During the previous night two of the oris-
engrs died (R 1126).

The aoccused Schoepp was also a reserve santry on the same trans-
port and he did as little as Lausterer (R 1126). When the transport
had reached Lyon Lwo 85 policemun stated that they were the btransport
leaders and everyone including the guards were ordered to stay on the
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There ware about ¥ to 35 reserve ssntries (7 1127)
4 net. recelve any orders with respect to shooting pris-
_r-tmd 0 get off the train but only the guards (% 1127).

e about 120 men in ome car (R 1127). Thers were about
ople in the entire transport (2 11251 Many of the
ute from thirst and hunger (it 11200 Isuslorer
in his pre-trial staterent of 31 Oatober 1915 he did
, he was a reserve sentry (P 1128, 1129, Pros Hx 111).

Qustave Droste whe had besn a member of the German Army met

@ acoused Lausterer in July 'L?hh M 1131). At that time Lausterer

& commander of the workdng detail in a factory at Lodenfreye
gi 1132). The detall conaisted of priscners of Dachau. Droste's

had bean damaged bombs and -he requested Lasterer to help

repair his house (R 1132), ZLauaterer agrecd on the oondition that

prisoners be cared for aad be glven food and some liquor (R 1132)
On that basis the house was repaired (R 1132). Droste noticed that
lausteror treated the prisoners very well (i 11¥). He never spoke
to them harshly (R 1132). Dposte never saw Lausterar hit or mistrest
the prisoners (R 1133).

Josephine Moser who lived in Seafeld recalled 4 transport which

minﬁﬂuroinlrillﬂ R 1133). She atte d to distribute
bread to the indi p linfmnnag)t the mi.umﬂutmn Wt wn 33

man prevented her h‘*m dolng that and struck her (R 113k). She re-
quasted to speak to the transport commandsr and a Jow told har that
he was out in a pasture where some sick ones ware (R 1135). & then
went there and mat Lausternr who requested that sne bring sonsthing
hot far the ﬁrhumrs (M 1135). Shea arranged to hawe coffes brought
to them (R 1135, 113%). Lausterer requastad her to grt & stwller for
these people since it was anowing and raining and she suggested that
he go over to a farm and request that the barn be used (R 1136).
However, the owners would not permit him bto use the barn (f 1136).

She then suggested that lausterer use a barrack which had been built
fer a kindergarten. This barrack was utilized by the people (R 1.1]7)
She sald, "I would say that he was almost like a fatner to m,
alaso saw that the peopls trusted him very much " (R 1137). There
ware from about 59 to 80 people in the group (R 1139). The naxt
morning Miss Moser arranged that the people have coffee (R 1139). She
did not know iiow thoy laft. 3She did not know whethar lausterer went
away with them (R 1139). Iausterer 4id not have a gun (R 1140).
Tausterer also asked her for pedicine (B T1LLO).

Mra. Yeager, a teacher, was living in Seafeld during April 1945
(R 1141). Durinc one afternoon she went to the station and saw 1800
Jows who had arrived on a transpoart (R 11L2). Tn a meadow nearby
t-hlrl were s mntz? ones and lausterer told lier that they had come

? He requested 3 barn or shed (R LLLZ)}. she

ﬂmla'];mhd shelter and lausterer lined them up and walked them to
tha barracks (R 1113). He hauled many of the sick ones in a cart and
made fowr trips (R 11L3}). Women arrived who brought warm drinks to

_m,- Frite M. K. Bechers.

The accused Becher elected to testify and made the lollowing

unsworn statement: He mas a 41 year old German, married, md Had one
%mmam;mr nmmrrnnm Haﬁmﬁﬂaﬁ

Ui

m&tm:l reasons {u 1575). fecher became room eldest
mmm mtommﬁ.tmﬁmm




ardd only slapped & prisoner now and then, or he would have been
punished himself (R 1575)+ He never kicked anybedy but 4t ls

?mséblg that he caused noze bleads as witness Seibold testified
R 1574

Ducha= did net have the powsr te transfor anyphbody Ly Leanppest
and never axceeded his authority (B 1577). In the case of the pris-
onar Hirpvaleky, the latter becare fresh and hs alapped him in the
fave. Later t'is men had dysentery and Decher took him to the
hospltal where le died (R 1577).

Baghor weuld pundsh prisencrsy for homobosunl soto and for
gtealing, and saw otiers punizhed by the S5 for not obeying (R 1478).
Degher eould nob understand how the 33 today deny the punishwents
ard indignities inflicted (R 1578). Almost avery 55 man beat
prisoners who wore of all nationalities (R 1579). Wagner and Souas
beat the prisoners, including Sscher (2 1579). Ruppert beub one
Pals very badly (R 1500)., Bechar gaid, "It wps alwmiyo pretby bad
when you wers beaten by the 83" (R 1580).

Becher did not choose who would work and denies that tho block
22 gat selected the workers (R 1581), He was prosont when mrlsonars
wers selacted for invalid transports and only lad them out of the
Llesk (N 1582). Dookier anse tool: pnr‘h dn pundlbilve moaouises againgt
[rieats by order of Hoffman when G700 was found on & prisonsr (R 1582).
There were young priests and old prissts and they ware. nade to fall
domm and many fuu but from exhaustion (2 1583), Bscher did not
idele any #t thm bubt halped aore o stand up and was himsel? beaten
g ww&gh; Ee admitted that he slapped ons older priest

L : k) » Béchor stated that whon mmchurp
g %ﬁ?ﬁl&iﬂm block ho corrected tham by beating with his hands

Dacher never saw Weiss boat anybody and Welss was good to him;
ht doss nat know Suttrop or Wetzel and only saw Kiek whan he came in
the Plrat o (N 1ZC5),

Decher concluded, "The greatest shame on culbure in Cermany
were the concentpation camrg and hell wis in Dachauw (R 1978-157%).
"No one can imagine what it wam like in a concentration camp except
He Who was In a codvcentration camp. e wereconpletely finlshed — in
sould, and ln svery recpoot! (N 15BL)

bBr. Juldus [uthip, a German deoctor and mamber of the 55 at
Dachau from 8 February 1240, was familiae with the ferm of notification
of death sent to the Statics Bureau (R 1500). The cause of death was
alvays put down and Lf gomecno had been beatsn by a capo, the latter
walld bo brotught bafors dhe cowrt Lo Munlch whsve lio woull Le sesbeised
Yo Jail (3 1%01). He lnows of no report where Bether was concerned
in such & case (R 1602). In 1940 only one man was reported to have
diad from beabings at Dachaw in the summer, but he doss not know sbout
tha records after March 19L2 (2 1603).

2k,

The accused Kramer elected to testify and made
unsworn staterent: Ho mﬁmﬁ ﬂu Wehrmacht in 1916 and
83 in 1939, coming to Dachau on 16&0%5 9Ll (R Mﬁﬁ!-
ontered the cromtory at achay (7 12 1 0 8e

- Yo Baufering Musber 1 and atlenpled t.u m
thnﬁmutﬁ 1267, 1268), md never taukmrt anye

= 1(q-
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Eramer was relisved on 12 Novenber 154l and never had -lﬁ;rth!n;f ke
do 'with prisoners after that (R 1268).

Kramer wes beaten by 2 CIC affieer with sticks upd rubber houds

(R 1259). We danied particiration in executions (7 1270). The food
ab fawlerlog Wumbar 1 was delivered by whe TOT (R 1271l)« Thers wau

a shortage of slices and clothing (2 1271). Kramer bent prisoners
with his hand on cartals af“enses so that he would not have to re-
part them to higher headquarters (R 1272). Kramer took coe trans=
part into Dachau {R 12?33. de was in charge of the thmisport in
which Iifty died (R 1273).

27+ 8Sylvester Fillsboack.

The accused Sylvester Fillebosck elsgted to tzstifly and
mado the following unsworn statement: He waa L? years old, married,
and Yad tw children (2 9M). $a was formerly foreman in ghargy of
a Fawbury (1 991),. v h=d been in the German Arny from 1715 so 1218
and from 1943 to 1945 (R 992), He jJoinad the S35 in 1932 and want to
Dachau in 1933 where he held the pmﬂm P admicistrator of the
food dump until 1941 (R 592, 996). to 1343, tw wap the

investigator for the food (R 592).

Fillwbosck recelved His orders from Wetzel and from the Seonomlc
Ocfice (R 992). The rations which were permitted for prisoners wure .
detarmined by the Main Tconomie Office in cannection vith the Tedel

Food Hintst;zs‘ (R 992). He attempted to supplement the regula: food

supply (2 992). The of fice had reduced the amount of vegetalbles

from 3500 grams to 1000 grams per week (R 993). He brought Ilva to

geven Whowsand kllogrars of pre-cooksd soups dasplie o peobilltlon

by the thain 0ffice F?ﬁa} Furthermore, he brought 2000 Lo 3000

klograms of beef, veal, and big bones for soup and in the y=ars

1943 through 193;5. 20,000 kilegrams of bean and pea sesds (1 9?3?

It was through his efforts that ha obtained for the carp At 42

per cent chease ratler than 10 per cent chease (R 723, ?94).

Fillshoeclk went to the Food Officar in Dachay and ordersd that
the rations be muintained (R 294). He took this smction om his own
because he Minew that samething had to be donet (2 99L). Toward the
end of hostilities the lack of transportation mads it wery difiicult
to obtain food (R 994). The problem became more acute in view of
iths fact At tne population of the CAMp had increased by Clrisun .
thousard (R 994).

Fillsboeck denied that he had ever taken the property of uny of
the priscners (R 991). He haG alwiys instructed Luase wno worksd
for bin that they were not permitted to glwve away anything thal.
belonged o e pnsmara (st 295)« Ho aenled Taking ATt in 4o
avsoution of the 90 Russian prisoners of war (% 935). He Had bean
at the crematony only twice during hiis stay at Dachau and thal was
as officer of the day (R 996).

During Jamiry end Februsry 1945, there were between 18000 and
20000 prisconerg at pachau wno were red thres mezlm A day, breaklaal,
lunch and supper (R 996). Durlng the same time the 35 roceived a
grestar quntity am! better guality food (R 997). He was not faadlisr
swith the snount of clothes, shoes and fcod that were stored at Duchau
{!‘t M}.‘ Friscners had reported to him that sone of fhe inmates were

ml:m_‘r_.ti tion in December 19l but he never received & report
(ofrieial shannels (K 9¥8). Howevar, ho 4ia see Wil physioel




condition of the prisoners whod he et each day (R 998). The entire
tims that Fillsboeck was st Dachau ho worked under Wetsel (R 998).
Then Filleboeck received a report that priconera were dying of mal-
mutrition in Uecember 17LL, ho immediately increased the vegetabls
rd ion and went to Dachau and ‘unich in arder to have the ration
cutting order rescinded (i 953,75L,777) .

Ulina Ritsler who owred a food business in Dachau had been
instructed in 1239 that in the event of war ha was to furnish food
to Camp Dachau (R 908, 969). As N recoived requests from the ca=p,
he did that (R 989). Filloboeck requested that Rilzler eircumvent
A Ch@ess ordér 80 LhAT 1T WOWLG nave the Iull fat coatenl of 20 pur
cent (R 987). This waz done so that the camp receivad cheess with
n higher fat contenu than it would have otharwise received (R 990).

Richard Turber who was an employee of the Eavarian Yaterial and
Agricultural Department received ragueats from Filleboeck far po-
tatoes, vegetahles and straw (% ¥03, 704}« Fillebouck requesled fowl
without requisitions and Turber did give hiw beans and pea soads for
sowing purposes (R 98l). Filleboeck requested Turber to give him all
the vegetables that he could gat in the district of Dachau (R 98L),
and ha was furnished with that until an of*icial from the gardening
administration stated that the Dachau Concentration Camp had been
given voo mucn (4 ¥85). Uin tne 1ast WI'se years, sbout 20,000
kilograms of seeds had been requisitioned and supplied to Dachtau,

m: Ehu;ﬁ E}uuld have been sant whether Filleboeck requasted them or
ﬂﬂ H -
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30, Vismmenn S N .'.:.;_u..v; e g 150 AR Y T e aung Lo
1 -silent,
Lo aXals S¥ubzen I Eosuuad “yetoe trata . hp taskldy ol mauds
e oT, 5P i 4 2 I < Pl 0Pl | Bt wig dpafhad
sn L Seryhim : asyeend b Trantear S § aeypions 100
220 14 bty .! i 4 r s 11.1"1*;« L‘] i ik LY A Lal ':.1 l-".)ln::l!
ity iy o aw s wauihetoan A AL0EY,. Cretasih maesd aloa
L1 il s TR {0y VL apmwal 4 priveanps (DUL6RR=1000}.  Hooune DG
TSI . Tl S (- V0 & A T AT S 1 L e Jr-=f“'ui FLEaunI S I
SeApLn e dlin 2 wt deifila {3 1683},
(m 26 Aprdd, Woke, ' et Dechan with @ Srangport as
and o elvod ot selfrutaicuven on € April ( 16012, 1063). HLd pals ¢
the transpart shartsd w1th 1500 privoners when 1200 arrived ot

at Jolfeotgnausen 7 166LY,  Abeut 19 or EU.:'.i-ud in Vlolfratshansen

feam slooleston (R 1060). The pusrds had beon wmed with riflaes (R 1654).
Suneds o bhe trbinoport whao had some fren Alnell lxd hand grasades alsa

{ R 106W). A& dog jroup sras 8 pad of e guard (R 166LY,. Oxetech ems
orie csun Move & dog 'we seb on o prisoner and saw ohe 55 faayrd beating

un Lromate with Ao dflo butt but he relthar sav nor hoord abont any
shooting (1 1663, 1070) Oretssh tne ordared to pravont sseapss (R 1665).
Dogoelow baln: L charge af thy tranaport (1 1606), Orrioch 1ofh gollavaed
yelponers ldng on thn zide of the read ag tiw nareh contlnueed [0 0 ID;}.
there yas an ordsy thab o ordecner vag to ba Teft ugsuardsd |[1 16G8) .

fontsel idontified !itn pr-‘:-trial tobemodt L o hs stdter
thet many prisenern toe wat: to vl wera ghet on Sl i, Ol 13067, Bros
B: 117). Cratueh ..l::r.r pgurrind that he did aob soe 1% with his oun eynd
{"t 1567, 1663, Pros Fr 117). ‘In never firved & sliet [ron the tower and
no ane evar ascanod {*% 1670)« GCrntoch voa foraed to leave the 17 peaploe
wiio foll out lie whara thay Lall and to lesp meeeidny (G0 1671).

Ho daalared ho never particlpated in a cormou dosi:n e murder
sy il adipaiib prae lﬁnnnnw ap Prgr paysans {1'? 1mh9:|

32. Johman Viktor Ldraschs Tho acoused Kirsch electnd to testify
and mads the followin: unsvorn statemants e was Sl yeurs old, had beon
wornded in the leat war and ra-satersd the armgpy in 2042 (R 1205). le re-
eontly had had a bradn concussion (R 1275)s Firseh finally cama bo
Keutarine flumber 1 in June 104k, serving under Foergchnor (44 1275, 1876,
1271). la also served ot Laufaring lumber 3 (R 1276). In Janwary 1545
[drash wenh fio the Luchldorf by-cuwnp whore ha served under Langleist
(1277, 1210}« Kirseh taok sharee of a datail (R 1270). Thare vere
sbovt 150 prisoners &t l'usidderf (0 127%). Thay lived in pasteboard
huks (2 197R). Mhe 1-f”*r'11rln wran vak wlean (I 1970) . skeh pavs Lhe
prisonnrs nora food and used up 2 ynar's potetos sunply in thran ronths
(R 127")e He had boilin- lnatalla‘icna provided in erdar to combat the
lice (It 1278). e provided a bath so th2 srisgoners wonld wash snee 4
weal (It 1270). Hirsch obtained more food and medicine (I 1277).
Proviovaly there had been 1L doaths in one month and under iHrsch the
o& p oonly Dad Lheme deoetbls ln bhree and o balf mopths (61273, Kipsch
adultted ho slapped people in the face or kicked them but nevar hard
enouph for then to zo to the hospital (I 1279, 126L).

The #Children's Actlon®, sonding away of children at lauloring
C Hurbar 1, was orderad Y- Dechas and transsmittad throurh Yosrschney
to .d.meh n’nq thought they were beln~ sent %o Dachau o learn a trade
ER 1277, 1290), IFirash vas in churge of worl: detalls in Lauferlar luwiber 1
1.‘-?125 tIu counted e fornations, mada spob ghacks, and scintlios led
then out the zzte (R 1202), !, adnilted that shoss may have baon Laken
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1)
from sick jrisoners for hnalt&{' onns to M1 cut Yo \mfi: dntaila {
e wn:ifurgd to sarr- qut official bestinge, five to trmtr=Tive 'lnnhm,
a8 Lanferine Ciq Uumbor 1 (R 22713). Kirsech only pu.w.‘;uhml prlaenors
to "provont thelr sathing pors gewmn purtt shunantah (1 1283-120L5) .

Gliar Bopliars ke Kirach ao a geod eeldixe wmd paver hensdd

of s mistroating srisoners (i 1262).

33, Rl Bewln dahly  The secused Lahl aleured to tioutdfy and made

’nnuuﬁ*mmn Statemont; Ne vas a U6 year old meghande, divoreod
nnd had one oild (7 1hl)). From 1940 to the m:mt.mn he had bean a
Oriswesr L Dacliau, woasling & jsven lilalgde it wosdilng Lo vsaluwe
datal 18 1ika camstraction, claanin: up eftay air avweis, und In the
opamibory (0 1Y Une day in Dumich e found pome filna antd dea it
and hie s punlshell with others by beine foreed to pul on voodan g cas
ol to nt-md in tha cold from 7330 a.m. to 5130 pan.j and he 'dmoolf was
than labnlled %o bs sent out for extercdnation to Bushemmid, Dsutbausen,
er Natm aller (& 100).

Mahl asked foy a job in the crematorium and Sengarts, tin
udm.miutﬂtnr. took Min to help burn tho corpses (1% 1li2). 4fter
two nonths he and other prisonors were forced to go inte omy vhansver

dn axacution tool place (It W), Onea by van vonk o A eesp ot fles Ula
whoto ha was foroad to help hang two prisoners (R 1.L3). Honcarts was
tn ohirge (R 1ih3). Yater he had to cloar wray ths bodlss and attend

-ﬂ-!‘;

, executions {lﬂwlu}- mm fo put the ucpse around thelr n...r:

and remove tha ma b6 da so (W 1kl mp;.
o gﬂ'ﬁm Jﬁ?ﬁs. ﬁﬁgﬂr L5 #ﬂiﬂﬁ the 'bod;#a on carks
but never. #‘ﬁmm.m tﬁ: k) - was the firat day be could

describe thase tiinps (R

Boatiger was pregsent at the hanging of one fusmian in which
Wmmwum chatr (R 1445). E.hﬁammpmmt wihisn

Doctor Hintemayer injected twe gnant vonen, tut sssuped thls from what
he nDad neasd; later he saw Bungarpnﬁ shool tha woen bLacause they wore ztill

alive (B 1445, Wd6). Mahl remesbers that the 50 Fussiany wora undressed
tehind the cramavorium md were shot in the neck, but W navar shot
anybody (R ALL7). ila merely helped cart tho bodies awny (7 LLT).

Mahl toolk part in the aymention of twe Pussione Lh Dotebes LOLY
by putting a rope around theiy neclk with Sonpartz pulling aony tho bex
(R 149). FHn declared that when the corpses wers brousht in on tranaports
the confusl n wis mo great that 1t was pessible thut a cwrpse mizht have
fallen down (% 1iL9). lishl says bhut everybody today olaims he did
not do anybhing after 1 January 19L2 at Dashay (R 1.9).

' Mahl remesbersd &8 Mussian detail Mguidated by thes Dop Oohipany
(R Ui50). He recallsd that the Jmrish details that iorksd at tho crona-
toriun were always hanged and replaced (R U,50), T cremstoriun detail
was killed becauge they lmew f-oe nuch and ha Mmuslf ma saved boecause

the Amsricans same bafors Me was finished off. A1 thaee things d
oo tamen 1942 and 1908 (5 Tenye 4 e L A

Welter pat the transparts tozether thnt went to bo exterminatved
(R 152). As to the transport that came in in February 1943, 50 or 60
carpsas ware received avery wael and from lovembar 19LL they 1nmul;d

to 10 ta 160 o wesl (R 1USE). di

¥ahl knew most of the adoused (R 145L). H!HMMW
l&nmumm 1!! mgpuﬂuﬂthiﬁuﬁmmt:g
2 11569, Mﬂ.m: hmhw g to the . .'



T %hosm at the cremavorium (N iusy).

No living body was evor cremated since all bodies would lie
in the crematorium for about eipht days before being burned the plle
bedng so high (R 1461). Ia naver sau Krager st an execution and only
saw Trenkle once (R Y. Iahl remenbers the French General Delestraiat
who was killed by Pdongartz (R 1L62). Bungesbs alse ohet Dr. Nascher
(R 1457). He recallad being ureated Ly Dr. Schilling for malaria (R 1L63).
Howaver, he refused to take injections for fear of belnz iH1led (R 1L6L).

lecnhard Bichbergar, an accused, statsd he saq tahl holding a
machine pistol but he knows Vahl carried out all axscutions as a direct
order from the adjubant (K 1ULJ).

. Walter Adolf Langleist: The accused Langlelst slscted to testify
and made the following unmvorn stalements He was the fathar of one
child, and he came to Dachau in August 1913 and 8 d untdl 30 May
19L) as camandsr of & puard battalion (R 1330). had not baen a
member of the staff and had baen a patient for thrse woullie in 12LL in
the hospital (R 1331). He d4d guard duty over details &t Kaufering and
was tranaferred to l'uehldorf wherns he did the same dutiss in helping
to build new camps (R 1332). There were 2,000 prisoners in Mushldorf and
food was furnished y the OT (R 1333). Juehldorf vas & good camp (R 133).

Langleist olaimad ha naver touched a prasoner (& 1)3L). Irsch .

served under him and made improvemants (R 1335, 1330). Lanpleist knows
Xramer who was a very ahle pan and he camiot say amyihlng bad adout nim

(R 1337). Lanleist at one time was & colonal in the 58 and vy commander

at Kaufaring Humber | (R 1337), and wes in charge of l'uehlderf (R 1338).

e recallsd the huts &t KauPerinz Mmber 3 and hauferins fumber L md stated

sach prisoner had [0~ centimeters of space (R 1339). REither ons or
no prisoners disd at Kaufering Humber | while he was in commmd (R 1339).
Langledst doss not know Doctor Frisd, and never saw Kirasch or Kramer
mistreat anybody ( ® 13L0).

Jehinmn Kastner, o farmsrs afflsar ot Nachan, naw Tangleaiak
from Ksufering Hurbar U (R 1343). langleist was a decent person and
ordared all beatings stopped (R 1343), Kastner naver heard that Langleist
pushed prisocners into a pit (R 13LL). langleist was tranaferred to
Uushldorf because he complained of conditions at Kaufering Husber U
(R 13L5), Kastner never saw Tempel or anyons slsa beab anybody in .
Kaufaring lHumbar I whare he was for eipht months (M 13L6). Kastnew fur-
nished guards for the canp and held the rank of captain in 1346). Kastner
?ﬁmﬁgud around January 1945 whan dead bodies wers brought te Dachau

35, dnhﬂm' zcmwmt The sccusad Schospp elscted to testify and

meds the L i statmisiity  lie wew & 39 yealr old Mwisdan
citizen (R 1672), He came to Dachau in August 1943 and ves assignad

to the 8§ and stayed there until 2 October 1943 (R 1673), MHa was
hospitalized at first and then went on furlough (R 1673). On 1 !iovember
1943 hndtr::d trmf;::od to the by-camp at Yeldafin- whare ha was

on guar vwas orderad to see that n o R

there uwntil Z3 aApril 1945 whan ho mturnunbag' tfﬁﬁutné‘s }3 " H: :m
port golng to tho Tyrel (I 1673, 167L). Prisoners in the transport wers
in poor condition and he want alons after them in a frolght tradn bednpg
tonether with the reserve rusrd Laustarar (R 167L).

Schospp wad u reserve puard and nob an sctund poaxd (R 1670)
IE-: hnd :mt.!"dn to do with proventing thin escape of prl:;ugn'm I[It‘t 165‘121)1'?-.

Ra ki S tio rﬁ'l!‘.!.:: fn that trawport and as o reserws guerd tmnt alon~ peady
¥ ‘r: i..t:.-ulm: u;--mliR 1675) s  Theve wero about 100 of theuo raserve
qukpds and there were plenty of actual gmands (R 167 He vay o0 &

40 on the transport by A comrade who wis not an oﬁ-‘iﬁ;, and he mn;;

undar oprders (L 1676). PR T e _ Vo
Ahe. harits 4Ras 1’-{1};3\1‘1:' ST H%Tg!f nt Jarmiseh tn ant sdbarns ha ressiesl

e
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. I tion & 10 coMRding ™
ol ficor was wisihle (B ".:':«TT}. e 44 not Nove & cua w4 not reliam
are suards (= 1077). Schoepp 44 ot volunbaer for tha Tatean Arsy bnt’ k
wan satactad &% rondon becmism B o 2s in thm ass=Troup of 17 to 3 (R1577)

Sinn Falahtner vns & political ;wisoner st Jzchau from 3 July
1952 until 1 ovambar 1942 at whieh tine he was transfer ed to au oit-
sidn detail in Peldafing (R 1079). Wiiln =t Feldafing, Feichtner imow
3ci0npn, Mo was very sood to us priszonerah (% 107%). la nover sar
M rdstreat or take port 1n the emsenulon of wy priacner {] 15%0).
After 1ih~ration Felchtner invited Jchoem o 'da how (- 100).
Sglwapn wis & puted st Maldafis. (D 10 ), an? war arped vith oA 01
(R mﬁ}. Schoapn'a menspn) popmtatilen with ponpach to the treatmont
of prisoners was zood (4 1002).

35, Arwe sy The semuged Armo Iisweane sleeted %0 teatlif)
and made $ha followin cnaworn astalmnonts s wae a 50 rear old shoe-
dateer el had serwsd Lo Lher Jorwsi Ay Sruim 1912 o 1713 (n 1L0T). e
Joined the 88 in 1727 (R 1L10). s nighest remk ia the 55 wna Chor-
sturafiishrar (B 1411), He had heen ot Dacheu ainza 1935 and 'ins stationed
at the fouferin: by-omcps (R 1k08). ife denied the story of ssparatin: a
father and a son prisoner and of boutinge ¢'m son, and also of firiye
into & gardave pit al priscnors add Leatiss tihos (B G, 109). Lipomana
vas enployed as & Schutzhaftlarorfue'rer and zave orders that no
ﬁum ware to ba beatnn (B 2400). o was prosent at only onn fMeorzin:
t had not ordsred it (it 10T, 1409). A% this flogriig, vrisennrs vere
hudu% other prisoners with a stick md Iipp ann reported tils to
weins 1]:10’.
farip Lippann 15 the 42 yerr old wdfn of the acouund Arno
Lippary md o nothey of his thres children (B 1408). 3he saw cnd
talicnd bo prizonars chout her Lusband (I Ui06). Thay apoke vary iell
of her hushend and sald he never ulstrosted argbody and miny imobad to

Ascompany id= vhen he 1sft (B 2L07). I'ra. Liprann gawe food to toe
prisoncia 32 3La7d,

Tather Poage fmeu Aroold Lingann during the tiz« e vas in
Dachau (2 907). Pat'nr Peane savor lmard of Idpmann mistreating any
of the priscners, and on the aver:-», Lipp-ann lald back and did nothing
to thea (R 900). Liwpmaan was fanerally callad ®Grandfather® and van
dfoared leay than tue others (il 93c),

Anten Turgrader, an o Beaper in the towm of Dachau, new
Lippmann for six to aipht Yyeary ng o st md slingore man vho played
cards with him wid iaz ol el to arytody (2 1L03). i

dohann Parster, a burisass == Yivia- =ecr Dachsg, loesr
ten years 88 & quiet gerson and never teard or smw Bin hql:t;_ erurl ¢o

anybody (R 1hok),
37, Frits Desolow ;Ecu;ed no:gw slnatad %o tnutity and umde
OANT HRSTART § Latamar was 3 seeart 0ld and his eivilian
occupation had besn & public accountant (% 1729}, =, totgber 1533 ho
' allps 8 38 (R 1220). s vas trenierped 1o Dachsw on 0)
: _ﬂqﬂm,_hm-h;mmmn:lw
o ened Wit carlan out outaide segurity
d nothing to do vith the nrlsoners /% 1021Y. e




the muards wore nob, allowed to corry stiels in-their hands and Wera hek
alloiad to beat the priscnere (R 1221).

Dogalow odnittad et ha vms in charge of all ths outside 38
sgiivds (B 1225). This included baufering whers he had oS00 minda (D 1229}.
Thase gunrds yere aob permitved to go into e wupound (1 2225) ".mm*' |
kimy 04d man the towers wileh surroinded the camp (R 1225), They Ad
huwa s duty of muapding and proventine Lhe grigunsrs! escape tut _
thay wero not in chirge of thew (T 1225), Degelow nevar too' part in nor ]
did any mamber of his hattalion talm part in execublons (1L 1221).

fith pespect to a tranuport wideh left Dachau oi 20 April
1648 ho had the task of obtalning resting places for the colusns (R 1221).
Thig duty had besn assicmed to him by the canp ceviender Weiter (11 1221},
v march had Searn ordersd by Weltor (2 1222). The prismers bad beon
Uwidad irto sections by the dehubzhaftlaserfuslirer nd the puards ad
Lasn datailed b tho Adjubneh, Obbe (1 1222, 1220). e denled taat he
marahed with the prisonars hecause he alwoys drove ahond (1 1222) .
e danlod that he ever beit auy of the priscners siih u stlck on that
mared (2 1202y, At that time he was a mejor aid the viltness Woll had
salled Wip A csptain so anparently Welf had been ristaken in idantl=
fring him as the individual who had breten a prisoner with a sticlh
(R 1222). Furthermore, thorn fms & captain oo had aslmilor physloal .
makoup by the name of Dayer, vho was on the transpert (T 1223).

fn 20 April 1945 ha pave the order that therawould be no Dirthexr
mareline and aopdered that Cfood o distribufed aven thaish the urdisoheru
had flpeady peesivad their provisions for the day (R 1223). Sa dondad
thit ha oynry pob out of a esr and hit u man witn . botlile at Volfratshwisen
bocause ha novar aven stoppod at Wellfratuhausen (B 1223), o denled
tad he hod ever ligd o sonference in eny inn or tavern at olfratshousen
(11223), ‘g doided that he had ever wiopped along the way to mt
samp banr or food (1 12203, e turned the prisoners over separately,
uliet Loy Sl Masadans amd Pulea sl one Gliie ‘Gud tlw Owiioens aid Jewa et
anptlier Lime becauss of an ordsr ha Mad pecsived from his lﬂpﬂ‘ib!‘
olffeer 4n the 38, Bberstedn (1 d22h). - "

‘The suards wio accempamind the pmaﬁra- on the transport of 20
aurd). 195 vers not undsy his supervision and control (R 1225). At that .

tlme uhe UITts wers all mixed up (K Lizzh).

Decalet danted thet he was the copmanding of Moer of the march
and stated thot he only dlususd tho order thut the mareh would stop which
vaa in esamlancs vith the Instrustions of the eanp sortiender (T 1228).
She muerds o acecmpanded the transport vera not fron his battalion but
Trom flossenbers and the coamsind post (R 1276). Tul thess puards vsre
nok subject to Hde direction and supsrvision (R 1226), T™e OChorsturne-
%;vmhrgr&ai dr*‘iwh:« _thicigzh the transport but did not step (2 1227).

r Qbergturmbannfushrer Sad only rdven b ! AT R
hnd 1080, (it 357 Niy dven the prder to stert the maveh and

Dagelow admltted that hefas senicr in prade and that he had
ardsrad the march to stop on als oim respensihility (8 1227). Mo adwitted
WhEL, althourh Lhe cormander had ordored the march, he had dane nething
sings, so bhet Degrlow had to takn charge 4. order to pravant 4 larper
eatastrophe (1 1227), e adwitted tho. he arranced the sunrender a2 the
transpert. (3 1258) . Dagalew statad thab 47 thoy lied parched any farshon
wish thousands of individuals would have died because thiere Wads ot encush
proyisiona (1t 1220). Az a ratter of Szt bafove lewins Dachisg Yo had voted
At & mooting Yhat the entdsw cotpounid bo surpendered and vus asalngd drfving
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the inmates into the mountains and latblig thun die there (R 1220}, At
gt meating the division lsaders asd Telss were present (R 1220), Welss
soncuryed with Dagelow's opinion (R 1231). During the march Hauptmasn
Setmartz had informed him that the prisomers wers dying from exhaustion
and ralnutreition (R 1728)., Upon receipt of that information he sald

that the prisuners were W be swrendersd tie ILrst nLont (1 .].:E'nﬂﬂin .

Dogolow atated thut at Wolfratahausen he decided to stop the march (R
That was on ¢ April. Degelow admitted that the Jews and Gemans con=
tinusd to mareh to o camp nenr Sad Tols md dd not arrive until 30

April ‘i 1230). Degelow explained that tha march contimied becayse of
the arder of a police leader throush the ade lender 71lesch (% 1230).
Dagsion @10 not ses langisist on the march (R 1231).

Pandtz, who sarvad with the 8§ muerd company at Dachau under
Degelow, was liaisen on April 27 and 29 hetwmen the staff in camp and
Degelow (R 1231)., The march - as ordsred Iy headquartars and Degelow pro-
panded to deternine places whnre file prigonara were toopoet (n 1232).
Dagelos had a confersnce wiilh the bri-ade 1l-ader at Konndsdorf in which
he propozed that H00C prisoners mere to hr surrendersd (7 1232). ‘'Mhat
wag the only time that he saw Depmlow on tip mareh (T 1232). when the
prisonars lsft Dachau they ware zu pposed to =o o 3ad Tolz vhere &
camp was to be opened (R 1232). Fusits wos an Uherstumistrer 4 the
8% (R 1233).

3% Otto liolly The acouged, Otto "'oll, elocted to tostify md mude
the follow unaworn statswonts le -au a 30 year old carnan. In
sivilian life ho had besn a gardenar (5 1420), He joined the 38 on
30 1ay 1935 (R 1420, 1432), loll was ot first 4t Oranienburs and then
went to Ausclmita @8 a gardener whaere he remained from 1941 until 1945
(R 1433). He nevor had contact with prisoners at Auscindte(3 1433).
il came to BSaufering Mmber |, o1 20 Pabroay 10L5 (R 1L20). toll
sarved there for six wmeks and was a casp leudsr (R U28). The loll
company had nothing to do with hia thowrh the nane was sisdlar to his
am (R 1429).

Moll checked bullding sites for tim commandant at the company
and once noticed three prisoners nezlscting their work and bollins pota-
tors during weridas howrs (R 1L29). He became angry and beat oach of them
with a sticl over their buttocks (R 1,27, 1L,33). The Noll G _

Hans Stroh made reports on .wisaners and requeabed theis puls mmﬂ;--..
rosrschner did not want to punish thenm himoslf add ordersd %611 to do it
(" 1429). Foerschner was his comisnder in Kaufering Mumber i (R 1433).

Eoll & .d had typhus and a fractured am, had lost the sifht
of hie right eys and vas very nervous md exeitable (R 1430), Be
donled Notaler's stawy shost ehooting L6 peuple on an evacudtion trans-
port from Kauferine Cap Kumber i (R 1430). On that mareh he was leading
n.owﬁgwmmmmmTﬂdmdmmdhmm '
Ukranlan civilian voriers and brins them thvourh the Germin 1ines (R 1430}
Moll went ahead to investigate md whan e cose back he did not m{ﬁ e
%"" the prisasers w0 id presumbbly Loen surrendered (1 130, Mi21).
: | & tpaop Lisnup, b Lul wnong tham vers spiconsrs frot Dachau,

; few Germans, one Pole, mg:m nmm:’m wio hal basn clot ad in Ly
farman undfoms (2 Ui3l). lio ane alist the Pola Llim | £
nlstreatod ﬂmgﬂﬁﬁ 7 ‘ o i CaRReI o

1 danded that be hig B ek B i et
A domey T o114 ettt ‘i; s ﬁfm transpor
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39, Gtbo Baohulwms The accuned Schuly slscted to Yestify and mads
the follovdns unovorn stutenntt e was Li2 years of am, merrisd and
had thyee ghilaron (R 1057). le was a carpsntnr by trada (1L 1057). fin
wan opdered o 30 Oersan Aemoewmt Jor'is () at Dachai on 20 I_l g
Lol (R 1087Y. e hed ael Losa tn Dachau befere thab {li!:'i'«‘- EH UJ‘PE!:':""‘:_:;“Q‘.'“
Zop sane military training as o nosber of the Wallen 85 in 1ali2 (R l-}.
fis danisd that he beat any priscners in Septembay or Decembor 1942 because
hé was not ak Dachag then (T 2050). [e was not entirely responsitile
Tor the workisc hours at the DAY but ordars would be peceived lrom
Horiin fren paopla, who had no technical yndarstanding, requiring fhat
WO 58 dond® 1T 8 CAPTOLn 1ongth Ol TAnT and not paddwdop blal 10 cuudd
not be dona (R 1047, 1088, 1069), Thus they wera told that a houss had
to ba Hullt for Mmlsr in a very siot time and 0000 amwndition canes
had to be commbructed in a cortaln poried of time (R 1059)s The prisoners
ware dildpent (B 1060). In ordar to lesp within tha tdne sshedules allewed,
he had to worl them o er tl-e (R 1053, 10060). Furthersors, the nommal wori-
ing time had not basn datommined by Schuls but bt Obergruprentialirar FPail
{ 21060},

It had bash stated bhut the priscnerve wers to wark O hours a

waeks bub Schinlz hiad determined that 72 hours were sufficisut (1 1060),
They naver worked an {l tour vwesk (R 1065). Thev did not worl fxactly

T2 lours Lscouse thay pecalved an hour and & half at luneh and extyn .
ration time (R 1066), Farthermore, in tha winter hey would work n 1ittls
later Wt the trisoners wers satisfied with this becauss they did not have
to take part in tha formations at 6130 (I 1066), When Pohl lenrned thab
the worlers did not work on Sunday he became vary excited bub wes satis-
Mad (7 IOGE). Sehule adeittod that ho threwr sold water on n prisenor
it that he had not intonded to do = (B 10061). There had Been long
smeicing racesses in the toilets and Séhulz would go on the roof to see 1
someone was hidine and than would pour a padl full of watern, it he did
not pour the water on those sitting on tho sants but only on thosn who
wavs standing in groups (i 1061), Schulz admittsd that he threw food
fiom ouws of Lw stoves into the dirt (% 1u6l, L062), PArterwards 1 ves
ashamod that I let mynelf go like thatd (R 1062), Schuls did neb feew
that Welss had become cormandant at that time (R 1062).

Schule Joined the Waf'fan 83 in Jammary 1942, and the A1lperising
88 in May 1943, He was promoted to Uritorscharfushrar in the Allsspaine .
BE An d¥3i (1 1US4). He came to Dachau in April 1943 as =n 83 rifleman
but on the basle of his technicsl pesition he could not he ety &8 o
riflenan but was made an Unterscharfustwer (R 1063) , ~ '

The pr_:‘:ﬂansra who worked at the DAW yara not hangry Iin the
ordinary senge (& 1065). The averags wan w%e1l monsdohsd bxdeph thoss
Wio were naw arvivals or ressived no packapges (R 106Y9), The averags
irioonar anjoyed workine at tho DAW (R 1n6§s

o Farl Steinar, an inmite who worked at the DL tastifiad that
Sehtda came to Dachau as the Works Enn?cur of tha German Arnanent Werks,
kiown 48 the DAW in Apri1 1943 (R 1047). Sineo o DAW worlked wiii] 100
and siok call at the canp was at 6100, those who were 311 had to pet
special permission from Schulz as work manager befors thay could leuve

£ 107, 1052), Sehuls would make spot checks (R 10LA).  Obsreturafushrer
Diner was dn charge ab the DAW and was Schuls's superior and was pressnt
al tie time these spot chooks were mads (R 1048, 10L9).

1050). Schulz had h:;plmm at loast onu:h::?h K a moak s

vould have meant death with respect to the men con Hp ;‘wm 20513?1*1' ainca it

“lad-



Upon 3 request for aaditicnal clarical (mln, cortain preats wore
datalled to belp (P 1050), A Berlin order staled t'wt priests “pild a0t
be used on Yils sort of worik Li3 nohwis put ties iato positions =8
sa=istants and contimuad to uso tham (R 1061).

s TICPdL Eellor worksd at the DA frep 22 [ arch 1943 until
20 april 1945 mnd vas ia chargs af Lbs cash rezistor el pay books (2 ulﬁh}.
She only sav Schuls beat one priscner (B 1055). e slnnped hin in the Jece
(R 1085, 1057). Extra food was brought to theoe priscusr-workers sach
mortiar and afterncen (R 1057). The cemp comnmidar wiu Lhe vork laader
lé tn nn ather wenpsct had agrthing to dn writh the N, that is, ho

supplied the workers (R 1055).

L0. Prisdrich Wetzels The accused Priedrich Letzel slected to
testify and madn © followin: unsworn statementt T vaw 36 years
old and was born in Wittenburs (X 956), He came to Dachau on 1 Augat
190 an ardeys of the navenmial sestion af tha Wooneds A rd wtrati an
Shief OffMce (1 957), At Dachau he was the leadsr of the administration
and was concerned with the food gusily for the camp (2 257). The Reich
food office tirourh regulations determined the allotrent for the concen-
tration camps (R 957). Wetsel hid to follow those rules (R 957).
He atiempted to obtain food without requisitions ad in that manner
fran 5 bo 7 Hlloprane of pre—cucked agups pou mpath (1L 201). lio atlesplel
. to loase new land for the camp fagthe purpose of crewing vegetables and
Yms supplementing the canp food supply (R 958, 986, 957). In sdditiom,
the axtra rations widch were peridttod for heavy worksrs under the
ons vars puffed so that this supplement was received for about
70 per cent of the inmatas of the cam 'Wlﬂlﬂd;glhmtﬁﬂ
20 par cant were sntitled to 1L mﬁ 960, Def Ex 2, ). Furthermore,
the tal prisoners ved lpon.hi additional rations upon request
wﬂﬁ-w(nvﬂ). This was actually accosplished (R 958, 959,

g
i

Ho had nothing to do 1tk the priscners'! quurters although he
did lasue Lo SDwnlture for e barracks (M vol). He was responsibls

for repairs (R 961). He requestad clothing at the Administration Main

Office in Berlia (N 961), Mowevar, is requests were not £illed and he

moeived only a very ssall percentage of what h» sought (R 961). He

sont toletypes and letters stating that he needed the clothing very

badly and still the yoquests wore uot filled (N 9651). He was in charpe
. of 1D5uing rations for trans ard did so in acoordance with the

rules of the Adninistration -&in Office (2 962). e was also

with requisitioning food for the by-campn of Dackan (R 962). This

responsibility did not apply to the work camps of Kaufering (R 962), How-

ever, the clotidng for these canfs was susplied b Dachau (R 963).

Ueteel instructed Filleboec: to ;0 %o the Food Office in Dachau
in order to forestall lowering of tin ration unit (& 264), When Pilleboeck
returned and stated that they would have to o to Munich, Filleboeck and
mmumu County Food Office (R 965). The official
in charge sald that there was nothing that he could do about it as
i g

¥

frem the Redeh Food !thdstiry in Derlin, md as

dewm
u;mwmmmmﬂmﬂﬁﬁ.
offieial in Vunich had stated that the prisoners in the concentra~
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cut and washed and then put into the soup to ha codked (R 967, 976). 1o
potten vepetables ware used (1 967).

Wetsel naver beat any jrisonsrs (R 967, 968). lor did he ever
stoal anything (R 567, 060). Ha derled that ho was oves prssant at tha
time new arrivals came to the supply room. He denied bthat he aver beat
priscners (R 968), la had received an ordar which stated that hecause of
the loos of large territory in the east and particularly in the vwest where
the large textile supnlied were, that they could no longar count on
receiving lapge distributiony of clothes (R 969). There was a shoe repair
amd Lallur alwp lu Lo vesp which sainbained old thinge in good condibien
(R 969). Wetzel had shoes mude from old leather parts wiich he had
found lying outeide the camp (R 569), All the priscners woo went to
worit had overcoats and sweaters mnd all the details sdthin the camp had
overceats (R 969, 976). Bven though an order had come from Herlin which
stated “hat prisoners who worked in closed roams were ot to be isuued
overcoats (it Y6y, YyU}. Un tHe basis ol ThAS oraer, Wetzel had tne over-
coats turned in for e few days and then reissued them (R 970).

M 1leboecl: wag Watzel's food expert worker, and he was undar
his orders (R 970). Fillehoesk had to sizn out each time he wanted
to ra anvwhera and. o {or as Vetzel imew. Filleboeck had novoer atiendad
any esecutions (R 270).

Mith respect to the trarsport whiich laft Dachau at the end of .
April 1945 under the leaderihi; of Depgelow, Wetzel atated that, when Degelow
gai Filleboeck and him, he greated thenm by saying, "You are the first ones
wiin ave paging any sttortien Lo #lide 4Lremopest dnd to mpself. Ths ouns
comiandant and the adjutant and the ordnance officers drove by this
morrdng and didi't even show their faces® (R 971). Degelow stated that
the prisonars had sul'flclent raticns wntill they would ba turned over
to the Americans (R 971). Rach transport which left Dachau was equipped
vith sufiefent rations for the merch (R 971). 'he train transport, the
enly e uf ot Lyso which 44 leave Daghaa, had rationg or four or
five days (R 972).

The destination of the Depelow trans was the Ertz Val’
wilideh way atout L0 kilomntars mmy in the vici&?i; of Innsbruck ERL;';%( .
There wore two food warshow as at Dachau; one was for the 95 and the other
fur Ll prisonsts (I w73). The vareliouse in the 85 canp was shout fonr
metars vide and elght, to ten meters leng (1 973). The prisonors! warehouse .
¥Ry W or thres times as larze (R 973). Tharn were also twh wareliouses
.t'z:r clothing [Ht;‘rhiiy At the time the trangports lest, thesa store
rooms wore practica giply (B 97L), Yetzel covld ol anter the cloti
rooms of the S5 (1 975), p’?!m Poent i'ur tha 83 cams 4':-?3: ':ﬁﬂiﬁﬂwﬂfhm
Uilies (0 975). The food wideh the cusrds raceived durls 1915 ~van
betitior;, but nat much betbar, than that the prlsenss received (R 975) .

doetor Triedarich Hillan who was & government counsalop in
the Food Dapartment In Vunieh, Sermany, was visited in 1945 byt tvo 85
o] ﬁﬂ':lll:l.n W o degirved te pet hichar ratdans oy, Us tnltl-] bhom thed
E;e! dlel |0t hava the power to chinse the ordews of tha Raish Tood Mir
and thnt Iis ovdors jad to ho falloved (2 D75)e le Ldantifiad &
83 e“flelals ay uatsal aal Fillsboos): i o) '

sty
tha ko

Vielael's secratars ton: Inttary

withell he die 1
elﬂthlﬂ_‘ and vl oll wepee wlidpsoeed o fits e tHLEd ﬂmc&mﬁ,ﬂ_
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Oranyenburg (R 970, 901). In these letters were requests for clothing,
aocks and glioss which were not satisfied (R 9M1),

Anton Weber who was in charge of the clothing supply roam for
prisoners &lso worked for Wetzel for about eight months (R 983). e
e th-% o ¥letype had been seul Lp Derlin in widch larger quantliies
of clotidny had besn requosted (R 982). The response statea that those
quantities of clothlng hed besn requented (R 982), The response stated
that those rrantities could not be received bacause of the lurge amount
of berrifory wioh 'iad bnen lost by the Germans (R 902, 983). The
telotype s sent elther in 19l or in the beginning of 1045 (R 983),

8. OComzon Dosdpns

The eiroular of the Reich Nindstry for Food for April 1945 indi-
catad 2 nemal adult German would be entitled to about 900 calories
day and a heavyr laborer 1300 calories (R 1530-1531, Def %x 20 and 21).
Hovaver, wase Iigures do not inelude wegetables, potatoes, cheess and
coffea (R 1531-1532),

1. AL Dnchaur The Dachau Concentration Camp had inmates termed "special®
prisonars wio wera completely separated from the rest of the camp (R 1000),
Each had Mu oum eell £H 1000). In July 1941 there were only three.
Photor Liemoeller, Doctor Hasck and Pather Neurhrusm (R 1000). Gradually
the nurdar of special prisoners increased.

2. At Loufering and Vuehldorfs Doctor Brica Flocken, a 33 year old Onrman,

“ormerly chief physiclan of thn O Field Hespital had bsen associated with

the OT feor alnoet 2 year and worked at the br-camps Muehldorf and Kaufaring
* L35, 1370). She stated that the OT was responsible for food, shalter,

bandages, nedleine, md fixtures for these camps (R 1377). Ration lumber

li yas provided for the vworking prisonsrs and was dispensed by the 0T

after they had received it from the Army (R 1377, 1378). The 88 had

Artyy Ratidon Number 3 (R 1378). Ration Number I was considerably i gher
than the civilian watien and the invalid sation (R 1378). Uen theie

waa o surplus in ration lumber l, it would go to the OT (R 1379)., The

58 had no jurisdietion over the OF (R 1379), In Fabruary 1945 as the

Anericans drew near rations were roduced, the last redudtion being in

April and at the time Natien Humber L was not enonzh for labarers and

Was equal to the civilian ration (R 13490} .

At U'uehldors there wera about 2,000 prdsoners with whon she had
contact (8 1331), She saw them occaulonally and watched thinga regarding
the sick as $6 labor distribution (R 1302)., Doctor Mocken was relieyved
becanse of too much work (R 1383). The 0T had no Jurisdiction over the

prisoners (R 1304). Army Ration Husber 1 and 2 wera never issusd by
bhe OF el Nullon fumver L contained between 2100 and 2200 caloriss—-this

being prior to the redustirn (X 1313 8L, T Ny
orles vere around 1500 (i uﬁ%]' 303, 136L)s Puring the peduction the cal

3ha was not responsible for the nedical care of the priscners
whieh vig undar the supervision of thelr own doetne who wrkudpund-r
e supervigion of the 1S dostor (% 1306)., T™he 53 doctor at Kaufering was

Doctor Blanka (R 1386), ier hur: S g b _
laborers in or Ganns n;;.‘j.,y (R %ﬂ%}. pervision was confined to German
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VI. PROSECUTYON REBUTTAL BVIDENCE.

Common Design.

Frince Isotgld, who was np inmste at Laghaiu, viaited the
clothing warahouse in Lecember 1844 and thare Tound bobta in the collar
which were piled up to the ceiling (R 17688, 1770). The @ were also

many cvercoats, masses of underwear, shoes and suita (4 1760-1770). The
warehouse was about two hundred to three hundred yerds long and about

30 to 40 meters wide (A 1771). Adjoining this storeroom was s large
barracks which was also filled with suits, overcoats and shoos (# 1771).
In April 1945, Prinoe Leopold agein vlisited the warehouse and there wers
st11l large amcunts of elothing there (X 1771). He saw several aof the
55 men from the camp go thure and obtain olvilian c lothes (% 1772).
Prinoe lsopold mlso sew at that time thousands of sacks of pre-cooked
soupt and white flour st the canteen(s 177£). Surthermors, thore wers
two redilway wagon cars filled with red oross packagzes which had been
received from the international red orosa but had not besn distributad
to the priscners (* 1778). after liberation, lu'fo angunts of medicines,
beds nd mattresses were found fr the store room (& 1721). The
medicinal equipment alone was sufficient to lust for two weeks (M 1721).
The medicines which had come to the prizon hospital had been sent from
Cranienburg (£ 1788). pus to the insuffficienoy, other druge were
smuggled into the camp (R 1728).

There were no typhoid epidemics in the camp in Novembor and
December 1944 (R 1768). However, the first typhus oupes were racorted
in Hovember 1944 (i 1718). About 5O people died in the cemp that month
from typhus (# 1719). &t that time various possibilities for fsolation
and sxtension of the hospitel into the working blocks existed (2 1719).
Blook Number 3, which was used to house 12 women of 111 repute could huve
been wkilized ms well as #some store rooms and the ninth block whichw as
supty (R 1719-1720). Fany of thess facilitiss wern used after libere-
tion (& 1720). Conditions had beogme very crowded at Lachsu in 1946
g0 that two tents had been erected for storate purposes and otlier tem-
norar: barracks had been built (8 1724). However, many rocrs which could
have been used were not (4 1724). 1he typhus epidenic was ohecked
fourtesn deys after liberatien (£ 1720), Intha ear 1945 Ur, Blaha, o
prisoner who werked on autopaies, had disssoted about 25 53 men of whom
six or seven had died of typhus (M 1715). Dr. Dlaha estimated that

if liberation had not come, not more than one fifth of the ¥0,000
prisoners would have survived (¥ 1720).

Up until the end of 1942 autopsies were performed only in
Interesting cases upon crders from the 83 physlcian of the ward or the
ward oapo, Hrunc, who had been a driver in civilian life (* 1711). and
until the bezineing of 1544 the cauvse of death had tesn determined by
the male nursing personnel of the Hospital who were all laymen( K 1711).
EI:; usual onuse stuted was heart pickness and failure of cireulation
©1711).

Frick, Funk, Smuckel, “openberg, Ksltenbrumen Gaulsiter
Sag'ner, Caulsiter Gilesler and Hlmmler visited Dachau (K 1708. 17009).

Yr, Blaha estimated that he had performed autopsies on 2& to
&0 peosls during the past three years in Lachau who had died ss'a
result of having been beaten (% 1715). This iroluded several high
Rugsian offloers who had been brought to the hosrital from the
Political Uarartmant int ha womeee of 104 (R 1718, 1732297380

Inmates for invalid transports were selected by commissions in
1041, 1842 and 1943 and there was no oamp physfcian present at the
time (4 1717). The geloction was performed primarily hy the bloek
leaders under the gupervision of the 58 man from the work “istribution




(ffice and in the hospital by the hospital capos (R 1717). It was only
after the entire list had beon complotely compiled that the S5 physiolian
signed 1t (7 1717). An invalid teansport of 20 men left Dachau {n August
or aeptam?n.r 1943, st whioh time Welss was camp commander, (R 1749,
1760-1761) .

The phlegmon experiments wers purely a oamp matter and were oon-
ducted from the beginning of 1942 until the end of 1043, m period during
which both Plorkowsky and “eiss were the oamp ¢ommanders (& 1718-1717).

In the middle of Movember 1942 a transport arrived at Vachau from
Btitthof vpon which cannibaliom had probably been practiced (¥ 1718).

The corpses were brought to the hospital and photographed by the S5 men
(% 1718)., Oommandant Melss was prosent at the time the tranaport
arrived (H 1726).

Eaufering Camp Number 4 had an eleotrical fence as an inclosure
(R 19RE). T¢ apperently wao chargod sinse & cat was found whloh had

beon eleotroouted by it (% 1762), \
At the end of 1946 no insane people were found at Allach (R 1718).

V1. PROSECUTION HEBUTTAL EVIDENCE,
9. Johann Eiok.

lieutenant Guth, who had taken the acoused Kick's pre-
trial statement, of 5 November 1945, atated that he had not used any
light whatsoever during Kick's interrogation whioh ccourred durlng the
daytime and that Kick's affidavit ountalned his own language (R 170%,
1707, pros ex P6-87).

Colonsl Devid Chaver testified that when he interrogated Flck
that he did not foroe him to make mny statement and that Kick appeared

to be in good health and revealed no evidences of his having been
senbon (B 1870-1c00, 1lo61).

Liowellyn ~dwards, a Oritish Prisoner of Var who had been in-
torned in Vachau in OUstober 1843 had been interrogated by Kick (R 1868)
After ho had spoken to Kick for about 20 minutes, Kick struck him with
his fists and open hand and kmocked out his testh (# 1868, 1670, 1874).

10, Dr, Frit: Hinterma.er.

The disinfecting station was part of the hospltal

(% 1721). A Belgian Lisutenant named Walraeve, who was an inmate at
Pagchau, worked in the station from Janvary 1044 until liberation
(R 1740-1748)¢ IUa lmmwdlsate puperviSor was 53 rillmann, who in turn
roceived his arders from Dr, Hintermayer (K 1745). 1In February 1548,
Hintermayer ordered Ur. Sohneter to take charge of the disinfeoting
and delousing (¥ 1721). Inthe latter part of 1944 a disinfecting
station arrived at Dmonau (E 1740, 1748). It had been sent from the
Auschwitz Concentration Camp (R 1740). After it srrived it wars kept in
erates Lu fyunl of Lhe barrmoks for weeks (K Lval). Ur, Hintesmywr
clatwed that a specinl tooliniolan f'rom the (actory was the only one who
oould set up the apparatus, even thought here were technicians in the
camp (R 1741). Tha typhus epidemic was get*ing underway at the time
(R 1741). A mggestion had been made ta Yr. lintermayer to use the

- of & ute for isolutiun purposes, in view of the epidemin,

house of 111 repute {
but e did nobhing annut 11 (R 174§,

, rium won frequently used as an ambiseptic in surgery
(R 1714), It must be injeoted slowly and it may be administered in
doses of .6 grams over a long period of vime (R 1714)., T that amount
were injeoted into the human avstew at one time it would causw a



—
paralysis of the respiratory system and possibly result in death (R 1716).

If it In used in greater quantities than .b grams the effect on the human
body 1 more {mmmdiate (& 1718).

11. Or. Wilhelm Wittelsr.

Iieutenant Yuth denied that he shined a spot light in the
faoe of the aocoused Witteler while interresating hinm, denied that he
made Wittelsr stand on hie feet for seven and a balf hours duringy the
interrogation and denied thet he Lhrestensd to use eny foree or
violence or that he abused Witteler in any manner (i 1701-1702, 1704, 1707).
thne iuverrogation leastea Irom about seven o'clook until eleven o'elock
(& 1708-1704). Ideutepant Suth admitted that he used the most effective
toné possible in conduoting the interrogation and that, naturally when
an sdugated person sms interrogateod, m different tone of volos was used
than when en unedusated person was guestioned (& 1704).

1Z+ Johunn Bepntlet 4ichelsdoriers

Ligutenant Bowser who hac obtained the pretrial statement
of the aoccused -lcheladorfer testified that Eichelsdorfer had read,
studied anc sorrected the atatemant before signuing and that Licheladorfer
had initialed all the changes which he made in the statoment (& 1668-1700
pros ex 1la). lurthermore, lLisuteénant Howser had informed Liohe lsdorfer
of the charges against him (R 1701).

=ighelsdorfer was the camp commander of Faufering Camp Number
4 ¥n the middle of January 1045 when Ur. Fried, an inmate, was the
clerk in the office of that camp (% 1784). ur, Fried prepared the
repOrts IOF THE S1gNATUrE of LichelsdorYer As Hauptmannlageriuehrer
(R 1764). Eichelsdorfer had 1thle contact with the people inthe
camp and the daily death reports were usually taken putside the camp
for him to slgn (& 1750, 1764). Although Kaufering Camp number 4
hed becoms a siok eanp, work details, such as burial, food and wood,
left every day (# 1767). Toward the end of Jannary an order was
1ssued Thal no cvercoats were to be worn in the camp (4 1758). The
prigoners were finally allosed to keep 120 overcoats, but the rest
wors piled on the parade grounds where they atayed for weeks (% 1758).

when the camp was evecuated in April 1845, Efcheladorfer
watched the antire affair (& 1762-1783). .

At Kaufering Camp Husbyr 7, Efohelsdorfer used to beat the
prisoners (d 1764).

1. Ur, Klaus Karl Schilling.

Winea ons of Yr. Sohilling's patients died there were
oriders to report that fact to the malwris station even though the man
had died {n ancther puoti-n of the hosmcital (& 1712). Toward the ond of 1942
Frofesscr vchllling was personally presont at the nutopsy of & manwho
dled of neosalvarsan and he requosted the brain, lwsr, kidoeys, wspleen
and a plese of the stomech (K 1712, 1781). In that case Dr.Schilling
diotated part of the findiags with respect fo the cause of death
(% 1712). When the first three vatients died from pyramidon in
februar; 1546, s member from the malaria station and Ur. Hintermaser
were present (R 1713, 1723, 1781). Dr, Blaha stated that in his
experience as a phisician the average patisnt could receive 5.3
E:P_rutidm:— a duy, snd that the largest duss would be 2 grams per day,
ut that of course assumed that the individual was healthy and atrong
({ 1718), In br, Blaha's judgement, the prison inmates oould not be
given more than one and a hall to two grams for s few days (4 1714).
If' those people wers to receive three grams ver de, for thrue successive
dava, signe of polsoning would ba rovealed (& 1714).

¥



Dr. Blaha stated that an autops; revealed that death frem p ramiden
was the result of sudden suffooation whioch was not truwes in the onse of
typhus (R 1726). Death from typhus could be determined by certain indicia
without a microscope (R 1728).

Up, Blaha explained that the ordinary model tablet contailed
.3 pyvamidon and that 1t {s sold over the open counter (K 1722), If
taken in moderate dosss it will not have an: 111 effects (R 1722).

A leaflet of I. G, Farben, Indiana, whioh hald ths nacaalvarsan
containad the following instructions: "In between the individual
infeobicna .l;r:au' of dimwe whould be permitbod bo elapeo; from & hree
to seven days. (Pros %x 134) These were instructions for syphillis
(R 1664). In paragraph five in the leaflet it read in part, "Such
caution in the use of neosalvarsan is recommended for under-nourished
and severs anemic patients, tyberoulosis, diseases of the lungs, heart,
¥idneys, liver and intestines  (* 1564, 1666).

17. Dr. Fridolin Earl Puhr.

Puhr's name appeared regularly in 1945 as the officer of
the day or the hospital bulletin beard (R 1718, 1728). He was seen at

various times in the hospital and sometimes was present at autopsias
(i 1718, 1708).

20, Anton Endres.
Endres, o member of the 58, was a firet aid man in 10842
at Duchau (K 1735). He kiocked and beat prisoners of various nationalities

(2 1728). TIn the spring of 1p42 Endren injechtsd a Tellash clergyman
who was & tuberoulosis patient, as a result of which he died (K 1736-1737).

22, lMiochesl Redwite.

Lieutenant Uuth, who obtained the pre~trial affidavit of the
mucussd Medwlbe, Leslifisd Lthat be osver dirscbed m 11ght 1n ledwitz's

f'moe, that he did not use foree or violence, and that he did not
threaten to atrike Hedwitz with anything (K 1707, pros ex 96).

28. Wilhelm Vialter.

T Soplunber 1542 “elior wnbered Bloogk 150 mpd ordesed bhe
fmnates to stand et attention (K 1742). One inmate, a Czeck diplomat
whuwas an €lderly mwan and did not have an ereot posture, was somewhat
stooped (4 1743). Walter 'elled at him and struck him in the face
twice with his fist (K 1743). The Czech fsll down and hit his head on
the edge of a locker (B 1743). Welter then forced the people in the
blusk v Llow up vulslds Lo Liw sbreel and du kowe beuds for 40 wloulos
(R 1743). 1If an oldér or 111 porson fell down, Welter would kick them

(4% 1745), A dew days later Yelter had the eame blook 1ined up again
and gegregated the Jews (B 1743). He then questioned eech Jew and
beat almost ever one of them (4 1743, 1744, 1746).

&0, W1lltholm Twmpel.

Tempel not only struck the prisoners in the face with his
hand, but he often knoocked them down (R 1756).

351. Albin Yretsch.

The mocused Gretsoh never stated that anything in his
statemsnt was incorrect (W 1682, pros ex 117). The statement was pre-
pared and written by ldeutonant Lawrence (R 1583).




VII. SURREBUTTAL EVIDENCE TFOR THE ULRFLNSE.

1. Uartin Gottfrlied helas.

The wscoused “wiss made the following unsworn stetement: UDuring

the year 1948 no invalid trensportas whotscever left Dachau (2 1818).
Small and large transporte did go to warious by-camps and other oamps

(R 1813). People on sarce of thess transports hed arrived by invalid
transports in Uachau and had been sent out after they had been nursed

to health (R 1813). Thers was no group of twenty insane persons sept cuton
an invalid transport in Ueptember 1943 (R 1814), If there had heen,
Weiaa would haye known about it (R 1814). Application for {lorgine
punishments were made b, the camp somménder to higher autherity and

the orders to oxeoute the punishments cems from Oranienmburg (R 1814).
The beatings could only be handed out if the order had been given by
Cranfenburg (4 1614). The exception to that rule was when the prisoners
tried to escape and were recaptured (% 1814). 1In that svent, permission
had to be obtained afterwards (¢ 1814)., Uachay was & good camp (H 1815).

6. Johann Klelk.

The accused Fick made the following unsworn statement: He
did not strike or beat Sergeant Edwards., Yrs. Ermst, his secretary,
was present during the entire conversation, and he romambersd the .
Edwards oase ospecially because he was the only British prisomer of
war who was ever in the camp (% 1804-1805). Kick explained that in the
fall of 1943 many prisoners came to Dachau from Italy who were mostly
eivilians altheugh soms military personnel were nized in among them
(R 1605). The prisoners of wer wers supposed to have been separated
from the eivilians at a camp near Salcburg eond the civilians were then
brought to Lachau (i 1806). Somehow Ldwards must hsve been mixed up
with the olvilisns (4 1806), ihen Sdwards, sccompanied by a Polish
interpreter, cams to Kick he showed Kick & photograph of himself with
his comrades in british uniform and Kick sent a letter to Salsburg re-

questing that the prisoner be transferred to a PN camp (R 18068), Kiok stated
that whan ha was (whoarwagatad ad ﬂnmp ZuPParhansan 'hbu E-P{-_lln Hallaw af

the prosecution he mentioned Sergeant Ldwards' name in respomse to a
question as to whether or not there were any Amerioan PWs at Dachau

(R 1807). Kick denied that he interrogated four or six other Lnglishe
mon in the same webk that he interrogated Sergeant ldwards and that an

English ssilor was transferred with Sergeant tdwards (K 1808). He .
admittad that {f an Engliah aallar had baan trvanefarrad ha, Hinlk,

would have known about it (H 1808). He did stats that {t was possible
that an Zpglish sailor was transferred withl dwards but not upon his
orders (R 1808-1809).

Kick did not kmow of any lavalid transports in the year 1645 and
17 sunh = +.|--n-r.nvl'. had Tale in R.-Ptnm'l\nr 104% ha wanld hava had £
receive the notification of such an order to fix up the records
(R 1808).

Mrs., Wialll Ernst testified that she worked for the accused Kiok
from 16 Cotober 1942 until he left Uschau whichwas a period of about
erne yoar (R 1702). Bhe sut in Kiek's room and wrots hia mail (I 1703).
Kick did very little interrogation (R 1783). wWhen he did queation
people she remained in the room (¥ 1793). OUhe recalled an Englishman
who was interrogated by Kiock for about twenty minutes (R 1704). an
interpreter was nlno present (R 1794). The “nglishman requested a
tranafer to & prisonsr of war camp since he was & priscner of war and
met a palitionl priponer (B 1706), GShe did not coe Kiek otrile the
4nglishman st any time (R 1786). She stated that {t was possible that
nhe left the room for a fow minutes while Fick was {interrogating the
Gnglishman (R 1798). ¥Kick dictated u lstter to her requssting that

- Rk



P S N N T A Y M L N Y N M- Bttt
-

prisoner of war that ghe ocould rememwber in the c¢amp (R 1797). WNrs. mat
was not able to ldentify the Fnglish prisoner of war inthe cowrt roc *

although Sergeant Edwards, who was in a British army uniform, was in tne
gecond row (R 1799). She never saw Kick mistreat any prisoners (R 1796).

She stated i at some Hussians who were interrogated in the earl- summer
Gf 1844 were guweticned In a room thioe rooms sway (0 1797). en Geard

sopeams nd yel's coming from that room (8 1787-1798). The intervogatiof
with tF Hussl .8 lasted about thres months, but Kick did not take any
part in them (R 1799).

10. Dy, Fritz Hintermayer.

At the end of December 1944, Sudolf Lichy, who had been a
prisonsr at Uachau since January 1841, becmme the clerk for the chief
ductor, Hintermayer, and acted as such until 1iberation (B 1810, 1808).
Lichy wrote requisitions to Berlin for mediecal supplies (E 1810).

A request for additional medicine was sent to Derlin just about every
mokl (R 101E). liowewer, Berliu furnlshed valy about ene thisrd of the

request (R 1810). 4t Hintermayer's request ho had written to Berlin
complaining about the orowdsd conditicns of the camp (K 1810). There
wos difficulty in setting up the delousing station because only the
mechanic from the faotory was permitied to break the seal as the

ntzu.{-pmﬁt belonged to the feotory and was only loaned to the camp
(4 1611)s Dlowd spovlumwns worw Lakou Lfiuva Lyplhus vaseos sud sonbt bu

Berlin because typhus could not bs diagnosed in a different way (4 1811).
The nunmber of dead were reported exactly as the death register showed

(% 1812), However, the number of typhus cases reported wes amaller

than ths actual mumber becauss one could only bs positive after exmmina-
tion of & blood sample (R 1§12). In “ecember 1944 when Lichy first

went to the hospitel the typhus vpldemiv had slready started (R 16185).

Pp, Bruno Flalkowskl who had been in Usohau from September 1942
until liberation was placed in the hospital and worked thore while
Dr. Hintermayer was ohief dootor (R 1800-1801). Hs stated that Hinter=

mayer made all sorts of efforts to obtain drugs (R 1801). A delousing
SLAL10N WS BET uUp Bt UNE CAmp LOree OF [OUr Weeks After it nad arrived

(R 1801), With respect to the typhus epidemic ome could not deny the
good will of Ur, Hintermayer, but he was "too weak" in the administrative
sense (R 1802). Fequisitions for druge were sent to Berlin (R 1802).

Pr. Bruno Fialkowski received lintermayer's permission to use herbs lrom
the plantation although this was probably forbidden by Berlin (R 1802).

11, Br, Wilhelm Witteler.

The mcoused Witteler made the followlng unsworn statement
He testified that on 4 November 1545 he was interrogated by lieutenant

Gruth who sined a light in his oyes, that ho was kept standing during
Lue enbtlre lolerrogaiblon, thet he waer onlled & purdsrous smloe ood obles

oplithets, and that the interrogation lasted from oix or six thirty until
one o'cloek in the morning (R 1818).

12. Johann Baptist Eiohe ladorfer.

Ihe aooussd Miochelasdor’er mmde the followlng unsworn shmbes
mont: He denied that he ever roceived the death notices at Keufering
Camp Number 4 and that he ever signed anything as Hauptmannlagerfushrer
because he was pever & lagerfuehrer (R 1783). FEichelsdorfer admitted
that he signed some papers for the osmp such as records lssued for
materials tﬁ 1786). Hs never heard of the order taking the cvercoats
away I'rom the prisoners of Camp Mumber 4 (R 17M3). There was & pile af
clothing on ths parads prounds bub that was of dead prisonsra (R 1782).
This had been acoumulated per orders of Dr. Blanke (R 1783). Elchels-
dorfer was forbidden to enter the oamp (R 1783). Camp Number & aotually
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ople who were healthy and he did freyuent there about ten times
ﬁi 1784). He denfed that at the time he signed nis pre-trial affidavit
that he had been advised of the charges against him ?B 1764).

18. Frant Hoattper.

The sccused Doetiger made the follewing unaworn statemont:
e denied that he struck “ergeant “dwards while in the company of
Commandant heiter (4 1818). He stated that at that time he was Beoond
Rapportfushrer, had only had the job for about two weeks and it was
unbelievable that he weuld have ncocmpanied the commandant on an
inspection of the camp (& 1YIP-1HZU). M6 Admitted thAT AL somo Timbs
he did strike some of the inmates (4 1820).

23. Anton “ndres.

bEndres made the followinz unsworn statewent: He denied that
he injected any patients in Blook Number 1 (& 17H0). He denied that
he had sver beaten priscoers with his f£ist or kicked them (R 1781).
He admitted that he had slapped prisonsrs in the face "in crder to
gorrect them" (R 1781). Endres stated that he was a runner in the
hospital and that he had no ward under his supervision (R 1782).

22. Michael Hedwits. .

In January 1942 Kedwitr was Schutzhaftlagerfuehrer (R 1621).
Rarl Horn, who had come to Uachau as & prisoner about the middle of
January 1942 end was there until liberation, never saw “edwits mistreat
any prisoners (R 1821-1822). He had known Hedwits from 1882 until
1936 (R 1822).

The mooused Redwite made the following unsworn statement: He
was Schutzhaf'tlagerfuehrer in August end “eptember 194% (® 1828). He
did not see an; invalid transport leave the ocamp in August or September

1643 conposed of mbout twenty people and if there had been such a
tranaport he would have kmosm about it (4 1823).

25, Wilhelm Welter.

The mooused Vielter made the following unsworn statement:

fie denied that he beat & "Ghﬁ'h in & block in the magnsr in which the .
witness Sohnabel testified (K 1778). FHe admitted that he had been in

that bloock, however (& 1777). That was in September 1944 (R 1777).
Ho denied that he best 200 or 300 peoplo whom he had lined up int he
bleak ptreet (X 1777-1778). He also stated that his right hand had
been operated on and 1t would have been !.mEon!.bh for him to hit so
many people with his left hand (R 1778). He admitted that he had
slepped prisonsrs in the face (R 1770). He addsd, "However I never

used any object %o do that." (R 1779)

40. Friedrich Wetzel.

The apcused Wetzel made the following unsworn statement:
fe knew of no large warehouses where olothing was kept (I 1788). There
wers gome rooms in which the personal effects of prisoners were kept
but whioh could not be given out (X 1789). Of course, there wms an
acounulation of {tems such as shoss to be repaired at the cobblers
shop, olothes at the tallor and nt the laundry (R 1789). 4s for the
eantansr, thara was sama whaet in A rosm whieh was ahout faur hy aix
meters and about as high as & barracke (B 1785). Vetzel eculd not
give out the clothes that belonged to the prisoners because of an
order of the main office of adminiptration and security (R 1790).
These clothes had to be distribtuted %o the prisomers when they were
dismissed (R 1760). 85 men were omrloyed in this administration of
pavarnal affanka (it 17a0). At the and khin alothing wan losdad on
transports which went to Otztal because the prisoners were supposed
to be there (& 1790). =)
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The charges and particulars were referred for trial to the
General ¥Military Cowrt appointed by paragraph 3, Special Orders
Number 30l, Headquarters Third United States Army and Eastern
Military Distriot. dated 2 November 1545, pursuant to request in
lstter, Deputy Theater Judge Advocate's Office, War Crimes Branch,
United States Army, Eurcpean Theater, subject: "Dachau Concentra-
tion Camp and Subsidiary Camps," dated 30 October 1945. The
appointment of the court and the proceedings thereof were in com-
pliance with the provisions of letter, Headquartars United States
Farces, Eurocpean Theatar. subject: "Trial of War Crimes and Re-
lated Cases,™ 15 July 1945, and pertinent ¥ilitary Government
directives and instructions. The accused were represented by a
lieutenant Colonel, JAGD, a Ma jor, and two Captaina, all of whom
are sxperienced attorneys. The eccused Knoll, Becher, and Mahl
were also representsd by special Uermin counsel. A fair and im-
partial trial was had. Challenges for cause wers permitted, The
court advised the accused of their rights including the right to
have the proceedinps tranalated, and informed the accused that if
at any time any statament is not clear, they wers to raise their
hands so as to call the court's attention to that fact.

. JIRISDICYION.

The law of nations, established by written agreements and
by customs and usages practicod among the civilized nations of the
world, recognises that two or more members of the famlly of nations
may becoms ambroiled in military conflict. Accordingly, it embodies
pertain rules or laws gowrning the sonduct of land warfare. Thus,
it is a well settled principie of land warfare that prisoners of
war must be treated with humaneness. This doctrine has been snun-
clated in Articles 4 and 213, Chapter II of the Annex to the Hague
Convention No. IV of 12 Qetober 1907 and in Articles 2 and 3 of the
Gereva (Prisoners of War) Convention of 27 July 1929. (The United
Rtatas amd Marmany wers signatories to both conventiorns .)

It is also well settlad that the civilian population must be
"treated teniently,® "must not be injured in their lives or libartiy,
axcept Tor cause and after duo trial," and must nobt, as a rule, be
deprived of thelr priwate property. Far 9, Rulea of Land ‘Warfare,
Mt 27-10. Thus Artiecls L6 ¢ the Annex"to the Yasue Convention No.
IV, supra, providea: "Family honor and rights, the lives of persona,
and private property, as well as religious convictlons and practice,
mast be respected.”

It should be noted that the unwritten rules are binding wpon
a1l atviliaad natisna, although tachnically the written rules ars
binding only between the powers that hawve satislied or adhered to
the particular treaty or canvention, and are binding oaly to the
extent permitted by the reservations, if any, that have accompanied
such ratification or adherence on either side (Par 5, NMules of land
Warfare, FM 27-10).

The culars in the instant case allege that certain indi-
viduals, acting in pursvance of a common design, as membera of the
Staff of Dachau Concentration Camp and subsidiary camps did, at or
in uhe viciniwy of Dacnau sna Lanisoerg, Germany, betwsen 1 Januar y
1942 and 27 April 1945 encourage, aid, abet, and participate in the
mibjaction of eiytltan mabionala of nations then at war with Oermany
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mistreatmants. Tt is clear tha* these acts nﬁ.pd constitute
viclationa of the laws of land warfare, both written and unwritien,
and are properly to be treated as war crimes.

A United States tritamal has jurisdiction to punish an
nffandar, sven though the wvietim wae net a member of ita forcoa

and the orime was committed in a place owver which, at the time of
the act, the United States did not have control (United States v.
Versosa et al, 0.0. 133, Div Phil, 1 Dec 1900, CM 20868; United
States v Bragansa, G.0. 291, Div Phil, 26 Sep 1501, CM 30036,
@.0. 3L6, Div Phil, 10 Nov 1901; "Universality of Jurisdiction
Over War Crimes® by Willard D. Cowloo; ) Oalifornis law Toview
pp 177-218 (1945)) .

Further, a military court is a proper forum to try such vio-
lations (Ex Parte Quirin, 63 Sup Ct 2; Par 356, Rules of land War-
fare, PV 21 =10; pp 831-8L1, Winthrop's Military Law and Precedents).
The fact that the ecurt was onbtitled a Joneral Mlitary Qourt
rather than a Military Commission appears to be merely a matter of
name. In letter, Headmuarters US Forces, Buropean Theater,

AG 000.5-2 GAF, 16 July 1945, subject: "Trial of War Crimes and

Related Casma® it 43 provided that offenses “against the laws and

usages of war or the laws of the cccupied territory or any part .
thereof semonly lnown oo war crlwea™ &+ « + + "vummllled pulur Lu

7 May 1945, shall be tried before the specially appointed courts

provided for in this directive." Accardingly, a speclally appointed

military court, such as that in the instant case, has jurisdiction

ovar "War Crines" offenses committed prior to occupation, and over

the affenders.

Further, it should be notad that, as war criminals, the accused
are not antitlad to treatment as prisoners of war even though their
status would otherwiss have entitled them to such treatment (See
WD, FM, 27-10, par 351; Wheaton's International law, p 180). It is
settlad that & peram who prior to being captured comuits an act in
vislation aof the lawo of war 1o nobt entdtled tu the pivileges aml
safsguards accorded to a prisoner of war (P 102, Law of Land Warfare,
JAGS Text o 7; Colby, 23 Mishigan IR LB2; of SRIGW 1vis3/3029; p 675,
"International Law," Hyde; "Prisoners of War," Flory).
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X MERITS AND DEFENSES

The oharge alleged that ths mooused "seting in pursuance of
a common deslgn to commit the acts hereinafter allsged, and as
members of the staff of Dachau Consentration Camp and camps subsidiary
thorotn, did; at or ifo the wilolnity of Dachau apd Lendsbeirg, cni.'ru-.u;.
between about 1 January 1842 and about 28 April 1546, willfully,
deliberately and wrongfully encourage, aid, abet and participate in
the subjection of civilian nationals (in Charge Mo, 1) and of
captured members of the armed forces of nations them nt war with the
then German Refch(in Charge No. II), to cruslties and mistreatment,
Loslualop kllllogs, besllogs, Loriurss, slLervallon, avuses and
indignities, the sxnct names and numbera of such victims being un-
known but aggregating many hundreds or thousands ...." The nota
alleged cloarly constituted a viclation of the lews of war and inter-
national lmv.

IV is 8 well-getbled prineoipls of law That whers two or more
persons combine to perform a criminal act, each may be liable oriminally
for all of his scts and of his confedsrates, done in furtherance of the
cammon design, and where the criminal design 1s sotually carried out,
then the liability of each person who participated therein is deter-
mined by the wature and extent of his participstion (Uriminal Law,
Wlller, pwge ££0). Furthermore, nll who Join in wuch common Qesign to
comuit an unlewful act must teke responsibility ror all the consegQuences
of the exsoution of that act if done in furtherance of the plan although
not specifionlly contemplated by the parties, or even forbidden by the
defendant, or although the actual perpetrator is not identified (See
Corpus Jurias, Sec 46, page 2073). Thus, the prosecution in the instant
chpe had YO BEtaDlish the rollowing!

a.) That there was present and {n force such & common dewsign
or purpose to commit the orime or crimes 1isted;

b.) That the accused had knowledge of this common design; and

¢.) That each mcoused committed acts to encourage, and, abet
or purticipate in the common design of aubjection.

That there was present and in full foroe at Dachau and itm by
camps from about 1 January 1942 to about 20 April 1946 a common deeign
TO CoMmit certain mots unlawful by all the legal and humans standards
of civilired nations was not seriously challenged by the defense. It
would be absurd to say that it had its origin in Pachau or that it
was first conceived in January 1542. The Adjutant, Hudol? Heinrick
Suttrop, testifying on his own behalf, deolared he had besn an adjutant
in camps other than Dachav and that common orders governing the conduct
of all concertration camps came from Herlin. The accused Peter Bet:
stated that he had been assooisted with the Yschau camp since 1923,
and the witness Feter Huller teatified he had been a prisoner there
since the seme year. Other mooussd had sarved st Dachau long before
1842 and other witnesses had been prisoners there before that date
during which period certain atrocities had been committed. Captain
Von Lansohott told of mistreatmont of himsel:s at other similar types
of eamps, gﬂ'ﬁtoqlirly. Hatzweiler. Cthers described outrages sgainat
humanity at the Ausolwits, Mauthausen, and Hossenburg Concentratiunm
Camps, The oondition of the prisoners in the transports that ocsme
into Dachau gave further forcible evidence of the seemingly common
plan for the mistrostment and exterminaticn of human belngs at the
various eamps from which they stommed. It may be added that in almost
all Mm viotims wore desoribed s one or more of & class that
the Naei hierarchy had judged te be oppoment to its doctrines.
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© Bowever, restricting ourselves to what Daohau iteelfl was, the
best svidence of the common design existing within its confines are the
‘things that happensd there. It is, of course, obvious that the only
ocoourrences that would concern the mocused would be those that happensd
‘between the dates mentioned in the charge sheet.

Between December 1640 mnd 29 April 1645, a total of 161,630
priscners had been processed at Dachau. Of these, there had been
26,000 recorded deaths and hundreds of others had perished unrecorded.
When the Americans took over on 20 April 1045, they found a freight

train of 38 cars on & alding within the grounds each car containing

from ons to twenty dead bodles. These corpses were wasted, emmointed,
and {11y olad, The photographs of the scene express a silent condemna-
tion of anyone who helped bring about this partioular situation. The
bodies were identified as a transport that had been about to depart from
Dachau but had been tied up for several days dus to transportation diffi-
oulties. During thia interlude the already decrepit human baings that
mads the trensport had received little or nothing to eat, no warmth
or toilet facilities, and no one seemed to have ocared whether they
1ived or disd.

The vile living conditions of the camp proper showed definite
signs of having existed for a long time prior to the American libera-
tion. The housing facilitios wore hopelessly cramped at Dachau for
the number of irnmates that were beinp detained and ths conditions in
this respect at the by-camps, notably the Kaufering atring of camps,
wore oven worse. The survivors that were found or who furtively
stole back from the wodds to greet the Americans were mostly skin and
bones, inadsquately clothed, and consisted of such Nazi wiotimp ms
Russians, Poles, Jews, and so on. Emoh oame eagzerly forward in his
own feeble way to tell his own unbelievable story.

The orematoriums were oonspioucus examples of Nazi efficiency
but even thess, four furpaces and five ovens, wore scon unable to cope
with the volume of business. The witness Mahl stated bodies often
Nuinld piled up very hich for six to eight weeks at a tima. "That's
v he said, "nons of these oould have been burned while still

ving." Colonel Chavesz, the war orimes investizator, indeed found
such large piles of thin, emaciated corpses in the two rooms adjoining
the orematoriums on May 1, 1945, wnen he came to complle a report on
the Dachau oamps.

An execution area was conveniently located near the crematoriums.
The evidence olearly bears out the fact that the greater part of these
exeoutions were not legal exoopt in form. The acoused, Martin Weiss,
a former commandant from September 1942 to November 1943, and others,
notably Jobhann Kiok, forwer ohief of the Folitioal Section, deoclared
all axesutions at Dachau ware "ordered" from Rarlin. Tha santancan
bad been determined by administrative decreesz. However, no claim was
ever made by any of the socused that a single viotim had had any sort
of a trial, let aloms a fair, impartial ona, whioh would relegate all
such executions o the category of war orimes by all the settled tensta
of internatiomal law (Cf. FPM 27-10, 368 and other oltations).

Tho mediocal and hyglenio conditions at Dachau were abominable.
dpldemiocs were long rampant, and as many as 100 a day, until the
middle of May, continued to die from "pricr effects” even after the
1iberation and the introduotion of better standards of care. Froma

epidemio that began in December 1845, about 16,000 immates had
diad. lUndinn] supplias had besn poor sines 1942 et enough wore
found in the 55 hospital by the Americans to have taken oare of all
patients for more than fourteen days! Dr., Glaha, a prisoner-dostor
from August 1942 until the liberation, declared that 12,000 autopsies
had been purformed under his direction., The victims had beon ohiefly
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Russians, Poles. Yugoslave, Italians, French and Jewinh and most of the
deaths had been cmused by typhus, typhold, tuberculosis, dysentery
und malnutrition.

Tha wariad sxparimenta st tha prison haapltal are furthsr avidanos
of the genoral pattern of subjection of the prisoners to orueltiea
and miptreatment, That the prisonsrs did not volunteer is undisputed,
Humans were subjeoted to the dendly malarin disease in the same manner
as anfmals are utiliszed for solentifio purposes. The work progressed
without regard to the individual rights of the human beingas concernad

apd 4% wag of e camasnanaa ahanTA angy Aaf thaaa hiyman 51!1 Ml-r:l“ﬂ.
porish en the way. Schilling's suthorization for his procedure stemmed
direotly from the Reiohfuehrer Heinrich Himmler. In addition to the
malarial exporiments, there were the air-pressurs tests omusing deaths
from hemhorrages of the stomaoh and lungs, the oold water experiments
where many perdshed after being immersed in foce-cold water for from
Pour ke thirty-sight hours sonptawtly, tha liwar pimatnea avparimanka,
the phlegmon experiments, and ths salt-water experiments, all of which
had their resultant cmses of death.

The aystematio beatings, tortures, killings, and heaping of
indignities on all prisonsrs at Dachau are most graphiocally stated
by the varieus witneseen whe teetifisd or whose welittan stnhamanta

. wore admitted before the court., In most casss, these wers not
denied by tho scoused themsslves except in ambbter of degree or
beoause of obedisnce to an order of a superior.

The general method of abuse used at Unchau was universal
snplelkation of all fmmatss te the adventags of the Cermenwur
affort or the aggrandizement of the Nasi principals. Of thoss who

did not dis by the waysids, the remaindsr would be forced to these
purposes in the form of long working hours or other uses until they
bocame recaloitrant or physically urwanted, At that time they would

be exeouted or brought to thelr untimely end in one of the ways
herabolffore desoribed. A common mebhod in later daye was the use of

the transports "to heaven” when it was universally known in Daohau
that such transports heading for Auschwitsz, Lublin, [ins, and other
places meant eventual extermination of the persons contained in them.

. 1t oan be seen, therefore, that very little could have been
hit=vs =mlios fu sull o Kaleideevuply patbocu of lusben explolteblons
The design was common for everjyone concerned with the running of

Dachau and since it was proved to hawve existed between 1 January
1642 and 20 April 1646, 1t definitely concernsd esch of the named
secused who, at ops time or mnother {\iﬂq ‘those years, were part
of the staff of this notorious ooncentration camp,

Knowledge of thins design by esch aocused may be inferred since
for many years prior to 1942 each had been part of the Nari world
and sonetime botwesn 1042 wnd 1046 hed become an integrel ohaln in
the furtherance of this design nt Lachau. Hot a single defondant oon-
tendod he had been ignorant of all the things transpiring behind the
prmy walls nud Uhe wleobrdlfied wive feuves Uhat owrounded the osmp.
8o, with the Plux of humanity and the general mistreatment and abuse
of 4t to be found literally in every nook of the camp, it would strain
human conscience to belisve anyone who was, at least, a bystander
there was not aware of the geperal state of things. Gretsch and
Sehoepp, pq,rhnsl tha lesst in raok and importance among the acoused,
in thelir solv capaclity ws guards sdmit at lesst hwaring shootlng,
witnensing bemtings, and geeing corpses. It would seem that any of
the goings-on &b Duchau along with the prevalent propanganda-machine
of the Hagi govermment {tsolf would have put all the sooused on notice
that wrongs were belin; committed here.
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Ins camp Was OTEANIINO GO CRITY DUV SLIGULLYELY 4AVe Pulpveess —
It wes honded by the ommp commandant who was appointed by Berlin. Al)
mail and other business would usually proceed through the hands of the
Adjutnnt of the camp. The commandant was assisted by one or more
Sohutzhaf'tingerfushrere or Compound Commanders., Next 4n line came

the Rapportfushrera, the nead non-coms over the prisoner blocks, then
the bloocki'uehrers or inspsctors. All these were membwie uwl Lhe 58.

The so-oalled Block-asltestes and Hoom-leaders were prisoners selected
to haelp with the details. Other subdivisions liks the labor office,

the politiosl department, and the medical department, in large, were
answerable to the camp commandant. Thus everyonme from the cmmp commander

down te ths ompo or room sldest had his nioche in the administration of
Dachau and in & broaAd senso All were mompers of Lhe staff. DBvesyuvue

operated as a unit in the purposes of the oamp, whether lawful or
unlawful. As the acoused Suttrop stated in his pretrial affidarit:
"The above-mentionsd administration plan was a closed entity of the
88 in Dachau and could not have been offective nor worked without the
nssistance of the personnel of the six departments for the purposs for
which it was built, that is, as was ordored by the superiuvr aulboritiea.
Each single one of the above-mentioned ooworkers was & link in the
ohain of enmtity, without his assistance whioh was ordered by transfers
or oommands, the whole thing could mot have existed.” (Pros ex 1084).

It ia in the light of this offective machine that the part each
played in the Vachau se must be ¢considsred. .

As a gomoral ruls all persons ooncerned in the accomplishment
of an unlewful and oriminal purpose are prinoipals (State vs. Soott,
80 Comn. 317). Furthermore, mnyons who commits an offense, or does
some sot forming & part or one of the steps thereof, or assista in the
actusl commission, or mny act forming m part thereof, becomes A party
thereto. 5o, when one i» vogeged in doing something in a chain of aote
leading to the consummtion of an offonse, though he is not sotually
present at the time of its commission, he {s & principal. (fee Bass va.
State, 66 Tex COr. (M) Bturgie ve. State, Z Okl, 362; and Wharton's
Criminal Law, page 240 ot seq.). However, merely witnessing & orime
without lotervention does not make & person a party to its ocommiasion
unless his interference was a duty, or his non-iuterference was one of
th conditions of the commission of the orims (Wharton's Criminal

Law, page 246). lNevertheless, if he is present for the EFEQH of

assisting in the commission of a orime, if necessary, s an aider
and abettor, and under the removal of the distinotion hetween them, .
is liable as a principal. (Brinegar ws. Etl.to. BZ Nebr. bbHé). Wpharton
further defines participation as follows: “"Something must be shown in
the oonduot of the bystander whioh imdicates a design to encourage,
inoite, or participate in a certain mot. It is not necessary to prove
that the party actually aldsd in the commission of the offense; if he
watohsd for his companicns .... or was in suoh a situation as to be
able readily to ccme to thoir assistance, he was alding and abetting."
(See Wharton's Orim law, v.1, page 333 & 334; of. State vs. Holder,
15! I-cl- m]- I.'ﬁ m Ll ™ Rull. h& Gﬂli loq 15;1“. th um' 1“
diotum, stated: "Where A and B go out for the purpose of robbing €, and
A, in pursusnce of the plan, kills O, B is guilty of murder. In such

onsos of confederacy. wll are responsible for the acts of each if done
in pursuance of a ocmmon dniL (of. Wharton's Crim Law, page 344). }

The sature and extent of participation of each secused n.d.-d -
and must be considered individually. '

1. Martin Gottfried Weims. The mooused Martin Weiss had been
the camp oommander at Uachau from 1 September 10942 until 1 November
1843. It was undisputed that everyons in the camp was responsible h
him. While Weles undoubtedly affected numerous changes in Mhll.
motives were to incresse the labor output of the camp. a0 __
legs emphasis was placed on certsin types of and
by the wrists wars Alasontinuad. Howowvar. it is M“ >




punishments of various sorts inoluding Lemtinge, offioisl mnd unofficial,
continued. Mistreatment by sny of the members of Weiss' staff was
maturally his responsibility. That the members of his staff engaged
themselves in numerous and oontinuous indignitiss is clear. Zxperiments,
such as oold water and malarin, continued whils Vielss was comeandant.

It is important ta nota that Welea' approval for the requisition of
prisoners to be used in these experiments was necessary. Executions

of varfous individuals whose punishment had been adminlstratively
determiped by the Heich Seourity Office were carried out with his
sanotion. The orders for these executicns and the reports that they

had been performed passed over his deak. Conditions in the camp un-
quentionably beanws more orowdad Adueing Talaa! eagima. Sanltary
faoilities, clothing, medioal suppligs and food were inadequate. At
loast one fnvalid transport left while Welss was commander. As &

matter of fact, the whole orgy that was Dachau continued te run its
ocourse under the leadershdp of Martin Weiss, and it was he who, for

more than one year, dominated the scens ss a prinoipal.

2. Friedrich Wilhelm KEEEH., Ruppert served at Dachau at
two differenm s, firet fram April 1953 until September 194Z az a
nl.1 guard and electrition, and from August 1544 umtil 29 April 1946
as Sohutzhaftlagerfuebrer. Little evidence was presented with respect
to Buppert's activities during his first stay at the osmp. During thias
peried, ths msoused Kiok wew Huppart haat & Bussian unbi) the hlood
flowed, Tt was whon Ruppert returned ms an 55 Ubersturmfushrer and held
the Schutzhaftlagerfushrer position that he carried on his work with
great enthusissm. [is beatings of prisonsrs were performed as one
witness desoribed it, muoch 1ike a blaokmmith striking with his iron.

He smww to 1t that the executions were performed, imoluding the murder
of over 00 Hussimn priscnsrs of war in ﬁPtpn'b-r 1844. It wasn Ruppert
who headed the reception committes for inooming transports, wmong
which was the Hungarimn unit whioh brought the typhus bearing lice.
As receptionist he saw to 1t that all the dead bodies or nesrly dead
bodies were borne by the Mort express to the crematory. It is

apparent that Huppert who performed all the essential funotions of
4he Plret Sehotshaft _asgerlPushrer sarrisd out his Autieas with an

esnthusisesm and vehemence that was characteristic of his 1lk.

8. Josef Jarolin. Jarolin was at Bachau proper from September
1636 wntil Maroh 1048, From December 1941 until March 1843 he waas
third Sohutzhaftlagerfushrer. Prior to that he had been a Happort-
fushrer with the renlr of %8 Unteracharfushrer. He ultimataly sbbainad
the rank of Ubersturmfushrer. Jarolin oftenaarried out his sadistio
instinots in the bathroom of the administration bullding where he
boat the {iomates until they wore unconscious. He attended numerous
exoputions and was a prinoipal participant in the exeoution of a large
nunber of Russian prisonsrs of war. It is not oclear with respect to
thie labbor iocldond whethor Lé soswvrred dw 1041 er 10432. Ruppert
apparently left Dachau in March 1943 and went to the by-camp Allach.
Hoere he saw to it that the wvarious punishments including death were
carried out and that the gensral pattern of cruslties and mistreatmsnt
concomitant with the exploitation of tha prisoners' services continued
to be woven. The individual instances in which Jarclin heaped his
vindictivensas upon the uwafortunsate lomgtor mwed sl be related here.
Suffies 1t to say he performed the functions of his office, functions
which wers an intregal part of the Dachau sohems.

4. Frans Xaver Trenkle. The accused Trenkle who had
roceived soms prelimlnary tralning as block lesder st Uschau from
1500 wobil 1960 hmd retwned Yo Paghau in June 1048 whoro he held the
position of Deputy Sohutzhaftlagerfushrer or Hap hrer until
March 1844. ‘somw further training at the Bergen Belsen con-
mmm returned to Dachau and tock charge of outside work
details. Tre not only performed tha duties required of his office,
such as aiding in the exeoutions, but he added his own individual
Luusl bu Lo Dachau svene. 'l bwel eud kicked Llm prisviers, particularly




the Hussians. Although he was not a physician, at times he would hold siock
eall, He admitted that in April 1945 he had shot and killed four Russian
prisoners whom the Uauleiter of Wunich ordered executed. In view of all
the foregoing, it is apparent that Trenkle participated directly and
influentially {n the Dachau pioture.

B. Engelbert Valentin Niedesrmevsr. MNiedermeyer served at
Uschau as a member of the S5 from 1064 until 1 February 1943. From
January 1642 to May 1942 he worked at the crematorium. After that
he became a block -leader and held that job until he left Dachau. At
the crematorium he helped to burn the bodies. He was supervised by

85 Obersoharfushrer Bongarsz. As a blook leadar ha parfarmad tha dvtinae
incumbent upon that offioce to meintain order and cleanlineas in the

blook. Apparently Niedermeyer did not hesitate to use his hands and
fists upon the prisonsrs freely while ocarrying out his duties. It was
undisputed that Niedermeyer was at Dachau and performed these duties
as stated above. Accordingly, it must be conoluded that by virtus of
the nature of the work performed he, too, participatad in tha schama.

< 8, Josef Seuss. Seuss who had joined the Allgemeine 53 in
1952 und had Geen &t Dmohau fram 1033 ntil 1042 returned to Yachau
in August 1942 whers he was a Happortiushrer. Oeusas recalled the
excoution of 36 Russimn prisonsrs of war in August 1842 in whioch
ho was one of the party. Ha adnittad that ha had hed s trask tha
prisoners particularly hard, that he had seen various beatings, hangings .
antl tertures of all sorts at Vachau. Seuss stated that he had been
forced to sign a statement that he would pever talk about the happenings
in the camp. He believed this had been required becmuse "they did not
want that peoople came to know how bad things were at the Dachau ooncen-
tration nlmp". deuss had spparently been eaught In tha wah whish ha
had voluntarily entered. After having performed his role, Seuass wrote
"I have always been sorry that I have been at the Dachau Conceatration
Camp and that the people there had such a bad life. I know that 20 or
256 hanged themselves at the dungeon from despair. I also know that

people committed sulcide in other ways, for instance by cutting their
veinn., T alsa know thet panpla Alad Prom waslnoass and thet cthers

beomne insane.” In view of the duties he performed and his actions
outside the mcope of his job, it must be concluded that he too par-
ticipated in the Dachau scheme.

7, leonhard Anselm Eichterger. Eichberger who had joined the .
58 in 18%8 aama *n AnhAL &R anuary 104% and remained thore
until April 1646, He held the rank of lst Sergeant and was the ohief
clork ia the Schutzshaftlagerfueshrer's office. As ohiel clerk he un-
questionably handled all the detalls in that office. Tn 1944 he was
given the additional dutles of rifleman and reporter at executions.

He admitted that he had shot about 6§ or 6 persons himself at these
avanik] one and the ressern that he had nes ghod moere sas boovauso ab

times he was delayed by his work as a clerk. All tuld, he was present
as & recorder when & young Russian was banged, (Certainly Eiohberger's
work was necessary in order for the uffice of the Schutzhaftlagerfuehrer
to function. Further his additicnal duties in conmeotion with the
executions ware spsential. In view of the uncontroverted evidence, it 1s
ahundantly alanr that Eishboerger'a dutises ssnobitubed a furtharance

of the Dachau purposes.

8. Wilhelm W « Wagner whowas an 55 Hauptscharfushrer
had served ot Dachau ;rm 1933 until 1938 and from 1939 until 1944.
At that time he wont to the by-ocmmp Allach. Om 1 January 1942 he
was lu oharge of tho laundry at Dachaus e aypareutly was valremely
vicious with the prisoners, kicking them, striking them, and beating
them with sticks. Those who worked under him suffered almost daily. !
When he was transferred to an outaide work detall at Germering his 4
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SONauoOT COnTINUSO UNADATSO. ALY OUE 1M DAY QL 010 UUVioD LOvOLvew
the meting out of the official lashings. 4t Allach he aided in the
exooution of two prisopers pursuant te orders which he had received
from the mccused Jarolin. It ia clear that VWngner not only per-
formed essential duties, but that he added his own personal touch
to the sordid Dachau portrait.
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9, Johpon Kick, Johann Kick, who was associated with the Geatapo,
wan chief of the political department at Dacheu from May 1937 untll August
1944, Ee returned to Dachau ngaln in January 1945 and was there until the
end of March 1945, During his second term of duty at Dachau he was not
the chief of the political department but had the duty of reglstering the
prisoners., As head of the department be wae responeible for the compilae-
tion and regletration of prisoners, maintenance of files, correspondence
concerning the prisoners' death certificates, and interrogation of the
prigoners. In quertioning irmates he apparently used severe methode inclu-
ding the extraction of fingernaile and toenamile. After the lnterviews the
prieanars wars often asnt to the standine bunker where they endured addi-
tional suffering. The execution ordere passed through his department,
Kick recalled that approximately 300 such decrees and orders had been brought
to his attention betweon January 1942 and August 1944. Kick also alded in
the selection of individuale who were t0 be shipped out on invelid trane-
porte. He realimed full well that these people would be liquidated, It
was nat aniy sammon knowladga that such would be thalr fate. but Kick also
mariced the papers of these people 80 ar to indicate that they had died at
Dachau, Kick's position as chief of a etaff was unquestionably one of the
most important in the performance of the Dachau plan, Eis participation
was shown beyond the shadow of a doubt,

10, Dr. Frits Hintsrmpyar, Tr Tintarmayar, wha wan not a ragle-
tered doctor since he had not finished his thesls, came to Dachau in .

Tebruary 1944. He worked as a medical officer in the prison hospital
until September or October 1944, when he succeeded Dr. Witteler am hend
phyelcimn, a posnition which he held until April 1945, His rank during
this period of time was Sturmbsonfuehrer. The conditions of the hoepital,
the typhue epidemis, whiech raged from the and of 1944 until May 1948, the
continued human guinea pig experiments, and the extremely inadequate
sanitary facilities were responeibilities of the head physician, Although
Dr. Hintermayer may not have originally cpuesed any of the above conditions
to exist, he plgyed his part in his capacity as head physician, The re-
quests for inmates to be umed in experiments passed through hie office,
The isadeguate medical cmrs wxieted under hig regimas. Thoe haepitel
suffered from a laeck of sufficient medical supplies, although many neces-
sary elements were present nearby, Hie efforts to control the typhue
epidemic were pitiful. In addition to his duties as medical officer and
head physiclan, Dr. Hintermayer was present at various executions for the
purpose of slgning a death certificate. Furthermore, he personally
flujectod fatal venom Llate twe pregunoant Runslan women, It was Hintermaywer
who played a prominent role in the death-taking alave market formations, .
Hie role in the Dachan scheme of thinge is clear.

11, Iz, Wilbelm Witteler. Dr. Witteler was Ir, Hintermayer's
predeceseor as heed physiclan at Dachan, Witteler, who had Joined the
00 in 1008 and had porved with a combat wndt on the Ruselpn fromt,
arrived to take charge of the prisoners' hygieme, food, and digease
prevention on 1 January 1944, The conditione which existed at Dachan,
with respect to these factors during thies period of time, are set out in
detall in paragraph IVa, "The Oonmon Design At Dachau". Witteler admitted
that prisoners to be used by Dr. Schilling were requisitioned on his order,
Do, Witteler ol eo adulitted that every priscner whose condition wae com—
cldered hopelese by Dr, Schilling was traneferred into another ward, and
that wvhen such a prisoner died he would etate the caune of death to be a
heart defect, or circulation difficulties. Furthermore, Dr. Witteler
wan present at several executions whers he signed the degth certificate.
Thup, it may be sesn that be, 1ike Dr. Hintemeyer, played an fmportant
part lu the Dachau schewe, i
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12, Johsun Bsptist ¥ichelsdorfer. On 156 July 1844 Fichelsdorfer,
who wae a capbalu in the L oirwacht, was assigned to Dachau, At firet he
toolk charge as canp leader of Keufering Wo, B, In Cctober 1944 he botame
cormander of Epufering canp ¥o. ¥, and 1n Jantary 1945 he became camp
leader of camp No. 4, VWhile he was In charge of camp No. 7, ntmercus
deaths occurred, bodies were merely burlied in dirt mounds without any
deedgnation. When Richelsdorfer took charge of Csup No. 4, it was a sick
camp. The living conditions and treatment accorded the immaten of that
camp are set forth in detall in paragraph IVb, "The Common Decign Ab
Kaufering’. Eichelsdorfer, apparently,sided in the burning of Camp No. 4
shortly before the Ameriean forcee arrived. Because of the various posi-
tiong which he held in these by-camps, a fact vhich was undieputed, it
nocsssarily follows that his functions were vital in the administration
of the Dachau concentration camp. Accordingly, his participation is clear.

13. Otto Yoerschmer, Foerachner, a Sturmbanofubrer, took charge of
saversl of the Kaufering by-camps on 1 February 1945. about 2,000
prisonsrs under kie supervision died during his temure. He placed the
guilt primarily on the "fact" that all people were accommodated in such
Vad billets, Foerschner in no way deniep the horrific conditionp which
exipted, He aleo exhibited his own individuslimm by hitting prisonsrs
with stones, by killing one inmate, by beating another with an iron rod,
and hy pord abdng woman wha asnld not physisally perform thair laborious
tanke., By virtue of hie positions and his individual acts, Foerschner
aided in the Dachau performance.

14, Dr, Hons Kurt Biseln. Dr., Bleele, an 58 Sturmbannfushrer, was
in charge of the surgical department of the prisoners' hospital at Dachan
from PTebruary 1645 until 1iberation. Apparently he realized tha serious-
nees of the conditions which existed in the hospltal and the camp, for he
claimp that he often requested the head doctor, Doctor Hintermayer, to
make improvements. Ap & matter of fact, he was able to emlarge his own
ward and have "several single bedroome for my patients". As part of his
duties he inepected the kitchea snd the food which was served the
priconers every foy, snd vecogel=sl that the fand wae arpl i tatiwaly and guanti.
tatively insufficient., Ee slso ingpected the by-camp Muhldorf and found that
pandtary and medicel faeilities there were extremoly inpufficlent, TFurther-
mors, Dr, Hisele atiended at lesst three executions at Decheu at which he
eigned the certificates of death. It is clear that Dr, Elsele alded in
the operation of the prison hospital, aseieted the heed doctor iln connec-
tion with hie rosponpibllity for the priconsve! food and aanitary aanditian,
end aleo performed a necessary function at exscutions. .ils activities
were of such a nature that they constltuted participation in the adminie-
tration of Dechau.

16, Dr, Klgus Earl Schilling. Dr, Schilling, at the call of Himmler,
hogan o ndusting bic melaria omporimontc at Dashau fn Pobruary 042, He
continued these experiments until 1iberation of the camp. It was undigputed
that the inmates whim Dr. Schilling used in hie work were not wolunteers,

Dr, Schilling's research was performed for the purpose of determining
im-unigstion for and treatment of malerias. Hia requests for inmates were

made about wery menth., Theee lists were prepared in the camp physician's
eisdir ond thon sent %o the cemp compender and laber afflice. About 10500
selecteen were thup chosen for subjection. Many of them were priests.

The gusber of people who died from the malaria or f.om the drugs puch as
pyremidon or ned-palvarsan is not known. ( rteloly some dled. It is

reasonable to infer that the deathe of man; of the inmates from tubercu- .|‘
lonts, dysentery, typhus, and other disceases wore cuused in part by the
fact thnl those people bad been subj=cbed to nalaria, AlbRsugh De, _
Schilling's motive may have besn simply and purely a solentific one, bie
activities exemplified the Nasi scheme which existed at Dachau. The part
ho olayed in that scheme 1s clear.
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21. Simop Kiern. Simon Kiern, who had been o Hauptacharfushrer in
the S5, came to Dachau in July 1541, He was employed ms a clerk in the
office of the Schutshaftlsgerfuehrer until December 1942, when be was
transferred to the mall censor office. He served thers until he was glven
a oix month's sentence for having stolen 10 cigarettes, in the same month,
and never porved plb Dachpu mgeala. Yhen he was sn office clerie ho had bean
ordared to pttend three executions, at least one of which cccurred in 1041,
Onoe in 1942 Kiern kicked snd killed a newly arrived prisoner who was
1ying on the ground, While he performed his duties at Dachau, Eiern wue
actively engaged in the administration of the camp. His killing sn inmate
was @ added contribution.

22, Michae] FRedwits, Redwits served as first Schutzhaftlagerfuehrer
at Dachau from November 1942 uatil March 1944, He held the renk of 53
Eaupteturmfushrer. Ees was "in charge of all affairs concerning the clothing,
quartering, and treatment of the prisoners, and of all the prisoners' wel-
fare". He was alsc "responeidle for good order, and the cleanliness of the
Gamp, ae Wwell am ITOor soe Dealwh of ihe privvaers®™, Redwits bas recogalzed
hies responeibility for the acute conditions whioh existed at Dachau, He
wrote "1t is impossible for me to hold any one of my subordinates, especlally
responsible for any particular condition., So many various leaders and
underleaders had s share in the execution of gvery order that it was impos-
sible to make responsible sny one of them for a certala condition”,
HRedwits directed the pubiLlc TOrashings, Carried out tho oxecusiuvne mud
confirmed the request for the experiments at the hospital. It was Redwits
who inetituted the practice of having the prisoners administer the public
beatings instead of the §5 men,

Redwite's position was an important one in the mdministration of
Dachan, snd bip acts clearly constituted assistance io the general schuowe,

23, ¥ilbelm Welter. Wilhels Welter was at Dachau from 1939 until
1 September 1943, He was the labor service leader. He arranged thewrk
details omoch day, and made out the required reports. He was in charge of
the alave market formations, where he beat, hit, kicked and pushed the
prisonere. He aided in the selection of pecple TOr the TrafepOYis and work
detpile. Ho selected the four Jews who worked on the crematory deal and
who were then disposed of every elght weekm and succesded by a new group,
Welter chose inmates for the cold-water experiment, and checked the 1ist
of inmates requested by Dr. Schilling Welter often beet and struok the
prisoners. He sald, "It is possible that I slapped a few priscners in
the face if they did something wrong”. It is clear from the foregoling
that Welter not only by virtus of the functions of his office but aleo by
his own individusl acts sotively participated in the mistreatment of the
inmates nt Dachau,

24, Rudolf Heinrich Suttrop. Hudolf Suttrop, an 88 Oberaturmbamn-
fuehrer, served ms adjutant at Dachau from 15 May 1942 until 15 May 1944,
As suoh he was in charge of 236 pon-commissioned officars and men of the
Oommandant's etaff., He was in charge of the telephone, signal office,
and motor pool. He wan responsible for the distribution of the mall and
socrel orders, and moslisted the Commandant in the paper work, All written
matter which vas sent to the camp commander went over his desk, including
such itens as requeste for iomates for experiments at the bospital. Withe
out the performsnce of the duties which Suttrop and his etaff performed,
Dachau could not have opersted. When considered in this light, his
participation in the sxecution of the Dachau scheme becomes appareant.

26, Wilheln Tempel. Wilhelm Tempel, who joinad the 88 in 1832, had
cose W Dachau on 6 August 1944, He was imnedlately went to Kaufering
No. 4 whers ho sorved as the Arbeltodienstfushrer., It was his duty to
urrange the work details which left the camp. He shot the prisoners,
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beat some to death with a stick and rubber cable, kicked them ummercifully,
and abused the sick. In January 1945 he left Eaufering Camp No, 4 and went
to Kaufering Camp No, 1, where he served as Rgpportfushrer, It was known
that Tempel beat prisoners there, Ee acted ss a guard on the transport
which evacusted Keufering No. 1, in April 1945, It is clear from the fore-
Loing That Tempsl evinced A VIigur 1u vhe perfurmanve of Lle dubles wholly
coneinstent with the pattern of mistreatment, tortures, cruelties and exter-
mination of the Dachen inmates,

26./Euge Alfred Brwins Lausterer. Lausterer was an SS guard at Dachau
from December 1941 till February 1942, He was then sent aes a guard on a
work detall to Hadolfzell, where he stayed until October 1542, On this
detall the prisoners ware often struck by one of the other guards, In
November 1942 he wae sent on another work detal)l to Bayerisch Zell. Here
again the other guards were extremely cruel to the prisoners. The next
month Lausterer returned to Dachau and wan hospitaliszed till February
1943, At that time he worked in the Priscners' Personal Property room.
In October 1943 he was sent To Alls0N, WDET# NS TOOUK CHATEE UL Lhe prlsucecs'
cantosn, Ee rempined in Allach until March 1544, While at Allach he wit-
nensed the beating of an old man., He returned to Dachau in April 1944 and
worked as a camp guard and as a guard on details that went to Munich until
May 1944, He next was in charge of a detall which worked at a factory in
Munich until October 1944, From November 1944 t1ll January 1945 he wvas
acting Commandofuelrer 1R a Camp AU YelcoaXing, @nd 1D JARUATy 1940 he
raturned to Dachau where he worked as a guard until Aprdl 32, 1945, jghout
that time he was asoigned to accompany a transport of about 1700 Jewlsh
prisosers who were placed in rallroad cars at Dachau. The trassport left
on about 25 or 26 April 1945, They rode to Sesfeld in Austriam in about a
day and a half, During that time the prisoners received no water and
ware glven & 11ttle food, BSome o0f the prisdners Aled 00 THe WAY. Ab
Seefeld Lausterer tock charge of about 75 inmates. Ee arranged asome
temporary quarters and obtaloed some food, Lausterer undoubtedly had
played a part in the operation of the Dachau camp,

26. Alfred Irfnr. The accused Kramer, who was & sergeant in the
§5, which he had Joined in 1939, arrived in Dachau in August 1v44, after

having led a traneport of prisoners from Warsaw there. Many of the
priponers on that traneport had died, and when it reached Dachau, the

dead ones who were still with the transport were taken to the crematory.
In September 1944, Kramer became the camp leader of Kaufering Camp No. 1.
EHe retained that Job until November 1944, There he was in charge of 1800
prisoners, most of whom were Jews, Kramer explained, "I do not llke Jews",
Some of tha punislment, tortures and brutalities which wers inflicted on
those 1800 prisoners consisted of beating them with whips and sticks, as

a repult of which some died, lmprisoment 4n a standing cell from 8 %o 10
hours a night, underncurishment , contaglous diseases, bad living conditions,
and hard work, which in some cases led to death. Kramer aleo attended the
hanging of six Jewish prisoners at the camp., Kramer adnitted that he
struck prisoners with bis hands when they bad committed certaln offeases
00 that he would not have to report them to higher authorities. Kramer's
participation, both by virtue of the duty of his office and his sadistie
initintive show that he ascinted in the Dachau orgy.

29, Sylvester Filleboeck. Filleboeck, who was an SS Unterstumm-
fushrer and had come to Dachau in 1933, was in charge of the kitchen
adminiptration with the prisoners' mess from 1941 until spril 1945,
F{lleboeck realired that the food which the prisoners received was inade-
quate and he made some attempte to supplement that supply. He often gave
the prisansral food to other S5 men and reawlsitioned some of thelr
valuables for himeelf, Filleboeck also participated in the shooting of
the 90 Russian prisoners of war in September 1944 by doing some of the
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actual shooting. Obviously, Filleboeck's activities were necessary in
order for Dachad to function, and aecordingly be muet be deemed to have
participated in the Dachsu plan.

30. Vinseng Schoettl. In 1944 the mccused Schoettl was in charge
of the detslle ab RpUuiering camp o, &, Opoe, while Ao chierge of a detall
at a‘water installation when tle people could no longer work, he knocked
them down end started to kick and heat them, Thene viotims hsd to be taken
to the hogpltal. In February 1940 he becsne second in command to sturmbanne
fuehrer Forschner. lhenever the camp conrander was mbsent, he asmmed cob~
trol. Many of the nrisonere under hig Juriediction died from hunger because
6F inguitlelent YOOM  SONOETTL ALPO nEATd DA DRy ol tup prlsvaels wele
henged at some of the Eaufericg cmupe, VWhile aselstant commandent, he
admitted in hie pre-trisl stotement that he best B or 6 prisonsrs with a
riddng crop. In March 1946, Schoett]l chot end killed a Folieh prisoner,
In view of the duties whlek Schoettl performed, the savagery of his acte
end his fallure to testify, 4t le spparent that he participated iz the
genergl plpn Of mistrestment which exiwted st Dechau and ive Ly-coupw,

3l. Albin Oretsch. Gretsch was an S§ Unterschprfuehrer, and served
as a guard at Dachau or st Xpufering from August 1944 until 26 March 1946,
At TDachgu he served =g & tower gosrd, It was hie function to prevemt
prisowste from epcaping. Moot of the tiue while he wan at Kaufering he
afted st & bover guwd, He War p guarg opn The TrANepOrE wnich lefv Dachau
on 26 soril 1845, which went to Wolfrstrhausen, KHe witnesced the younger
guards abuse the priscoers, He noy one guard let hle dog loces on a
prigoner. Gretsch "left collapsed prisoners lying left and right of the
road", Gretsch's activities ne a guard at Dechau and at Kaufering con-
sisted wrinarily of security measures, Not only was it hie function to
prevent any of the irmates Iron escaping from the horrors of Iachau, but
also to prevent any unauthorized perscne from entering Dachaw, Further-
more, Oretech apaic«ted in the last part of the Dachsn drama, the merciless
mareching of 1ll-clad, undernourished prisoners through snow and wiad snd
cold, Accordirgly, it must Ve concluded that Gretach, too, had played
his part at Jachau,

32, Johanp Viktor Kirsch, Kirsch, a menber of the S8, arrived at
Kaufering camp No, 3 in Auguet 1944, He was mn Oberscharfuehrer at the
time and was in cherge of the work detell which was constructing the
carp, He bhad pbout BO0 prieoners and about 20 to 25 gusrde under hie
supervision. When the carnp was completad, he then helped to construct
another cavp, cmmp ¥o, 1, which wan flnighed in December 1944, He wan
the Rapportfuehrer and Arbeitediengtfughrer, At one time he wituessed
the execution of five lumates who had ueed dlankets around their feet
dus to the faot that they probably did not bave shoes. Xirsch himpelf
aiminietered the punishments in the cemp for violations of caup regulations.
These upually coneleted of beutinge with eticke and with his hand, or oon-
finement of the prisomer in a standing busker. While at Kaufering Camn
No.l, Kirsch confined a large number of children in a amall wooden hut
for m pericd of two dpyo. Thege children were then sent to Auschwits
for externination, Seventy-five of the children were actually burnt to
death there. In view of the lack of shees, Kiveoh would have the prinoners
at the morning fommation who were going out on morning work detmils take
the shoes from thoes who werse unsble %o go out on tha work detaile, In
January 1945 be wae ths commander of a work detall at Muhkldorf, Xe had
between 180 to 200 prisoners on that deteil and 18 guards, In view of
the positions which Kirsch held, and 4o view of hie own individual acte,
it 18 clear that he participated in the subjection of the Dachau inmates.

34, Yalter pdolf ;g‘;uﬂ. Langleiet, who was an 38 Hauptaburm-
fuehrer, was the conmander the guard battalion at Dachlau from August
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1943 until 30 May 1944, Langleist Yecame commander of Kaufering No., 4.
Langleist mistreated the prisoners by beating them and throwing them

into the gravel pite. Once he beat a priscner %o death with a plece of
wood, He was tramsferred then to Muhldorf where thers were 2000 pi! moners.
It {8 clesr in view of the functions of hies office and Lis individusl acts
of aiastraantment, that Lenglal et aanistad in the narrping sut af ths Dashan

plan. -

36, Johann Schoepp. Schoepp, who was a Rumanian citizen and a member
of the Rumanisn army, had been transferred into the Gemmany Army. He was
sent to the guard batallion at Dechau on Z1 Anguet 1943, where he received
hn unifarm snd wen trainad far g parind of 10 Adgys, Hs wvas hospitaliged
for n short period and then granted a furlough, Upon his return ha was
pent to the sub-canp at Feldafing, where he remalned until 233 spril 1945
There he guarded a detall of 32 prisoners, He was aceigned as a reserve
guard to the trensport which left Dachau on about 26 April 1945, s a
reserve gusrd he had no duties on the transport, and he never did relieve
any of the rognlar gunard. Tha fant that Schospp halpsd to guard the
prisoners on a detall, and the faot that he was present as a reserve guard
on one of the last Dachan transports, supports the conclusion that he aided
and assicted in the functioning of the Dachsu plan.

36, jrro Lippmann, Lippmann, who was an 85 Oberstursfuehrer, returmed
En Tigrhan an fstaher 1642 wheres he ssrved in the of fiee of the Oohutshaft-
lagerfushrer. In September 1543 he loft Dachau for 1| month and when hes
returned he wae in the hoepltal for three monthe. In January 1944 he was
in charge of pome prisoners who worked in the Prasgifix factory., In
Avgust 1944 he was transferred to the Kaufering camp where ha became cemp
commander of camp No., 2. In January 1946 he was trancferred to camp No.7,
whars ha hacume sommender of that cmmp. While at casp Mo, 5, he had about
1200 prisoners under bim, and mt camp No. 7 from 1300 to 1600. While at
camp ¥o. 7 there were 20 to 256 deaths monthly. Lippmann wrote "that all
of the time I wae coumander of these campe in the Kqufering area, the
prisoners were underfed and undernlothed." Lippmann often mistreated the
prisoners in these cawps, and shot into a grow of them who had astempted
o Find anmething to sat Lo & garbage plé. On %ac basis of bhe posi®loas
which he held and the individual acts of brutality which he committed, it
is clear that Lippsann played Ids part in the Dachan picture,

37. JFrits Degelow. Frits Degelow had jolned the Allgemeins 88 in
1933, Ee came to Dachau as a Major on 23 June 1944 and he served there
ae sommagnder of § guard ccwpany. Theos guarde porfermed guerd duby
about the perimeter of the camp and manned the towers. They were charged
vith the duty of guarding the camp end preventing the prisoners from
escsping. At a meeting of weveral of tha leaders of the camp in the
latter part of gpril 1945, at which Degelow was preseut, 1t was decided
to evacuate a large part of the lnmates. On 26 jpril 1945, a transport
of mbout 11,000 prisescrs otarted off on foob, Degeluw Lad Lewu swelgoed
the duty of going ahead and finding resting places for the columns, The
guards who accompanled the transport had been detailed by the Adjutant,
Although Degelow was not the commanding officer of the march at the start,
he in effect took charge, since the commasnder did not accompany the trane-
port and since Degelow wae the senlor officer present, Many of the
prisomsrs escllapred on tho way and were Beaten mnd slobt by the guard,

A large nmber of the prisoners vere lost, some by escaping, but the
majority by dying. Degelow wvas seen beating some of the prisoners as

they marched alomg and striking a prisoner with a bottle, When the
colwmns reached Wolfratshausen on 28 April, Degelow decided to stop the
march, snd surrender the priconers, He admitted that he had been informed
that the prisensre were dying frowm sxbaustion mod maloutritlon, Hovever,
he continued o march the German mnd Jewish prisoners for two more dsys
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to a camp near Bad Tols, It was Degelow who arrunged the surrender of fhe
transport, In view of the fact that the duty which his guarde performed
at Dachau constituted participation in the Dachau schems, it loglcally
follows that his functione s commending officer of those gusrds likevize
bringe him within the orbit of alding and aselsting in the common des!gza.
Furtboimure theo evacuabion trasusporte miv wob saly deddcle but m poit of
the common desiga of subjection of the Dachan inmates to mistrestment and
extermination. Accordingly, the part vhlch Degelow played on the trane-
port of 26 April 1945 likewiwe was participstion in that design.

38, Otto Moll. Moll hed joined the 55 on J0 May 1935, and had come
‘o Dachpu in FelUrusary 19240, He wwrk®l BV Lue Knulerlog cmips., He was
responsible for billeting, feeding, and the clothing of the prisoners,
a8 well as snnitary conditions, lgbor commituents, and trenefer of elck
prisoners. At one time he beat three of the prisonmers with a etick, and
he remarked to a paseerby, "You ahould be glad that the Jews ars puniphed",
Once in April 1945 he beat & Husslan over the head with & board, At
anviber time he piruck a womsn wiith @ wtick, Moll wae 1o charge ol an
evacugtion tranesport which left Kaufering Cmwp Wo. 2, for Dachau. On the
vay he shot 26 prisoners who hed collepsed from exhaustion, It is
spparent from Moll's duties and the brutality which he ioflicted on the
inmatse that he furthered the ends of the common design whioch existed at
Dacheu snd its by-cmups.

39. Otto Schuls. Schulz, who had been a member of the Algemeine
85 since 1933 and attained the rank of Untersturmfuehrer, came to Dachau
as the works manager of the German Armsment Works in February 1943. [The
prisoners who worked for Schuls had a regular 72 hour week, althoughat
times in order to keep wp with the scheduls, Schuls worked them cvertime.
He was p quick tempersd individosl, and hitv, Deat, and kicred the prisoncers,
At ono time he threw wome food which wome of the priscners were cooking onto
the ground, He poured cold water on people who ware in the latrine, He
refused to permit the sick prisoners to report to the hospitsl. Not only
did Schuls partioipate in the Dachau scheme of things by working thece
prisoners extremely long houre, but his conduct in heaping indignitiea
Upon TAEem Wal AlS0 10 aCCOTG WILE The pattern of human exploitation,

40. TFriedrich Wetgel. Wetszel, a Hauptsturmfuehrsr, wes the adminis-
tration leader at Dachau from 1 Auguet 1644 t111 29 spril 1945, Ae such
be was responeible for the clothing, food, and shelter of the lomates,

He inaugurated the practice of not peeling the potatoes and of feeding
Déet leavVes which Bad usually been Yed to the cattle to the priscners, He
mistreated some of the prisonsrs by slepplng them and he often stole thelr
Valuables. Eis attempts to obtain suffioclent clothing falled, although
there was a warehouse at Dachau which contained large guuntities of clo-
thing, The accused Filleboeck and he aleoc made an attempt to obtain some
additional food in 1945. In view of the duties inctmbant upon hin of fice
a8 pdminlptration leader, it 1g clear that his activities constituted a
necensary part of the Dachen machinery so that he must be desmed to have
participated in the deasign of subjection,

16. Chriptof Ludwig Enoll
27 ritz Fechar

33,

Coristof Ludwig ¥noll had been a political prisoner at Dachau
from September 1933 until the liberation of the camp. XEnoll admitted that
he became a block eldest of the ceup in 1941, and that he maintained dis-
eipline by elspping wome people becauese it was necessary. MAs block elder
ke administered unofficial beatinge, and once he beat a Pole with a leg of
8 Chalr so extensively that the Pole collapsed. He becane a Oapo and
headed a detall which worked at the gravel pits. The immates who worked
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on this detpil wore Jews and prisonsrs from the penal company which was

, ecczposed of those who had broken the camp rules. ¥Yhen Knoll's details
returned from work, a cart upon which the dead bodies were piled sccompanied
him. Ho wonld remerk, "Well, I pcocmplished that today". He once atated
to Ir, Hisele, "I finlshed 97 Jews, 3 mure aud theo I sball fetoh uy bweed
time," 1% was common knowledge that Enoll, who was known as the hangman,
had killed meny Jews at Dachau, One witness stated that Enoll was not a
beatar but was "nute", and canght moles for cigarettes.

Frits M. X. Becher had besn a political prisoner at Dachan from May
Y58 UNT1l JUNS8 LyWd, He DECEMSE & rOON SlUSEY AOD lmber § Yluck eldest.
At one time he was in charge of ths block which containsd the priestws., It
vas a dally routine for Becher to mistreat and kick them, Hs used vile
language. FHe beat up one priest s0 badly that 4t was necessary to hospitalixe
Bis, and he later died, Zocher supervised stronuous exercise formations for
the priests. During ocne period of time B8 priests died as the result of the
PTrANUONS AXArclEs amdl TOs DeaATlDgS wvilch Bachner administered durlng bue
ardll perdod, About 400 priests died while he was in charge of their block,
¥hen he was transferrsd %o a block contsinipg Russisns, he contioued his
wathods. [There he beat a young Russian thoroughly with a plece of wood,
At another time he smashed a Ruselan in the face with his fist. Becher
himself was also subjected to Deatings by the accused Jarolin, Trenkel and

Vagnaor. .

Bail Brwin Mehl camo to the Dachau concentration camp in 1940 an &
orimingl pristner., In 1543 he applied for a position in the crematory
vilch he received, mnd in July 1944 he became Oapo of the crematory deisll.
Ee participated in shout 800 to 1,000 hangings. He usvally put the nooee
aroumd TAe Viotima' necke, 10 perToIming thle TUNOFIOA De Was AenT TO wue
various Dachan by-camps whenever necessary. Once in 1944, Mahl led a cart
detall that carried bodies from the French transport to the erematory.
¥When he wae informed that ons of the prisonsrs was moving, he took a wooden
pole and pushed the prisoner into the cars.

Ihe ACTLONS wWhich have Desn exmiDited Dy Knoll, Becher and Mahl in
the performance of their aseigned duties would appear to be participation
in the 11ght of the activities of the other acoused, Certainly these men
held positions on the Dachan staff sinoce thelir functions wers of a super-
visory nature. To concluds, however, that every prisoner who served in
any supervigory ompacity at Dachau was guilty of a oriminal act would be
& reduotio ad absurdmm. 4 digtinctlon muat be drawn betwean ths prisoner and
non-prisonar categories, for it was the prisoner class which was the object
of the mlawful design. Where, however, the actionps of a priscner who
bad taken a swervisory position were colored by intense malice, he is
than t0 Bo coneldersd as baving been transformed from the prisoner to the

non-priscnar uttgarg Thua u additional factor mast be conmidered in
the cpsee of Knoll e viclousness, savagery, and

Yrutality exhibited by Ihnll ud. Bechor and Mahl, sach of whom individually
aceeunted for numerous deaths, must ba connidered to be of sufficlent scope
to bridge the gup, They acted in conoert with their mastere againet their
fellow inmptas. Thay had Joined the plan at Dachan.
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~ The de RE; s offersd by the mocused resolved themselves into
two parts, general denimls and the ples of supsrior orders. The former
was & question of fact for the determination of the court. &Sinoe
as has been seen there was substential evidonco presented to the ecourt
‘on all the essential elements which had to be proven, ita decision
with respest to thoss meatterp wes fully Jusrtified. Thae oialy serlous
1geus presented is the effect to be mavcorded the defense of superior
orders reised by each msoused. This plea is a conglomsrative term
which embraces attendant corrollariecs suoh as durosa.

It hao been stated that the plea of sunerior orders is & good
defence undsr th: German Army Monusl, Paragraph 17 of the Corman
kilitary Penal Code reads ms follows: "Oomplicity (1) If a pro-
vision of the eriminal law {s violated in course of the execution
of an official order, the auperlor who isausa such an order alons bears
the responsibility for it, BHowewer, the subordinate who obeys shall
suffer the penalty of an sccomplice:

“1. If ho has gone beyond the limits of the given order, or

2« 1f be koew that the order of him superior involved an act
which would result in a general or military misdemeanor or orime.

. "(2) fn case the guWilh of Ll subvrdluste is Lelfllag his
pundshment may be omitted,

"Footnote:r The consequences shall be no object”

Thus it appears that even under the German military oode nspmihﬂit{‘
for a orimisnal act is not mvelded by a subordiosate where the subordins
knew that compliance with an order would result in a orime. Furthermors,
under the German oivil servioe law it is provided in paragraph 7 that:
"ths oivil servant im not permitted to oarry out an crder whioh to
him ia n:ﬁmlgl in contravention of oriminal law." It oan therefore
be oontended that the mocused wers oriminally responsible even under
Gorwsn law, for Lioy wusl Leve kuown Uhsi Uhe subjection of priponsrs
of war and ensmy naticnals in the manner conducted at Dachau and ita
sub camps was contrary to intermatiocnal law. However it has been
indicated that it would be extracriinarily difffcult to conviet a
subordinate under the German interpretation of (nternational law be-

. cause when the defense of obedlence to supsrior crdsrs is ralsed, com=
pliancge with Lhe wider luvdlved sdghi oot be vooslderevd mE resulilog
in a criminal mct. This i sald to result in a Uerman rule littls
better than ons which completely exempts from responsidbility all
subordinates mating upon mn; orders of military superlora. (See
page 154, "War Criminals, Their Prossoution and Punishment”,

Sheldon Glusclk, 1944; Llandovery Castle oase).

Agoordingly, it must be arnmidored whether the defense of
superior orders is available {n theue procedings, I1f it is sasumed
that under the German law in this case, it would be. The authorities
appear to bo gensrally in mocord with the rule that aetion in com-
pliance with & supsrior order iz not s dofense to & erime against
international law. (Uppembeim's “Internationsl Law", Volume 1L, STh
edition, 1940, pp 463, 454; Wheaton's Inbernationnl Law, pp IBGS
Glusok, meeking to reconoile the dilemms in which a subordinate {s
placed by en order manifestly unlewful, oarpliance with which may
later subjeot him to trial for a war orime, or refusal to comply
with which may immsdiutely subject bim to disoipline, perhaps death,
wnich dilemma 1s recogniied by other authoritles as providing a basis
for mitigation, hes suggested that the following ruls be spplied:

. "an unlewful met of & soldler or officer in obedience to an order
!\ of hls govermment or his military superior is mot justifiable if,
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whon he uomittad 11., he actunlly leosw, or, considering the uirnum-
stances, ho had reasonable -rnmm- for lnowing, that the sot ordered
is unlewful undsr (a) the lawn and oustoms of warfore, or (b) the
principles of criminal law generally provailing in olvilized nations,
or (e¢) the lew of his owncouwntry. In anpl ipg this rule, hhﬂW&r
Lhe Lluwe logal aysious wlash, the lasl chall be Awlordl nata,"

(pp 156 and 156, (lueck, susra).

If Glusek's suggention im accerted, it is Gulte clemr that
in the present omse the rlea of superior orders must te rejeated
since the conduot of the accused ip unlawful under the lews ana
CUSTOMS O WATLAre And syually B0 under prinolples of crialoal law
prevailing in niﬂllneﬁ nations, It has been steted ag a gensral
rule of lew that: "The faot that a party sccused of a orime did the
act oomplained of under the direction or muthorit  of ancther whose
inferior he was ounnot be set up na a dofonse.” {See Wharton's
Criminal Lew, page 376 .

Paragraph 34R1of Rules of Land Warfare, FM 27«10, provides
that "individuals and orgenizations who vioclate the acoepted laws
and ouetoms of war may be punished therefore. [owever, the fact
that the aobs compleined of were done pursusnt tio order of a
superior or govermment sametion mmy be taken intn ounsiderabieon
1N deTeTrmIning culpability, withur by way wl delense uw lo s ublbntluu .
of punishment. The.person giviny such orders ma; &lso be puni shed,"
This appears to be anexpress!on of war dopartment polioy rather
than law. Previous to the adoption of puragraph 345.1 it was the
Amsrican policy to treat such a plea with respect to members of
the Armed forces ss an absolute defense. Tt 1p now obvious that the
plea, if faotually supported, is mot necessaril: ¢onclusive, but
that the effect 1t will be giwven limes within they disoretion of the
tribunal to which it is made, mnd depends upon the faots and oir-
oumstances of each omse. Mr. Justice “clort i. Jackson, Chief of
Counsel for the United States in the prosecution of axis war orimes
in hie report of 7 Juns 1940 has stated the following view:

"With the dootrine of immunity of a hend of ptete usually is
coupled another that orders from an ofMoinl superior protect one who
obeys them. Tt will be noticed that the combination of these two
dootrines means that nobedy is responsible. Hnuiutiv ga modernly
organized cannnot tolerate so broad sn area of official irresponsi- .
bility. There is doubtless a sphere inwhich the defense of ohedlence
to supericr orders should prevail., If a conscripted or enlisted
soldier is put on a firing squad, he should not be held responsible
for the validity of the semtence he oarries out, Dut the case may
be greatly altered where ons has discretion becsuse of rank or the
latitude of his orders, and of colurse, the defense of superior
orders onnnot apply in the cmae of yeluntary participation in a

oriminal or conspiratoriul organization, uunh us thu Gegtapo or the
858. An accused should be allewed to ghow the facts about surerior
orders. The Tribunal onn then determine whether they constitute a
defense or mroly extonuating eciroumstances, or perhags carry no
weight ot all,"

It has been stated that the plon of sunerior orders, if
accapted at all, sghould be ageepted with g reat caution, condlderas
tion being giver to the nature of the offenss, the intslligence
of the aoscused, and the factors Indloating the lezal malics in-
volved, [}anrmmm on militery cormiaslens and grwnl‘k courts
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~ compiled by A. W. Green, Lt. Colonsl, JAOD, leadquarters BTOUSA,
F 25 July 1044.) 5

Viewing the principles which have just been stated, one wust
conclude that under the faots and circumstances of this oesde the court
Was WArranted 1n Tejooving ThEs plom as a defense and wE it did in the

cacos of most of the accused ags a matter of mitigation, Furthermore,
the eourt apparently considered the plen as & mitipating factor with
regoeot to nrnu of the acoused, suoh as Johann Sohoepp, and sush
seticn would appear to be justifipd in view of the peculiar eir-
cumstances conoerning hhose acoussd,

Al  PAORKLITTGE

1. A% the beglnaing of the proceedings, & Verman lawyer, |
Larl vou Fassarn, was introduced as special counsel for thres of the |
ROoURSd. THE LUUNL AANLUTBO AN RS dUC. LN such A oRaEs, 1¥ would
have boen preforaclo thmt tha oourt satisfy {taelf, and so fndicate
in thy record, that sush counsel has not been pronibited to practice
law, 4 gtatenant % counsel Lo the court to that affecl would have
sufficed. (T4 for legal and Prisca Cf{icers, 2nd ed., 4ules of
Prooodure in M3 Courts, page 39, var 3, snd "(utline of Frocedure

. Yor Trial of hman LB Urindnels”, Fage 7).

2. 'the defense's motion for » maverunce was predicated on
paragraph 71 (b) of the fanual for Uourts Jartinl, 19268 T argu-
ments mdvanced wers that fiw dslendants consisted of m larze grous,
that many of the meoused intunded to avall themselves of the toastinony
er sthers m his cn-uﬁrvnm:mh, that & viles wWould be usad that thi
aovussd weted Srvaluntarily, sod that in bndn respect, of mgﬁh

I mn;mwtu definses would have to he offered by the varfous defendants
to the prejudlce of a yrmr defonss for tach aad every ope of them,
The defense cited the case of Juitud States vs. Anton Sqhosser (GGHO

' citation) In rt d the motion of severance on the

Cround that the JeTensss woult be &rtazonistic.

The prosesution resrended to the effect that s trinl of the
40 moousad would not tw rrnjuliluill to an: of the ﬁ!mm; that
the gasence of' the sase was o triel of the Uschau Concentratlon Camp,
g ol that g eetupe oF e offenses of each being in pursuance of a
.' gorcon cxalgn wag of such chisracter aa to inldicate that thair delenoes
were not anbagonfstio.

e Yo the lnterweavis, =attern of the offenses charged and
beonuge cf the inpreacticalit of naki a, forty separate trials

| negoasary doa cuse ol thin mature, tne disoredion of the aourt

) coalo nok be sald Lo have besn sbused in denying the motion. (ho
granting c‘.’l saverance, at all events, is largel o matter of
disaretion and usleac the ahuse of 14 (e obviousl: flagrant it should
not o yunstioned (af: <inthrey, “f1itary Law, p 258). In the
case of United States ve. schesoer, eited b the aofenae, the gourt
 grented mogeversmace when the prosecution, unlive the trial judge
‘fywmriﬂw #m:ﬁ: trial, did not mnﬁgmly uwhﬂ-l - argument

iat b Pnr:ﬂﬂ!:t Mm had sefore 1t, thrﬂf#ﬂ;; Hﬂlﬁ!‘{!ﬁ 08
1t ..?mmmm in denying & severasde af s pros



oxhibits where no objeotions were raised a.l where the court was satis-
fied they were what they were purported to be. However, it would Rave
besn preferabls to have had true and complete translations made and
introduced at the same time for the benefit of the reviewing and con-
firming authorities to fasilitate the handling of the record.

¢. A claim of {mmunity from testifying by an ex-German govern-
ment official as to matters he had sworn never to divulge waa properly
overruled, The burden of proving that a communication is privileged
is upon the one msserting it. (Wharton's Crim. Evidence, p 2068).
The test is whether the disclosure would injure the relatiomship and
greater benafit would be gaimed hy sustaining 1t than hy furtharing
Justice., The oath in the present instance was to the German Reich, an
outlawed govermment, and the court exercised proper disoretion in
ordesring the answers without rescognising the lmmunity claimed.

6. The presont oase was brought on two similar oharges reading,
MUiclaticns of the Lawe and lesgas of War " T+ wanld have hasn hatdar

practice to have brought the action under one recited charge withtwo
partioulars thereunder. (See: US va., Fran: Strasser, GCMO).

6. The objections of the defense to the foreing of an mccused
to answer & question, otherwise proper, once he elected to take the
atand seem to have besn properly sverrulsd. Although the Military
Govermment Manmual is not clear ms to whether or not an acoused can
refuse to respond to a question on oross-examination during the
ocourpe of his voluntary unsworn statement on the witnomss-stand, the
authorities appear to support the fmct that his right against self
{norimination is walved. The Manual, wnlike the procedure in Courts-
Uartial, speoifically permites orovs-—sxaminetlion of tha unewarn ehatao
ment and the usual wide latitude should prevail. (See, Wharton's

7. Closing arguments wore permitted counsel for both sides
without limitation as to numbsr with & ruling that the defense shall
always retain the right to eless. The Military (overnment Tashninal
Manual for Legal and Prison Ufficers, Hules of Procedurs, par. 10 (1)
f, p 46 and the Outlipe for Procedure, p 16 justifies such a ruling.
Elsewhere it was suggested in this case by both the prosecution and the
defense that these rules were merely guides and not mandatory upon the
oourt. However the "Dir ective to Commanding Gensrals Military Vistriots,
14 UB Porces Buropoan Theater on the Adminigtration of Wilitary Gowvarn.
ment", dated July 1945 states on page 31, "The jurisdiction, powers and
procedures of Uilitary Govermment Courts will be governed hym Ary
Government Ordimance No 2, the Rules of Military Government Courts and
the Guide to Procedure, as modified by this direotive.” The rule as to
elosing arguments has never been so modified,

8., When prosecution witness Kaltenbacher was put onm the atand
to testify against Martin Weiss, the trial judge advocate objected to
cross~examination concerning conditions before Welss oame to Dachau
as new matter not introduced on the direct examination. The defense
offered to make the witness {te own for that purpose and the court
Uid wwk sule ve bthis uffer and pormitted the witness Se Swetily. Tha
evidenoe was properly admitted. It was relevant and was proper oroas-
examination since the questions concernsd conditions at Dachau of which
Weiss actions were a part.

8. In ruling on defense's motion to quash the partioulars the
wowry, mmong wther thiuge, upleld the adequacy of the partloulmrs in ite
reoitation regarding the time of commission of the alleged orimes. Tt
would appear that {f the sooused had committed acts at time between
1 Janugry 1942 to 29 April 1045 they would have been guilty ae charged.
Clearly this was uncertain ms to time unless the mccused were considered
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%o HAve Been charged with a continuing offense against each for the
full pericd of time vhich the prosscution did not olaim or prove.
nmqn it would have been bettor practice to amend the partioulars
to modord with the time that emch mooused was at Pachau, it oannot be
sald that the mooused were subatantiall; prejudiced thereby.

10. Althoush the particulars should perhaps have set forth the
natiopalities of the mccused, at the time the defenmse cbjected to this
phase of the partioulars each mnccused had stated in open eourt his
nationality, each one of which was an enomy national. The faot that the
partioulars did not met fortlh this detail in ny way affected the pre=-
paration of the defenne.

11, Denial of the defonse's contention that the partioculars should
have named the viotims and their nationalities was proper. In view of
the large number of viotims, it would have been a practioal ‘mpossibility
to 1ist all their names and naticnalitios, Lf known., The defense was
not hampared in ites preparation of the cann bwesuss of this fantar.

12, The defense's motion to quash the charges and particulars
was alpo based on the assertion that the scoused were charged with a
number of orimes. Zech partioular set forth one offenws, subjection
to oruelties and mistreatment. The forme that the subjeotion took
. wore varied and a partial dessription of thasa farme was oxpressed,

13 Fimally, connidering the contention of <ns deferse as %o
the war status with the tnen German Reich of the nations involved, it
is suffiolent to say that the accumed were not prejudiced by tnese
allsgations in that the soles result weas tk:t the prnnnuthn wan left

ite proof. That the definition an to "war oriminels" against each
acoused was adequately met by the form of the partioulars oannot be
oontradioted.

4. In view of the wigorous defense whioh defouse oounsel

-:hi‘nlhd. and opumendably mo, on the Lanuss of the case, it oannot
be sadd tmt they ware mialad. Annardisgly, dhe righta of the scoused
ocannot be deemed to haye bean mdversely af nhd.

| 1b. The proseoution, on rebuttal, offored new evidence not
dirsoted to the evidence offered b, the defenss. The admission of suoh
testimony 40 largel; d!.lnﬂtinmry with the oourt. A%t any rate, where
. not prejudicial te the ancusad, and wataris] to the adminletration of
Justice, and not objected to, this disoretion omanct be said to have
besn abused,

16. The oross-examination of the mcaused, Johann l&hll.p;; who
had merely testified to his nwns and mtiunﬂitt on direot went far
berond the anope af' tha Al rask eesbisany. Mo objection wes ralscd by
the defenss. In view of the failure of the mcoused to claim his
right against self inorimination and the fact that o uneel made no
objecticon, 1% camnot be sald that prejudicial error resulted or that
the rights of the sooused were substantially pre judiced.

17, Tha Garman apasin]l dsfenss ecunsel, in the midet of the
evidance for the defense, and after a motion for a finding of nct
guilty by the defense had teen ruled on in its proper place after the
Emﬂion had rested, offared mnother motion of gimilar substance.

eourt ocorrectly denied the motion, the substance of which would

more properl; have been presented in the motions for findings of not
gutity or in tha oloslng armments.

, 18. After the proseoution rested lte case, the defense made
several motions fora finding of not gullty on behalf of a). all the
ﬂmr_. Jointly and severally, beoause tmrmnutlu had failed

' 'dm?l or oomnsn deeign; b.) Becher and 11
hm S:jq won the proasadtien ﬂd fallod po dhow that ﬁm m:h
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membars of ‘the staff stdeehau; and o.) on behalf of ‘Bets, Lausterer,
Suttrop, Pubr; Eidele, ¥itteler, and Schnepp bevsuse the éﬂhnﬁ rats
falled to show the were guilty of he offensos charged. Thege '
motd ons-were donled-in the entiret,. A prims facfe case ntﬂuﬁurﬁm

charged was .wuffisteatl ! myde out b, the prosecut]on towirrant the
denial of the first wullou wilh refersnce To the common design. Mahl,

Bwoheir; dnd HnoYbwarmidirovad ve have, hwld positions of & supervisory i
oatiure «n ithe ddui nbstfet] on of Udobnu and theréfore ' were ﬁrnﬂh\‘-
deewed by tharcsurt td B membors of ' the wtaff, Therefore, the tuﬂ'ﬂ
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A petition for review on behalf of all the defendanis has

boen submitted by the regularly appointed defense counsel. The

special German counsel filed an application for the 3 accused whom

he represented, Knoll, Mecher and Mahl. Although this application

18 not in the form presoribed for petitions for review, it in

effect is such a petition and will be treated accardingly. Numerous

letters from various individuals seeking clemency for individual

defendants have also been received, and attached as a part of the

case record.

The patitien for review filed by the repularly appointed de-
fense counsel alleges that because of certain erroneous legal rul-
ings of the court, and because of the evidence, certain findings
be set aside, and that other sentences be modified.

Jurisdiction over the accused, the refusal to nt a
severance, anc apprisal of the accused of the specific offense
with which they wera charges are issues which have been discussed
above under the paragraphs on Jurisdiction and Procedure. The con-
tention that the great wight of the evidence did not pvove a common
design and that the prosecutien "failed to prowe a prima facie case
. of common design as between any of the two accused" cammot be con-
curred in, aince, as has been pointed out, the court had no alterna-
tive, on the basis of the svidence pressntad, but to infer that a
general pattern in whichk allied civilian nationals and prisoners of
war had been subjected to various cruelties and mistreatments axisted.
Referenca is made to the discussion in the paragraph in the section
on "Yerits and Defenses" concerming common design. The defense in
setting forth this contention apparently is of opinion that there
had to be a meeting of the minda, as in the case of a conspiracy,
betwea the accused. It is submitted that the acoused were not
charged with conspiring or entering intc any agreement to commit
the acts alleged, but that they participated in a plan which was
already in effect.

The contention that the accused Becher, Knoll and Mahl were

not on the "ataff" at Dachau has been discussed previously in the

section o "Merits md Defenses". PFurthermore, the fact that these
. accused had been prisoners at Dachau does not affect the validity

of the charpe against them. In view of the fact that thelir acts

were of such a nature, as has been discussed in the paragraph devoted

to them under the section on "Merits and Defensea™, they are

deomed to have acted In concert with those who operabed Dachau.

The contention that the court erred in denying the motien for

a finding of not guilty with resmct to all of the accused has been
discussed in the paragraph on pocedure. In this comnection it may

e noted that thé defense alter the denial of the motions presented
its case with respect to each of these 11 defendants, all of whom
took the stand. Accordingly, even if there had been error, such
error would have been deemed waived.

The petition for review contended that the findings of guilty
were contrary to the weight of the evidence and that the sentences
imposed were too severe. The petition then sets forth a brief
resume of the evidence with respect to each accused. Factors which
have Leen raised with respect to the sentences will bu considered
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Ligea Lo the soetion on sentences. JU 18 believed that there waa
sufficient evidence in the record, as previously discussed, to
warrant the findings of guilty. The defensea apparantly is of the
opialen that the prosecutlicon hod the burden of con-incing tle
coust of the 41t of sach avcusel Yeyond & reascnable doubt.

This principle of lmuriuan Jurisprudence is net binding in cusas of
this sort. (See Review of the Deputy Theater Judge Advecate in the
casa of the United Statss versus Hartgen et al, 27 September 1745).
Pusties e, under the cvidence adduced with respect Lo many of the
accused, it is clear that their guilt was established beyond a
reasonable doubt.

Particular attention waa devoted in the petition to Professor
Schilling. It is erromecusly stated that under interpational law,
the death penalty may be inflleted only in the event of murder,
and, therefore, since the accugsed Schilling had not committed any
prameditated k111ding with mallce alorsthought, He could not he
sentenced to death. Tt should be noted that the accused was not
charged with marder but with the subjection of wvarious persona to
cruelties and mistreatments which incluled "killinga™, Tha facts
thial the malaria statlon was a separate acction in Dachau and that
bry Schilling confined his sctivities there, were nonetheless con-
clusively shom to be a part of Dachau, for it is undisputed that

not only were the experiments conducted at Dachau, bub that tha "'
Dachan Inmates were the ones who wepre subjected to his experiments. -
The requisitiona [or inmates passed through the head physlolenis -

office to the camp commander and the labvor service leader. The
evide.o.-.e presented in the case was convincing that some patients
died because of the treatuents administered Dr. Schilling, ur-
thermore it camot be denisd that the subjection of imltas t.o these
experiments undoubtedly had an effect,in view of their living con-
ditions and the insufficient amount of food available, on theiy lives,
which in many instances were lost. The third and Tourth considera-
tions suggested with respect to Dr. Sechilling ceoncarned his eminence
as a scientist and his personal beliefs with reapsct to the lazis.
These factors will be comeidered infra under the section on sentences.

The petition presented by the special counsel is founded primarily
on the fact that the accused Knoll, Becher and Mahl had been prisoners
at Dachau, and that all thelr acts had been committed pursuant to

orders from their superiora. Both these factors have been considerad _
above. Further consideration is devoted to tlieir status in the dis- .«

cussion concerning them under the sectlon on Sentances.
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XIIT, SUFTICIENOY:

The Pindings of muilty are sustained by tha evidence. There are no
arvors or 'W‘ﬁﬁhﬁ‘hiaa affecting the fairness or impartiality of the
TILlEL bl'-",i.h.l.l:lf sl y}‘njuﬂ;‘.d&.ﬁl 4o tha subatantial wighta o the acoused
in procesdings such as thess, mwo-bhirds of the members of the court eon-
curred in the findings and tle sentence.

TIV. SHITENCES:

A genaral milliary cowrt nay impeae any sentence up to and innluding
death. The punishment o. war crimes must be deterrent, Tho pundshment
of war criminals has wot been undertaken in the ypirit of verpgeance nor
solely for the purpose of punishing tie individuals concernad., Its
primary purport is to establish an laternstional standard of conduct
and to provide punlshment for departures therefrom, so uhat those who
may in the future once mére be Inclined %o engage 1i whe horrors su
recantly ended may be deterred by the kowledge of inevitable retribution.

' Tn carrving this purpose into eflect, it may be thut there will be Thayd
casea™ in which some individuals, just as in war itself, will suffer.
Thus, it has slways baen recognized that a spy is not yunished because he
{e o wap aylminal, buk in ardar to maka saplonare as dangeroid, difficult,
and ineffectusl as possible for the ememy., This policy demands that in

. a case such as this, particularly whers the acts were so cold-bloodedly,
afficlently and expeditiously done, the maximum penalty be assessed and
executed. For these reasons there apears to be no busis upon which
any clemency can ba extended in the cases of lartin Welss, I'riedrich fuppert,
Jouaf Jareling Frans Tronldo, Brnge Aralentin Mledesmayer, Josel
Souss, Leonhard Anselm Bichberger, Milhelm Wasner, Johsnn Kick, DPr.

. Frits lHnbermayer, Dr. Wilheln Witteler, Johann Yaptist Bichelsdorfer,
Otto Foerschner, Dr. Klaus Karl Sshilling, Frans Joetizer, Anton Endres,
Michaal Redwitz, Wilhelm Weltor, Ridolf Heinrich Suttrop, #ilhelm Tempel,
Fritz M. K, Becher, Alfred Krumer, Sylvester Filleboeck, ¥insens Schoettl,
Johann Viktor Kirsch, Walter adol? Langleist, Arno Lippmann, irity
Degelow, Otto lloll, Otto Schulz, Friedrich Wetzel, Christof Iudwlg Knoll.

Dr. Hans bhurt Eisels, who had been drafted into the WWaffen 85 in
1940, was at Dachau for only a few months beginning in Febriary 195, He
was in charge of the surpical section of the hoespital and it appears that
. he did effactuate some improvements thers, The evidence also indicates
that he made same attempta to obtain medical supplies, and that he
reported the conditions which existed both at Dachau and at several of
the by-camps to his superlors, Dr. Hintermayer and the camp comander,
Furthermore, the record is develd of any individual acts of atrocity on

hia pard. Aomerdingly, it is beldeved that a genbencs of 1ile :
; o Lmprde
mant would be sufficient in his casa. e

Dr. Tridolin Karl Puhr's participation at Dachau was comparitively
slight. Other than attending a few executions at which he marely determined
that the vietims were dead and signed the death cartificate, actin: as
agoistent Li swyeral uperations of prisonars, and asting as officer of
the day at the prison hespital, he took no other part in the funetd ondnp
~of the camp, No evidence was presented wnich revealed that he had committed
any particular atroolty. However, he had been a member of m {lleral
Austrian organization and had joined the SA in 193l, It is believed
um:n?:nef ti;ﬂ duaﬁ?&santwn& and 2 sentence af confinement. at.
~ hard o yoars would not gondone the of fans
Serve the purpose of the trial of war criminals such :saﬁ;_i.mld PRSI
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Bri)l Erwin Uahl had been a prisoner ab Dachau since 1940. Althopgh
his diuties sa Cepo iuvolved the esecutions of various individudls by
hanging and the burning of bodles in the crematory, it must not be for-
potten thut in dolng these varloss acts he was fulfilling the functlons
of His position, The svidence indicated that he had acted beyond the
Spopa his ditiea with reospent To the cArting of v riocus lndiyidualas
who had arrived dead op nearly dead &t Dachan in that he pald ho attention
+o wlisthey or not they shoved signs of 1life smd in that he struck at
laagt oné such victim who had definitely sliown signs of 1ife. At another
time he had pulled the lepgs of o Pussian who was hanging. This sct
yoa porformed in the presence of his auperior DunEartn and may have boen
an act of mercy since the JL;asia.n may hove beon slowly dying by strangu-
lation. In determining a Just sentence, consideration must be glven to
igho fact that individusls 1ike Vohl hid themsalves been subjected for
yvears te the indignities, tortures, cruelties, and inhuman living _
sond’.tieons vhich exlsted at Dachau, Ungmsticnably life at Dachau had a
dowm stating ef'vent on the morals ad behavior of the prisoners. 4As o
I eitensnt lonlot expressed i, "I tidnlk for & nomal person it is much
hapder to 1ive in the cap than amy other place, not enly bacauge of
the beatings, but from a moral standpoint." It woeuld sppear that an -
avuropriate sontence in the cuse of )lahl, in view of these circumstances,
would be confinement at hard labor for 10 years. Although Decher and
Knoll 4ad alae brea inmates at Dashaw, the Brutallty and preseness aff
thelir {nddvidual wcts of atrocity were so great that the death sentence . |

appears warranted.

Johann Schoepp, who was a Rumanian, had been placed in the German
army pursnant to an agreement betveen Cermany and Rumania, The evidence
indicated that for a time he acted as a puard of a detall of 32 prisoners
of than sub-camp Feldafing, and that he acted as a yeserve guard on a
transport which left Dachau on 25 April 1945, It may be noted vith re-
spect to the latter that he did not serve as a regular guard at any time
on thn transport, In view of the fast that no individual strocities were
sttributed to Behospp, in view of the nature of hls duides, aond in i
view of the fact that he had been drafted inte the Amy, it is belleved
that reduction of lids sentence from LU years to conifinemant at hard
labor for 5 years would be sufficient.

It is believed that the sentence of lif'e imprisonment eof Peter Bets |
A the santenes af Ay Ovetunh to coanif™inament at hopd lnhne far 10 |
years are appropriate in the light of the functiona which thase men a. .
performed at Dachau and ths individual acts for wilch they were responsible,

In many reupects the mccused Schillins was the meost preprehensible,
He voluntarily cume to Dachau fully copnizant of the nature of the work
he dnbended o porforme Dol blie eduvated aid learied povsui Lhial Le nas,
Schilling undoubtedly must have realizad the mamer in which his vork
sulted the neods of the Hazis, Althoush /s personal motives may have
stemmod from s desire to atd humanity, he perritted hinself to utilize
Nazd motiods in contrast to other eminent Oemfan artists md sclentiats
who aither flod or refussd to make themselves a part of the Hasl system, Al
LIt i85 believed that tne santence of the court, wiho was aware of Schilling's >
position in the scientdfic world, should he approved.

The accused Lanstersr was sentenced to confinement at hard labor for
10 years. Lausterer voluntarily joined the 88 in 15.1, Ha served at

Dachau or its hr-camps for over three years. At first he was a guard =
at Dachou and then on work dstails. Although no evidencs was introduced y
which indicated taat he comwitted individuil acts of atyocities, he did -

witnese beatings by other quards. The record does nobt indicate that he -
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~ Later jie wag oonndlunioerat
ngth of time 1 rar served at Dachau and
imnortancs of the pmd:ﬁm na hald, o sore severs
Whrrant A, In tids conmection 1t shild b nebed
i&;.l whare apetition for review lns bren filad,
' ads court undowhtedly considoren
susters vices to help a group of prisoners on &
t‘n Pact that he did not comit any individual
&t’h‘ﬂm; i:hﬁ fact that he 15 55 yoars of ame in determining the
sentence, In view of all the circumstaices, it s Lelieved that the
wontonae £hanld nok ha A shaiatamel

and sar

XV. RBCOIBUDATTONS:

1 reconmend thatis

a., The findings and the sentence in the case of cach scouned
bo appe aved.

b. The death sentence of -luns Zurt Eilsele be commuted and he
ba sentenced to confineament at hard labop for Yifa,

c. The death sentence of Dr., Frideolin Karl Puhr he commuted and
he be sentenced to confinenent at hard labor for 20 years.

770, The death sentence of Emil Erwin Mahl be comuted and he be

goritensod to sontinement ot Hurd lobeor fap 10 geawe,

. gs Flve years of the confinement at hard labar imposed upon the
acouged Johunn Schoepp be menmdtted and, as thus modified, the sentence
he duly muﬁed.

Tha follewirig place of confinspen} be designated for the

ascused N.ﬂulu, Pulir and Mahly fZuchblaus and Raishein,

g« Tle sontences in the sasep of Peter Dets, Albin Gretach,
and Hugo Alfred Lausterer be wuly etocuted.

he The findings znd sentense in tho osse of Telss, Muopert,
Jarolin, Trenklo, dedernayer, Suess, Wichberger, Wemmeor, Kick, llinter-
mayer, ﬁ‘htm:r Blehalsdorfer, Joerschnap, Schllling, Inell, Le tigan,
Endress, Kiern, Redwits, Welter, Sutbrop, Tenpel, Dechar, franer, FLlle-
bﬂﬂﬂk, Em“tﬂ, Kiﬂnh' Iﬂ.n,,l\!iﬂ, mm&m, Bﬂ[‘,Elﬂﬂ, Dll’ Sichul!'-,
?:::ﬂ be apporoved and that the record of tridl be forwvardsd for confir-

Ol

‘ XVI. ACTIONS:
A form of astion designed to carry the foregoing recommendations
into effect, should they meet with your approval, is submitted heresith.

CHARLES E. CHEEVER,
Colonel, JAGD,
Staff Judge Advacate, J
;’__ ==




